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Glossary of Commonly Used Terms, Abbreviations and Measurements
adjusted EBITDA – a supplemental non-GAAP (as defined below) financial measure defined by EQT Midstream Partners, LP and subsidiaries (collectively,
EQM) as net income plus net interest expense, depreciation and amortization expense, income tax expense (benefit) (if applicable), Preferred Interest payments
received post conversion (as defined below) and non-cash long-term compensation expense less equity income, AFUDC – equity (as defined below), preacquisition capital lease payments for Allegheny Valley Connector, LLC (AVC) and adjusted EBITDA of assets prior to acquisition.
Allowance for Funds Used During Construction or AFUDC – carrying costs for the construction of certain long-lived regulated assets are capitalized and
amortized over the related assets' estimated useful lives. The capitalized amount for construction of regulated assets includes debt cost and a designated cost of
equity for financing the construction of these regulated assets.
Appalachian Basin – the area of the United States composed of those portions of West Virginia, Pennsylvania, Ohio, Maryland, Kentucky and Virginia that lie in
the Appalachian Mountains.
British thermal unit – a measure of the amount of energy required to raise the temperature of one pound of water one degree Fahrenheit.
Disclosure Document – EQT’s 2018 Proxy Statement or amendment to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, as applicable, in
each case, as filed or to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC).
distributable cash flow – a supplemental non-GAAP financial measure defined by EQM as adjusted EBITDA less net interest expense excluding interest income
on the Preferred Interest, capitalized interest and AFUDC – debt, and ongoing maintenance capital expenditures net of reimbursements.
firm contracts – contracts for gathering, transmission or storage services that obligate customers to pay a fixed monthly charge to reserve an agreed upon amount
of pipeline or storage capacity regardless of the actual capacity used by a customer during each month.
gas – all references to "gas" refer to natural gas.
Jupiter Acquisition – On May 7, 2014, EQT Corporation and subsidiaries (collectively, EQT) contributed the Jupiter natural gas gathering system (Jupiter) to
EQM Gathering Opco, LLC (EQM Gathering), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQM.
liquefied natural gas or LNG – natural gas that has been cooled to minus 161 degrees celsius for transportation, typically by ship. The cooling process reduces the
volume of natural gas by 600 times.
local distribution company or LDC – LDCs are companies involved in the delivery of natural gas to consumers within a specific geographic area.
MVP Interest Acquisition – On March 30, 2015, EQM assumed from EQT the membership interests in MVP Holdco, LLC (MVP Holdco), the owner of an
interest (the MVP Interest) in Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC (MVP Joint Venture), which at the time was an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQT.
NWV Gathering Acquisition – On March 17, 2015, EQT contributed the Northern West Virginia Marcellus gathering system (NWV Gathering) to EQM
Gathering.
October 2016 Acquisition – On October 13, 2016, EQM acquired from EQT 100% of the outstanding limited liability company interests of AVC and Rager
Mountain Storage Company LLC (Rager) and certain gathering assets located in southwestern Pennsylvania and northern West Virginia (the Gathering Assets).
The closing of the October 2016 Acquisition was effective as of October 1, 2016.
omnibus agreement – the agreement, as amended, entered into among EQM, its general partner and EQT in connection with EQM's initial public offering,
pursuant to which EQT agreed to provide EQM with, and EQM agreed to reimburse EQT for, certain general and administrative services and a license to use the
name "EQT" and related marks in connection with EQM's business. The omnibus agreement also provides for certain indemnification obligations between EQM
and EQT.
play – a proven geological formation that contains commercial amounts of hydrocarbons.
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Preferred Interest Acquisition – On April 15, 2015, EQM acquired a preferred interest (the Preferred Interest) in EQT Energy Supply, LLC (EES), which at the
time was an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQT. Concurrent with the October 2016 Acquisition, the operating agreement of EES was amended and the
accounting for EQM's Preferred Interest in EES converted from a cost method investment to a note receivable. There were no changes to the cash payment
schedule.
receipt point – the point where production is received by or into a gathering system or transmission pipeline.
reservoir – a porous and permeable underground formation containing an individual and separate natural accumulation of producible hydrocarbons (crude oil
and/or natural gas) which is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is characterized by a single natural pressure system.
The $750 Million ATM Program – EQM's at-the-market (ATM) common unit offering program, pursuant to which a group of managers, acting as EQM's sales
agents, may sell EQM common units having an aggregate offering price of up to $750 million.
Sunrise Merger – On July 22, 2013, Sunrise Pipeline, LLC (Sunrise) merged into Equitrans, L.P. (Equitrans), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQM.
throughput – the volume of natural gas transported or passing through a pipeline, plant, terminal or other facility during a particular period.
wellhead – the equipment at the surface of a well used to control the well's pressure and the point at which the hydrocarbons and water exit the ground.
working gas – the volume of natural gas in the storage reservoir that can be extracted during the normal operation of the storage facility.

Abbreviations
ASC – Accounting Standards Codification
CERCLA – Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act
DOT – U.S. Department of Transportation
FASB – Financial Accounting Standards Board
FERC – Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
GAAP – U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
IPO – Initial Public Offering
IRS – Internal Revenue Service
NGA – Natural Gas Act of 1938
NGPA – Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978
NYMEX – New York Mercantile Exchange
NYSE – New York Stock Exchange
PHMSA – Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration of the DOT
RCRA – Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
SEC – Securities and Exchange Commission

Measurements
Btu = one British thermal unit
BBtu = billion British thermal units
Bcf

= billion cubic feet

Bcfe = billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalents, with one barrel of natural gas liquids (NGLs) and crude oil being equivalent to
6,000 cubic feet of natural gas
Dth = dekatherm or million British thermal units
MMBtu = million British thermal units
Mcf = thousand cubic feet
MMcf = million cubic feet
Tcfe = trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalents, with one barrel of NGLs and crude oil being equivalent to 6,000 cubic feet of
natural gas
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Cautionary Statements
Disclosures in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contain certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Statements that do not relate strictly to historical or current facts
are forward-looking and usually identified by the use of words such as "anticipate," "estimate," "could," "would," "will," "may," "forecast," "approximate,"
"expect," "project," "intend," "plan," "believe" and other words of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial matters.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include the matters discussed in the
sections captioned "Strategy" in Item 1, "Business" and "Outlook" in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations," and the expectations of plans, strategies, objectives, and growth and anticipated financial and operational performance of EQM and its subsidiaries,
including guidance regarding EQM's gathering and transmission and storage revenue and volume growth; the weighted average contract life of gathering,
transmission and storage contracts; infrastructure programs (including the timing, cost, capacity and sources of funding with respect to gathering and transmission
expansion projects); the cost, capacity, timing of regulatory approvals and anticipated in-service date of the Mountain Valley Pipeline (MVP) project; the ultimate
terms, partners and structure of the MVP Joint Venture; expansion projects in EQM's operating areas and in areas that would provide access to new markets; asset
acquisitions, including EQM's ability to complete asset acquisitions from EQT or third parties; the expected benefits to EQM of EQT's acquisition of companies
that contain midstream assets, including whether EQT will make those assets available to EQM; the expected benefits to EQM of EQT's acquisition of Rice Energy
Inc. (Rice), including whether EQT will sell the acquired Ohio midstream assets to EQM and the timing of any transaction; the timing of EQT's announcement of a
decision for addressing its sum-of-the-parts discount; the amount and timing of distributions, including expected increases; the timing of the expected redemption
of the Preferred Interest; the amounts and timing of projected capital contributions and operating and capital expenditures, including the amount of capital
expenditures reimbursable by EQT; the impact of commodity prices on EQM's business; liquidity and financing requirements, including sources and availability;
the effects of government regulation and litigation; and tax position, including the effects of changes in tax law. The forward-looking statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from projected results. Accordingly, investors
should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results. EQM has based these forward-looking statements on current
expectations and assumptions about future events. While EQM considers these expectations and assumptions to be reasonable, they are inherently subject to
significant business, economic, competitive, regulatory and other risks and uncertainties, many of which are difficult to predict and are beyond EQM's control. The
risks and uncertainties that may affect the operations, performance and results of EQM's business and forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to,
those set forth under Item 1A, "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made and EQM does not intend to correct or update any forwardlooking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
In reviewing any agreements incorporated by reference in or filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K, please remember that such agreements are
included to provide information regarding the terms of such agreements and are not intended to provide any other factual or disclosure information about EQM.
The agreements may contain representations and warranties by EQM, which should not in all instances be treated as categorical statements of fact, but rather as a
way of allocating the risk to one of the parties to such agreements should those statements prove to be inaccurate. The representations and warranties were made
only as of the date of the relevant agreement or such other date or dates as may be specified in such agreement and are subject to more recent developments.
Accordingly, these representations and warranties alone may not describe the actual state of affairs of EQM or its affiliates as of the date they were made or at any
other time.
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PART I
Item 1. Business
EQM's consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively recast to include the historical results of AVC, Rager and the Gathering Assets, which
were acquired by EQM effective on October 1, 2016, and NWV Gathering, which was acquired by EQM on March 17, 2015, as these were businesses and the
transactions were between entities under common control. All references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to "EQM" refer to EQM in its individual capacity or
to EQM and its consolidated subsidiaries, as the context requires. All references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to "EQT" refer to EQT Corporation in its
individual capacity or to EQT and its consolidated subsidiaries, as the context requires.
Overview
EQT Midstream Partners, LP (NYSE: EQM) is a growth-oriented limited partnership formed by EQT Corporation (NYSE: EQT) to own, operate, acquire
and develop midstream assets in the Appalachian Basin. EQM provides midstream services to EQT and multiple third parties in Pennsylvania, West Virginia and
Ohio through its two primary assets: the gathering system, which delivers natural gas from wells and other receipt points to transmission pipelines, and the
transmission and storage system, which delivers gas to local demand users and interstate pipelines for access to demand markets. EQM provides substantially all of
its natural gas gathering, transmission and storage services under contracts with long-term, firm reservation and/or usage fees. This contract structure enhances the
stability of EQM's cash flows and limits its direct exposure to commodity price risk. For the year ended December 31, 2017 , approximately 91% of EQM's
revenues were generated from capacity reservation charges under long-term firm contracts. Including contracts associated with expected future capacity from
expansion projects that are not yet fully constructed but for which EQM has entered into firm contracts, firm gathering contracts had a weighted average remaining
term of approximately 8 years and firm transmission and storage contracts had a weighted average remaining term of approximately 15 years as of December 31,
2017 , in each case based on total projected contracted revenues. EQM's operations are primarily focused in southwestern Pennsylvania and northern West
Virginia, a strategic location in the natural gas shale plays known as the Marcellus, Upper Devonian and Utica Shales. This same region is also the primary
operating area of EQT, EQM's largest customer. EQT accounted for approximately 73% of EQM's revenues generated for the year ended December 31, 2017 .
Business Segments
Gathering Business Segment. As of December 31, 2017 , EQM's gathering system included approximately 300 miles of high pressure gathering lines with
approximately 2.3 Bcf per day of total firm contracted gathering capacity, compression of approximately 189,000 horsepower and multiple interconnect points with
EQM's transmission and storage system. EQM's gathering system also included approximately 1,500 miles of FERC-regulated low pressure gathering lines.
Gathering revenues represented approximately 54% , 54% and 53% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively.
In the ordinary course of its business, EQM pursues gathering expansion projects for affiliates and third party producers. EQM invested approximately
$197 million on gathering projects in 2017 that added approximately 475 MMcf per day of firm gathering capacity in southwestern Pennsylvania. This included the
final phase of the header pipeline for Range Resources Corporation (Range Resources), which was placed in-service during the second quarter of 2017. The system
now provides total firm gathering capacity of 600 MMcf per day at a total project cost of approximately $240 million. This and other expansion projects, primarily
for affiliates, supported increased gathered volumes of 11% and gathering revenues of 14% in 2017 . In 2018, EQM estimates capital expenditures of
approximately $300 million on gathering expansion projects, primarily driven by affiliate wellhead and header projects in Pennsylvania and West Virginia,
including commencing preliminary construction activities on the Hammerhead project, a 1.2 Bcf per day gathering header pipeline connecting Pennsylvania and
West Virginia production to the MVP.
EQM provides gathering services in two manners: firm service and interruptible service. The fixed monthly fee under a firm contract is referred to as a
firm reservation fee, which is recognized ratably over the contract period based on the contracted volume regardless of the amount of natural gas that is gathered. If
there is available system capacity, customers can flow gas above the firm commitment volumes for a usage charge per unit at a rate that is generally the same or
lower than the firm capacity charge per unit. EQM has firm gas gathering agreements in high pressure development areas with approximately 2.3 Bcf per day of
total firm contracted gathering capacity as of December 31, 2017 . Including expected future capacity from expansion projects that are not yet fully constructed but
for which EQM had entered into firm gathering agreements,
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approximately 2.4 Bcf per day of firm gathering capacity was subscribed under firm gathering contracts as of December 31, 2017 . On EQM's low pressure
regulated gathering system, the typical gathering agreement is interruptible and has a one year term with month-to-month roll over provisions terminable upon at
least 30 days notice. The rates for gathering service on the regulated system are based on the maximum posted tariff rate and assessed on actual receipts into the
gathering system. EQM generally does not take title to the natural gas gathered for its customers but retains a percentage of wellhead natural gas receipts to recover
natural gas used to run its compressor stations and other requirements on all of its gathering systems.
Gathering System

Transmission Business Segment. As of December 31, 2017 , EQM's transmission and storage system included an approximately 950 -mile FERCregulated interstate pipeline that connects to seven interstate pipelines and to LDCs. The transmission system is supported by 18 associated natural gas storage
reservoirs with approximately 645 MMcf per day of peak withdrawal capacity, 43 Bcf of working gas capacity and 41 compressor units, with total throughput
capacity of approximately 4.4 Bcf per day and compression of approximately 120,000 horsepower as of December 31, 2017 . Revenues associated with EQM's
transmission and storage system represented approximately 46% , 46% and 47% of its total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 ,
respectively.
In the ordinary course of its business, EQM pursues transmission projects aimed at profitably increasing system capacity. EQM invested approximately
$111 million on transmission and storage system infrastructure in 2017 . Revenues in 2017 increased by approximately $41 million or 12% compared to 2016 . In
2018 , EQM will focus on the following transmission projects:
7
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•

Mountain Valley Pipeline . The MVP Joint Venture is a joint venture with affiliates of each of NextEra Energy, Inc., Consolidated Edison, Inc., WGL
Holdings, Inc. and RGC Resources, Inc. EQM is the operator of the MVP and owned a 45.5% interest in the MVP Joint Venture as of December 31,
2017. The 42 inch diameter MVP has a targeted capacity of 2.0 Bcf per day and is estimated to span 300 miles extending from EQM's existing
transmission and storage system in Wetzel County, West Virginia to Pittsylvania County, Virginia, providing access to the growing Southeast
demand markets. As currently designed, the MVP is estimated to cost a total of approximately $3.5 billion, excluding AFUDC, with EQM funding its
proportionate share through capital contributions made to the joint venture. In 2018, EQM expects to provide capital contributions of $1.0 billion to
$1.2 billion to the MVP Joint Venture. The MVP Joint Venture has secured a total of 2.0 Bcf per day of firm capacity commitments at 20-year terms,
including a 1.29 Bcf per day firm capacity commitment by EQT, and is currently in negotiation with additional shippers who have expressed interest
in the MVP project. On October 13, 2017, the FERC issued the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity for the project. In early 2018, the
MVP Joint Venture received limited notice to proceed with certain construction activities from the FERC. The MVP Joint Venture plans to
commence construction in the first quarter of 2018. The pipeline is targeted to be placed in-service during the fourth quarter of 2018.

•

Transmission Expansion . In 2018, EQM estimates capital expenditures of approximately $100 million for other transmission expansion projects,
primarily attributable to the Equitrans Expansion project. The Equitrans Expansion project is designed to provide north-to-south capacity on the
mainline Equitrans system for deliveries to the MVP.

EQM generally does not take title to the natural gas transported or stored for its customers and provides transmission and storage services in two manners:
firm service and interruptible service. The fixed monthly fee under a firm contract is referred to as a capacity reservation fee, which is recognized ratably over the
contract period based on the contracted volume regardless of the amount of natural gas that is transported or stored. In addition to capacity reservation fees, EQM
may also collect usage fees when a firm transmission customer uses the capacity it has reserved under these firm transmission contracts. Where applicable, the
usage fees are assessed on the actual volume of natural gas transported on the system. A firm customer is billed an additional usage fee on volumes in excess of
firm capacity when the level of natural gas received for delivery from the customer exceeds its reserved capacity. Customers are not assured capacity or service for
volumes in excess of firm capacity on the applicable pipeline as these volumes have the same priority as interruptible service.
Under interruptible service contracts, customers pay usage fees based on their actual utilization of assets. Customers that have executed interruptible
contracts are not assured capacity or service on the applicable systems. To the extent that physical capacity that is contracted for firm service is not fully utilized or
excess capacity that has not been contracted for service exists, the system can allocate such capacity to interruptible services.
Including expected future capacity from expansion projects that are not yet fully constructed but for which EQM has entered into firm contracts,
approximately 5.1 Bcf per day of transmission capacity and 31.3 Bcf of storage capacity, respectively, were subscribed under firm transmission and storage
contracts as of December 31, 2017 .
As of December 31, 2017 , approximately 89% of EQM's contracted transmission firm capacity was subscribed by customers under negotiated rate
agreements under its tariff. Approximately 9% of EQM's contracted transmission firm capacity was subscribed at the recourse rates under its tariff, which are the
maximum rates an interstate pipeline may charge for its services under its tariff. The remaining 2% of EQM's contracted transmission firm capacity was subscribed
at discounted rates, which are less than the maximum rates an interstate pipeline may charge for its services under its tariff.
EQM has an acreage dedication from EQT pursuant to which EQM has the right to elect to transport on its transmission and storage system all natural gas
produced from wells drilled by EQT under an area covering approximately 60,000 acres in Allegheny, Washington and Greene counties in Pennsylvania and
Wetzel, Marion, Taylor, Tyler, Doddridge, Harrison and Lewis counties in West Virginia. EQT has a significant natural gas drilling program in these areas.
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Transmission and Storage System

The following table provides a revenue breakdown by EQM business segment for the year ended December 31, 2017 :
Revenue Composition %
Firm Contracts

Interruptible Contracts

Capacity
Reservation

Usage

Usage

Charges

Charges

Fees

Total

Gathering

49%

4%

1%

54%

Transmission

42%

2%

2%

46%

For the year ended December 31, 2017 , approximately 91% of total revenues were derived from firm reservation fees. As a result, EQM believes that
short and medium term declines in volumes of gas produced, gathered, transported or stored on its systems will not have a significant impact on its results of
operations, liquidity, financial position or ability to pay distributions because these firm reservation fees are paid regardless of volumes supplied to the system by
customers. Longer term price declines could have an impact on customer creditworthiness and related ability to pay firm reservation fees under long-term contracts
which could impact EQM's results of operations, liquidity, financial position or ability to pay distributions to its unitholders. Additionally, long term declines in gas
production in EQM's areas of operations would limit EQM's growth potential.
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Strategy
EQM's principal business objective is to increase the quarterly cash distributions that it pays to its unitholders over time while ensuring the ongoing
stability of its business. EQM expects to achieve its principal business objective through the following business strategies:
•

Capitalizing on economically attractive organic growth opportunities. EQM believes organic growth will be a key driver of growth in the future.
EQM expects to grow its systems over time by meeting EQT's and third party customers' midstream service needs that result from their drilling
activity in EQM's areas of operations. Further, EQM believes it has a competitive advantage in pursuing economically attractive organic expansion
projects in its areas of operations as a result of its strategically located assets which cover portions of the Marcellus, Upper Devonian and Utica
Shales that lack substantial natural gas pipeline infrastructure.

•

Increasing access to existing and new delivery markets. EQM is actively working to increase delivery interconnects with interstate pipelines,
neighboring LDCs, large industrial facilities and electric generation plants in order to increase access to existing and new markets for natural gas
consumption. In 2015, EQM began several multi-year transmission projects to support Marcellus, Upper Devonian and Utica Shale development,
including the Ohio Valley Connector (OVC), the Equitrans Expansion project and the MVP. The OVC was placed in-service during the fourth
quarter of 2016, providing shippers access to the Midwest markets. The Equitrans Expansion project is designed to provide north-to-south capacity
on the mainline Equitrans system for deliveries to the MVP. This project and the MVP are expected to be constructed in 2018 and together will
further diversify the market access on Equitrans by providing 2 Bcf per day of capacity to the growing Southeast demand markets. EQM is also
executing on the Hammerhead project.

•

Pursuing accretive acquisitions from EQT and third parties . EQM intends to seek opportunities to expand its existing operations through accretive
acquisitions from EQT and third parties. EQT announced that it intends to sell the retained midstream assets it acquired in its acquisition of Rice
Energy Inc. (Rice) to EQM through one or more drop-down transactions. See “EQM’s Relationship with EQT” for additional information regarding
these assets. However, EQT is under no obligation to offer the acquisition opportunity to EQM. EQM will also evaluate and may pursue acquisition
opportunities from third parties as they become available.

•

Attracting additional third party customers . EQM actively markets its midstream services to, and pursues strategic relationships with, third party
producers and demand driven customers in order to attract additional volumes and/or expansion opportunities. EQM believes that its connectivity to
interstate pipelines as well as its position as an early developer of midstream infrastructure within certain areas of the Marcellus, Upper Devonian and
Utica Shales, will allow EQM to capture additional third party volumes in the future and attract additional demand customers who want access to the
Appalachian Basin.

•

Focusing on stable, fixed-fee business . EQM intends to pursue additional opportunities to provide fixed-fee gathering, transmission and storage
services to EQT and third parties. This contract structure enhances the stability of EQM's cash flows and limits its direct exposure to commodity price
risk. EQM will focus on obtaining additional long-term firm commitments from customers, which may include reservation-based fees, volume
commitments and acreage dedications.

EQM's Relationship with EQT
EQT is an integrated energy company, with an emphasis on natural gas production, gathering and transmission. EQT conducts its business through five
business segments: EQT Production, EQM Gathering, EQM Transmission, RMP Gathering and RMP Water. EQT Production is the largest natural gas producer in
the United States, based on average daily sales volumes, with 21.4 Tcfe of proved natural gas, NGLs and crude oil reserves across approximately 4.0 million gross
acres, including approximately 1.1 million gross acres in the Marcellus play, many of which have associated deep Utica and/or Upper Devonian drilling rights, and
approximately 0.1 million gross acres in the Ohio Utica play as of December 31, 2017 . EQM Gathering and EQM Transmission provide gathering, transmission
and storage services for EQT's produced gas, as well as for independent third parties across the Appalachian Basin through EQM. RMP Gathering provides natural
gas gathering and compression services primarily to EQT in the dry gas core of the Marcellus Shale in southwestern Pennsylvania through Rice Midstream Partners
LP (RMP) (NYSE: RMP). RMP Water provides water services that support well completion activities and collects and recycles or disposes of flowback and
produced water for EQT and third parties in Washington and Greene Counties, Pennsylvania and Belmont County, Ohio through RMP.
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As of December 31, 2017 , EQT GP Holdings, LP (NYSE: EQGP) and its subsidiaries (EQGP) owned a 1.8% general partner interest in EQM, all of the
incentive distribution rights (IDRs) in EQM and a 26.6% limited partner interest in EQM. As of December 31, 2017 , EQT indirectly held 239,715,000 EQGP
common units, representing a 90.1% limited partner interest, and 100% of the non-economic general partner interest in EQGP. Because of the significant interest in
EQM that EQT owns through EQGP, EQT is positioned to directly benefit from committing additional natural gas volumes to EQM's systems and from facilitating
organic growth opportunities and accretive acquisitions for EQM. Following EQT’s acquisition of Rice, EQM expects to have the opportunity to purchase
additional midstream assets from EQT in the future. The opportunities are expected to include certain midstream assets previously owned by Rice that provide
gathering services for EQT and third party’s produced gas in Belmont and Monroe Counties, Ohio. However, EQT is under no obligation to make acquisition
opportunities available to EQM, is not restricted from competing with EQM and may acquire, construct or dispose of midstream assets without any obligation to
offer EQM the opportunity to purchase or construct these assets.
EQM's relationship with EQT is also a source of potential conflicts. For example, EQT is not restricted from competing with EQM, whether directly,
through RMP, or otherwise. In addition, all of the executive officers and five of the directors of EQT Midstream Services, LLC, the general partner of EQM (the
EQM General Partner), also serve as officers and/or directors of EQT, three of the executive officers and four of the directors of the EQM General Partner also
serve as officers and/or directors of EQT GP Services, LLC, the general partner of EQGP, and all of the executive officers and five of the directors of the EQM
General Partner also serve as officers and/or directors of Rice Midstream Management LLC, the general partner of RMP. These individuals face conflicts of
interest, which include the allocation of their time among EQM, EQT, EQGP and RMP. For a description of EQM's relationships with EQT, please read Item 13,
"Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence." In addition, EQT has announced that its board of directors has formed a committee
to evaluate options for addressing EQT’s sum-of-the-parts discount. EQT’s board will announce a decision by the end of March 2018, after considering the
committee’s recommendation.
Markets and Customers
EQT accounted for approximately 73% , 75% and 73% of EQM's total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , PNG Companies, LLC and its affiliates, an LDC, accounted for approximately 12% , 12% and 14% of
EQM's total revenues, respectively.
Gathering Customers. EQM's gathering system has approximately 2,200 receipt points with natural gas producers. EQT represented approximately 89% ,
96% and 96% of EQM's gathering revenues for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively.
Transmission Customers. EQM provides natural gas transmission and storage services for EQT and third parties, predominantly consisting of LDCs,
marketers, producers and commercial and industrial users that EQM believes to be creditworthy. EQM's transmission system provides these customers with access
to adjacent markets in Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Ohio and also provides access to the Mid-Atlantic, Northeastern, Midwestern and Gulf Coast markets in
the United States through 6.5 Bcf per day of delivery interconnect capacity with major interstate pipelines as of December 31, 2017 . EQM provides storage
services to a mix of customers, including marketers and LDCs.
For the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , EQT and its affiliates accounted for approximately 53% , 51% and 47% , respectively, of
EQM's transmission and storage revenues. Additionally, for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , PNG Companies, LLC and its affiliates
accounted for approximately 26% , 27% and 29% of EQM's transmission and storage revenues.
Competition
Key competitors for new gathering systems include companies that own major natural gas pipelines, independent gas gatherers and integrated energy
companies. Some of EQM's competitors have capital resources and control supplies of natural gas greater than it does.
Competition for natural gas transmission and storage volumes is primarily based on rates, customer commitment levels, timing, performance, commercial
terms, reliability, service levels, location, reputation and fuel efficiencies. EQM's principal competitors in its natural gas transmission and storage market include
companies that own major natural gas pipelines. In addition, EQM competes with companies that are building high pressure gathering facilities that are not subject
to FERC jurisdiction to move volumes to interstate pipelines. EQT also owns high pressure gathering facilities and in the future may construct additional high
pressure gathering facilities and natural gas transmission pipelines. Major natural gas
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transmission companies that compete with EQM also have existing storage facilities connected to their transmission systems that compete with certain of EQM's
storage facilities.
Regulatory Environment
FERC Regulation. EQM's interstate natural gas transmission and storage operations are regulated by the FERC under the NGA, the NGPA and the Energy
Policy Act of 2005. EQM's regulated system operates under tariffs approved by the FERC that establish rates, cost recovery mechanisms and the terms and
conditions of service to its customers. Generally, the FERC's authority extends to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

rates and charges for natural gas transmission, storage and FERC-regulated gathering services;
certification and construction of new interstate transmission and storage facilities;
abandonment of interstate transmission and storage services and facilities;
maintenance of accounts and records;
relationships between pipelines and certain affiliates;
terms and conditions of services and service contracts with customers;
depreciation and amortization policies;
acquisition and disposition of interstate transmission and storage facilities; and
initiation and discontinuation of interstate transmission and storage services.

EQM holds certificates of public convenience and necessity for its transmission and storage system issued by the FERC pursuant to Section 7 of the NGA
covering rates, facilities, activities and services. These certificates require EQM to provide open-access services on its interstate pipeline and storage facilities on a
non-discriminatory basis to all customers that qualify under the FERC gas tariffs. In addition, under Section 8 of the NGA, the FERC has the power to prescribe the
accounting treatment of certain items for regulatory purposes. Thus, the books and records of EQM's interstate pipeline and storage facilities may be periodically
audited by the FERC.
The FERC regulates the rates and charges for transmission and storage in interstate commerce. Under the NGA, rates charged by interstate pipelines must
be just and reasonable.
The recourse rate that EQM may charge for its services is established through the FERC's cost-of-service ratemaking process. Generally, the maximum
filed recourse rates for interstate pipelines are based on the cost of providing that service including recovery of and a return on the pipeline's actual prudent
historical cost of investment. Key determinants in the ratemaking process include the depreciated capital costs of the facilities, the costs of providing service, the
allowed rate of return and income tax allowance, as well as volume throughput and contractual capacity commitment assumptions. The maximum applicable
recourse rates and terms and conditions for service are set forth in the pipeline's FERC-approved tariff. Rate design and the allocation of costs also can impact a
pipeline's profitability. While the ratemaking process establishes the maximum rate that can be charged, interstate pipelines such as EQM's transmission and
storage system are permitted to discount their firm and interruptible rates without further FERC authorization down to the variable cost of performing service,
provided they do not "unduly discriminate." In addition, pipelines are allowed to negotiate different rates with their customers, as described later in this section.
Pursuant to the NGA, changes to rates or terms and conditions of service can be proposed by a pipeline company under Section 4 of the NGA, or the
existing interstate transmission and storage rates or terms and conditions of service may be challenged by a complaint filed by interested persons including
customers, state agencies or the FERC under Section 5 of the NGA. Rate increases proposed by a pipeline may be allowed to become effective subject to refund
and/or a period of suspension, while rates or terms and conditions of service which are the subject of a complaint under Section 5 of the NGA are subject to
prospective change by the FERC. Rate increases proposed by a regulated interstate pipeline may be challenged and such increases may ultimately be rejected by
the FERC. Any successful challenge against existing or proposed rates charged for EQM's transmission and storage services could have a material adverse effect
on its business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make distributions to its unitholders.
EQM's interstate pipeline may also use negotiated rates which could involve rates above or below the recourse rate or rates that are subject to a different
rate structure than the rates specified in EQM's interstate pipeline tariffs, provided that the affected customers are willing to agree to such rates and that the FERC
has approved the negotiated rate agreement. A prerequisite for allowing the negotiated rates is that negotiated rate customers must have had the option to take
service under the pipeline's recourse rates. As of December 31, 2017 , approximately 89% of the system's contracted firm transportation capacity was committed
under negotiated rate contracts. Some negotiated rate transactions are designed to fix the negotiated
12

Table of Contents
rate for the term of the firm transportation agreement and the fixed rate is generally not subject to adjustment for increased or decreased costs occurring during the
contract term.
FERC regulations also extend to the terms and conditions set forth in agreements for transmission and storage services executed between interstate
pipelines and their customers. These service agreements are required to conform, in all material respects, with the form of service agreements set forth in the
pipeline's FERC-approved tariff. In the event that the FERC finds that an agreement, in whole or part, is materially non-conforming, it could reject the agreement,
require EQM to seek modification of the agreement or require EQM to modify its applicable tariff so that the non-conforming provisions are generally available to
all customers.
FERC Regulation of Gathering Rates and Terms of Service. While the FERC does not generally regulate the rates and terms of service over facilities
determined to be performing a natural gas gathering function, it has traditionally regulated rates charged by interstate pipelines for gathering services performed on
the pipeline's own gathering facilities when those gathering services are performed in connection with jurisdictional interstate transmission facilities. EQM
maintains rates and terms of service in its tariff for unbundled gathering services performed on its gathering facilities in connection with the transmission service.
Just as with rates and terms of service for transmission and storage services, EQM's rates and terms of services for its FERC-regulated low pressure gathering
system may be challenged by complaint and are subject to prospective change by the FERC. Rate increases and changes to terms and conditions of service EQM
proposes for its FERC-regulated low pressure gathering service may be protested, and such increases or changes can be delayed and may ultimately be rejected by
the FERC.
Section 1(b) of the NGA exempts certain natural gas gathering facilities from regulation by the FERC under the NGA. EQM believes that its high
pressure gathering systems meet the traditional tests the FERC has used to establish a pipeline's status as an exempt gatherer not subject to regulation as a natural
gas company. However, the distinction between FERC-regulated transmission services and federally unregulated gathering services is often the subject of litigation
in the industry, so the classification and regulation of these systems are subject to change based on future determinations by the FERC, the courts or the U.S.
Congress.
Pipeline Safety and Maintenance. EQM's interstate natural gas pipeline system is subject to regulation by PHMSA. PHMSA has established safety
requirements pertaining to the design, installation, testing, construction, operation and maintenance of gas pipeline facilities, including requirements that pipeline
operators develop a written qualification program for individuals performing covered tasks on pipeline facilities and implement pipeline integrity management
programs. These integrity management plans require more frequent inspections and other preventive measures to ensure safe operation of oil and natural gas
transportation pipelines in "high consequence areas," such as high population areas or facilities that are hard to evacuate and areas of daily concentrations of
people.
Notwithstanding the investigatory and preventative maintenance costs incurred in EQM's performance of customary pipeline management activities, EQM
may incur significant additional expenses if anomalous pipeline conditions are discovered or more stringent pipeline safety requirements are implemented. For
example, in April 2016, PHMSA published a notice of proposed rulemaking addressing several integrity management topics and proposing new requirements to
address safety issues for natural gas transmission and gathering lines. The proposed rule would strengthen existing integrity management requirements, expand
assessment and repair requirements to pipelines in areas with medium population densities and extend regulatory requirements to onshore gas gathering lines that
are currently exempt. Further, in June 2016, President Obama signed the Protecting Our Infrastructure of Pipelines and Enhancing Safety Act of 2016 (2016
Pipeline Safety Act), extending PHMSA's statutory mandate under prior legislation through 2019. In addition, the 2016 Pipeline Safety Act empowered PHMSA to
address imminent hazards by imposing emergency restrictions, prohibitions and safety measures on owners and operators of gas or hazardous liquid pipeline
facilities without prior notice or an opportunity for a hearing and also required PHMSA to develop new safety standards for natural gas storage facilities by June
2018. Pursuant to those provisions of the 2016 Pipeline Safety Act, in October 2016 and December 2016, PHMSA issued two separate Interim Final Rules that
expanded the agency's authority to impose emergency restrictions, prohibitions and safety measures and strengthened the rules related to underground natural gas
storage facilities, including well integrity, wellbore tubing and casing integrity. The December 2016 Interim Final Rule, relating to underground gas storage
facilities, went into effect in January 2017, with a compliance deadline in January 2018. PHMSA determined, however, that it will not issue enforcement citations
to any operators for violations of provisions of the December 2016 Interim Final Rule that had previously been non-mandatory provisions of American Petroleum
Institute Recommended Practices 1170 and 1171 until one year after PHMSA issues a final rule. In October 2017, PHMSA formally reopened the comment period
on the December 2016 Interim Final Rule in response to a petition for reconsideration, with comments due in November 2017. Additionally, in January 2017,
PHMSA announced a new final rule regarding hazardous liquid pipelines, which increases the quality and frequency of tests that assess the condition of pipelines,
requires operators to annually evaluate the existing protective measures in place for pipeline segments in high consequence areas (HCAs), extends certain leak
detection requirements for hazardous liquid pipelines not located in HCAs,
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and expands the list of conditions that require immediate repair. However, it is unclear when or if this rule will go into effect because, on January 20, 2017, the
Trump Administration requested that all regulations that had been sent to the Office of the Federal Register, but were not yet published, be immediately withdrawn
for further review. Accordingly, this rule has not become effective through publication in the Federal Register. EQM is monitoring and evaluating the effect of
these and other emerging requirements on its operations.
States are generally preempted by federal law in the area of pipeline safety, but state agencies may qualify to assume responsibility for enforcing federal
regulations over intrastate pipelines. They may also promulgate additive pipeline safety regulations provided that the state standards are at least as stringent as the
federal standards. Although many of EQM's natural gas facilities fall within a class that is not subject to integrity management requirements, EQM may incur
significant costs and liabilities associated with repair, remediation, preventive or mitigation measures associated with its non-exempt transmission pipelines. The
costs, if any, for repair, remediation, preventive or mitigating actions that may be determined to be necessary as a result of the testing program, as well as lost cash
flows resulting from shutting down EQM's pipelines during the pendency of such actions, could be material.
Should EQM fail to comply with DOT regulations adopted under authority granted to PHMSA, it could be subject to penalties and fines. PHMSA has the
statutory authority to impose civil penalties for pipeline safety violations up to a maximum of approximately $200,000 per day for each violation and
approximately $2 million for a related series of violations. This maximum penalty authority established by statute will continue to be adjusted periodically to
account for inflation. In addition, EQM may be required to make additional maintenance capital expenditures in the future for similar regulatory compliance
initiatives that are not reflected in its forecasted maintenance capital expenditures.
EQM believes that its operations are in substantial compliance with all existing federal, state and local pipeline safety laws and regulations. However, the
adoption of new laws and regulations, such as those proposed by PHMSA, could result in significant added costs or delays in service or the termination of projects,
which could have a material adverse effect on EQM in the future.
Environmental Matters
General . EQM's operations are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. These laws
and regulations can restrict or impact EQM's business activities in many ways, such as:
•
•
•
•

requiring the acquisition of various permits to conduct regulated activities;
requiring the installation of pollution-control equipment or otherwise restricting the way EQM can handle or dispose of its wastes;
limiting or prohibiting construction activities in sensitive areas, such as wetlands, coastal regions or areas inhabited by endangered or threatened
species; and
requiring investigatory and remedial actions to mitigate or eliminate pollution conditions caused by EQM's operations or attributable to former
operations.

In addition, EQM's operations and construction activities are subject to county and local ordinances that restrict the time, place or manner in which those
activities may be conducted so as to reduce or mitigate nuisance-type conditions, such as, for example, excessive levels of dust or noise or increased traffic
congestion.
Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may trigger a variety of administrative, civil and criminal enforcement measures, including the
assessment of monetary penalties, the imposition of investigatory and remedial obligations and the issuance of orders enjoining future operations or imposing
additional compliance requirements. Also, certain environmental statutes impose strict, and in some cases joint and several, liability for the cleanup and restoration
of sites where hydrocarbons or wastes have been disposed or otherwise released. Consequently, EQM may be subject to environmental liability at its currently
owned or operated facilities for conditions caused by others prior to its involvement.
EQM has implemented programs and policies designed to keep its pipelines and other facilities in compliance with existing environmental laws and
regulations, and EQM does not believe that its compliance with such legal requirements will have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition,
results of operations, liquidity or ability to make distributions to its unitholders. Nonetheless, the trend in environmental regulation is to place more restrictions and
limitations on activities that may affect the environment. Thus, there can be no assurance as to the amount or timing of future expenditures for environmental
compliance or remediation, and actual future expenditures may be significantly in excess of the amounts EQM currently anticipates. For example, in October 2015,
the EPA revised the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS)
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for ozone from 75 parts per billion for the current 8 hour primary and secondary ozone standards to 70 parts per billion for both standards. The EPA may designate
the areas in which EQM operates as nonattainment areas. States that contain any areas designated as nonattainment areas will be required to develop
implementation plans demonstrating how the areas will attain the applicable standard within a prescribed period of time. These plans may require the installation of
additional equipment to control emissions. In addition, in May 2016, the EPA finalized rules that impose volatile organic compound and methane emissions limits
(and collaterally reduce methane emissions) on certain types of compressors and pneumatic pumps, as well as requiring the development and implementation of
leak monitoring plans for compressor stations. The EPA announced its intention to reconsider certain of the rules in April 2017 and has sought to stay their
requirements; however, the rules remain in effect. Compliance with these or other new regulations could, among other things, require installation of new emission
controls on some of EQM’s equipment, result in longer permitting timelines, and significantly increase EQM’s capital expenditures and operating costs, which
could adversely impact EQM’s business. EQM tries to anticipate future regulatory requirements that might be imposed and plan accordingly to remain in
compliance with changing environmental laws and regulations and to minimize the costs of such compliance. While EQM believes that it is in substantial
compliance with existing environmental laws and regulations, there is no assurance that the current conditions will continue in the future.
Below is a discussion of several of the material environmental laws and regulations, as amended from time to time, that relate to EQM's business.
Hazardous Substances and Waste. CERCLA and comparable state laws impose liability, without regard to fault or the legality of the original conduct, on
certain classes of persons who are considered to be responsible for the release of a "hazardous substance" into the environment. These persons include current and
prior owners or operators of the site where a release of hazardous substances occurred and companies that transported, disposed or arranged for the transportation
or disposal of the hazardous substances found at the site. Under CERCLA, these "responsible persons" may be subject to strict and joint and several liability for the
costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the environment, for damages to natural resources and for the costs of certain health
studies. CERCLA also authorizes the EPA and, in some instances, third parties to act in response to threats to the public health or the environment and to seek to
recover from the responsible classes of persons the costs they incur. It is not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for
personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by hazardous substances or other pollutants released into the environment. EQM generates materials in the
course of its ordinary operations that are regulated as "hazardous substances" under CERCLA or similar state laws and, as a result, may be jointly and severally
liable under CERCLA, or such laws, for all or part of the costs required to clean up sites at which these hazardous substances have been released into the
environment.
EQM also generates solid wastes, including hazardous wastes, which are subject to the requirements of RCRA, and comparable state statutes. While
RCRA regulates both solid and hazardous wastes, it imposes strict requirements on the generation, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of hazardous
wastes. In the ordinary course of EQM's operations, EQM generates wastes constituting solid waste and, in some instances, hazardous wastes. While certain
petroleum production wastes are excluded from RCRA's hazardous waste regulations, it is possible that these wastes will in the future be designated as "hazardous
wastes" and be subject to more rigorous and costly disposal requirements, which could have a material adverse effect on EQM's maintenance capital expenditures
and operating expenses.
EQM owns, leases or operates properties where petroleum hydrocarbons are being or have been handled for many years. EQM has generally utilized
operating and disposal practices that were standard in the industry at the time, although petroleum hydrocarbons or other wastes may have been disposed of or
released on or under the properties owned, leased or operated by EQM, or on or under the other locations where these petroleum hydrocarbons and wastes have
been transported for treatment or disposal. In addition, certain of these properties have been operated by third parties whose treatment and disposal or release of
petroleum hydrocarbons and other wastes was not under EQM's control. These properties and the wastes disposed thereon may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and
analogous state laws. Under these laws, EQM could be required to remove or remediate previously disposed wastes (including wastes disposed of or released by
prior owners or operators), to clean up contaminated property (including contaminated groundwater) or to perform remedial operations to prevent future
contamination.
Air Emissions. The federal Clean Air Act and comparable state laws and regulations restrict the emission of air pollutants from various industrial sources,
including EQM's compressor stations, and also impose various monitoring and reporting requirements. Such laws and regulations may require that EQM obtain
pre-approval for the construction or modification of certain projects or facilities, obtain and strictly comply with air permits containing various emissions and
operational limitations and utilize specific emission control technologies to limit emissions. EQM's failure to comply with these requirements could subject it to
monetary penalties, injunctions, conditions or restrictions on operations and, potentially, criminal enforcement actions. EQM may be required to incur certain
capital expenditures in the future for air pollution control equipment in connection with obtaining and maintaining permits and approvals for air emissions.
Compliance with these
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requirements may require modifications to certain of EQM's operations, including the installation of new equipment to control emissions from EQM's compressors
that could result in significant costs, including increased capital expenditures and operating costs, and could adversely impact EQM's business.
Climate Change. Legislative and regulatory measures to address climate change and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are in various phases of discussion
or implementation. The EPA regulates GHG emissions from new and modified facilities that are potential major sources of criteria pollutants under the Clean Air
Act's Prevention of Significant Deterioration and Title V programs.
The U.S. Congress, along with federal and state agencies, have considered measures to reduce the emissions of GHGs. Legislation or regulation that
restricts carbon emissions could increase EQM's cost of environmental compliance by requiring EQM to install new equipment to reduce emissions from larger
facilities and/or purchase emission allowances. Climate change and GHG legislation or regulation could also delay or otherwise negatively affect efforts to obtain
permits and other regulatory approvals with regard to existing and new facilities or impose additional monitoring and reporting requirements. For example, in
October 2015, the EPA expanded the petroleum and natural gas system sources for which annual GHG emissions reporting would be required. Additionally,
several states are pursuing similar measures to regulate emissions of GHGs from new and existing sources. If implemented, such restrictions may result in
additional compliance obligations with respect to, or taxes on the release, capture and use of GHGs that could have an adverse effect on EQM's operations.
Conversely, legislation or regulation that sets a price on or otherwise restricts carbon emissions could also benefit EQM by increasing demand for natural gas
because the combustion of natural gas results in substantially fewer carbon emissions per Btu of heat generated than other fossil fuels such as coal. The effect on
EQM of any new legislative or regulatory measures will depend on the particular provisions that are ultimately adopted.
Water Discharges. The federal Clean Water Act and analogous state laws impose restrictions and strict controls regarding the discharge of pollutants or
dredged and fill material into state waters as well as waters of the United States, including adjacent wetlands. The discharge of pollutants into regulated waters is
prohibited, except in accordance with the terms of permits issued by the EPA, the Army Corps of Engineers or an analogous state agency. Spill prevention, control
and countermeasure requirements of federal laws require appropriate containment berms and similar structures to help prevent the contamination of regulated
waters in the event of a hydrocarbon spill, rupture or leak. In addition, the Clean Water Act and analogous state laws require individual permits or coverage under
general permits for discharges of storm water runoff from certain types of facilities. Federal and state regulatory agencies can impose administrative, civil and
criminal penalties for non-compliance with discharge permits or other requirements of the Clean Water Act and analogous state laws. EQM believes that
compliance with existing permits and foreseeable new permit requirements will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity or ability to make distributions to its unitholders.
National Environmental Policy Act. The construction of interstate natural gas transportation pipelines pursuant to the NGA requires authorization from the
FERC. FERC actions are subject to the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). NEPA requires federal agencies, such as the FERC, to evaluate major agency
actions having the potential to significantly impact the environment. In the course of such evaluations, an agency will either prepare an environmental assessment
that assesses the potential direct, indirect and cumulative impacts of a proposed project or, if necessary, a more detailed Environmental Impact Statement that may
be made available for public review and comment. Any proposed plans for future construction activities that require FERC authorization will be subject to the
requirements of NEPA. This process has the potential to significantly delay or limit, and increase the cost of, development of midstream infrastructure.
Endangered Species Act. The federal Endangered Species Act (ESA) restricts activities that may adversely affect endangered and threatened species or
their habitats. Federal agencies are required to ensure that any action authorized, funded or carried out by them is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of
listed species or modify their critical habitat. While some of EQM's facilities are located in areas that are designated as habitats for endangered or threatened
species, EQM believes that it is in substantial compliance with the ESA. The designation of previously unprotected species as being endangered or threatened, or
the designation of previously unprotected areas as a critical habitat for such species, could cause EQM to incur additional costs, result in delays in construction of
pipelines and facilities, or cause EQM to become subject to operating restrictions in areas where the species are known to exist. For example, the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service continues to receive hundreds of petitions to consider listing additional species as endangered or threatened and is being regularly sued or
threatened with lawsuits to address these petitions. Some of these legal actions may result in the listing of species located in areas in which EQM operates.
Employee Health and Safety. EQM is subject to a number of federal and state laws and regulations, including the federal Occupational Safety and Health
Act (OSHA) and comparable state statutes, whose purpose is to protect the health and safety of workers. In addition, the OSHA hazard communication standard,
the EPA community "right-to-know" regulations and
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comparable state laws and regulations require that information be maintained concerning hazardous materials used or produced in EQM's operations and that this
information be provided to employees, state and local government authorities and citizens. EQM believes that it is in substantial compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations relating to worker health and safety.
Seasonality
Weather impacts natural gas demand for power generation and heating purposes. Peak demand for natural gas typically occurs during the winter months
as a result of the heating load.
Title to Properties and Rights-of-Way
EQM's real property falls into two categories: (i) parcels that it owns in fee and (ii) parcels in which its interest derives from leases, easements, rights-ofway, permits or licenses from landowners or governmental authorities permitting the use of such land for EQM's operations. Certain lands on which EQM's
pipelines and facilities are located are owned by EQM in fee title, and it believes that it has satisfactory title to these lands. The remainder of the lands on which
EQM's pipelines and facilities are located are held by EQM pursuant to surface leases or easements between EQM, as lessee or grantee, and the respective fee
owners of the lands, as lessors or grantors. EQM has held, leased or owned many of these lands for many years without any material challenge known to EQM
relating to the title to the land upon which the assets are located, and EQM believes that it has satisfactory leasehold estates, easement interests or fee ownership to
such lands. EQM believes that it has satisfactory title to all of its material leases, easements, rights-of-way, permits and licenses, and EQM has no knowledge of
any material challenge to its title to such assets or their underlying fee title.
There are, however, certain lands within EQM's storage pools as to which it may not currently have vested real property rights, some of which are subject
to ongoing acquisition negotiations or condemnation proceedings. In accordance with EQM's FERC certificates, the geological formations within which its
permitted storage facilities are located cannot be used by third parties in any way that would detrimentally affect its storage operations, and EQM has the power of
eminent domain with respect to the acquisition of necessary real property rights to use such storage facilities.
Insurance
EQM generally shares insurance coverage with EQT. EQM reimburses EQT for the cost of the insurance pursuant to the terms of EQM's omnibus
agreement with EQT. The insurance program includes excess liability insurance, auto liability insurance, workers' compensation insurance and property insurance.
In addition, EQM has procured separate general liability and directors and officers liability policies. All insurance coverage is in amounts management believes to
be reasonable and appropriate.
Facilities
EQT leases its corporate offices in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Pursuant to the omnibus agreement with EQT, EQM pays a proportionate share of EQT's
costs to lease the building.
Employees
EQM does not have any employees. EQM is managed by the directors and officers of the EQM General Partner. All executive management personnel of
the EQM General Partner are officers of EQT and devote the portion of their time to EQM's business and affairs that is required to manage and conduct its
operations. The daily business operations of EQM are conducted by employees of EQT and its subsidiaries. Under the terms of the omnibus agreement with EQT,
EQM reimburses EQT for the provision of general and administrative services for its benefit, for direct expenses incurred by EQT on EQM's behalf and for
expenses allocated to EQM as a result of it being a public entity. Additionally, EQM has a secondment agreement with EQT whereby EQT and its subsidiaries
provide seconded employees to perform certain operating and other services with respect to EQM’s business. Prior to the secondment agreement, EQM had an
operation and management services agreement with EQT whereby EQT and its subsidiaries provided certain operational and management services with respect to
EQM's business.
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Availability of Reports
EQM makes certain filings with the SEC, including its Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and
all amendments and exhibits to those reports, available free of charge through its website, http://www.eqtmidstreampartners.com, as soon as reasonably practicable
after the date they are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The filings are also available at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington,
D.C. 20549 or by calling 1-800-SEC-0330. These filings are also available on the internet at http://www.sec.gov.
Composition of Segment Operating Revenues
Presented below are operating revenues by segment as a percentage of total operating revenues of EQM.
For the year ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

Gathering operating revenues

54%

54%

53%

Transmission operating revenues

46%

46%

47%

Financial Information about Segments
See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for financial information by business segment including, but not limited to, revenues from external
customers, operating income and total assets, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
Jurisdiction and Year of Formation
EQT Midstream Partners, LP is a Delaware limited partnership formed in January 2012.
Financial Information about Geographic Areas
All of EQM's assets and operations are located in the continental United States.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the following risk factors should be considered in evaluating our
business and future prospects. Please note that additional risks not presently known to us or that are currently considered immaterial may also have a negative
impact on our business and operations. If any of the events or circumstances described below actually occurs, our business, financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity or ability to make distributions could suffer and the trading price of our common units could decline.
Risks Inherent in Our Business
We depend on EQT for a substantial majority of our revenues and future growth. Therefore, we are indirectly subject to the business risks of EQT. We
have no control over EQT's business decisions and operations, and EQT is under no obligation to adopt a business strategy that favors us.
Historically, we have provided a substantial percentage of our natural gas gathering, transmission and storage services to EQT. EQT accounted for
approximately 73% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017 . We expect to derive a substantial majority of our revenues from EQT for the
foreseeable future. Therefore, any event, whether in our areas of operations or otherwise, that adversely affects EQT's production, financial condition, leverage,
results of operations or cash flows may adversely affect our ability to sustain or increase cash distributions to our unitholders. Accordingly, we are indirectly
subject to the business risks of EQT, including the following:
•
•
•
•

natural gas price volatility or a sustained period of lower commodity prices may have an adverse effect on EQT's drilling operations, revenue,
profitability, future rate of growth and liquidity;
a reduction in or slowing of EQT's anticipated drilling and production schedule, which would directly and adversely impact demand for our services;
infrastructure capacity constraints and interruptions;
risks associated with the operation of EQT's wells, pipelines and facilities, including potential environmental liabilities;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the availability of capital on a satisfactory economic basis to fund EQT's operations;
EQT's ability to identify exploration, development and production opportunities based on market conditions;
uncertainties inherent in projecting future rates of production;
EQT's ability to develop additional reserves that are economically recoverable, to optimize existing well production and to sustain production;
adverse effects of governmental and environmental regulation, changes in tax laws and negative public perception regarding EQT's operations;
the loss of key personnel; and
risk associated with cyber security threats.

EQT may reduce its capital spending in the future based on commodity prices or other factors. Unless we are successful in attracting significant
unaffiliated third party customers, our ability to maintain or increase the capacity subscribed and volumes transported under service arrangements on our gathering
and transmission and storage systems will be dependent on receiving consistent or increasing commitments from EQT. While EQT has dedicated certain acreage
to, and entered into long-term firm gathering and transmission contracts on, our systems, it may determine in the future that drilling in areas outside of our current
areas of operations is strategically more attractive to it and it is under no contractual obligation to maintain its production dedicated to us. EQT also has production
assets and acreage that is dedicated to systems owned by RMP, and may in the future acquire production assets or acreage that are dedicated to other third party
systems. A reduction in the capacity subscribed or volumes transported or gathered on our systems by EQT could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders. In addition, EQT has announced that its board
of directors has formed a committee to evaluate options to address EQT's sum-of-the-parts discount, with the results of such review to be announced by the end of
March 2018. There can be no assurance regarding the outcome of this review or how such outcome may involve or affect us.
Please see Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in EQT's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 (which is not, and shall not be deemed
to be, incorporated by reference herein) for a full discussion of the risks associated with EQT's business.
We may not have sufficient cash from operations following the establishment of cash reserves and payment of fees and expenses, including cost
reimbursements to EQT and its affiliates, to enable us to pay quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
In order to pay the announced fourth quarter 2017 distribution of $1.025 per unit, or $4.100 per unit on an annualized basis, we will require available cash
(as defined in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements) of approximately $125.9 million per quarter, or $503.6 million per year, based on the number of
common and general partner units and the incentive distribution rights (IDRs) outstanding at December 31, 2017 . We may not have sufficient available cash each
quarter to enable us to pay the quarterly cash distribution. The amount of cash we can distribute on our units principally depends upon the amount of cash we
generate from our operations, which will fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the rates we charge for our gathering, transmission and storage services;
the level of firm gathering, transmission and storage capacity sold and volumes of natural gas we gather, transport and store for our customers;
regional, domestic and foreign supply and perceptions of supply of natural gas; the level of demand and perceptions of demand in our end-use
markets; and actual and anticipated future prices of natural gas and other commodities (and the volatility thereof), which may impact our ability to
renew and replace firm gathering, transmission and storage agreements;
the effect of seasonal variations in temperature on the amount of natural gas that we gather, transport and store;
the level of competition from other midstream energy companies in our geographic markets;
the creditworthiness of our customers;
restrictions contained in our joint venture agreements;
the level of our operating, maintenance and general and administrative costs;
regulatory action affecting the supply of, or demand for, natural gas, the rates we can charge on our assets, how we contract for services, our existing
contracts, our operating costs or our operating flexibility; and
prevailing economic conditions.

In addition, the actual amount of cash we will have available for distribution will depend on other factors, including:
•

the level and timing of capital expenditures we make;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the level of our operating and general and administrative expenses, including reimbursements to our general partner and its affiliates, including EQT,
for services provided to us;
the cost of acquisitions, if any;
our debt service requirements and other liabilities;
fluctuations in our working capital needs;
our ability to borrow funds and access capital markets on satisfactory terms;
restrictions on distributions contained in our debt agreements;
the amount of cash reserves established by our general partner; and
other business risks affecting our cash levels.

Our natural gas gathering, transmission and storage services are subject to extensive regulation by federal, state and local regulatory authorities.
Changes or additional regulatory measures adopted by such authorities could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations, liquidity and ability to make distributions.
Our interstate natural gas transmission and storage operations are regulated by the FERC under the NGA, the NGPA and the Energy Policy Act of 2005.
Certain portions of our gathering operations are also rate-regulated by the FERC in connection with our interstate transmission operations. Our FERC-regulated
systems operate under tariffs approved by the FERC that establish rates, cost recovery mechanisms and terms and conditions of service to our customers.
Generally, the FERC's authority extends to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

rates and charges for our natural gas transmission and storage and FERC-regulated gathering services;
certification and construction of new interstate transmission and storage facilities;
abandonment of interstate transmission and storage services and facilities;
maintenance of accounts and records;
relationships between pipelines and certain affiliates;
terms and conditions of services and service contracts with customers;
depreciation and amortization policies;
acquisitions and dispositions of interstate transmission and storage facilities; and
initiation and discontinuation of interstate transmission and storage services.

Interstate pipelines may not charge rates or impose terms and conditions of service that, upon review by the FERC, are found to be unjust and
unreasonable or unduly discriminatory. The recourse rate that may be charged by our interstate pipeline for its transmission and storage services is established
through the FERC's ratemaking process. The maximum applicable recourse rate and terms and conditions for service are set forth in our FERC-approved tariffs.
Pursuant to the NGA, existing interstate transmission and storage rates and terms and conditions of service may be challenged by complaint and are
subject to prospective change by the FERC. Additionally, rate increases and changes to terms and conditions of service proposed by a regulated interstate pipeline
may be protested and such increases or changes can be delayed and may ultimately be rejected by the FERC. We currently hold authority from the FERC to charge
and collect (i) "recourse rates," which are the maximum rates an interstate pipeline may charge for its services under its tariff, (ii) "discount rates," which are rates
below the "recourse rates" and above a minimum level, provided they do not "unduly discriminate", (iii) "negotiated rates," which involve rates above or below the
"recourse rates," provided that the affected customers are willing to agree to such rates and that the FERC has approved the negotiated rate agreement, and (iv)
market-based rates for some of our storage services from which we derive a small portion of our revenues. As of December 31, 2017 , approximately 89% of our
system's contracted firm transmission capacity was committed under such "negotiated rate" contracts, rather than recourse, discount or market rate contracts. There
can be no guarantee that we will be allowed to continue to operate under such rate structures for the remainder of those assets' operating lives. Any successful
challenge against rates charged for our transmission and storage services could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
While the FERC does not generally regulate the rates and terms of service over facilities determined to be performing a natural gas gathering function, the
FERC has traditionally regulated rates charged by interstate pipelines for gathering services performed on the pipeline's own gathering facilities when those
gathering services are performed in connection with jurisdictional interstate transmission facilities. We maintain rates and terms of service in our tariff for
unbundled gathering services performed on a portion of our gathering facilities that are connected to our transmission and storage system. Just as with rates and
terms of service for transmission and storage services, our rates and terms of services for our FERC-regulated gathering services may be challenged by complaint
and are subject to prospective change by the FERC. Rate increases and
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changes to terms and conditions of service which we propose for our FERC-regulated gathering services may be protested, and such increases or changes can be
delayed and may ultimately be rejected by the FERC.
The FERC's jurisdiction extends to the certification and construction of interstate transmission and storage facilities, including, but not limited to,
acquisitions, facility maintenance, expansions, and abandonment of facilities and services. While the FERC exercises jurisdiction over the rates and terms of
service for our FERC-regulated gathering services, these gathering facilities are not subject to the FERC's certification and construction authority. Prior to
commencing construction of new or existing interstate transmission and storage facilities, an interstate pipeline must obtain a certificate authorizing the
construction, or file to amend its existing certificate, from the FERC. Typically, a significant expansion project requires review by a number of governmental
agencies, including state and local agencies, whose cooperation is important in completing the regulatory process on schedule. Any agency's delay in the issuance
of, or refusal to issue, authorizations or permits for one or more of these projects may mean that we will not be able to pursue these projects or that they will be
constructed in a manner or with capital requirements that we did not anticipate. Such delays, refusals or resulting modifications to projects could materially and
negatively impact the revenues and costs expected from these projects or cause us to abandon planned projects.
FERC regulations also extend to the terms and conditions set forth in agreements for transmission and storage services executed between interstate
pipelines and their customers. These service agreements are required to conform, in all material respects, with the forms of service agreements set forth in the
pipeline's FERC-approved tariff. Non-conforming agreements must be filed with, and accepted by, the FERC. In the event that the FERC finds that an agreement is
materially non-conforming, in whole or in part, it could reject the agreement or require us to seek modification, or alternatively require us to modify our tariff so
that the non-conforming provisions are generally available to all customers.
Under current policy, the FERC permits interstate pipelines to include an income tax allowance in the cost-of-service used as the basis for calculating their
regulated rates. For pipelines owned by partnerships or limited liability companies taxed as partnerships for federal income tax purposes, the tax allowance will
reflect the actual or potential income tax liability on the FERC-jurisdictional income attributable to all partnership or limited liability company interests if the
ultimate owner of the interest has an actual or potential income tax liability on such income. The FERC could also require a reduction in the allowance to account
for the reduced income tax rates enacted on December 22, 2017 by the law known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. The FERC will determine, on a case-bycase basis, whether the owners of an interstate pipeline have such actual or potential income tax liability. In a future rate case, we may be required to demonstrate
the extent to which inclusion of an income tax allowance in the applicable cost-of-service is permitted under the current income tax allowance policy. In addition,
the FERC's income tax allowance policy is frequently the subject of challenge, and we cannot predict whether the FERC or a reviewing court will alter the existing
policy. In July 2016, in United Airlines, Inc. v. FERC , the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit (D.C. Circuit) vacated a pair of
FERC orders to the extent they permitted an interstate refined petroleum products pipeline owned by a master limited partnership to include an income tax
allowance in its cost-of-service-based rates. The D.C. Circuit held that the FERC had failed to demonstrate that the inclusion of an income tax allowance in the
pipeline's rates would not lead to an over-recovery of costs attributable to regulated service. The D.C. Circuit instructed the FERC on remand to fashion a remedy
to ensure that the pipeline's rates do not allow it to over-recover its costs. In response to the D.C. Circuit's remand, in December 2016, the FERC issued a Notice of
Inquiry seeking comments regarding how to address any potential double recovery resulting from the FERC's current income tax allowance and rate of return
policies. Initial comments were filed in March 2017 with reply comments filed in April 2017. We cannot currently predict when the FERC will issue an order in the
Notice of Inquiry proceeding or what action the FERC may take in any such order. The outcome of the Notice of Inquiry proceeding could affect the FERC's
income tax allowance policy for cost-based or recourse rates charged by regulated pipelines on a prospective basis. If the FERC's policy were to change and if the
FERC were to disallow all or a substantial portion of our pipelines' income tax allowance, our regulated rates, and therefore our revenues and ability to make
quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders, could be materially adversely affected.
The FERC may not continue to pursue its approach of pro-competitive policies as it considers matters such as interstate pipeline rates and rules and
policies that may affect rights of access to natural gas transmission capacity and transmission and storage facilities.
Section 1(b) of the NGA exempts certain natural gas gathering facilities from regulation by the FERC under the NGA. We believe that our high pressure
natural gas gathering pipelines meet the traditional tests the FERC has used to establish a pipeline's status as an exempt gatherer not subject to regulation as a
natural gas company, although the FERC has not made a formal determination with respect to the jurisdictional status of those facilities. However, the distinction
between FERC-regulated transmission services and federally unregulated gathering services is often the subject of litigation within the industry, so the
classification and regulation of our high pressure gathering systems are subject to change based on future determinations by the FERC, the courts or the U.S.
Congress.
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Failure to comply with applicable provisions of the NGA, the NGPA, federal pipeline safety laws and certain other laws, as well as with the regulations,
rules, orders, restrictions and conditions associated with these laws, could result in the imposition of administrative and criminal remedies and civil penalties. For
example, the FERC is authorized to impose civil penalties of up to approximately $1.2 million per violation, per day for violations of the NGA, the NGPA or the
rules, regulations, restrictions, conditions and orders promulgated under those statutes. This maximum penalty authority established by statute will continue to be
adjusted periodically for inflation.
In addition, future federal, state or local legislation or regulations under which we will operate our natural gas gathering, transmission and storage
businesses may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to
our unitholders.
Any significant decrease in production of natural gas in our areas of operation could adversely affect our business and operating results and reduce our
cash available to make distributions.
Our business is dependent on the continued availability of natural gas production and reserves in our areas of operation. A sustained low price
environment for natural gas or regulatory limitations could adversely affect development of additional reserves and production that is accessible by our pipeline
and storage assets. Production from natural gas wells will naturally decline over time. The amount of natural gas reserves underlying these wells may also be less
than anticipated, and the rate at which production from these reserves declines may be greater than anticipated. Additionally, producers may determine in the future
that drilling activities in areas outside of our current areas of operations are strategically more attractive to them due to the price environment for natural gas or
other reasons. A reduction in the natural gas volumes supplied by EQT or other third party producers could result in reduced throughput on our systems and
adversely impact our ability to grow our operations and increase quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders. Accordingly, to maintain or increase the contracted
capacity or the volume of natural gas gathered, transported and stored on our systems and cash flows associated therewith, our customers must continually access
additional reserves of natural gas.
The primary factors affecting our ability to obtain non-dedicated sources of natural gas include the level of successful drilling activity near our systems
and our ability to compete for volumes from successful new wells. While EQT has dedicated production from certain of its leased properties to us, we have no
control over the level of drilling activity in our areas of operation, the amount of reserves associated with wells connected to our gathering systems or the rate at
which production from a well declines. In addition, we have no control over EQT or other producers or their drilling or production decisions, which are affected by,
among other things, the availability and cost of capital, prevailing and projected energy prices, demand for hydrocarbons, levels of reserves, the producer's
contractual obligations to us and other midstream companies, geological considerations, environmental or other governmental regulations, the availability of
drilling permits, the availability of drilling rigs and crews, and other production and development costs.
Fluctuations in energy prices can also greatly affect the development of new natural gas reserves. In general terms, the prices of natural gas, oil and other
hydrocarbon products fluctuate in response to changes in supply and demand, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors that are beyond our control. For
example, the daily spot prices for NYMEX Henry Hub natural gas ranged from a high of $3.77 per MMBtu to a low of $1.49 per MMBtu from January 1, 2016
through December 31, 2017 . Factors affecting natural gas prices include worldwide economic conditions; weather conditions and seasonal trends; the levels of
domestic production and consumer demand; new exploratory finds of natural gas; the availability of imported, and the ability to export, natural gas and LNG; the
availability of transportation systems with adequate capacity; the volatility and uncertainty of regional basis differentials and premiums; the price and availability
of alternative fuels; the effects of energy conservation measures; the nature and extent of governmental regulation and taxation; and the anticipated future prices of
natural gas, oil, LNG and other commodities. Low natural gas prices, particularly in the Appalachian Basin, have had a negative impact on exploration,
development and production activity and, if sustained, could lead to a material decrease in such activity. Sustained reductions in exploration or production activity
in our areas of operation would lead to reduced utilization of our systems. Because of these factors, even if new natural gas reserves are known to exist in areas
served by our assets, producers may choose not to develop those reserves. Moreover, EQT may not develop the acreage it has dedicated to us. If reductions in
drilling activity result in our inability to maintain levels of contracted capacity and throughput, it could reduce our revenue and impair our ability to make quarterly
cash distributions to our unitholders.
We do not obtain independent evaluations of natural gas reserves connected to our systems. Accordingly, we do not have independent estimates of total
reserves connected to our systems or the anticipated life of such reserves. If the total reserves or estimated life of the reserves connected to our systems are less
than we anticipate, or the timeline for the development of reserves is longer than we anticipate, and we are unable to secure additional sources of natural gas, there
could
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be a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
If new supplies of natural gas are not obtained to replace the natural decline in volumes from existing supply basins in our area of operation, or if natural
gas supplies are diverted to serve other markets, the overall volume of natural gas gathered, transported and stored on our systems would decline, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
We may not be able to increase our third party throughput and resulting revenue due to competition and other factors, which could limit our ability to
grow and extend our dependence on EQT.
Part of our growth strategy includes diversifying our customer base by identifying opportunities to offer services to third parties other than EQT. For the
years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , EQT accounted for approximately 89% , 96% and 96% , respectively, of our gathering revenues, 59% , 56% and
53% , respectively, of our transmission revenues, 2% , 1% and 1% , respectively, of our storage revenues, and 73% , 75% and 73% , respectively, of our total
operating revenues. Our ability to increase our third party subscribed capacity and throughput and resulting revenue is subject to numerous factors beyond our
control, including competition from third parties and the extent to which we have available capacity when third party shippers require it. To the extent that we lack
available capacity on our systems for third party volumes, we may not be able to compete effectively with third party systems for additional natural gas production
in our areas of operation.
We have historically provided gathering, transmission and storage services to third parties on only a limited basis and may not be able to attract material
third party service opportunities. Our efforts to attract new unaffiliated customers may be adversely affected by our relationship with EQT and our desire to provide
services pursuant to long-term firm contracts. Our potential customers may prefer to obtain services under other forms of contractual arrangements under which we
would be required to assume direct commodity exposure. In addition, we must continue to improve our reputation among our potential customer base for providing
high quality service to successfully attract unaffiliated third parties.
We are exposed to the credit risk of our counterparties in the ordinary course of our business.
We are exposed to the risk of loss resulting from the nonpayment and/or nonperformance of our customers, suppliers, joint venture partners and other
counterparties. We extend credit to our customers, including EQT as our largest customer, as a normal part of our business. While we have established credit
policies, including assessing the creditworthiness of our customers as permitted by our FERC-approved natural gas tariffs, and requiring appropriate terms or credit
support from them based on the results of such assessments, we may not have adequately assessed the creditworthiness of our existing or future customers. We
cannot predict the extent to which EQT's and our other counterparties' businesses would be impacted if commodity prices decline, commodity prices are depressed
for a sustained period of time, or other conditions in the energy industry were to deteriorate, nor can we estimate the impact such conditions would have on our
counterparties' abilities to perform under their gathering, transmission and storage agreements with us. The low commodity price environment has negatively
impacted natural gas producers causing some producers in the industry significant economic stress including, in certain cases, to file for bankruptcy protection or to
renegotiate contracts. To the extent one or more of our customers is in financial distress or commences bankruptcy proceedings, contracts with these customers
may be subject to renegotiation or rejection under applicable provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Any resulting nonpayment and/or nonperformance
by our counterparties could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash
distributions to our unitholders.
Increased competition from other companies that provide gathering, transmission and storage services, or from alternative fuel sources, could have a
negative impact on the demand for our services, which could adversely affect our financial results.
Our ability to renew or replace existing contracts at rates sufficient to maintain current revenues and cash flows could be adversely affected by the
activities of our competitors. Our systems compete primarily with other interstate and intrastate pipelines and storage facilities in the gathering, transmission and
storage of natural gas. Some of our competitors have greater financial resources and may now, or in the future, have access to greater supplies of natural gas than
we do. Some of these competitors may expand or construct gathering systems and transmission and storage systems that would create additional competition for
the services we provide to our customers. In addition, our customers may develop their own gathering, transmission or storage services instead of using ours.
Moreover, none of EQT, EQGP, RMP or any of their respective affiliates is limited in its ability to compete with us, and a portion of EQT's acreage is dedicated to
RMP.
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The policies of the FERC promoting competition in natural gas markets are having the effect of increasing the natural gas transmission and storage
options for our traditional customer base. As a result, we could experience some "turnback" of firm capacity as existing agreements expire. If we are unable to
remarket this capacity or can remarket it only at substantially discounted rates compared to previous contracts, we may have to bear the costs associated with the
turned back capacity. Increased competition could reduce the volumes of natural gas transported or stored on our system or, in cases where we do not have longterm firm contracts, could force us to lower our transmission or storage rates.
Further, natural gas as a fuel competes with other forms of energy available to end-users, including coal, liquid fuels and renewable and alternative
energy. Increased demand for such forms of energy at the expense of natural gas could lead to a reduction in demand for natural gas gathering, transmission and
storage services.
All of these competitive pressures could make it more difficult for us to retain our existing customers and/or attract new customers as we seek to expand
our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash
distributions to our unitholders. In addition, competition could intensify the negative impact of factors that decrease demand for natural gas in the markets served
by our systems, such as adverse economic conditions, weather, higher fuel costs and taxes or other governmental or regulatory actions that directly or indirectly
increase the cost or limit the use of natural gas.
If third party pipelines and other facilities interconnected to our pipelines and facilities become unavailable to transport or process natural gas, our
revenues and cash available to make distributions to our unitholders could be adversely affected.
We depend on third party pipelines and other facilities that provide receipt and delivery options to and from our transmission and storage system. For
example, our transmission and storage system interconnects with the following interstate pipelines: Texas Eastern, Dominion Transmission, Columbia Gas
Transmission, Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company, Rockies Express Pipeline LLC and National Fuel Gas Supply Corporation, as well as multiple distribution
companies. Similarly, our gathering systems have multiple delivery interconnects to multiple interstate pipelines. In the event that our access to such systems was
impaired, the amount of natural gas that our gathering systems can gather and transport would be adversely affected, which could reduce revenues from our
gathering activities. Because we do not own these third party pipelines or facilities, their continuing operation is not within our control. If these or any other
pipeline connections or facilities were to become unavailable for current or future volumes of natural gas due to repairs, damage to the facility, lack of capacity or
any other reason, our ability to operate efficiently and continue shipping natural gas to end markets could be restricted, thereby reducing our revenues. Any
temporary or permanent interruption at any key pipeline interconnect or facility could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
Certain of the services we provide on our transmission and storage system are subject to long-term, fixed-price "negotiated rate" contracts that are not
subject to adjustment, even if our cost to perform such services exceeds the revenues received from such contracts, and, as a result, our costs could exceed
our revenues received under such contracts.
It is possible that costs to perform services under "negotiated rate" contracts will exceed the negotiated rates we have agreed to provide to our customers.
If this occurs, it could decrease the cash flow realized by our systems and, therefore, the cash we have available for distribution to our unitholders. Under FERC
policy, a regulated service provider and a customer may mutually agree to a "negotiated rate," and that contract must be filed with and accepted by the FERC. As of
December 31, 2017 , approximately 89% of our contracted transmission firm capacity was subscribed under such "negotiated rate" contracts. Unless the parties to
these "negotiated rate" contracts agree otherwise, the contracts generally may not be adjusted to account for increased costs which could be caused by inflation or
other factors relating to the specific facilities being used to perform the services.
We may not be able to renew or replace expiring contracts at favorable rates or on a long-term basis.
Our primary exposure to market risk occurs at the time our existing contracts expire and are subject to renegotiation and renewal. Including contracts
associated with expected future capacity from expansion projects that are not yet fully constructed but for which we have entered into firm contracts, our firm
gathering contracts had a weighted average remaining term of approximately 8 years and firm transmission and storage contracts had a weighted average remaining
term of approximately 15 years as of December 31, 2017 . The extension or replacement of existing contracts, including our contracts with EQT, depends on a
number of factors beyond our control, including:
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•
•
•
•
•

the level of existing and new competition to provide services to our markets;
the macroeconomic factors affecting natural gas economics for our current and potential customers;
the balance of supply and demand, on a short-term, seasonal and long-term basis, in our markets;
the extent to which the customers in our markets are willing to contract on a long-term basis; and
the effects of federal, state or local regulations on the contracting practices of our customers.

Any failure to extend or replace a significant portion of our existing contracts, or extending or replacing them at unfavorable or lower rates, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
If the tariffs governing the services we provide are successfully challenged, we could be required to reduce our tariff rates, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
Rate payers, the FERC or other interested stakeholders, such as state regulatory agencies, may challenge our rates offered to individual customers or the
terms and conditions of service included in our tariffs. We do not have an agreement in place that would prohibit customers, including EQT or its affiliates, from
challenging our tariffs. If any challenge were successful, among other things, the rates that we charge on our systems could be reduced. Successful challenges could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our
unitholders.
If we do not complete expansion projects, our future growth may be limited.
A significant component of our growth strategy is to continue to grow the cash distributions on our units by expanding our business. Our ability to grow
depends, in part, upon our ability to complete expansion projects that result in an increase in the cash we generate. We may be unable to complete successful,
accretive expansion projects for many reasons, including, but not limited to, the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

an inability to identify attractive expansion projects;
an inability to obtain necessary rights-of-way or permits or other government approvals, including approvals by regulatory agencies;
an inability to successfully integrate the infrastructure we build;
an inability to raise financing for expansion projects on economically acceptable terms;
incorrect assumptions about volumes, revenues and costs, including potential growth; or
an inability to secure adequate customer commitments to use the newly expanded facilities.

Expanding our business by constructing new midstream assets subjects us to risks.
Organic and greenfield growth projects are a significant component of our growth strategy. The development and construction of pipelines and storage
facilities involves numerous regulatory, environmental, political and legal uncertainties beyond our control and will require the expenditure of significant amounts
of capital. The development and construction of pipelines and storage facilities expose us to construction risks such as the failure to meet affiliate and third party
contractual requirements, delays caused by landowners or advocacy groups opposed to the oil and gas industry, environmental hazards, the performance of third
party contractors, the lack of available skilled labor, equipment and materials and the inability to obtain necessary rights-of-way or approvals and permits from
regulatory agencies on a timely basis or at all. These types of projects may not be completed on schedule, at the budgeted cost or at all. Moreover, our revenues
may not increase for some time after completion of a particular project. For instance, we will be required to pay construction costs generally as they are incurred
but construction will typically occur over an extended period of time, and we will not receive material increases in revenues until the project is placed into service.
Moreover, we may construct facilities to capture anticipated future growth in production and/or demand in a region in which such growth does not materialize. As a
result, new facilities may not be able to attract enough throughput to achieve our expected investment return, which could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
Certain of our internal growth projects may require regulatory approval from federal, state and local authorities prior to construction, including any
extensions from or additions to our transmission and storage system. The approval process for storage and transportation projects has become increasingly
challenging, due in part to state and local concerns related to exploration and production and gathering activities in new production areas, including the Marcellus,
Upper Devonian and Utica Shales, and negative public perception regarding the oil and gas industry. Such authorization may not be granted or, if granted, such
authorization may include burdensome or expensive conditions.
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If we are unable to make acquisitions on economically acceptable terms, our future growth may be limited, and the acquisitions we do make may reduce,
rather than increase, our cash generated from operations on a per unit basis.
Our ability to grow depends, in part, on our ability to make acquisitions that increase our cash generated from operations on a per unit basis. The
acquisition component of our strategy is based, in large part, on our expectation of ongoing divestitures of midstream energy assets by industry participants. A
material decrease in such divestitures would limit our opportunities for future acquisitions and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
If we are unable to make accretive acquisitions, whether because, among other reasons, (i) we are unable to identify attractive acquisition opportunities,
(ii) we are unable to negotiate acceptable purchase contracts, (iii) we are unable to obtain financing for acquisitions on economically acceptable terms, (iv) we are
outbid by competitors, some of which are substantially larger than us and have greater financial resources or (v) we are unable to obtain necessary governmental or
third party consents, then our future growth and ability to increase distributions will be limited. Furthermore, even if we do make acquisitions that we believe will
be accretive, these acquisitions may nevertheless result in a decrease in the cash generated from operations on a per unit basis.
Any acquisition involves potential risks, including, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•

mistaken assumptions about volumes, revenues and costs, including synergies and potential growth;
an inability to secure adequate customer commitments to use the acquired systems or facilities;
an inability to integrate successfully the assets or businesses we acquire;
the assumption of unknown liabilities for which we are not indemnified or for which our indemnity is inadequate;
the diversion of management's and employees' attention from other business concerns; and
unforeseen difficulties operating in new geographic areas or business lines.

If any acquisition fails to be accretive to our distributable cash flow per unit, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
If we are unable to obtain needed capital or financing on satisfactory terms to fund expansions of our asset base, our ability to make quarterly cash
distributions may be diminished or our financial leverage could increase. We do not have any commitment with any of our affiliates to provide any direct
or indirect financial assistance to us.
In order to expand our asset base and complete our announced expansion projects described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the MVP
project, we will need to make significant expansion capital expenditures. If we do not make sufficient or effective expansion capital expenditures, we will be
unable to expand our business operations and may be unable to maintain or raise the level of our quarterly cash distributions.
In order to fund our expansion capital expenditures, we will be required to use cash from our operations, incur borrowings or sell additional common units
or other limited partner interests. Using cash from operations will reduce distributable cash flow to our common unitholders. Our ability to obtain bank financing or
to access the capital markets for future equity or debt offerings may be limited by our financial condition at the time of any such financing or offering, the
covenants in our debt agreements, general economic conditions and contingencies and uncertainties that are beyond our control. Even if we are successful in
obtaining funds for expansion capital expenditures through equity or debt financings, the terms thereof could limit our ability to pay distributions to our common
unitholders. In addition, incurring additional debt may significantly increase our interest expense and financial leverage, and issuing additional limited partner
interests may result in significant common unitholder dilution and increase the aggregate amount of cash required to maintain the then-current distribution rate,
which could materially decrease our ability to pay distributions at the then-current distribution rate. If funding is not available to us when needed, or is available
only on unfavorable terms, we may be unable to execute our business plans, complete acquisitions or otherwise take advantage of business opportunities or respond
to competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make
quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders. We do not have any commitment with our general partner or other affiliates, including EQT and EQGP, to provide
any direct or indirect financial assistance to us. In October 2016, we entered into a $500 million, 364-day, uncommitted revolving loan agreement with EQT (the
364-Day Facility); however, any loans from EQT under the 364-Day Facility are at the sole discretion of EQT, and EQT is under no obligation, fiduciary or
otherwise, to make such funds available to us.
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We are subject to numerous hazards and operational risks.
Our business operations are subject to all of the inherent hazards and risks normally incidental to the gathering, transmission and storage of natural gas.
These operating risks include, but are not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

damage to pipelines, facilities, equipment and surrounding properties caused by hurricanes, earthquakes, tornadoes, floods, fires, landslides and other
natural disasters and acts of sabotage and terrorism;
inadvertent damage from construction, vehicles, and farm and utility equipment;
uncontrolled releases of natural gas and other hydrocarbons;
leaks, migrations or losses of natural gas as a result of the malfunction of equipment or facilities and, with respect to storage assets, as a result of
undefined boundaries, geologic anomalies, natural pressure migration and wellbore migration;
ruptures, fires and explosions;
pipeline freeze offs due to cold weather; and
other hazards that could also result in personal injury and loss of life, pollution to the environment and suspension of operations.

These risks could result in loss of human life, personal injuries, significant damage to property, environmental pollution, impairment of our operations,
regulatory investigations and penalties and substantial losses to us. The location of certain segments of our systems in or near populated areas, including residential
areas, commercial business centers and industrial sites, could increase the damages resulting from these risks. In spite of any precautions taken, an event such as
those described above could cause considerable harm to people or property and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders. Accidents or other operating risks could further result in loss of service
available to our customers. Such circumstances, including those arising from maintenance and repair activities, could result in service interruptions on segments of
our systems. Potential customer impacts arising from service interruptions on segments of our systems could include limitations on our ability to satisfy customer
requirements, obligations to provide reservation charge credits to customers in times of constrained capacity, and solicitation of our existing customers by others
for potential new projects that would compete directly with our existing services. Such circumstances could adversely impact our ability to meet contractual
obligations and retain customers, with a resulting negative impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly
cash distributions to our unitholders.
We do not insure against all potential losses and could be seriously harmed by unexpected liabilities.
We are not fully insured against all risks inherent in our business, including environmental accidents that might occur. In addition, we do not maintain
business interruption insurance of the types and in amounts necessary to cover all possible risks of loss. The occurrence of any operating risks not fully covered by
insurance could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to
our unitholders.
EQT currently maintains excess liability insurance that covers EQT's and its affiliates', including our, legal and contractual liabilities arising out of bodily
injury, personal injury or property damage, including resulting loss of use, to third parties. This excess liability insurance includes coverage for sudden and
accidental pollution liability but excludes: release of pollutants subsequent to their disposal; release of substances arising from the combustion of fuels that result in
acidic deposition; and testing, monitoring, clean-up, containment, treatment or removal of pollutants from property owned, occupied by, rented to, used by or in the
care, custody or control of EQT and its affiliates, including us.
EQT also maintains coverage for itself and its affiliates, including us, for physical damage to assets and resulting business interruption, including damage
caused by terrorist acts.
All of EQT's insurance is subject to deductibles. If a significant accident or event occurs for which we are not fully insured, it could adversely affect our
operations and financial condition. We may not be able to maintain or obtain insurance of the types and in the amounts we desire at reasonable rates, and we may
elect to self-insure a portion of our asset portfolio. The insurance coverage we do obtain may contain large deductibles or fail to cover certain hazards or cover all
potential losses. In addition, we share insurance coverage with EQT, for which we reimburse EQT pursuant to the terms of the omnibus agreement. To the extent
EQT experiences covered losses under the insurance policies, the limit of our coverage for potential losses may be reduced.
27

Table of Contents
We are subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations that may expose us to significant costs and liabilities.
Our operations are regulated extensively at the federal, state and local levels. Laws, regulations and other legal requirements have increased the cost to
plan, design, install, operate and abandon gathering and transmission systems and pipelines. Environmental, health and safety legal requirements govern
discharges of substances into the air, water and ground; the management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes; the clean-up of contaminated sites;
groundwater quality and availability; plant and wildlife protection; locations available for pipeline construction; environmental impact studies and assessments
prior to permitting; restoration of properties after construction or operations are completed; pipeline safety (including replacement requirements); and work
practices related to employee health and safety. Compliance with the laws, regulations and other legal requirements applicable to our business, including delays in
obtaining permits or other government approvals, may increase our costs of doing business, result in delays or restrictions in the performance of operations due to
the need to obtain additional or more detailed permits or other governmental approvals or even cause us not to pursue a project. For example, the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service continues to receive hundreds of petitions to consider listing of additional species as endangered or threatened and is being regularly sued or
threatened with lawsuits to address these petitions. Some of these legal actions may result in the listing of species located in areas in which we operate. Such
designations of previously unprotected species as being endangered or threatened, or the designation of previously unprotected areas as a critical habitat for such
species, can result in increased costs, construction delays, restrictions in our operations or abandonment of projects. In addition, compliance with laws, regulations
or other legal requirements could subject us to claims for personal injuries, property damage and other damages. Our failure to comply with the laws, regulations
and other legal requirements applicable to our business, even if as a result of factors beyond our control, could result in the suspension or termination of our
operations and subject us to administrative, civil and criminal penalties and damages.
Laws, regulations and other legal requirements are constantly changing, and implementation of compliant processes in response to such changes could be
costly and time consuming. For example, in October 2015, the EPA revised the NAAQS for ozone from 75 parts per billion for the current 8 hour primary and
secondary ozone standards to 70 parts per billion for both standards. The EPA may designate the areas in which we operate as nonattainment areas. States that
contain any areas designated as nonattainment areas will be required to develop implementation plans demonstrating how the areas will attain the applicable
standard within a prescribed period of time. These plans may require the installation of additional equipment to control emissions. In addition, in May 2016, the
EPA finalized rules that impose volatile organic compound emissions limits (and collaterally reduce methane emissions) on certain types of compressors and
pneumatic pumps, as well as requiring the development and implementation of leak monitoring plans for compressor stations. The EPA announced its intention to
reconsider certain of the rules in April 2017 and has sought to stay their requirements; however, the rules remain in effect. Compliance with these or other new
regulations could, among other things, require installation of new emission controls on some of our equipment, result in longer permitting timelines, and
significantly increase our capital expenditures and operating costs, which could adversely impact our business. In addition to periodic changes to air, water and
waste laws, as well as recent EPA initiatives to impose climate change-based air regulations on industry, the U.S. Congress and various states have been evaluating
climate-related legislation and other regulatory initiatives that would further restrict emissions of GHGs, including methane (a primary component of natural gas)
and carbon dioxide (a byproduct of burning natural gas). Several states are also pursuing similar measures to regulate emissions of GHGs from new and existing
sources. If implemented, such GHG restrictions may result in additional compliance obligations with respect to, or taxes on the release, capture and use of GHGs
that could have an adverse effect on our operations.
There is a risk that we may incur costs and liabilities in connection with our operations due to historical industry operations and waste disposal practices,
our handling of wastes and potential emissions and discharges related to our operations. Private parties, including the owners of the properties through which our
gathering system or our transmission and storage system pass and facilities where our wastes are taken for reclamation or disposal, may have the right to pursue
legal actions to require remediation of contamination or enforce compliance with environmental requirements as well as to seek damages for personal injury or
property damage. In addition, changes in environmental laws occur frequently, and any such changes that result in more stringent and costly waste handling,
storage, transport, disposal or remediation requirements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or
ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders. We may not be able to recover all or any of these costs from insurance.
Climate change and related legislation, regulatory initiatives and litigation could result in increased operating costs and reduced demand for the natural
gas services we provide.
Legislative and regulatory measures to address climate change and GHG emissions are in various phases of discussion or implementation. The EPA
regulates GHG emissions from new and modified facilities that are potential major sources of criteria pollutants under the Clean Air Act's Prevention of Significant
Deterioration and Title V programs and has adopted
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regulations that require, among other things, preconstruction and operating permits for certain large stationary sources and the monitoring and reporting of GHGs
from certain onshore oil and natural gas production sources on an annual basis.
In addition, the U.S. Congress, along with federal and state agencies, have considered measures to reduce the emissions of GHGs. Legislation or
regulation that restricts carbon emissions could increase our cost of environmental compliance by requiring us to install new equipment to reduce emissions from
larger facilities and/or, depending on any future legislation, purchase emission allowances. Climate change and GHG legislation or regulation could also delay or
otherwise negatively affect efforts to obtain permits and other regulatory approvals for existing and new facilities, impose additional monitoring and reporting
requirements or adversely affect demand for the natural gas we gather, transport and store. Conversely, legislation or regulation that sets a price on or otherwise
restricts carbon emissions could also benefit us by increasing demand for natural gas because the combustion of natural gas results in substantially fewer carbon
emissions per Btu of heat generated than other fossil fuels such as coal. The effect on us of any new legislative or regulatory measures will depend on the particular
provisions that are ultimately adopted.
Negative public perception regarding us and/or the midstream industry could have an adverse effect on our operations.
Negative public perception regarding us and/or the midstream industry resulting from, among other things, oil spills, the explosion of natural gas
transmission and gathering lines and concerns raised by advocacy groups about hydraulic fracturing and pipeline projects, may lead to increased regulatory scrutiny
which may, in turn, lead to new local, state and federal safety and environmental laws, regulations, guidelines and enforcement interpretations. These actions may
cause operational delays or restrictions, increased operating costs, additional regulatory burdens and increased risk of litigation. Moreover, governmental
authorities exercise considerable discretion in the timing and scope of permit issuance and the public may engage in the permitting process, including through
intervention in the courts. Negative public perception could cause the permits we need to conduct our operations to be withheld, delayed or burdened by
requirements that restrict our ability to profitably conduct business.
Significant portions of our pipeline systems have been in service for several decades. There could be unknown events or conditions or increased
maintenance or repair expenses and downtime associated with our pipelines that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, liquidity and ability to make distributions.
Significant portions of our transmission and storage system and FERC-regulated gathering system have been in service for several decades. The age and
condition of these systems could result in increased maintenance or repair expenditures, and any downtime associated with increased maintenance and repair
activities could materially reduce our revenue. Any significant increase in maintenance and repair expenditures or loss of revenue due to the age or condition of our
systems could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
We may incur significant costs and liabilities as a result of increasingly stringent pipeline safety regulation, including pipeline integrity management
program testing and related repairs.
The DOT, acting through PHMSA, has adopted regulations requiring pipeline operators to develop integrity management programs for transmission
pipelines located where a leak or rupture could harm "high consequence areas," including high population areas, unless the operator effectively demonstrates by
risk assessment that the pipeline could not affect the area. The regulations require operators, including us, to:
•
•
•
•
•

perform ongoing assessments of pipeline integrity;
identify and characterize applicable threats to pipeline segments that could impact a high consequence area;
maintain processes for data collection, integration and analysis;
repair and remediate pipelines as necessary; and
implement preventive and mitigating actions.

Changes to pipeline safety laws and regulations that result in more stringent or costly safety standards could have a significant adverse effect on us and
similarly situated midstream operators. For example, in April 2016, PHMSA published a notice of proposed rulemaking addressing several integrity management
topics and proposing new requirements to address safety issues for natural gas transmission and gathering lines. The proposed rule would strengthen existing
integrity management requirements, expand assessment and repair requirements to pipelines in areas with medium population densities and extend regulatory
requirements to onshore gas gathering lines that are currently exempt. Further, in June 2016, President Obama signed the 2016 Pipeline Safety Act that extends
PHMSA's statutory mandate under prior legislation through 2019. In
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addition, the 2016 Pipeline Safety Act empowered PHMSA to address imminent hazards by imposing emergency restrictions, prohibitions and safety measures on
owners and operators of gas or hazardous liquid pipeline facilities without prior notice or an opportunity for a hearing and also required PHMSA to develop new
safety standards for natural gas storage facilities by June 2018. Pursuant to those provisions of the 2016 Pipeline Safety Act, in October 2016 and December 2016,
PHMSA issued two Interim Final Rules that expanded the agency's authority to impose emergency restrictions, prohibitions and safety measures and strengthened
the rules related to underground natural gas storage facilities, including well integrity, wellbore tubing and casing integrity. The December 2016 Interim Final Rule,
relating to underground gas storage facilities, went into effect in January 2017, with a compliance deadline in January 2018. PHMSA determined, however, that it
will not issue enforcement citations to any operators for violations of provisions of the December 2016 Interim Final Rule that had previously been non-mandatory
provisions of American Petroleum Institute Recommended Practices 1170 and 1171 until one year after PHMSA issues a final rule. In October 2017, PHMSA
formally reopened the comment period on the December 2016 Interim Final Rule in response to a petition for reconsideration, with comments due in November
2017. Additionally, in January 2017, PHMSA announced a new final rule regarding hazardous liquid pipelines, which increases the quality and frequency of tests
that assess the condition of pipelines, requires operators to annually evaluate the existing protective measures in place for pipeline segments in HCAs, extends
certain leak detection requirements for hazardous liquid pipelines not located in HCAs, and expands the list of conditions that require immediate repair. However,
it is unclear when or if this rule will go into effect because, on January 20, 2017, the Trump Administration requested that all regulations that had been sent to the
Office of the Federal Register, but were not yet published, be immediately withdrawn for further review. Accordingly, this rule has not become effective through
publication in the Federal Register. We are monitoring and evaluating the effect of these and other emerging requirements on our operations.
States are generally preempted by federal law in the area of pipeline safety, but state agencies may qualify to assume responsibility for enforcing federal
regulations over intrastate pipelines. They may also promulgate additive pipeline safety regulations provided that the state standards are at least as stringent as the
federal standards. Although many of our natural gas facilities fall within a class that is not subject to integrity management requirements, we may incur significant
costs and liabilities associated with repair, remediation, preventive or mitigation measures associated with our non-exempt transmission pipelines. The costs, if any,
for repair, remediation, preventive or mitigating actions that may be determined to be necessary as a result of the testing program, as well as lost cash flows
resulting from shutting down our pipelines during the pendency of such actions, could be material.
Should we fail to comply with DOT regulations adopted under authority granted to PHMSA, we could be subject to penalties and fines. PHMSA has the
authority to impose civil penalties for pipeline safety violations up to a maximum of approximately $200,000 per day for each violation and approximately $2
million for a related series of violations. This maximum penalty authority established by statute will continue to be adjusted periodically to account for inflation. In
addition, we may be required to comply with new safety regulations and make additional maintenance capital expenditures in the future for similar regulatory
compliance initiatives that are not reflected in our forecasted maintenance capital expenditures.
The adoption of legislation relating to hydraulic fracturing and the enactment of new or increased severance taxes and impact fees on natural gas
production could cause our current and potential customers to reduce the number of wells they drill in the Marcellus, Upper Devonian and Utica Shales
or curtail production of existing wells. If reductions are significant for those or other reasons, the reductions would have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
Our assets are primarily located in the Marcellus Shale fairway in southwestern Pennsylvania and northern West Virginia, and a majority of the
production that we receive from customers is produced from wells completed using hydraulic fracturing. Hydraulic fracturing is an important and commonly used
process in the completion of oil and gas wells, particularly in unconventional resource plays like the Marcellus, Upper Devonian and Utica Shales. Hydraulic
fracturing is typically regulated by state oil and gas commissions and similar agencies, but several federal agencies have asserted regulatory authority over aspects
of the process, including the EPA, which published proposed effluent limit guidelines in April 2015 for waste water from shale gas extraction operations before
being discharged to a treatment plant, and the federal Bureau of Land Management (BLM), which issued a final rule in March 2015 that established more stringent
standards for performing hydraulic fracturing on federal and Indian lands. The BLM rule was struck down by a federal court in Wyoming in June 2016, but
reinstated on appeal by the Tenth Circuit in September 2017. While this appeal was pending, BLM proposed a rulemaking in July 2017 to rescind these rules in
their entirety. Although BLM published a final rule rescinding the 2015 rules in December 2017, other federal or state agencies may look to the BLM rule in
developing new regulations that could apply to our operations.
The U.S. Congress has from time to time considered the adoption of legislation to provide for federal regulation of hydraulic fracturing, while a growing
number of states, including those in which we operate, have adopted, and other states are
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considering adopting, regulations that could impose more stringent disclosure and/or well construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing operations. Some
states, such as Pennsylvania, have imposed fees on the drilling of new unconventional oil and gas wells. States could elect to prohibit hydraulic fracturing
altogether, as was announced in December 2014 with regard to hydraulic fracturing activities in New York. Also, local governments may seek to adopt ordinances
within their jurisdictions regulating the time, place and manner of drilling activities in general or hydraulic fracturing activities in particular. In fact, legislation or
regulation banning hydraulic fracturing has been adopted in a number of local jurisdictions, including ones in which we have limited operations. Further, several
federal governmental agencies are conducting reviews and studies on the environmental aspects of hydraulic fracturing, including the EPA. For example, in
December 2016, the EPA issued its final report on a study it had conducted over several years regarding the effects of hydraulic fracturing on drinking water
sources. The final report, contrary to several previously published draft reports issued by the EPA, found instances in which impacts to drinking water may occur.
However, the report also noted significant data gaps that prevented the EPA from determining the extent or severity of these impacts. The results of such reviews or
studies could spur initiatives to further regulate hydraulic fracturing.
State and federal regulatory agencies recently have focused on a possible connection between the hydraulic fracturing related activities and the increased
occurrence of seismic activity. When caused by human activity, such events are called induced seismicity. In a few instances, operators of injection disposal wells
in the vicinity of seismic events have been ordered to reduce injection volumes or suspend operations. Some state regulatory agencies, including those in Colorado,
Ohio, Oklahoma and Texas, have modified their regulations to account for induced seismicity. While Pennsylvania is not one of the states where such regulation
has been enacted, regulatory agencies at all levels are continuing to study the possible linkage between oil and gas activity and induced seismicity. These
developments could result in additional regulation and restrictions on the use of injection disposal wells and hydraulic fracturing. Such regulations and restrictions
could cause delays and impose additional costs and restrictions on our customers.
The adoption of new laws, regulations or ordinances at the federal, state or local levels imposing more stringent restrictions on hydraulic fracturing could
make it more difficult for our customers to complete natural gas wells, increase our customers' costs of compliance and doing business, and otherwise adversely
affect the hydraulic fracturing services they perform, which could negatively impact demand for our gathering, transmission and storage services.
Furthermore, the tax laws, rules and regulations that affect our customers are subject to change. For example, Pennsylvania's governor and legislature
have continued to discuss the imposition of a state severance tax on the extraction of natural resources, including natural gas produced from the Marcellus, Upper
Devonian and Utica Shale formations, either in replacement of or in addition to the existing state impact fee. A consensus on the characteristics, such as the
effective tax rate, or enactment of a state severance tax has yet to be reached. Any such increase or change could adversely impact the earnings, cash flows and
financial position of our customers and cause them to reduce their drilling in the areas in which we operate.
Our exposure to direct commodity price risk may increase in the future.
Although we intend to enter into long-term firm contracts with new customers in the future, our efforts to obtain such contractual terms may not be
successful. In addition, we may acquire or develop additional midstream assets in the future that do not provide services primarily based on capacity reservation
charges or other fixed fee arrangements and therefore have a greater exposure to fluctuations in commodity price risk than our current operations, including the
Ohio gathering assets EQT announced it intends to offer to us. Future exposure to the volatility of natural gas prices, including regional basis differentials, as a
result of our future contracts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly
cash distributions to our unitholders.
We do not own all of the land on which our pipelines and facilities are located, which could disrupt our operations.
We do not own all of the land on which our pipelines and facilities have been constructed, and we are therefore subject to the possibility of more onerous
terms and/or increased costs to retain necessary land use if we do not have valid rights-of-way, if such rights-of-way lapse or terminate or if our facilities are not
properly located within the boundaries of such rights-of-way. Although many of these rights are perpetual in nature, we occasionally obtain the rights to construct
and operate our pipelines on land owned by third parties and governmental agencies for a specific period of time. If we were to be unsuccessful in renegotiating
rights-of-way, we might have to institute condemnation proceedings on our FERC-regulated assets or relocate our facilities for non-regulated assets. A loss of
rights-of-way or a relocation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly
cash distributions to our unitholders.
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Any significant and prolonged change in or stabilization of natural gas prices could have a negative impact on our natural gas storage business.
Historically, natural gas prices have been seasonal and volatile, which has enhanced demand for our storage services. The natural gas storage business has
benefited from significant price fluctuations resulting from seasonal price sensitivity, which impacts the level of demand for our services and the rates we are able
to charge for such services. On a system-wide basis, natural gas is typically injected into storage between April and October when natural gas prices are generally
lower and withdrawn during the winter months of November through March when natural gas prices are typically higher. However, the market for natural gas may
not continue to experience volatility and seasonal price sensitivity in the future at the levels previously seen. If volatility and seasonality in the natural gas industry
decrease, because of increased production capacity or otherwise, the demand for our storage services and the prices that we will be able to charge for those services
may decline.
In addition to volatility and seasonality, an extended period of high natural gas prices would increase the cost of acquiring base gas and likely place
upward pressure on the costs of associated storage expansion activities. An extended period of low natural gas prices could adversely impact storage values for
some period of time until market conditions adjust. These commodity price impacts could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity and ability to make quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
We have entered into a joint venture, and may in the future enter into additional or modify existing joint ventures, that might restrict our operational and
corporate flexibility. In addition, these joint ventures are subject to many of the same operational risks to which we are subject.
We have entered into a joint venture to construct the MVP project and may in the future enter into additional joint venture arrangements with third parties.
Joint venture arrangements may restrict our operational and corporate flexibility. For example, because we do not control all of the decisions of the MVP Joint
Venture, it may be difficult or impossible for us to cause the joint venture to take actions that we believe would be in our or the joint venture's best interests.
Moreover, joint venture arrangements involve various risks and uncertainties, such as committing us to fund operating and/or capital expenditures, the timing and
amount of which we may not control, and our joint venture partners may not satisfy their financial obligations to the joint venture.
In addition, the operations of the MVP Joint Venture and any joint ventures we may enter into in the future are subject to many of the same operational
risks to which we are subject as described in this Item 1A, "Risk Factors - Risks Inherent in Our Business."
Restrictions under our debt agreements could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and ability to make
quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders.
Our debt agreements contain various covenants and restrictive provisions that limit our ability to, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•

incur or guarantee additional debt;
make distributions on or redeem or repurchase units;
incur or permit liens on assets;
enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;
enter into certain mergers or acquisitions; and
dispose of all or substantially all of our assets.

In July 2017, we amended and restated our credit facility to increase the borrowing capacity under the facility from $750 million to $1 billion and extend
the maturity date to July 2022. Our $1 billion credit facility contains a covenant requiring us to maintain a consolidated leverage ratio of not more than 5.00 to 1.00
(or not more than 5.50 to 1.00 for certain measurement periods following the consummation of certain acquisitions). Our ability to meet these covenants can be
affected by events beyond our control and we cannot assure our unitholders that we will meet these covenants. In addition, our $1 billion credit facility contains
events of default customary for such facilities, including the occurrence of a change of control (which will occur, among other things, if EQT or certain permitted
transferees fail to control our general partner, we fail to own 100% of Equitrans, L.P., or our general partner fails to be the general partner).
The provisions of our debt agreements may affect our ability to obtain future financing and pursue attractive business opportunities and our flexibility in
planning for, and reacting to, changes in business conditions. In addition, a failure to comply with the provisions of our debt agreements could result in an event of
default, which could enable our lenders to, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable agreement, declare any outstanding principal of that debt, together
with accrued and
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unpaid interest, to be immediately due and payable. If the payment of our debt is accelerated, our assets may be insufficient to repay such debt in full, and our
unitholders could experience a partial or total loss of their investment. The $1 billion credit facility also has cross default provisions that apply to any other
indebtedness we may have with an aggregate principal amount in excess of $25 million.
Our future debt levels may limit our flexibility to obtain financing and to pursue other business opportunities.
We have the ability to incur debt, subject to limitations in our $1 billion credit facility. Our level of debt could have important consequences to us,
including the following:
•
•
•
•

our ability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other purposes may be impaired or
such financing may not be available on favorable terms;
our funds available for operations, future business opportunities and distributions to unitholders will be reduced by that portion of our cash flow
required to make interest payments on our debt;
we may be more vulnerable to competitive pressures or a downturn in our business or the economy generally; and
our flexibility in responding to changing business and economic conditions may be limited.

Our ability to service our debt will depend upon, among other things, our future financial and operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing
economic conditions and financial, business, regulatory and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. If our operating results are not sufficient to
service our current or future indebtedness, we will be forced to take actions such as reducing distributions, reducing or delaying our business activities,
acquisitions, investments or capital expenditures, selling assets or seeking additional equity capital. We may not be able to effect any of these actions on
satisfactory terms or at all.
The credit and risk profile of our general partner and EQT could adversely affect our credit ratings and risk profile, which could increase our borrowing
costs or hinder our ability to raise capital.
The credit and business risk profiles of our general partner and EQT may be factors considered in credit evaluations of us. This is because our general
partner, which is controlled by EQT through EQT's ownership interest in EQGP, controls our business activities, including our cash distribution policy and growth
strategy. Due to our relationship with EQT, our ability to access the capital markets, or the pricing or other terms of any capital markets transactions, may be
adversely affected by any impairments to EQT's financial condition, including the degree of its financial leverage and its dependence on cash flows from EQGP to
service its indebtedness, or adverse changes in its credit ratings, including a downgrade of EQT's investment grade credit rating. A sustained period of low
commodity prices could increase the risk of a lower credit rating for EQT and us. Any material limitations on our ability to access capital as a result of adverse
changes at EQT could limit our ability to obtain future financing under favorable terms, or at all, or could result in increased financing costs in the future.
Similarly, material adverse changes at EQT could negatively impact our unit price, limiting our ability to raise capital through equity issuances or debt financing,
could negatively affect our ability to engage in, expand or pursue our business activities, and could also prevent us from engaging in certain transactions that might
otherwise be considered beneficial to us.
Please see Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in EQT's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 (which is not, and shall not be deemed
to be, incorporated by reference herein) for a full discussion of the risks associated with EQT's business.
A downgrade of our credit ratings, which are determined by independent third parties, could impact our liquidity, our access to capital, and our costs of
doing business.
If any credit rating agency downgrades our credit ratings, our access to credit markets may be limited, our borrowing costs could increase, and we may be
required to provide additional credit assurances in support of commercial agreements, such as joint venture agreements and construction contracts, the amount of
which may be substantial. Our credit ratings by Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s), Standard & Poor’s Ratings Service (S&P) and Fitch Ratings Service (Fitch)
were Ba1 , BBB- and BBB- , respectively, as of February 14, 2018 . In order to be considered investment grade, we must be rated Baa3 or higher by Moody’s,
BBB- or higher by S&P and BBB- or higher by Fitch. Our non-investment grade credit rating by Moody’s and any future downgrade of our S&P and/or Fitch
credit ratings to non-investment grade may result in greater borrowing costs and collateral requirements than would be available to us if all our credit ratings were
investment grade. Our ability to access capital markets could also be limited by economic, market or other disruptions. An increase in the level of our indebtedness
in the future may result in a downgrade in the ratings that are assigned to our debt. See "The credit and risk profile of our general partner and EQT could adversely
affect our credit ratings and risk profile, which could increase our borrowing costs or hinder our ability to raise capital" in the above section.
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Credit rating agencies perform an independent analysis when assigning credit ratings. This analysis includes a number of criteria such as business
composition, market and operational risks, as well as various financial tests. Credit rating agencies continue to review the criteria for industry sectors and various
debt ratings and may make changes to those criteria from time to time. Credit ratings are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the ratings agencies.
Increases in interest rates could adversely impact demand for our storage capacity, our unit price, our ability to issue equity or incur debt for acquisitions
or other purposes and our ability to make cash distributions at our intended levels.
There is a financing cost for our customers to store natural gas in our storage facilities. That financing cost is impacted by the cost of capital or interest
rates incurred by the customer in addition to the commodity cost of the natural gas in inventory. Absent other factors, a higher financing cost adversely impacts the
economics of storing natural gas for future sale. As a result, a significant increase in interest rates could adversely affect the demand for our storage capacity
independent of other market factors.
In addition, interest rates on our revolving credit facilities, future credit facilities and debt securities could be higher than current levels, causing our
financing costs to increase. As with other yield-oriented securities, our unit price is impacted by the level of our cash distributions and implied distribution yield.
The distribution yield is often used by investors to compare and rank yield-oriented securities for investment decision-making purposes. Therefore, changes in
interest rates, either positive or negative, may affect the yield requirements of investors who invest in our units, and a rising interest rate environment could have an
adverse impact on our unit price, our ability to issue equity or incur debt for acquisitions or other purposes and our ability to make cash distributions at our
intended levels.
The amount of cash we have available for distribution to unitholders depends primarily on our cash flow rather than on our profitability, which may
prevent us from making distributions, even during periods in which we record net income.
The amount of cash we have available for distribution depends primarily upon our cash flow and not solely on profitability, which will be affected by noncash items. As a result, we may make cash distributions during periods when we record losses for financial accounting purposes and may not make cash
distributions during periods when we record net earnings for financial accounting purposes.
The lack of diversification of our assets and geographic locations could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our unitholders.
We rely exclusively on revenues generated from our gathering system and our transmission and storage system, which are primarily located in the
Appalachian Basin in Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Ohio. Due to our lack of diversification in assets and geographic location, an adverse development in these
businesses or our areas of operations, including adverse developments due to catastrophic events, weather, regulatory action and decreases in demand for natural
gas, could have a significantly greater impact on our results of operations and distributable cash flow to our unitholders than if we maintained more diverse assets
and locations.
Terrorist or cyber security attacks or threats thereof aimed at our facilities or surrounding areas could adversely affect our business.
Our business has become increasingly dependent upon digital technologies, including information systems, infrastructure and cloud applications, to
operate our assets, and the maintenance of our financial and other records has long been dependent upon such technologies. The U.S. government has issued public
warnings that indicate that energy assets might be specific targets of cyber security threats. Deliberate attacks on, or unintentional events affecting, our systems or
infrastructure, the systems or infrastructure of third parties or the cloud could lead to corruption or loss of our proprietary data and potentially sensitive data, delays
in delivery of natural gas and natural gas liquids, difficulty in completing and settling transactions, challenges in maintaining our books and records, environmental
damage, communication interruptions, personal injury, property damage, other operational disruptions and third party liability. Further, as cyber incidents continue
to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any
vulnerability to cyber incidents.
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Risks Inherent in an Investment in Us
EQT, through its control of EQGP, controls our general partner, which has sole responsibility for conducting our business and managing our operations.
Potential conflicts of interest may arise among our general partner, its affiliates and us. Our general partner has limited its state law fiduciary duties to us
and our unitholders, which may permit it to favor its own interests to the detriment of us and our unitholders.
EQT, through its ownership of EQGP, controls our general partner and has the power to appoint all of the officers and directors of our general partner.
EQT also controls RMP's general partner and has the power to appoint all of the officers and directors of RMP's general partner. Conflicts of interest will arise
among EQT, RMP, RMP's general partner, EQGP, EQGP's general partner and our general partner, on the one hand, and us and our unitholders, on the other hand.
In resolving these conflicts of interest, our general partner may favor its own interests and the interests of EQT, RMP and EQGP over our interests and the interests
of our unitholders. These conflicts include the following situations, among others:
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Neither our partnership agreement nor any other agreement requires EQT to pursue a business strategy that favors us, and the directors and officers of
EQT have a fiduciary duty to make these decisions in the best interests of EQT, which may be contrary to our interests. EQT may choose to shift the
focus of its investment and growth to areas not served by our assets.
EQT, as our primary customer, has an economic incentive to cause us not to seek higher gathering fees or tariff rates, even if such higher fees or rates
would reflect fees and rates that could be obtained in arm's length, third party transactions.
EQT is not limited in its ability to compete with us and may offer business opportunities and/or sell midstream assets to RMP or third parties without
first offering us the right to bid for them.
Our general partner is allowed to take into account the interests of parties other than us, such as EQT, in resolving conflicts of interest, which has the
effect of limiting its state law fiduciary duty to our unitholders.
All of the officers and five of the directors of our general partner are also officers and/or directors of EQT and owe fiduciary duties to EQT, and three
of the officers and four of the directors of our general partner are also officers and/or directors of EQGP's general partner and owe fiduciary duties to
EQGP. Additionally, all of the officers and five of the directors of our general partner are also officers and/or directors of RMP's general partner and
owe fiduciary duties to RMP. The officers of our general partner also devote significant time to the business of EQT, EQGP and RMP and are
compensated by EQT accordingly.
Our general partner determines whether or not we incur debt and that decision may affect our credit ratings.
Our partnership agreement replaces the fiduciary duties that would otherwise be owed by our general partner with contractual standards governing its
duties, limits our general partner's liabilities and restricts the remedies available to our unitholders for actions that, without such limitations, might
constitute breaches of fiduciary duty under state law.
Except in limited circumstances, our general partner has the power and authority to conduct our business without unitholder approval.
Our general partner controls the enforcement of the obligations that it and its affiliates owe to us, including EQT's obligations under our omnibus
agreement with EQT and EQT's commercial agreements with us.
Disputes may arise under our commercial agreements with EQT and its affiliates.
Our partnership agreement gives our general partner broad discretion in establishing financial reserves for the proper conduct of our business. These
reserves will affect the amount of cash available for distribution to our unitholders.
Our general partner determines the amount and timing of asset purchases and sales, borrowings, issuances of additional partnership securities and the
creation, reduction or increase of reserves, each of which can affect the amount of cash available for distribution to our unitholders.
Our general partner determines the amount and timing of any capital expenditures and, in accordance with the terms of our partnership agreement,
whether a capital expenditure is classified as a maintenance capital expenditure, which reduces operating surplus, or an expansion or investment
capital expenditure, which does not reduce operating surplus. These determinations can affect the amount of cash that is distributed to our
unitholders.
Our general partner determines which costs incurred by it and its affiliates are reimbursable by us.
Our general partner may cause us to borrow funds in order to permit the payment of cash distributions, even if the purpose or effect of the borrowing
is to make incentive distributions.
Our partnership agreement permits us to classify up to $30 million as operating surplus, even if it is generated from asset sales, non-working capital
borrowings or other sources that would otherwise constitute capital surplus. This cash may be used to fund distributions to our general partner in
respect of the general partner interest or the IDRs.
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Our partnership agreement does not restrict our general partner from causing us to pay it or its affiliates for any services rendered to us or entering
into additional contractual arrangements with any of these entities on our behalf.
Our general partner intends to limit its liability regarding our contractual and other obligations.
Our general partner may exercise its right to call and purchase all of our common units not owned by it and its affiliates if they own more than 80%
of the common units.
Our general partner decides whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for us.
Our general partner may transfer the IDRs without unitholder approval.
Our general partner may elect to cause us to issue common units to it in connection with a resetting of the target distribution levels related to our
general partner's IDRs without the approval of the conflicts committee of the board of directors of our general partner or our unitholders. This
election may result in lower distributions to our common unitholders in certain situations.

Please read Item 13, "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The duties of our general partner's officers and directors may conflict with their duties as officers and/or directors of EQT, EQGP's general partner
and/or RMP's general partner.
Our general partner's officers and directors have duties to manage our business in a manner beneficial to us, our unitholders and the owner of our general
partner, EQGP, which is controlled by EQT. However, four of our general partner's directors and three of its officers are also officers and/or directors of EQGP's
general partner, which has duties to manage the business of EQGP in a manner beneficial to EQGP and EQGP's unitholders, including EQT. Additionally, five of
our general partner's directors and all of its officers are also officers and/or directors of EQT, and five of our general partner's directors and all of its officers are
also officers and/or directors of RMP's general partner. Consequently, these directors and officers may encounter situations in which their obligations to EQGP,
RMP and/or EQT, as applicable, on the one hand, and us, on the other hand, are in conflict. The resolution of these conflicts may not always be in our best interest
or that of our unitholders.
In addition, our general partner's officers, all of whom are also officers of EQT, three of whom are officers of EQGP's general partner and all of whom are
officers of RMP's general partner, will have responsibility for overseeing the allocation of their own time and time spent by administrative personnel on our behalf
and on behalf of EQGP, RMP and/or EQT. These officers face conflicts regarding these time allocations that may adversely affect our results of operations, cash
flows and financial condition.
EQT may compete with us, which could adversely affect our ability to grow and our results of operations and cash available for distribution.
Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner will be restricted from engaging in any business activities other than acting as our general
partner and those activities incidental to its ownership of interests in us. Affiliates of our general partner, including EQT and its other subsidiaries, including EQGP
and RMP, are not prohibited from owning assets or engaging in businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us. EQT currently holds interests in entities that
own a significant amount of natural gas midstream assets and may make investments in and purchases of entities that acquire, own and operate other natural gas
midstream assets. EQT is under no obligation to make any acquisition opportunities available to us. Moreover, while EQT may offer us the opportunity to buy
additional assets from it, it is under no contractual obligation to accept any offer we might make with respect to such opportunity.
Pursuant to the terms of our partnership agreement, the doctrine of corporate opportunity, or any analogous doctrine, does not apply to our general partner
or any of its affiliates, including its executive officers and directors, EQT, EQGP and RMP. Any such person or entity that becomes aware of a potential
transaction, agreement, arrangement or other matter that may be an opportunity for us will not have any duty to communicate or offer such opportunity to us. Any
such person or entity will not be liable to us or to any limited partner for breach of any fiduciary duty or other duty by reason of the fact that such person or entity
pursues or acquires such opportunity for itself, directs such opportunity to another person or entity or does not communicate such opportunity or information to us.
This may create actual and potential conflicts of interest between us and affiliates of our general partner and result in less than favorable treatment of us and our
common unitholders.
36

Table of Contents
Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all of our available cash, which could limit our ability to grow and make acquisitions.
We expect that we will distribute all of our available cash to our unitholders and will rely primarily upon external financing sources, including
commercial bank borrowings and the issuance of debt and equity securities, to fund our acquisitions and expansion capital expenditures. As a result, to the extent
we are unable to finance growth externally, our cash distribution policy will significantly impair our ability to grow.
In addition, because we intend to distribute all of our available cash, our growth may not be as fast as that of businesses that reinvest their available cash
to expand ongoing operations. To the extent we issue additional units in connection with any acquisitions or expansion capital expenditures, the payment of
distributions on those additional units may increase the risk that we will be unable to maintain or increase our per unit distribution level. There are no limitations in
our partnership agreement, and we do not anticipate there being limitations in our credit facilities, on our ability to issue additional units, including units ranking
senior to our common units. The incurrence of additional commercial borrowings or other debt to finance our growth strategy would result in increased interest
expense, which in turn may impact the available cash that we have to distribute to our unitholders.
The NYSE does not require a publicly traded partnership like us to comply with certain of its corporate governance requirements.
Unlike most corporations, we are not required by NYSE rules to have, and we do not intend to have, a majority of independent directors on our general
partner's board of directors or a compensation committee or a nominating and corporate governance committee. Additionally, any future issuance of additional
common units or other securities, including to affiliates, will not be subject to the NYSE's shareholder approval rules. Accordingly, unitholders will not have the
same protections afforded to certain corporations that are subject to all of the NYSE corporate governance requirements.
If any of our unitholders are not eligible taxable holders, such unitholders will not be entitled to allocations of income or loss or distributions or voting
rights on their common units and their common units will be subject to redemption.
In order to avoid any material adverse effect on the maximum applicable rates that can be charged to customers by our subsidiaries on assets that are
subject to rate regulation by the FERC or an analogous regulatory body, we have adopted certain requirements regarding those investors who may own our
common units. Eligible taxable holders are defined in our partnership agreement and generally include any individual or entity (i) whose, or whose owners', U.S.
federal income tax status (or lack of proof thereof) does not have or is not reasonably likely to have, as determined by our general partner, a material adverse effect
on the rates that can be charged to customers with respect to assets that are subject to regulation by the FERC or similar regulatory body; or (ii) as to whom our
general partner cannot make the determination in clause (i) above, if our general partner determines that it is in our best interest to permit such individual or entity
to own our partnership interests. If any of our unitholders fails to fit the requirements of an eligible taxable holder or fails to certify or has falsely certified that such
holder is an eligible taxable holder, such unitholder will not receive allocations of income or loss or distributions or voting rights on their units and they run the risk
of having their units redeemed by us at the market price calculated in accordance with our partnership agreement as of the date of redemption. The redemption
price will be paid in cash or by delivery of a promissory note, as determined by our general partner.
Our partnership agreement replaces our general partner's fiduciary duties to holders of our common units with contractual standards governing its
duties.
Our partnership agreement contains provisions that eliminate the fiduciary standards to which our general partner would otherwise be held by state
fiduciary duty law and replace those duties with several different contractual standards. For example, our partnership agreement permits our general partner to
make a number of decisions in its individual capacity, as opposed to in its capacity as our general partner, free of any duties to us and our unitholders other than the
implied contractual covenant of good faith and fair dealing, which means that a court will enforce the reasonable expectations of the partners where the language in
the partnership agreement does not provide for a clear course of action. This provision entitles our general partner to consider only the interests and factors that it
desires and relieves it of any duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting, us, our affiliates or our limited partners. Examples
of decisions that our general partner may make in its individual capacity include:
•
•

how to allocate corporate opportunities among us and other affiliates;
whether to exercise its limited call right;
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whether to seek approval of the resolution of a conflict of interest by the conflicts committee of the board of directors of our general partner;
how to exercise its voting rights with respect to the units it owns;
whether to elect to reset target distribution levels;
whether to transfer the IDRs or any units it owns to a third party; and
whether or not to consent to any merger, consolidation or conversion of the partnership or amendment to our partnership agreement.

By purchasing a common unit, a common unitholder agrees to become bound by the provisions in our partnership agreement, including the above
provisions.
Our partnership agreement restricts the remedies available to holders of our common units for actions taken by our general partner that might otherwise
constitute breaches of fiduciary duty.
Our partnership agreement contains provisions that restrict the remedies available to unitholders for actions taken by our general partner that might
otherwise constitute breaches of fiduciary duty under state fiduciary duty law. For example, our partnership agreement provides that:
•

•
•

•

whenever our general partner, the board of directors of our general partner or any committee thereof (including the conflicts committee) makes a
determination or takes, or declines to take, any other action in their respective capacities, our general partner, the board of directors of our general
partner and any committee thereof (including the conflicts committee), as applicable, is required to make such determination, or take or decline to
take such other action, in good faith, meaning that it subjectively believed that the decision was in the best interests of our partnership, and, except as
specifically provided by our partnership agreement, will not be subject to any other or different standard imposed by our partnership agreement,
Delaware law, or any other law, rule or regulation, or at equity;
our general partner will not have any liability to us or our unitholders for decisions made in its capacity as a general partner so long as such decisions
are made in good faith;
our general partner and its officers and directors will not be liable for monetary damages to us or our limited partners resulting from any act or
omission unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that our general partner
or its officers and directors, as the case may be, acted in bad faith or engaged in fraud or willful misconduct or, in the case of a criminal matter, acted
with knowledge that the conduct was criminal; and
our general partner will not be in breach of its obligations under our partnership agreement (including any duties to us or our unitholders) if a
transaction with an affiliate or the resolution of a conflict of interest is:
◦ approved by the conflicts committee of the board of directors of our general partner, although our general partner is not obligated to seek
such approval;
◦ approved by the vote of unitholders holding a majority of our outstanding common units, excluding any common units owned by our
general partner and its affiliates;
◦ determined by the board of directors of our general partner to be on terms no less favorable to us than those generally being provided to or
available from unrelated third parties; or
◦ determined by the board of directors of our general partner to be fair and reasonable to us, taking into account the totality of the
relationships among the parties involved, including other transactions that may be particularly favorable or advantageous to us.

In connection with a situation involving a transaction with an affiliate or a conflict of interest, any determination by our general partner or the conflicts
committee must be made in good faith. If an affiliate transaction or the resolution of a conflict of interest is not approved by our common unitholders or the
conflicts committee and the board of directors of our general partner determines that the resolution or course of action taken with respect to the affiliate transaction
or conflict of interest satisfies either of the standards set forth in the third and fourth sub-bullets above, then it will be presumed that, in making its decision, the
board of directors acted in good faith, and in any proceeding brought by or on behalf of any limited partner or the partnership challenging such determination, the
person bringing or prosecuting such proceeding will have the burden of overcoming such presumption.
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Reimbursements due to our general partner and its affiliates for services provided to us or on our behalf will reduce distributable cash flow to our
common unitholders. The amount and timing of such reimbursements will be determined by our general partner.
Prior to making any distribution to our common unitholders, we will reimburse our general partner and its affiliates, including EQT, for expenses they
incur and payments they make on our behalf. Under the omnibus agreement, we will reimburse our general partner and its affiliates for certain expenses incurred
on our behalf, including administrative costs, such as compensation expenses for those persons who provide services necessary to run our business, and insurance
expenses. Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner will determine in good faith the expenses that are allocable to us. The reimbursement of
expenses and payment of fees, if any, to our general partner and its affiliates will reduce the amount of available cash to pay cash distributions to our common
unitholders.
Our unitholders do not elect our general partner or vote on our general partner's directors.
Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporation, our unitholders have only limited voting rights and, therefore, limited ability to influence
management's decisions regarding our business. Unitholders will have no right on an annual or ongoing basis to elect our general partner or its board of directors.
Rather, the board of directors of our general partner will be appointed by EQGP, which is controlled by EQT. Furthermore, if our public unitholders are dissatisfied
with the performance of our general partner, they will have limited ability to remove our general partner. As a result of these limitations, the price at which our
common units will trade could be diminished because of the absence or reduction of a takeover premium in the trading price.
Our partnership agreement restricts the voting rights of unitholders owning 20% or more of our common units.
Our unitholders' voting rights are restricted by a provision in our partnership agreement which provides that any units held by a person or group that owns
20% or more of any class of units then outstanding, other than our general partner, its affiliates, their transferees and persons who acquired such units with the prior
approval of the board of directors of our general partner, cannot be voted on any matter. In addition, our partnership agreement contains provisions limiting the
ability of our unitholders to call meetings or to acquire information about our operations, as well as other provisions limiting our unitholders' ability to influence the
manner or direction of our management. As a result, the price at which our common units will trade may be lower because of the absence or reduction of a takeover
premium in the trading price.
Our general partner interest or the control of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without unitholder consent.
Our general partner may transfer its general partner interest to a third party in a merger or in a sale of all or substantially all of its assets without the
consent of our unitholders. Furthermore, our partnership agreement does not restrict the ability of (i) EQGP to transfer all or a portion of its ownership interest in
our general partner to a third party, or (ii) EQT to transfer all or a portion of its ownership interest in EQGP's general partner to a third party. The new owner of our
general partner or EQGP's general partner, as the case may be, would then be in a position to replace the board of directors and officers of our general partner with
its own designees and thereby exert significant control over the decisions made by the board of directors and officers of our general partner.
The incentive distribution rights of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without unitholder consent.
EQT, through its control of EQGP, controls our general partner. Our general partner may transfer the IDRs to a third party at any time without the consent
of our unitholders. If our general partner transfers the IDRs to a third party but retains its general partner interest, our general partner may not have the same
incentive to grow our partnership and increase quarterly cash distributions to unitholders over time as it would if it had retained ownership of the IDRs.
We may issue additional units without unitholder approval, which would dilute our unitholders' existing ownership interests.
Our partnership agreement does not limit the number of additional limited partner interests, including limited partner interests that rank senior to our
common units, that we may issue at any time without the approval of our unitholders. The issuance by us of additional common units or other equity securities of
equal or senior rank will have the following effects:
•
•

our existing unitholders' proportionate ownership interest in us will decrease;
the amount of distributable cash flow on each unit may decrease;
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because the amount payable to holders of IDRs is based on a percentage of the total distributable cash flow, the distributions to holders of IDRs will
increase even if the per unit distribution on common units remains the same;
the ratio of taxable income to distributions may increase;
the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding unit may be diminished; and
the market price of our common units may decline.

EQGP may sell units in the public or private markets, and such sales could have an adverse impact on the trading price of our common units.
As of February 15, 2018 , EQGP held 21,811,643 of our common units, representing a 26.6% limited partner interest in us. In addition, we have agreed to
provide our general partner and its affiliates, including EQGP, with certain registration rights. The sale of these units in the public or private markets could have an
adverse impact on the price of our common units or on any trading market that may develop.
Our general partner intends to limit its liability regarding our obligations.
Our general partner intends to limit its liability under contractual arrangements so that the counterparties to such arrangements have recourse only against
our assets, and not against our general partner or its assets. Our general partner may therefore cause us to incur indebtedness or other obligations that are
nonrecourse to our general partner. Our partnership agreement permits our general partner to limit its liability, even if we could have obtained more favorable terms
without the limitation on liability. In addition, we are obligated to reimburse or indemnify our general partner to the extent that it incurs obligations on our behalf.
Any such reimbursement or indemnification payments would reduce the amount of cash otherwise available for distribution to our unitholders.
Our general partner has a call right that may require our unitholders to sell their common units at an undesirable time or price.
If at any time our general partner and its affiliates own more than 80% of our outstanding common units, our general partner will have the right, which it
may assign to any of its affiliates or to us, but not the obligation, to acquire all, but not less than all, of the remaining units held by unaffiliated persons at a price
that is not less than the then-current market price of our common units. As a result, our unitholders may be required to sell their common units at an undesirable
time or price and may not receive any return on their investment. Our common unitholders may also incur a tax liability upon a sale of their common units. As of
February 15, 2018 , affiliates of our general partner owned 27.1% of our outstanding common units.
Our general partner, or any transferee holding a majority of the incentive distribution rights, may elect to cause us to issue common units to it in
connection with a resetting of the minimum quarterly distribution and the target distribution levels related to the incentive distribution rights, without
the approval of the conflicts committee of our general partner or our unitholders. This election may result in lower distributions to our common
unitholders in certain situations.
The holder or holders of a majority of the IDRs, which is currently our general partner, have the right, at any time when the holders have received
incentive distributions at the highest level to which they are entitled (48.0%) for each of the prior four consecutive fiscal quarters (and the amount of each such
distribution did not exceed adjusted operating surplus for each such quarter), to reset the minimum quarterly distribution and the initial target distribution levels at
higher levels based on our cash distribution at the time of the exercise of the reset election. Following a reset election, the minimum quarterly distribution will be
reset to an amount equal to the average cash distribution per unit for the two fiscal quarters immediately preceding the reset election (such amount is referred to as
the "reset minimum quarterly distribution"), and the target distribution levels will be reset to correspondingly higher levels based on percentage increases above the
reset minimum quarterly distribution. Our general partner has the right to transfer the IDRs at any time, in whole or in part, and any transferee holding a majority of
the IDRs shall have the same rights as our general partner with respect to resetting target distributions.
In the event of a reset of the minimum quarterly distribution and the target distribution levels, the holders of the IDRs will be entitled to receive, in the
aggregate, the number of common units equal to that number of common units which would have entitled the holders to an average aggregate quarterly cash
distribution in the prior two quarters equal to the average of the distributions on the IDRs in the prior two quarters. Our general partner will also be issued the
number of general partner units necessary to maintain its general partner interest in us that existed immediately prior to the reset election. We anticipate that our
general partner would exercise this reset right in order to facilitate acquisitions or internal growth projects that would not otherwise be sufficiently accretive to cash
distributions per common unit. It is possible, however, that our general partner or a transferee could exercise this reset election at a time when it is experiencing, or
expects to experience, declines in the cash
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distributions it receives related to the IDRs and may therefore desire to be issued common units rather than retain the right to receive incentive distribution
payments based on target distribution levels that are less certain to be achieved in the then current business environment. This risk could be elevated if our IDRs
have been transferred to a third party. As a result, a reset election may cause our common unitholders to experience dilution in the amount of cash distributions that
they would have otherwise received had we not issued common units to our general partner in connection with resetting the target distribution levels.
Our unitholders' liability may not be limited if a court finds that unitholder action constitutes control of our business.
A general partner of a partnership generally has unlimited liability for the obligations of the partnership, except for those contractual obligations of the
partnership that are expressly made without recourse to the general partner. Our partnership is organized under Delaware law, and we conduct business in a number
of other states. The limitations on the liability of holders of limited partner interests for the obligations of a limited partnership have not been clearly established in
some of the other states in which we do business. A unitholder could be liable for any and all of our obligations as if that unitholder were a general partner if a
court or government agency were to determine that:
•
•

we were conducting business in a state but had not complied with that particular state's partnership statute; or
such unitholder's right to act with other unitholders to remove or replace our general partner, to approve some amendments to our partnership
agreement or to take other actions under our partnership agreement constitutes "control" of our business.

Furthermore, under Delaware law, a unitholder may be liable to us for the amount of a distribution for a period of three years from the date of the
distribution under certain circumstances.
Our general partner may mortgage, pledge or grant a security interest in all or substantially all of our assets without prior approval of our unitholders.
Our general partner may mortgage, pledge or grant a security interest in all or substantially all of our assets without prior approval of our unitholders. If
our general partner at any time were to decide to incur debt and secure its obligations or indebtedness by all or substantially all of our assets, and if our general
partner were to be unable to satisfy such obligations or repay such indebtedness, the lenders could seek to foreclose on our assets. The lenders could also sell all or
substantially all of our assets under such foreclosure or other realization upon those encumbrances without prior approval of our unitholders, which would
adversely affect the price of our common units.
Unitholders may have liability to repay distributions that were wrongfully distributed to them.
Under certain circumstances, unitholders may have to repay amounts wrongfully returned or distributed to them. Under Section 17-607 of the Delaware
Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act, we may not make a distribution to our unitholders if the distribution would cause our liabilities to exceed the fair value
of our assets. Delaware law provides that for a period of three years from the date of an impermissible distribution, limited partners who received the distribution
and who knew at the time of the distribution that it violated Delaware law will be liable to the limited partnership for the distribution amount. Transferees of
common units are liable both for the obligations of the transferor to make contributions to the partnership that were known to the transferee at the time of transfer
and for those obligations that were unknown if the liabilities could have been determined from the partnership agreement. Neither liabilities to partners on account
of their partnership interest nor liabilities that are non-recourse to the partnership are counted for purposes of determining whether a distribution is permitted.
Tax Risks to Our Common Unitholders
Our tax treatment depends on our status as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. If the IRS were to treat us as a corporation for federal income
tax purposes, which would subject us to entity-level taxation, then our distributable cash flow to our unitholders would be substantially reduced.
The anticipated after-tax economic benefit of an investment in our common units depends largely on our being treated as a partnership for federal income
tax purposes. We have not requested, and do not currently plan to request, a ruling from the IRS with respect to our treatment as a partnership for federal income
tax purposes.
Despite the fact that we are a limited partnership under Delaware law, it is possible in certain circumstances for a partnership such as ours to be treated as
a corporation for federal income tax purposes. A change in our business or a change in
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current law could cause us to be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes or otherwise subject us to taxation as an entity.
If we were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, we would pay federal income tax on our taxable income at the corporate tax rate,
which is currently 21.0%, and would likely pay state and local income tax at varying rates. Distributions to our unitholders would generally be taxed again as
corporate dividends (to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits), and no income, gains, losses, deductions or credits would flow through to
our unitholders. Because a tax would be imposed upon us as a corporation, our distributable cash flow to our unitholders would be substantially reduced. Therefore,
if we were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes there would be a material reduction in the anticipated cash flow and after-tax return to our
unitholders, likely causing a substantial reduction in the value of our common units.
Our partnership agreement provides that, if a law is enacted or existing law is modified or interpreted in a manner that subjects us to taxation as a
corporation or otherwise subjects us to entity-level taxation for federal, state or local income tax purposes, the minimum quarterly distribution amount and the
target distribution amounts may be adjusted to reflect the impact of that law on us.
If we were subjected to a material amount of additional entity-level taxation by individual states or other taxing jurisdictions, it would reduce our
distributable cash flow to our unitholders.
Changes in current law may subject us to additional entity-level taxation by individual states or other taxing jurisdictions. Because of widespread budget
deficits and other reasons, several states and other taxing jurisdictions are evaluating ways to subject partnerships to entity-level taxation through the imposition of
income, franchise and other forms of taxation. Imposition of such additional tax on us would reduce the distributable cash flow to our unitholders. Our partnership
agreement provides that, if a law is enacted or existing law is modified or interpreted in a manner that subjects us to entity-level taxation, the minimum quarterly
distribution amount and the target distribution amounts may be adjusted to reflect the impact of that law on us.
The tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships or an investment in our common units could be subject to potential legislative, judicial or
administrative changes and differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis.
The present federal income tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships, including us, or an investment in our common units may be modified by
administrative, legislative or judicial changes or differing interpretations at any time. From time to time, members of the U.S. Congress propose and consider such
substantive changes to the existing federal income tax laws that affect publicly traded partnerships. If successful, the proposals could eliminate the qualifying
income exception to the treatment of all publicly traded partnerships as corporations upon which we rely for our treatment as a partnership for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. We are unable to predict whether any of these changes or other proposals will ultimately be enacted, but it is possible that a change in law could
affect us and may, if enacted, be applied retroactively. Any such changes could negatively impact the value of an investment in our common units.
Our unitholders are required to pay income taxes on their share of our taxable income even if they do not receive any cash distributions from us. A
unitholder’s share of our taxable income, and its relationship to any distributions we make, may be affected by a variety of factors, including our
economic performance, transactions in which we engage or changes in law and may be substantially different from any estimate we make in connection
with a unit offering.
A unitholder’s allocable share of our taxable income will be taxable to such unitholder, which may require the unitholder to pay federal income taxes and,
in some cases, state and local income taxes, even if the unitholder receives cash distributions from us that are less than the actual tax liability that results from that
income or no cash distributions at all.
A unitholder’s share of our taxable income, and its relationship to any distributions we make, may be affected by a variety of factors, including our
economic performance, which may be affected by numerous business, economic, regulatory, legislative, competitive and political uncertainties beyond our control,
and certain transactions in which we might engage. For example, we may engage in transactions that produce substantial taxable income allocations to some or all
of our unitholders without a corresponding increase in cash distributions to our unitholders, such as a sale or exchange of assets, the proceeds of which are
reinvested in our business or used to reduce our debt, or an actual or deemed satisfaction of our indebtedness for an amount less than the adjusted issue price of the
debt. A unitholder’s ratio of its share of taxable income to the cash received by it may also be affected by changes in law. For instance, under the recently enacted
law known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, the net interest expense deductions of certain business entities, including us, are limited to 30% of such entity’s
“adjusted
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taxable income,” which is generally taxable income with certain modifications. If the limit applies, a unitholder’s taxable income allocations will be more (or its
net loss allocations will be less) than would have been the case absent the limitation.
From time to time, in connection with an offering of our common units, we may state an estimate of the ratio of federal taxable income to cash
distributions that a purchaser of our common units in that offering may receive in a given period. These estimates depend in part on factors that are unique to the
offering with respect to which the estimate is stated, so the expected ratio applicable to other common units will be different, and in many cases less favorable, than
these estimates. Moreover, even in the case of common units purchased in the offering to which the estimate relates, the estimate may be incorrect, due to the
uncertainties described above, challenges by the IRS to tax reporting positions which we adopt, or other factors. The actual ratio of taxable income to cash
distributions could be higher or lower than expected, and any differences could be material and could materially affect the value of our common units.
If the IRS contests the federal income tax positions we take, the market for our common units may be adversely impacted and the cost of any IRS contest
will reduce our distributable cash flow to our unitholders.
We have not requested, and do not currently plan to request, a ruling from the IRS with respect to our treatment as a partnership for federal income tax
purposes or any other tax matter affecting us. The IRS may adopt positions that differ from the conclusions of our counsel expressed in a prospectus or from the
positions we take. It may be necessary to resort to administrative or court proceedings to sustain some or all of our counsel's conclusions or the positions we take
and such positions may not ultimately be sustained. A court may not agree with some or all of our counsel's conclusions or the positions we take. Any contest with
the IRS, and the outcome of any IRS contest, may have a materially adverse impact on the market for our common units and the price at which they trade. In
addition, our costs of any contest with the IRS will be borne indirectly by our unitholders and our general partner because the costs will reduce our distributable
cash flow.
If the IRS makes audit adjustments to our income tax returns for tax years beginning after 2017, it (and some states) may assess and collect any resulting
taxes (including any applicable penalties and interest) directly from us, in which case we may require our unitholders and former unitholders to
reimburse us for such taxes (including any applicable penalties or interest) or, if we are required to bear such payment, our cash available for distribution
to our unitholders might be substantially reduced.
Pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, if the IRS makes audit adjustments to our income tax returns for tax years beginning after 2017, it (and
some states) may assess and collect any resulting taxes (including any applicable interest and penalties) directly from us. We will generally have the ability to shift
any such tax liability to our general partner and our unitholders in accordance with their interests in us during the year under audit, but there can be no assurance
that we will be able to do so (or will choose to do so) under all circumstances, or that we will be able to (or choose to) effect corresponding shifts in state income or
similar tax liability resulting from the IRS adjustment in states in which we do business in the year under audit or in the adjustment year. If we make payments of
taxes, penalties and interest resulting from audit adjustments, we may require our unitholders and former unitholders to reimburse us for such taxes (including any
applicable penalties or interest) or, if we are required to bear such payment, our cash available for distribution to our unitholders might be substantially reduced.
In the event the IRS makes an audit adjustment to our income tax returns and we do not or cannot shift the liability to our unitholders in accordance with
their interests in us during the year under audit, we will generally have the ability to request that the IRS reduce the determined underpayment by reducing the
suspended passive loss carryovers of our unitholders (without any compensation from us to such unitholders), to the extent such underpayment is attributable to a
net decrease in passive activity losses allocable to certain partners. Such reduction, if approved by the IRS, will be binding on any affected unitholders.
Tax gain or loss on the disposition of our common units could be more or less than expected.
If our unitholders sell their common units, our unitholders will recognize a gain or loss for federal income tax purposes equal to the difference between the
amount realized and their tax basis in those common units. Because distributions in excess of our unitholders' allocable share of our net taxable income decrease
their tax basis in their common units, the amount, if any, of such prior excess distributions with respect to the common units our unitholders sell will, in effect,
become taxable income to our unitholders if they sell such common units at a price greater than their tax basis in those common units, even if the price our
unitholders receive is less than their original cost. Furthermore, a substantial portion of the amount realized on any sale or other disposition of our unitholders'
common units, whether or not representing gain, may be taxed as ordinary income due to potential recapture items, including depreciation recapture. In addition,
because the amount realized includes our
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unitholders' share of our nonrecourse liabilities, if our unitholders sell their common units, our unitholders may incur a tax liability in excess of the amount of cash
they receive from the sale.
Tax-exempt entities and non-U.S. persons face unique tax issues from owning our common units that may result in adverse tax consequences to them.
Investment in common units by tax-exempt entities, such as employee benefit plans and individual retirement accounts (known as IRAs), and non-U.S.
persons raises issues unique to them. For example, virtually all of our income allocated to organizations that are exempt from federal income tax, including IRAs
and other retirement plans, will be unrelated business taxable income and will be taxable to them. Distributions to non-U.S. persons will be reduced by withholding
taxes at the highest applicable effective tax rate, and non-U.S. persons will be required to file U.S. federal income tax returns and pay tax on their share of our
taxable income.
Under the recently enacted law known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, if a unitholder sells or otherwise disposes of a common unit, the transferee is
required to withhold 10.0% of the amount realized by the transferor unless the transferor certifies that it is not a foreign person, and we are required to deduct and
withhold from the transferee amounts that should have been withheld by the transferee but were not withheld. However, the Department of the Treasury and the
IRS have determined that this withholding requirement should not apply to any disposition of a publicly traded interest in a publicly traded partnership (such as us)
until regulations or other guidance have been issued clarifying the application of this withholding requirement to dispositions of interests in publicly traded
partnerships. Accordingly, while this new withholding requirement does not currently apply to interests in us, there can be no assurance that such requirement will
not apply in the future.
Tax-exempt entities and non-U.S. persons should consult a tax advisor before investing in our common units.
We will treat each purchaser of common units as having the same tax benefits without regard to the actual common units purchased. The IRS may
challenge this treatment, which could adversely affect the value of our common units.
Because we cannot match transferors and transferees of common units and because of other reasons, we have adopted depreciation and amortization
positions that may not conform to all aspects of existing Treasury Regulations. A successful IRS challenge to those positions could adversely affect the amount of
tax benefits available to our unitholders. It also could affect the timing of these tax benefits or the amount of gain from our unitholders' sales of common units and
could have a negative impact on the value of our common units or result in audit adjustments to our unitholders' tax returns.
We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction for U.S. federal income tax purposes between transferors and transferees of our units each
month based upon the ownership of our units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular unit is transferred. The IRS
may challenge this treatment, which could change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our unitholders.
We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction for U.S. federal income tax purposes between transferors and transferees of our units each
month based upon the ownership of our units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular unit is transferred. Treasury Regulations
allow a similar monthly convention, but such regulations do not specifically authorize all aspects of the proration method we have adopted. If the IRS were to
challenge our proration method, we may be required to change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our unitholders. We are
authorized to revise our method of allocation between transferee and transferor unitholders, as well as among unitholders whose interests vary during a taxable
year, to conform to a method permitted under future Treasury Regulations.
A unitholder who disposes of units prior to the record date set for a cash distribution for that quarter will be allocated items of our income, gain, loss and
deduction attributable to the month of disposition but will not be entitled to receive a cash distribution for that period.
A unitholder whose common units are loaned to a "short seller" to cover a short sale of common units may be considered as having disposed of those
common units. If so, the unitholder would no longer be treated for federal income tax purposes as a partner with respect to those common units during
the period of the loan and may recognize gain or loss from the disposition.
Because a unitholder whose common units are loaned to a "short seller" to cover a short sale of common units may be considered as having disposed of
the loaned common units, the unitholder may no longer be treated for federal income tax purposes as a partner with respect to those common units during the
period of the loan to the short seller and the unitholder may recognize gain or loss from such disposition. Moreover, during the period of the loan to the short seller,
any of our income,
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gain, loss or deduction with respect to those common units may not be reportable by the unitholder and any cash distributions received by the unitholder as to those
common units could be fully taxable as ordinary income. Our unitholders desiring to assure their status as partners and avoid the risk of gain recognition from a
loan to a short seller are urged to consult a tax advisor to discuss whether it is advisable to modify any applicable brokerage account agreements to prohibit their
brokers from loaning their common units.
We have adopted certain valuation methodologies in determining a unitholder's allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction. The IRS may challenge
these methodologies or the resulting allocations, and such a challenge could adversely affect the value of our common units.
In determining the items of income, gain, loss and deduction allocable to our unitholders, we must routinely determine the fair market value of our assets.
Although we may from time to time consult with professional appraisers regarding valuation matters, we make many fair market value estimates using a
methodology based on the market value of our common units as a means to measure the fair market value of our assets. The IRS may challenge these valuation
methods and the resulting allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction.
A successful IRS challenge to these methods or allocations could adversely affect the timing or amount of taxable income or loss being allocated to our
unitholders. It also could affect the amount of gain from our unitholders' sale of common units and could have a negative impact on the value of the common units
or result in audit adjustments to our unitholders' tax returns without the benefit of additional deductions.
As a result of investing in our common units, our unitholders may become subject to state and local taxes and return filing requirements in jurisdictions
where we operate or own or acquire properties.
In addition to federal income taxes, our unitholders will likely be subject to other taxes, including state and local taxes, unincorporated business taxes and
estate, inheritance or intangible taxes that are imposed by the various jurisdictions in which we conduct business or own property now or in the future, even if they
do not live in any of those jurisdictions. Our unitholders will likely be required to file state and local income tax returns and pay state and local income taxes in
some or all of these various jurisdictions. Further, our unitholders may be subject to penalties for failure to comply with those requirements. We own property or
conduct business in Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Ohio and will be expanding into Virginia with the MVP, each of which currently imposes a personal income
tax on individuals. Each of these states also imposes an income or gross receipts tax on corporations and other entities. As we make acquisitions or expand our
business, we may own property or conduct business in additional states that impose a personal income tax. It is our unitholders' responsibility to file all U.S.
federal, state and local tax returns.
Compliance with and changes in tax laws could adversely affect our performance.
We are subject to extensive tax laws and regulations, including federal, state and foreign income taxes and transactional taxes such as excise, sales/use,
payroll, franchise and ad valorem taxes. New tax laws and regulations and changes in existing tax laws and regulations are continuously being enacted that could
result in increased tax expenditures in the future. Many of these tax liabilities are subject to audits by the respective taxing authority. These audits may result in
additional taxes as well as interest and penalties.
See also Item 7A, "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk," for further discussion regarding EQM's exposure to market risks,
which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
For a description of material properties, see Item 1, "Business," which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
In the ordinary course of business, various legal and regulatory claims and proceedings are pending or threatened against EQM. While the amounts
claimed may be substantial, EQM is unable to predict with certainty the ultimate outcome of such claims and proceedings. EQM accrues legal and other direct
costs related to loss contingencies when actually incurred.
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EQM has established reserves it believes to be appropriate for pending matters and, after consultation with counsel and giving appropriate consideration to
available insurance, EQM believes that the ultimate outcome of any matter currently pending against it will not materially affect its business, financial condition,
results of operations, liquidity or ability to make distributions.
Environmental Proceedings
Between September 2015 and February 2016, EQM, as the operator of the AVC facilities which at that time were owned by EQT, received eight Notices
of Violation (NOVs) from the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (PADEP). The NOVs alleged violations of the Pennsylvania Clean Streams
Law in connection with inadvertent releases of sediment and bentonite to water that occurred while drilling for a pipeline replacement project in Cambria County,
Pennsylvania. EQT and EQM immediately addressed the releases and fully cooperated with the PADEP. In October 2016, EQM acquired the AVC facilities from
EQT, including any future obligations related to these releases. In February 2017, EQM received a proposed consent assessment of civil penalty from the PADEP
that proposed a civil penalty related to the NOVs. While the PADEP's claims may result in penalties that exceed $100,000, EQM expects that the resolution of this
matter will not have a material impact on its financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or ability to make distributions.
EQM has received a number of other NOVs from environmental agencies in some of the states in which EQM operates alleging various violations of oil
and gas, air, water and waste regulations. EQM has responded to these NOVs and has, where applicable, substantially corrected or remediated the activities in
question. EQM disputes the facts alleged in a number of the NOVs and cannot predict with certainty whether any or all of these NOVs will result in penalties. If
penalties are imposed, an individual penalty or the aggregate of these penalties could result in monetary sanctions in excess of $100,000.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
EQM's common units are listed on the NYSE under the symbol "EQM." The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices reflected in the NYSE
Composite Transactions of the common units, as reported by the NYSE, as well as the amount of cash distributions declared per quarter for 2017 and 2016 .
Common Unit Data by Quarter
2017

2016

Unit Price Range

Distributions

Unit Price Range

Distributions

per Common
High

1st Quarter

$

82.99

Low
$

73.76

per Common

Unit
$

High
0.85

$

77.70

Low
$

57.88

2nd Quarter

79.93

69.28

0.89

80.63

69.22

3rd Quarter

78.75

71.75

0.935

80.58

74.49

4th Quarter

$

77.42

$

64.42

$

0.98

$

78.78

$

69.20

Unit
$

0.71
0.745
0.78

$

0.815

As of January 31, 2018 , there were three unitholders of record of EQM's common units. A cash distribution of $1.025 per common unit was declared on
January 18, 2018 and was paid on February 14, 2018 to unitholders of record at the close of business on February 2, 2018 .
As of December 31, 2017 , EQM had also issued 1,443,015 general partner units for which there is no established public trading market. The general
partner units are owned by EQGP. See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," of this
Form 10-K for information on the significant provisions of EQM's partnership agreement that relate to distributions of available cash, minimum quarterly
distributions and IDRs.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Market Repurchases
EQM did not repurchase any of its common units during 2017 .
Equity Compensation Plans
The information relating to EQM's equity compensation plans required by Item 5 is included in Item 12, "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters" of this Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" and Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this Form 10-K.
EQM's consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively recast for all periods presented to include the historical results of AVC, Rager, the
Gathering Assets, NWV Gathering, Jupiter and Sunrise as these were businesses and the acquisitions were transactions between entities under common control.
The selected financial data covering the periods prior to the October 2016 Acquisition, prior to the NWV Gathering Acquisition, prior to the Jupiter Acquisition
and prior to the Sunrise Merger may not necessarily be indicative of the actual results of operations had AVC, Rager, the Gathering Assets, NWV Gathering,
Jupiter and Sunrise been operated together during those periods.
As of and for the Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

Statements of Consolidated Operations
Operating revenues

2014

2013

(Thousands, except per share amounts)

$

Operating income
Net income

2015

834,096

$

580,708

735,614

$

526,949

632,936

$

451,036

489,218

$

332,595

362,810
248,628

$

571,904

$

537,954

$

455,126

$

284,816

$

191,653

$

5.19

$

5.21

$

4.71

$

3.53

$

2.47

$

3.655

$

3.05

$

2.505

$

2.02

$

1.55

Total assets

$

3,548,827

$

3,075,840

$

2,833,358

$

1,943,366

$

1,437,680

Long-term debt

$

1,167,352

$

985,732

$

493,401

$

492,633

$

—

Net income per limited partner unit (a)
Basic
Diluted
Cash distributions paid per limited partner unit

5.19

5.21

4.70

3.52

2.46

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(a) Net income attributable to AVC, Rager and the Gathering Assets for periods prior to October 1, 2016, net income attributable to NWV Gathering for
periods prior to March 17, 2015, net income attributable to Jupiter for periods prior to May 7, 2014 and net income attributable to Sunrise for periods prior
to July 22, 2013 were not allocated to the limited partners for purposes of calculating net income per limited partner unit. See Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for further discussion.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
You should read the following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements, and the notes thereto, included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Executive Overview
EQM reported net income of $571.9 million in 2017 compared with $538.0 million in 2016 . The increase primarily resulted from higher revenues from
both gathering and transmission, which were driven mainly by affiliate and third party production development in the Marcellus Shale, and lower income taxes,
partly offset by an increase in operating expenses, higher net interest expense and lower other income.
EQM reported net income of $538.0 million in 2016 compared with $455.1 million in 2015 . The increase primarily resulted from higher revenues from
both gathering and transmission, which were primarily driven by affiliate production development in the Marcellus Shale, higher other income and lower net
interest expense. These items were partly offset by higher income taxes and an increase in operating expenses, consistent with the growth of the business.
EQM declared a cash distribution to its unitholders of $1.025 per unit on January 18, 2018 , which was 5% higher than the third quarter 2017 distribution
of $0.98 per unit and 21% higher than the fourth quarter 2016 distribution of $0.85 per unit. Total distributions related to 2017 were $3.83 per unit compared to
$3.19 per unit total distributions related to 2016 , a 20% increase.
Business Segment Results
Operating segments are revenue-producing components of the enterprise for which separate financial information is produced internally and is subject to
evaluation by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources. Other income and net interest expense are managed on a consolidated basis.
EQM has presented each segment's operating income and various operational measures in the following sections. Management believes that the presentation of this
information provides useful information to management and investors regarding the financial condition, results of operations and trends of segments. EQM has
reconciled each segment's operating income to EQM's consolidated operating income and net income in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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GATHERING RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31,

2017

%
change
2017 –
2016

2016

FINANCIAL DATA

%
change
2016 2015

2015

(Thousands, other than per day amounts)

Firm reservation fee revenues

$

407,355

$

339,237

20.1

$

267,517

26.8

Volumetric based fee revenues:
Usage fees under firm contracts (a)

32,206

38,408

(16.1)

33,021

16.3

Usage fees under interruptible contracts

14,975

19,849

(24.6)

34,567

(42.6)

Total volumetric based fee revenues

47,181

58,257

(19.0)

67,588

(13.8)

454,536

397,494

14.4

335,105

18.6

Operating and maintenance

43,235

38,367

12.7

37,011

3.7

Selling, general and administrative

38,942

39,678

(1.9)

30,477

30.2

Total operating revenues
Operating expenses:

Depreciation and amortization

38,796

30,422

27.5

24,360

24.9

Total operating expenses

120,973

108,467

11.5

91,848

18.1

289,027

15.4

243,257

18.8

1,553

17.6

1,140

36.2

Operating income

$

333,563

$

$

OPERATIONAL DATA
Gathering volumes (BBtu per day)
Firm capacity reservation
Volumetric based services

1,826
(b)

Total gathered volumes
Capital expenditures

$

361

420

2,187

1,973

196,871

$

295,315

(14.0)

485

10.8
(33.3)

$

(13.4)

1,625

21.4

225,537

30.9

(a) Includes fees on volumes gathered in excess of firm contracted capacity.
(b) Includes volumes gathered under interruptible contracts and volumes gathered in excess of firm contracted capacity.
Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2016
Gathering revenues increased by $57.0 million driven by third party and affiliate production development in the Marcellus Shale. EQM increased firm
reservation fee revenues in 2017 compared to 2016 as a result of third parties and affiliates contracting for additional firm gathering capacity, which increased firm
gathering capacity by approximately 475 MMcf per day following the completion of the Range Resources header pipeline project and various affiliate wellhead
gathering expansion projects. The decrease in usage fees under firm contracts was due to lower affiliate volumes in excess of firm contracted capacity. The
decrease in usage fees under interruptible contracts was primarily due to the additional contracts for firm capacity.
Operating expenses increased by $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 . Operating and
maintenance expense increased primarily as a result of higher personnel costs and increased property taxes. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased
primarily due to lower corporate allocations from EQT as a result of EQT’s shift in focus during 2017 from midstream drop-down transactions to upstream asset
and corporate acquisition projects partly offset by increased miscellaneous administrative costs. Depreciation and amortization expense increased $8.4 million due
to additional assets placed in-service including those associated with the Range Resources header pipeline project and various affiliate wellhead gathering
expansion projects.
Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2015
Gathering revenues increased by $62.4 million primarily as a result of higher affiliate and third party volumes gathered in 2016 compared to 2015 , driven
by production development in the Marcellus Shale. EQM increased firm reservation fee
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revenues in 2016 compared to 2015 as a result of affiliates and third parties contracting for additional capacity under firm contracts, which resulted in increased
firm gathering capacity of approximately 300 MMcf per day following the completion of the NWV Gathering and Jupiter expansion projects in the fourth quarter
of 2015. The decrease in usage fees under interruptible contracts was primarily due to these additional contracts for firm capacity.
Operating expenses increased by $16.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 . Selling, general
and administrative expenses increased as a result of higher allocations and personnel costs from EQT. The increase in depreciation and amortization expense
resulted from additional assets placed in-service, including those associated with the NWV Gathering and Jupiter expansion projects.
TRANSMISSION RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31,

2017

%
change
2017 –
2016

2016

FINANCIAL DATA

%
change
2016 2015

2015

(Thousands, other than per day amounts)

Firm reservation fee revenues

$

348,193

$

277,816

25.3
(69.9)

$

247,231

12.4

42,646

7.1

Volumetric based fee revenues:
Usage fees under firm contracts (a)

13,743

45,679

Usage fees under interruptible contracts

17,624

14,625

20.5

7,954

83.9

Total volumetric based fee revenues

31,367

60,304

(48.0)

50,600

19.2

379,560

338,120

12.3

297,831

13.5

Operating and maintenance

41,482

34,846

19.0

33,092

5.3

Selling, general and administrative

32,244

33,083

(2.5)

31,425

5.3

Depreciation and amortization

58,689

32,269

81.9

25,535

26.4

100,198

32.2

90,052

11.3

237,922

3.9

207,779

14.5

1,651

45.3

Total operating revenues
Operating expenses:

Total operating expenses
Operating income

132,415
$

247,145

$

$

OPERATIONAL DATA
Transmission pipeline throughput (BBtu per day)
Firm capacity reservation
Volumetric based services

2,399
(b)

Total transmission pipeline throughput
Average contracted firm transmission reservation
commitments (BBtu per day)
Capital expenditures

$

1,841

37

430

2,436

2,081

17.1

2,122

(1.9)

3,627

2,814

28.9

2,624

7.2

203,706

43.4

111,102

$

292,049

(91.4)

(10.3)

(62.0)

281

$

53.0

(a) Includes commodity charges and fees on all volumes transported under firm contracts as well as transmission fees on volumes in excess of firm
contracted capacity.
(b) Includes volumes transported under interruptible contracts and volumes transported in excess of firm contracted capacity.
Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2016
Total operating revenues increased by $41.4 million . Firm reservation fee revenues increased due to affiliates and third parties contracting for additional
firm capacity, primarily on the OVC, as well as higher contractual rates on existing contracts in the current year. The firm capacity on the OVC resulted in lower
affiliate usage fees under firm contracts. The increase in
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usage fees under interruptible contracts includes increased storage and parking revenue, which does not have pipeline throughput associated with it, partly offset by
reduced throughput on interruptible contracts.
Operating expenses increased by $32.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 . Operating and
maintenance expense increased primarily due to property taxes on the OVC and higher personnel costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased
primarily due to lower corporate allocations from EQT as a result of EQT’s shift in focus during 2017 from midstream drop-down transactions to upstream asset
and corporate acquisition projects. The increase in depreciation and amortization expense was the result of the OVC project placed in-service in the fourth quarter
of 2016 and a non-cash charge to depreciation and amortization expense of $10.5 million related to the revaluation of differences between the regulatory and tax
bases in EQM’s regulated property, plant and equipment. The related regulatory liability will be amortized over the estimated useful life of the underlying property
which is 43 years.
Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2015
Total operating revenues increased by $40.3 million . Firm reservation fee revenues increased due to affiliates contracting for additional capacity under
firm contracts, primarily on the OVC, as well as higher contractual rates on existing contracts in 2016. Higher usage fees under firm contracts were driven by an
increase in affiliate volumes in excess of firm capacity associated with increased production development in the Marcellus Shale, partly offset by lower usage fees
from third party producers which is reflected in reduced firm capacity reservation throughput for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2015. These volumes also decreased as a result of warmer weather in the first quarter of 2016. This decrease in transported volumes did not have a
significant impact on firm reservation fee revenues. Usage fees under interruptible contracts for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased as a result of higher
third party volumes transported or stored on an interruptible basis.
Operating expenses increased $10.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 . The increase in
operating and maintenance expense resulted primarily from higher repairs and maintenance expenses associated with increased throughput. Selling, general and
administrative expenses increased primarily as a result of higher allocations and personnel costs from EQT. The increase in depreciation and amortization expense
was primarily a result of higher depreciation on the increased investment in transmission infrastructure, including those associated with the OVC and the AVC
facilities.
Other Income Statement Items
In conjunction with the October 2016 Acquisition discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the operating agreement of EES was
amended to provide for mandatory redemption of the Preferred Interest at the end of the preference period, which is expected to be December 31, 2034. As a result
of this amendment, the accounting for EQM's investment in EES converted from a cost method investment to a note receivable effective October 1, 2016. This
conversion did not impact the carrying value of this instrument; however, distributions from EES subsequent to the amendment are recorded partly as interest
income and partly as a reduction in the note receivable. This change decreased the amount of other income recognized and increased interest income in 2017.
Other income decreased by $10.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily driven by
decreased AFUDC - equity of $14.3 million associated with the OVC project placed in-service in the fourth quarter of 2016 and distributions from EES of $8.3
million which were recorded as other income in 2016 prior to the conversion to a note receivable, partly offset by higher equity income related to EQM's portion of
the MVP Joint Venture's AFUDC on the MVP. Other income increased by $29.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2015 primarily driven by increased AFUDC - equity of $13.1 million mainly attributable to increased spending on the OVC project, distributions
from EES of $8.3 million that were recorded as other income in 2016 and higher equity income related to EQM's portion of the MVP Joint Venture's AFUDC on
the MVP.
Net interest expense increased by $19.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily driven
by higher interest incurred on EQM's long-term debt issued in November 2016 of $17.4 million, lower capitalized interest and AFUDC - debt of $5.3 million
associated with decreased spending on capital projects and increased interest on EQM's credit facility borrowings, partly offset by increased interest income
recorded on distributions from EES of $5.1 million . Net interest expense decreased by $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2015 primarily driven by higher capitalized interest and AFUDC - debt of $3.8 million associated with increased spending primarily on the
OVC, decreased interest expense of $2.8 million on lower credit facility borrowings and interest income subsequent to the Preferred Interest conversion to a note
receivable. The items which decreased net interest expense were partly offset by interest incurred on the long-term debt issued in November 2016.
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See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for discussion of income tax expense
(benefit).
See "Investing Activities" and "Capital Requirements" in the "Capital Resources and Liquidity" section below for a discussion of capital expenditures.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow are non-GAAP supplemental financial measures that management and external users of EQM's
consolidated financial statements, such as industry analysts, investors, lenders and rating agencies, use to assess:
•
•
•
•

EQM's operating performance as compared to other publicly traded partnerships in the midstream energy industry without regard to historical cost
basis or, in the case of adjusted EBITDA, financing methods;
the ability of EQM's assets to generate sufficient cash flow to make distributions to EQM's unitholders;
EQM's ability to incur and service debt and fund capital expenditures; and
the viability of acquisitions and other capital expenditure projects and the returns on investment of various investment opportunities.

EQM believes that adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow provide useful information to investors in assessing its financial condition and results of
operations. Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow should not be considered as alternatives to net income, operating income, net cash provided by operating
activities or any other measure of financial performance or liquidity presented in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow have
important limitations as analytical tools because they exclude some, but not all, items that affect net income and net cash provided by operating activities.
Additionally, because adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow may be defined differently by other companies in its industry, EQM's adjusted EBITDA and
distributable cash flow may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, thereby diminishing the utility of the measures. Distributable cash
flow should not be viewed as indicative of the actual amount of cash that EQM has available for distributions from operating surplus or that it plans to distribute.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures
The following table presents a reconciliation of EQM's non-GAAP financial measures of adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow with the most
directly comparable EQM GAAP financial measures of net income and net cash provided by operating activities.
Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

Net income

$

571,904

$

537,954

$

455,126

Add:
Net interest expense

36,181

16,766

Depreciation and amortization expense

97,485

62,691

49,895

—

10,147

(16,741)

10,984

2,764

—

225

195

1,467

Income tax expense (benefit)
Preferred Interest payments received post conversion (a)
Non-cash long-term compensation expense

21,345

Less:
Equity income
AFUDC – equity

(22,171)

(9,898)

(5,110)

(19,402)

(6,327)

(17,186)

(22,059)

Pre-acquisition capital lease payments for AVC (b)

—

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to NWV Gathering prior to acquisition (c)

—

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to the October 2016 Acquisition prior to acquisition (d)

—
$

Adjusted EBITDA

689,498

(2,367)

—

(19,841)

(11,420)
$

572,611

(11,483)
$

449,015

Less:
Net interest expense excluding interest income on the Preferred Interest
Capitalized interest and AFUDC – debt (e)
Ongoing maintenance capital expenditures net of reimbursements

(f)

(42,999)

(18,506)

(4,120)

(9,400)

(27,609)

(22,436)
—

(21,434)

(20,099)

Distributable cash flow

$

614,770

$

523,271

$

406,480

Net cash provided by operating activities

$

650,550

$

537,904

$

489,706

Adjustments:
Pre-acquisition capital lease payments for AVC (b)

—

Capitalized interest and AFUDC – debt (e)
Principal payments received on the Preferred Interest
Ongoing maintenance capital expenditures net of reimbursements

(f)

(17,186)
(9,400)

—

4,166

1,024

—

(27,609)

(21,434)

Current tax expense

—

1,373

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to NWV Gathering prior to acquisition (c)

—

—

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to the October 2016 Acquisition prior to acquisition (d)

—

Other, including changes in working capital

(8,217)
$

Distributable cash flow

(22,059)

(4,120)

614,770

$

(20,099)
13,945
(19,841)

(11,420)

(11,483)

42,410

(23,689)

523,271

$

406,480

(a) In conjunction with the October 2016 Acquisition, the operating agreement of EES was amended and the accounting for EQM's Preferred Interest in EES
converted from a cost method investment to a note receivable effective October 1, 2016. There were no changes in the cash payments; however,
distributions from EES subsequent to this amendment were recorded partly as a reduction in the note receivable and partly as interest income, which is
included in net interest expense in the accompanying statements of consolidated operations. Distributions received from EES prior to this amendment in
2016 were included in other income in the accompanying statements of consolidated operations.
(b) Reflects capital lease payments due under the lease. These lease payments were generally made monthly on a one month lag prior to the October 2016
Acquisition.
53

Table of Contents
(c) Adjusted EBITDA attributable to NWV Gathering prior to acquisition for the periods presented was excluded from EQM's adjusted EBITDA calculations
as these amounts were generated by NWV Gathering prior to acquisition by EQM; therefore, the amounts could not have been distributed to EQM's
unitholders. Adjusted EBITDA attributable to NWV Gathering prior to acquisition for the year ended December 31, 2015 was calculated as net income of
$11.1 million plus depreciation and amortization expense of $2.0 million plus income tax expense of $6.7 million.
(d) Adjusted EBITDA attributable to the October 2016 Acquisition prior to acquisition for the periods presented was excluded from EQM's adjusted EBITDA
calculations as these amounts were generated by AVC, Rager and the Gathering Assets prior to acquisition by EQM; therefore, the amounts could not
have been distributed to EQM's unitholders. Adjusted EBITDA attributable to the October 2016 Acquisition prior to acquisition for the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015 was calculated as net income of $1.3 million and $34.2 million, respectively, plus depreciation and amortization expense of
$2.1 million and $2.5 million, respectively, plus income tax expense (benefit) of $10.1 million and $(23.4 million), respectively, less interest income of
$0.5 million and $1.1 million, respectively, less AFUDC - equity of $1.6 million and $0.7 million, respectively.
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to AVC, excluding income tax expense and AFUDC - equity, was previously included in EQM's results as a result of the
capital lease and was eliminated from adjusted EBITDA by subtracting the capital lease payment; therefore, there is no adjustment for AVC's adjusted
EBITDA prior to acquisition other than the capital lease payments, income tax expense and AFUDC - equity. Net income for AVC including decreased
depreciation expense related to the 40 year useful life of the pipeline was $20.6 million and $27.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and
2015, respectively (see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).
(e) As a result of increased significance of capitalized interest and AFUDC - debt in 2016, this line item was added as an adjustment to the calculation of
distributable cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2016. Had distributable cash flow been calculated on a consistent basis, it would have been $5.6
million lower for the year ended December 31, 2015 than the amount presented herein.
(f) Ongoing maintenance capital expenditures are expenditures (including expenditures for the construction or development of new capital assets or the
replacement, improvement or expansion of existing capital assets) made to maintain, over the long term, EQM's operating capacity or operating income.
EQT has reimbursement obligations to EQM for certain maintenance capital expenditures under the terms of the EQM omnibus agreement. For further
explanation of these reimbursable maintenance capital expenditures, see "Capital Requirements." For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 ,
ongoing maintenance capital expenditures net of reimbursements excludes ongoing maintenance of $6.5 million and $9.8 million , respectively,
attributable to AVC, Rager, the Gathering Assets and NWV Gathering prior to acquisition.
See "Executive Overview" for a discussion of EQM's net income, the GAAP financial measure most directly comparable to adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted
EBITDA increased by $116.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 and $123.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 , in each case, primarily as a result of higher operating income on increased revenues driven by
production development in the Marcellus Shale and the acquisitions for each period, which resulted in EBITDA subsequent to the transaction being reflected in
adjusted EBITDA, including the elimination of the AVC lease payment. For the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015,
distributions from EES also contributed to the increase.
Net cash provided by operating activities, the GAAP financial measure most directly comparable to distributable cash flow, increased by $112.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 and $48.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2015 as discussed in "Capital Resources and Liquidity." Distributable cash flow increased by $91.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 and $116.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2015 , in each case, mainly attributable to the increase in adjusted EBITDA. For the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2016, the increase in adjusted EBITDA was partly offset by increased net interest expense excluding interest income on the Preferred Interest and
ongoing maintenance capital expenditures net of reimbursements.
Outlook
EQM's principal business objective is to increase the quarterly cash distributions that it pays to its unitholders over time while ensuring the ongoing
growth of its business. EQM believes that it is well positioned to achieve growth based on its
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strategically located assets, which cover portions of the Marcellus, Upper Devonian and Utica Shales that lack substantial natural gas pipeline infrastructure. EQM
believes it has a competitive advantage in pursuing economically attractive organic expansion projects in its areas of operations, which EQM believes will be a key
driver of growth in the future. EQM is also currently pursuing organic growth projects that are expected to provide access to markets in the Gulf Coast and
Southeast regions. Additionally, EQM may acquire additional midstream assets from EQT or pursue asset acquisitions from third parties. Should EQT choose to
sell midstream assets, it is under no contractual obligation to offer the assets to EQM.
EQM expects that the following expansion projects will allow it to capitalize on drilling activity by EQT and third party producers:
•

Mountain Valley Pipeline . The MVP Joint Venture is a joint venture with affiliates of each of NextEra Energy, Inc., Consolidated Edison, Inc., WGL
Holdings, Inc. and RGC Resources, Inc. EQM is the operator of the MVP and owned a 45.5% interest in the MVP Joint Venture as of December 31,
2017. The 42 inch diameter MVP has a targeted capacity of 2.0 Bcf per day and is estimated to span 300 miles extending from EQM's existing
transmission and storage system in Wetzel County, West Virginia to Pittsylvania County, Virginia, providing access to the growing Southeast
demand markets. As currently designed, the MVP is estimated to cost a total of approximately $3.5 billion, excluding AFUDC, with EQM funding its
proportionate share through capital contributions made to the joint venture. In 2018, EQM expects to provide capital contributions of $1.0 billion to
$1.2 billion to the MVP Joint Venture. The MVP Joint Venture has secured a total of 2.0 Bcf per day of firm capacity commitments at 20-year terms,
including a 1.29 Bcf per day firm capacity commitment by EQT, and is currently in negotiation with additional shippers who have expressed interest
in the MVP project. On October 13, 2017, the FERC issued the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity for the project. In early 2018, the
MVP Joint Venture received limited notice to proceed with certain construction activities from the FERC. The MVP Joint Venture plans to
commence construction in the first quarter of 2018. The pipeline is targeted to be placed in-service during the fourth quarter of 2018.

•

Affiliate Wellhead Gathering Expansion. In 2018, EQM estimates capital expenditures of approximately $300 million on gathering expansion
projects, primarily driven by affiliate wellhead and header projects in Pennsylvania and West Virginia, including commencing preliminary
construction activities on the Hammerhead project, a 1.2 Bcf per day gathering header pipeline connecting Pennsylvania and West Virginia
production to the MVP.

•

Transmission Expansion . In 2018, EQM estimates capital expenditures of approximately $100 million for other transmission expansion projects,
primarily attributable to the Equitrans Expansion project. The Equitrans Expansion project is designed to provide north-to-south capacity on the
mainline Equitrans system for deliveries to the MVP.

See further discussion of capital expenditures in the "Capital Requirements" section below.
Rice Transaction . On November 13, 2017, EQT closed its previously announced transaction to acquire Rice. As part of the transaction, EQT acquired
certain midstream assets previously owned by Rice. EQT announced that it intends to sell these midstream assets to EQM through one or more drop-down
transactions. In addition to the potential drop-down opportunities, EQM expects to benefit from increased organic growth opportunities due to the combination of
the EQT and Rice acreage positions. However, EQT is under no obligation to make such opportunities available to EQM.
Committee to Address Sum-of-the-Parts Discount . EQT has announced that its board of directors has formed a committee to evaluate options for
addressing EQT’s sum-of-the-parts discount. EQT’s board will announce a decision by the end of March 2018, after considering the committee’s recommendation.
Capital Resources and Liquidity
EQM's principal liquidity requirements are to finance its operations, fund capital expenditures, potential acquisitions and capital contributions to the MVP
Joint Venture, make cash distributions and satisfy any indebtedness obligations. EQM's ability to meet these liquidity requirements will depend on its ability to
generate cash in the future as well as its ability to raise capital in banking, capital and other markets. EQM's available sources of liquidity include cash generated
from operations, borrowing under EQM's credit facilities, cash on hand, debt offerings and issuances of additional EQM partnership units.
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Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was $650.6 million for 2017 as compared to $537.9 million for 2016 . The increase was driven by higher
operating income for which the contributing factors are discussed in the "Executive Overview" and "Business Segment Results of Operations" sections herein and
the timing of payments between the two periods, partly offset by increased interest as discussed in the "Other Income Statement Items" section herein.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $537.9 million for 2016 as compared to $489.7 million for 2015 . The increase was driven by higher
operating income for which the contributing factors are discussed in the "Executive Overview" and "Business Segment Results of Operations" sections herein,
distributions from EES of approximately $11 million and lower net interest expense as discussed in the "Other Income Statement Items" section herein, partly
offset by the timing of payments between the two periods.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities totaled $457.0 million for 2017 as compared to $732.0 million for 2016 . The decrease was primarily attributable to
decreased capital expenditures as further described in the "Capital Requirements" section herein and net assets acquired from EQT in 2016 of $62.4 million in
2016, partly offset by increased capital contributions to the MVP Joint Venture in 2017 and sales of interest in the MVP Joint Venture in 2016.
Net cash used in investing activities totaled $732.0 million for 2016 as compared to $1,043.8 million for 2015 . The decrease was primarily attributable to
lower net assets acquired from EQT in 2016 as compared to 2015. In 2015, EQM acquired $386.8 million of net assets in the NWV Gathering Acquisition as well
as the $124.3 million Preferred Interest from EQT compared to $62.4 million of net assets in the October 2016 Acquisition. This decrease was partly offset by
increased capital expenditures as further described in the "Capital Requirements" section herein.
Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities totaled $251.4 million for 2017 as compared to $106.5 million for 2016 . For 2017 , the primary use of financing cash
flows was distributions paid to unitholders and the primary source of financing cash flows was net borrowings on EQM's credit facilities. For 2016 , the primary
uses of financing cash flows were distributions paid to unitholders, net repayments on EQM's credit facility and the October 2016 Acquisition. For 2016 , the
primary sources of financing cash flows were from EQM debt and equity offerings.
Net cash used in financing activities totaled $106.5 million for 2016 as compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $779.5 million for 2015 .
For 2015 , the primary sources of financing cash flows were EQM equity offerings and net borrowings on EQM's credit facility and the primary uses of financing
cash flows were the NWV Gathering Acquisition in excess of net assets acquired and distributions paid to unitholders.
Capital Requirements
The gathering, transmission and storage businesses are capital intensive, requiring significant investment to develop new facilities and to maintain and
upgrade existing operations.
Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

Expansion capital expenditures (a)

$

264,645

$

558,071

$

388,442

Maintenance capital expenditures:
Ongoing maintenance
Funded regulatory compliance
Total maintenance capital expenditures
Total capital expenditures
Plus: accrued capital expenditures at the end of prior period (b)
Less: accrued capital expenditures at the end of current period (b)
Less: other non-cash items (c)

43,072

28,498

37,422

256

795

3,379

43,328

29,293

40,801

307,973

587,364

429,243

26,678

24,133

53,016

(33,067)

(26,678)

(24,133)

—

Total cash capital expenditures

$
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301,584

—
$

584,819

(70)
$

458,056
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(a) Expansion capital expenditures do not include capital contributions made to the MVP Joint Venture of $159.6 million and $98.4 million for the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively. In 2015, EQM paid $84.4 million for its acquisition of EQT's ownership interest in the MVP Joint
Venture and subsequent capital contributions to the MVP Joint Venture.
(b) EQM accrues capital expenditures when work has been completed but the associated bills have not yet been paid. These accrued amounts are
excluded from capital expenditures on the consolidated statements of cash flows until they are paid in a subsequent period.
(c) EQM capitalizes certain labor overhead costs which include a portion of non-cash equity-based compensation.
Expansion capital expenditures are expenditures incurred for capital improvements that EQM expects to increase its operating income or operating
capacity over the long term. In 2017, expansion capital expenditures primarily related to the following projects: affiliate wellhead gathering expansion projects, the
Range Resources header pipeline project and the AVC expansion project. In 2016, expansion capital expenditures primarily related to the following projects: the
OVC, the Range Resources Header Pipeline project, the NWV Gathering expansion and the AVC expansion project. The OVC project was placed in-service during
the fourth quarter of 2016 and the Range Resources Header Pipeline project was placed in-service in several phases beginning in the fourth quarter of 2016 with the
final phase placed in-service during the second quarter of 2017. In 2015, expansion capital expenditures primarily related to the following projects: the OVC, the
Jupiter and NWV Gathering expansions, the Antero Resources Corporation transmission projects and several projects for Range Resources. Significant portions of
these projects were completed in the second half of 2015.
Maintenance capital expenditures are expenditures made to maintain, over the long term, EQM's operating capacity or operating income. Examples of
maintenance capital expenditures are expenditures to repair, refurbish and replace pipelines, to connect new wells to maintain throughput, to maintain equipment
reliability, integrity and safety and to address environmental laws and regulations.
Ongoing maintenance capital expenditures are all maintenance capital expenditures other than funded regulatory compliance capital expenditures
described in the next paragraph. The period over period changes in ongoing maintenance capital expenditures primarily related to the timing of projects primarily
related to bare steel replacement capital expenditures. Included in these amounts for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 were $15.5 million , $0.6
million and $7.5 million , respectively, of maintenance capital expenditures for which EQM was reimbursed by EQT under the terms of the EQM omnibus
agreement. Under the EQM omnibus agreement, for a period of ten years after the closing of EQM's IPO, EQT has agreed to reimburse EQM for plugging and
abandonment expenditures for certain identified wells of EQT and third parties. Additionally, EQT has agreed to reimburse EQM for bare steel replacement capital
expenditures in the event that ongoing maintenance capital expenditures (other than capital expenditures associated with plugging and abandonment liabilities to be
reimbursed by EQT) exceed $17.2 million (with respect to EQM's assets owned at the time of the IPO) in any year. If such ongoing maintenance capital
expenditures and bare steel replacement capital expenditures exceed $17.2 million during a year, EQT will reimburse EQM for the lesser of (i) the amount of bare
steel replacement capital expenditures during such year and (ii) the amount by which such ongoing capital expenditures and bare steel replacement capital
expenditures exceeds $17.2 million. This bare steel replacement reimbursement obligation is capped at an aggregate amount of $31.5 million over the ten years
following EQM's IPO. Since EQM's IPO, EQM has been reimbursed approximately $26.9 million for bare steel replacement capital expenditures by EQT.
Amounts reimbursed are recorded as capital contributions when received.
Funded regulatory compliance capital expenditures are maintenance capital expenditures necessary to comply with certain regulatory and other legal
requirements. Prior to EQM's IPO, EQM identified two specific regulatory compliance initiatives which EQM expected to require it to expend approximately $32
million. EQM retained approximately $32 million from the net proceeds of its IPO to fund these expenditures. The specific initiatives of this program are to install
remote valve and pressure monitoring equipment on EQM's transmission and storage lines and to relocate certain valve operators above ground and apply corrosion
protection. The period over period changes primarily relate to the timing of projects as these two compliance initiatives are substantially complete. Since EQM's
IPO in 2012, funded regulatory compliance capital expenditures have totaled $30.9 million .
In 2018 , capital contributions to the MVP Joint Venture are expected to be $1.0 billion to $1.2 billion, depending on the timing of the construction of the
MVP, expansion capital expenditures are expected to be approximately $400 million and ongoing maintenance capital expenditures are expected to be $35 million
to $40 million, net of reimbursements. EQM's future capital investments may vary significantly from period to period based on the available investment
opportunities and the timing of construction for the MVP. Maintenance related capital expenditures are also expected to vary quarter to quarter. EQM
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expects to fund future capital expenditures primarily through cash on hand, cash generated from operations, availability under its credit facilities, debt offerings and
issuances of additional EQM partnership units. EQM does not forecast capital expenditures associated with potential projects not committed as of the filing of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Credit Facility Borrowings
See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for discussion of EQM's credit facilities.
Security Ratings
The table below sets forth the credit ratings for debt instruments of EQM at December 31, 2017 .
Rating Service

Senior Notes

Outlook

Ba1

Stable

Standard & Poor's Ratings Services (S&P)

BBB-

Stable

Fitch Ratings (Fitch)

BBB-

Stable

Moody's Investors Service (Moody's)

EQM's credit ratings are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization and each rating should be evaluated
independently of any other rating. EQM cannot ensure that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered or
withdrawn entirely by a credit rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. If any credit rating agency downgrades EQM's ratings, EQM's access to
the capital markets may be limited, borrowing costs could increase, EQM may be required to provide additional credit assurances in support of commercial
agreements such as joint venture agreements and construction contracts, the amount of which may be substantial, and the potential pool of investors and funding
sources may decrease. In order to be considered investment grade, a company must be rated Baa3 or higher by Moody's, BBB- or higher by S&P, or BBB- or
higher by Fitch. Anything below these ratings, including EQM's current credit rating of Ba1 by Moody's, is considered non-investment grade.
$750 Million ATM Program
As of February 15, 2018 , EQM had approximately $443 million in remaining capacity under the $750 Million ATM Program.
Distributions
See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for discussion of distributions.
Schedule of Contractual Obligations
The following represents EQM's contractual obligations as of December 31, 2017 . Purchase obligations exclude EQM's future capital contributions to the
MVP Joint Venture and purchase obligations of the MVP Joint Venture.
Total

2018

2019-2020

2021-2022

2023+

(Thousands)
Long-term debt

$

1,000,000

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

1,000,000

Credit facility borrowings (a)

180,000

—

—

180,000

—

Interest payments on senior notes (b)

315,573

40,625

81,250

81,250

112,448

Purchase obligations
Total contractual obligations

49,504
$

1,545,077

49,504
$

90,129

—
$

81,250

—
$

261,250

—
$

(a) Credit facility borrowings were classified based on the termination date of the amended and restated credit facility agreement.
(b) Interest payments exclude interest related to the credit facility borrowings as the interest rate on the credit facility agreement is variable.
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Commitments and Contingencies
In the ordinary course of business, various legal and regulatory claims and proceedings are pending or threatened against EQM. While the amounts
claimed may be substantial, EQM is unable to predict with certainty the ultimate outcome of such claims and proceedings. EQM accrues legal and other direct
costs related to loss contingencies when actually incurred. EQM has established reserves it believes to be appropriate for pending matters, and after consultation
with counsel and giving appropriate consideration to available insurance, EQM believes that the ultimate outcome of any matter currently pending against it will
not materially affect its business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or ability to make distributions.
See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of EQM's
commitments and contingencies.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for discussion of the MVP Joint Venture
guarantee.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
EQM's recently issued accounting standards are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
EQM's significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The discussion and analysis of the consolidated financial statements and results of operations are based upon EQM's consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The following
critical accounting policies, which were reviewed by EQM's Audit Committee, relate to its more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of its
consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Property, Plant and Equipment. Determination of depreciation expense requires judgment regarding the estimated useful lives and salvage values of
property, plant and equipment. EQM has not historically experienced material changes in its results of operations from changes in the estimated useful lives or
salvage values of property, plant and equipment although these estimates are reviewed periodically, including each time EQM files with the FERC for a change in
transmission and storage rates. Determination of internal costs capitalized requires judgment as to the percent of time spent on capitalized projects for the
capitalization of costs such as salaries, benefits and other indirect costs. EQM believes that the accounting estimates related to depreciation expense and
capitalization of internal costs are "critical accounting estimates" because they are susceptible to change period to period. These assumptions affect the gross
property, plant and equipment balances and the amount of depreciation and operating expense and would have an impact on the results of operations and financial
position if changed. See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Impairments. Any accounting estimate related to impairment of property, plant and equipment or an investment in an unconsolidated entity requires
EQM's management to make assumptions about future cash flows, discount rates, fair value of investments and whether losses in the value of its investments are
other than temporary. Management's assumptions about future cash flows require significant judgment because actual operating levels have fluctuated in the past
and are expected to do so in the future. Additionally, management's assumptions about the fair value of its investment in an unconsolidated entity requires
significant judgment because EQM's investment is not traded on an active market. EQM has not historically had indications of impairments. However, EQM
believes that the accounting estimates related to impairments are "critical accounting estimates" because they require assumptions that are susceptible to change
period to period. Any potential impairment would have an impact on the results of operations and financial position. See Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements for additional information.
Allocated General and Administrative Costs. General and administrative and operating and maintenance costs are allocated to EQT's business units,
including EQM's segments, based upon the nature of the expenses. Costs that are directly related to EQM are directly charged to EQM. Other costs are allocated
based on operational and financial metrics. Allocations
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are based on estimates and assumptions that management believes are reasonable; however, EQM believes that the accounting estimates related to allocated costs
are "critical accounting estimates" because different estimates and assumptions would change the amounts allocated to EQM and those differences could be
material. These assumptions affect the amount of general and administrative and operating expense and would have an impact on the results of operations if
changed.
Regulatory Accounting. Determination and application of regulatory accounting requires judgment regarding probability that certain expenses and income
will be allowed in the rate setting process in a period different from the period in which they would have been reflected in the statements of consolidated operations
for a non-regulated entity. EQM has not historically experienced material changes in its results of operations from changes in regulatory accounting although these
estimates are reviewed periodically, including each time EQM files with the FERC for a change in transmission and storage rates. EQM believes that the
accounting estimates related to regulatory accounting are "critical accounting estimates" because they are susceptible to change period to period. These
assumptions affect the gross regulatory assets and liabilities and the amount of regulated operating revenues and expenses and would have an impact on the results
of operations and financial position if changed. See Note 1 and Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Contingencies. EQM is involved in various regulatory and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. A liability is recorded for
contingencies based upon EQM's assessment that a loss is probable and that the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. EQM considers many factors in
making these assessments, including the history and specifics of each matter. Estimates are developed in consultation with legal counsel and are based upon an
analysis of potential results. EQM believes that the accounting estimates related to contingencies are "critical accounting estimates" because it must assess the
probability and amount of loss related to contingencies. Future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the assumptions.
Revenue Recognition. Revenue from the gathering of natural gas is generally recognized when the service is provided. Revenue related to gathering
services provided but not yet billed is estimated each month. These estimates are generally based on contract data and preliminary throughput and allocation
measurements. Final bills for the current month are billed and collected in the following month. See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for additional
information.
EQM records a monthly provision for accounts receivable that are considered to be uncollectible. In order to calculate the appropriate monthly provision,
a historical rate of accounts receivable losses as a percentage of total revenue is utilized. This historical rate is applied to the current revenues on a monthly basis
and is updated periodically based on events that may change the rate, such as a significant change to the natural gas industry or to the economy as a whole.
Management reviews the adequacy of the allowance on a quarterly basis using the assumptions that apply at that time. While EQM has not historically experienced
material bad debt expense, declines in the market price for natural gas combined with the increase in third party customers on EQM's systems may result in a
greater exposure to potential losses than management's current estimates. As of December 31, 2017 , EQM had third party accounts receivable of $28.8 million ,
which is net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.4 million .
EQM believes that the accounting estimates related to revenue recognition are "critical accounting estimates" because estimated volumes are subject to
change based on actual measurements including prior period adjustments. In addition, EQM believes that the accounting estimates related to the allowance for
doubtful accounts receivable are "critical accounting estimates" because the underlying assumptions used for the allowance can change from period to period and
the actual mix of customers and their ability to pay may vary significantly from management's estimates which could impact the collectability of customer
accounts. These accounting estimates could potentially have a material impact on the results of operations and financial position.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk . Changes in interest rates affect the amount of interest EQM earns on cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and the interest
rates EQM pays on borrowings under its credit facilities. EQM's senior notes are fixed rate and thus do not expose EQM to fluctuations in its results of operations
or liquidity from changes in market interest rates. Changes in interest rates do affect the fair value of EQM's fixed rate debt. See Note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements for discussion of EQM's borrowings and Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of fair value measurements. EQM
may from time to time hedge the interest on portions of its borrowings under the credit facilities in order to manage risks associated with floating interest rates.
Credit Risk. EQM is exposed to credit risk which is the risk that EQM may incur a loss if a counterparty fails to perform under a contract. EQM manages
its exposure to credit risk associated with customers through credit analysis, credit approval, credit limits and monitoring procedures. For certain transactions,
EQM may request letters of credit, cash collateral,
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prepayments or guarantees as forms of credit support. EQM's FERC tariffs require tariff customers that do not meet specified credit standards to provide three
months of credit support; however, EQM is exposed to credit risk beyond this three month period when its tariffs do not require its customers to provide additional
credit support. For some of EQM's more recent long-term contracts associated with system expansions, it has entered into negotiated credit agreements that provide
for enhanced forms of credit support if certain credit standards are not met. EQM has historically experienced only minimal credit losses in connection with its
receivables. For the year ended December 31, 2017 , approximately 85% of revenues were from investment grade counterparties. EQM is exposed to the credit risk
of EQT, its largest customer. In connection with EQM's IPO in 2012, EQT guaranteed all payment obligations, up to a maximum of $50 million, due and payable
to Equitrans by EQT Energy, LLC, one of Equitrans' largest customers and a wholly owned subsidiary of EQT. The EQT guaranty will terminate on November 30,
2023 unless terminated earlier by EQT upon 10 days written notice. At December 31, 2017 , EQT's public senior debt had an investment grade credit rating. See
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion regarding EQM's exposure to credit risk.
Commodity Prices . EQM's business is dependent on the continued availability of natural gas production and reserves in its areas of operation. Low prices
for natural gas, including those resulting from regional basis differentials, could adversely affect development of additional reserves and production that is
accessible by EQM's pipeline and storage assets. Lower regional natural gas prices could cause producers to determine in the future that drilling activities in areas
outside of EQM's current areas of operation are strategically more attractive to them. EQT, or third party customers on EQM's systems, may reduce capital
spending in the future based on commodity prices or other factors. Unless EQM is successful in attracting and retaining unaffiliated third party customers, which
accounted for 47% of transmission and storage revenues and 11% of gathering revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017 , its ability to maintain or increase
the capacity subscribed and volumes transported under service arrangements on its transmission and storage system as well as the volumes gathered on its
gathering systems will be dependent on receiving consistent or increasing commitments from EQT. While EQT has dedicated acreage to EQM and has entered into
long-term firm transmission and gathering contracts on EQM's systems, EQT may determine in the future that drilling in EQM's areas of operations is not
economical or that drilling in areas outside of EQM's current areas of operations is strategically more attractive to it. EQT is under no contractual obligation to
continue to develop its acreage dedicated to EQM.
For the year ended December 31, 2017 , approximately 91% of total revenues were derived from firm reservation fees. As a result, EQM believes that
short and medium term declines in volumes of gas produced, gathered, transported or stored on its systems will not have a significant impact on its results of
operations, liquidity, financial position or ability to pay distributions because these firm reservation fees are paid regardless of volumes supplied to the system by
customers. Longer term price declines could have an impact on customer creditworthiness and related ability to pay firm reservation fees under long-term contracts
which could impact EQM's results of operations, liquidity, financial position or ability to pay distributions to its unitholders. Additionally, long term declines in gas
production in EQM's areas of operations would limit EQM's growth potential.
Other Market Risks. EQM's $1 billion credit facility is underwritten by a syndicate of financial institutions, each of which is obligated to fund its pro-rata
portion of any borrowings by EQM. No one lender of the 19 financial institutions in the syndicate holds more than 10% of the facility. EQM's large syndicate
group and relatively low percentage of participation by each lender is expected to limit EQM's exposure to problems or consolidation in the banking industry.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Unitholders of EQT Midstream Partners, LP and the Board of Directors of EQT Midstream Services, LLC
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of EQT Midstream Partners, LP and subsidiaries (the Partnership) as of December 31, 2017 and
2016 , the related statements of consolidated operations, cash flows and equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017 , and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Partnership at December 31, 2017 and 2016 , and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2017 , in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Partnership's internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 , based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 15, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Partnership's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young, LLP
We have served as the Partnership's auditor since 2012.
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
February 15, 2018
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Unitholders of EQT Midstream Partners, LP and the Board of Directors of EQT Midstream Services, LLC
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited EQT Midstream Partners, LP and subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 , based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria).
In our opinion, EQT Midstream Partners, LP and subsidiaries (the Partnership) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2017 , based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance
sheets of the Partnership as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 , the related statements of consolidated operations, cash flows and equity for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2017 and the related notes of the Partnership and our report dated February 15, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
The Partnership's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Partnership's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Ernst & Young, LLP
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
February 15, 2018
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EQT MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONS (a)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands, except per unit amounts)

Operating revenues (b)

$

834,096

$

735,614

$

632,936

Operating expenses:
Operating and maintenance (c)
Selling, general and administrative

(c)

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income

(d)

Net interest expense (e)
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

84,717

73,213

70,103

71,186

72,761

61,902

97,485

62,691

49,895

253,388

208,665

181,900

580,708

526,949

451,036

27,377

37,918

8,694

36,181

16,766

21,345

571,904

548,101

438,385

—

Net income

10,147

(16,741)

$

571,904

$

537,954

$

455,126

$

571,904

$

537,954

$

455,126

Calculation of limited partners' interest in net income:
Net income
Less pre-acquisition income allocated to parent

—

Less general partner interest in net income - general partner units
Less general partner interest in net income - incentive distribution rights

(21,861)

(72,782)

(10,060)

(9,173)

(7,455)

(143,531)

(93,568)

(46,992)

$

418,313

$

413,352

$

327,897

Net income per limited partner unit – basic

$

5.19

$

5.21

$

4.71

Net income per limited partner unit – diluted

$

5.19

$

5.21

$

4.70

Limited partners' interest in net income

Weighted average limited partner units outstanding – basic

80,603

79,367

69,612

Weighted average limited partner units outstanding – diluted

80,603

79,388

69,773

(a) As discussed in Note 2, EQM's consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively recast to include the pre-acquisition results of the Allegheny Valley
Connector, LLC (AVC), Rager Mountain Storage Company LLC (Rager) and certain gathering assets (the Gathering Assets), which were acquired by EQM
effective on October 1, 2016 (the October 2016 Acquisition), and the Northern West Virginia Marcellus gathering system (NWV Gathering), which was
acquired by EQM on March 17, 2015, because these transactions were between entities under common control.
(b) Operating revenues included affiliate revenues from EQT Corporation and subsidiaries (collectively, EQT) of $605.1 million , $551.4 million and $462.4
million for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively. See Note 5.
(c) Operating and maintenance expense included charges from EQT of $40.0 million , $34.2 million and $33.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 ,
2016 and 2015 , respectively. Selling, general and administrative expense included charges from EQT of $67.4 million , $67.3 million and $55.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively. See Note 5.
(d) For the year ended December 31, 2017 , other income included equity income from Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC (MVP Joint Venture) of $22.2 million .
For the year ended December 31, 2016 , other income included distributions received from EQT Energy Supply, LLC (EES) of $8.3 million and equity income
from the MVP Joint Venture of $9.9 million . For the year ended December 31, 2015 , other income included equity income from the MVP Joint Venture of
$2.4 million . See Note 6.
(e) For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 , net interest expense included interest income on the preferred interest (the Preferred Interest) in EES of
$6.8 million and $1.7 million , respectively.
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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EQT MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS (a)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

$

571,904

$

537,954

$

455,126

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Equity income
AFUDC – equity
Non-cash long term compensation expense

97,485

62,691

49,895

—

8,774

(30,686)

(22,171)

(9,898)

(2,367)

(5,110)

(19,402)

(6,327)

225

195

1,467

Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

(8,142)

(2,872)

Accounts payable

4,821

(9,354)

8,470

Due to/from EQT affiliates

3,111

(34,667)

8,633

Other assets and other liabilities

8,427

4,483

6,142

650,550

537,904

489,706

(301,584)

(584,819)

(458,056)

(62,372)

(386,791)

(98,399)

(84,381)

12,533

9,723

Net cash provided by operating activities

(647)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions - net assets from EQT (see Note 2)

—

MVP Interest Acquisition (see Note 2) and capital contributions to the MVP Joint Venture

(159,550)

Sales of interests in the MVP Joint Venture

—

Preferred Interest Acquisition (as defined in Note 2)
Principal payments received on the Preferred Interest (see Note 2)
Net cash used in investing activities

—

—

4,166

1,024

(456,968)

(124,317)
—

(732,033)

(1,043,822)

217,102

1,183,921

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of EQM common units, net of offering costs

—

Acquisitions - purchase price in excess of net assets from EQT (see Note 2)

—

(3,734)

Acquisition of AVC net assets from EQT (see Note 2)

—

(208,894)

Proceeds from credit facility borrowings

524,000

Payments of credit facility borrowings

(344,000)

500,000

Net contributions from (distributions to) EQT

—

20,234

3,052

Discount, debt issuance costs and credit facility origination fees
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

617,000

(1,039,000)

—

Distributions paid to unitholders

—

740,000

Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt
Capital contributions

(486,392)

(318,000)
—
(6,598)

5,884

1,781

(432,188)

(329,471)

(212,262)

(2,257)

(8,580)

—

(251,393)

(106,459)

779,450

(57,811)

(300,588)

225,334

60,368

360,956

135,622

$

2,557

$

60,368

$

360,956

$

41,958

$

13,899

$

19,606

$

12,411

$

(5,283)

$

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest, net of amount capitalized
Non-cash activity during the year:
Increase (decrease) in capital contribution receivable from EQT
Elimination of net current and deferred tax liabilities

—

93,951

Asset adjustments prior to acquisition

—

(115,270)

Limited partner and general partner units issued for acquisitions

—

Net settlement of current income taxes receivable with EQT

$

—

—

—
$

—

5,744
84,446
52,500

$

8,652

(a) As discussed in Note 2, EQM's consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively recast to include the pre-acquisition results of AVC, Rager and the Gathering
Assets, which were acquired by EQM effective on October 1, 2016, and NWV Gathering, which was acquired by EQM on March 17, 2015, because these transactions were

between entities under common control.
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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EQT MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31,
2017

2016

(Thousands, except number of units)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $446 and $319 as of December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively)
Accounts receivable – affiliate
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation

2,557

$

28,804

20,662

103,304

81,358

12,662

9,671

147,327

172,059

3,200,108

2,894,858

(396,049)

Net property, plant and equipment

60,368

(316,024)

2,804,059

2,578,834

Investment in unconsolidated entity

460,546

184,562

Other assets

136,895

140,385

Total assets

$

3,548,827

$

3,075,840

$

47,040

$

35,830

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to related party
Capital contribution payable to MVP Joint Venture

31,673

19,027

105,734

11,471

Accrued interest

10,926

12,016

Accrued liabilities

16,871

8,648

212,244

86,992

Total current liabilities
Credit facility borrowings

180,000

—

Senior notes

987,352

985,732

Regulatory and other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

20,273

9,562

1,399,869

1,082,286

2,147,706

2,008,510

Equity:
Common (80,581,758 units issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016)
General partner (1,443,015 units issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016)

1,252

Total equity

(14,956)

2,148,958

Total liabilities and equity

$

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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EQT MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 (a)
Predecessor

Limited Partners

Equity

Common

General

Subordinated

Partner

Total

(Thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2015

$

Net income

520,287

$

1,647,910

$

(929,374)

$

(27,497)

$

1,211,326

72,782

327,897

—

54,447

455,126

Capital contributions

—

7,342

—

150

7,492

Equity-based compensation plans

—

1,537

—

33

1,570

Net distributions to EQT

(15,179)

—

—

—

(15,179)

Distributions to unitholders

—

(162,040)

(10,057)

Conversion of subordinated units to common units (b)

—

(939,431)

939,431

—

—
1,183,921

Proceeds from issuance of common units, net of offering costs
Elimination of net current and deferred tax liabilities
NWV Gathering net assets from EQT

(40,165)

(212,262)

—

1,182,002

—

1,919

84,446

—

—

—

84,446

(386,791)

—

—

—

(386,791)

Issuance of units

—

38,910

—

13,590

52,500

Purchase price in excess of net assets from EQT

—

(505,452)

—

(33,440)

(538,892)

Balance at December 31, 2015

$

Net income

275,545

$

1,598,675

$

—

$

(30,963)

$

1,843,257

21,861

413,352

—

102,741

537,954

Capital contributions

—

591

—

11

602

Equity-based compensation plans

—

195

—

—

195

Net contributions from EQT

20,234

Elimination of capital lease (c)

(25,055)

—

—

—

20,234

23,500

—

1,555

—

(88,068)

Distributions to unitholders

—

(241,403)

—

Proceeds from issuance of common units, net of offering costs

—

217,102

—

—

217,102

93,951

—

—

—

93,951

Asset adjustments prior to acquisition (d)

(115,270)

—

—

—

(115,270)

October 2016 Acquisition net assets from EQT

(271,266)

—

—

—

(271,266)

—

(232)

Elimination of net current and deferred tax liabilities

Purchase price in excess of net assets from EQT
Balance at December 31, 2016

—
$

—

(3,502)
$

2,008,510

$

—

$

(14,956)

(329,471)

(3,734)
$

1,993,554

Net income

—

418,313

—

153,591

571,904

Capital contributions

—

15,184

—

279

15,463

Equity-based compensation plans

—

225

—

Distributions to unitholders

—

Balance at December 31, 2017

$

—

(294,526)
$

2,147,706

—

—
$

—

225

(137,662)
$

1,252

(432,188)
$

2,148,958

(a) As discussed in Note 2, EQM's consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively recast to include the pre-acquisition results of AVC, Rager and the Gathering
Assets, which were acquired by EQM effective on October 1, 2016, and NWV Gathering, which was acquired by EQM on March 17, 2015, because these transactions were
between entities under common control.
(b) All subordinated units were converted to common units on a one -for-one basis on February 17, 2015. For purposes of calculating net income per common and subordinated
unit, the conversion of the subordinated units was deemed to have occurred on January 1, 2015. See Note 3.
(c) Reflects the elimination of the historical capital lease depreciation expense as described in Note 2.
(d) Represents a decrease in the carrying value of the Gathering Assets and regulatory assets on the books of AVC, Rager, and the Gathering Assets by EQT prior to the
October 2016 Acquisition.
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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EQT MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017
1.

Summary of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Basis of Presentation
EQT Midstream Partners, LP and subsidiaries (collectively, EQM) is a growth-oriented Delaware limited partnership formed by EQT in
January 2012. EQT Midstream Services, LLC (EQM General Partner) is a direct wholly owned subsidiary of EQT GP Holdings, LP (EQGP) and is the general
partner of EQM. References in these consolidated financial statements to EQT refer collectively to EQT Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries. As discussed
in Note 2, EQM's consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively recast for all periods presented to include the pre-acquisition results of AVC, Rager
and the Gathering Assets, which were acquired by EQM on October 13, 2016, and NWV Gathering, which was acquired by EQM on March 17, 2015, because
these transactions were between entities under common control.
EQM does not have any employees. Operational, management and other services for EQM are provided by employees of EQT and its subsidiaries.
Nature of Business
EQM is a growth-oriented limited partnership formed by EQT to own, operate, acquire and develop midstream assets in the Appalachian Basin. EQM
provides midstream services to EQT and third parties in Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Ohio through two primary assets: the gathering system and the
transmission and storage system.
As of December 31, 2017 , EQM's gathering system included approximately 300 miles of high pressure gathering lines with approximately 2.3 Bcf per
day of total firm contracted gathering capacity and multiple interconnect points with EQM's transmission and storage system. EQM's gathering system also
includes approximately 1,500 miles of Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC)-regulated low pressure gathering lines. Revenues are primarily generated
from EQM's firm gathering contracts.
As of December 31, 2017 , EQM's transmission and storage system included an approximately 950 -mile FERC-regulated interstate pipeline that connects
to seven interstate pipelines and to local distribution companies. The transmission system is supported by 18 associated natural gas storage reservoirs with
approximately 645 MMcf per day of peak withdrawal capacity and 43 Bcf of working gas capacity and 41 compressor units. As of December 31, 2017 , the
transmission assets had total throughput capacity of approximately 4.4 Bcf per day. Revenues are primarily generated from EQM's firm transmission and storage
contracts.
Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation : The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all entities in which EQM holds a controlling financial
interest. EQM applies the equity method of accounting where it can exert significant influence over, but does not control or direct the policies, decisions or
activities of an entity.
The consolidated financial statements reflect the pre-acquisition results of businesses acquired through common control transactions on a combined basis
with EQM. See Note 2. Transactions between EQM and EQT have been identified in the consolidated financial statements as transactions between related parties
and are discussed in Note 5.
Segments: Operating segments are revenue-producing components of the enterprise for which separate financial information is produced internally and are
subject to evaluation by EQM's chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources. EQM reports its operations in two segments, which reflect its
lines of business. Gathering primarily includes high pressure gathering lines and the FERC-regulated low pressure gathering system. Transmission includes EQM's
FERC-regulated interstate pipeline and storage business. The operating segments are evaluated on their contribution to EQM's operating income. All of EQM's
operating revenues, income from continuing operations and assets are generated or located in the United States. See Note 4.
Reclassification: Certain previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
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Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents: EQM considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. Interest earned on cash equivalents is included as a reduction to net interest expense in the accompanying statements of consolidated operations.
Trade and Other Receivables: Trade and other receivables are stated at their historical carrying amount. Judgment is required to assess the ultimate
realization of accounts receivable, including assessing the probability of collection and the creditworthiness of customers. Based upon management's assessments,
allowances for doubtful accounts were $0.4 million and $0.3 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively. EQM also has receivables due from EQT as
discussed in Note 5.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments: EQM has categorized its assets and liabilities disclosed at fair value into a three-level fair value hierarchy, based on
the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and
liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, amounts due
to/from related parties and accounts payable approximate fair value due to the short maturity of the instruments; these are considered Level 1 fair values. The
carrying value of EQM's credit facility borrowings approximates fair value as the interest rates are based on prevailing market rates; this is considered a Level 1
fair value. As EQM's senior notes are not actively traded, their fair value is a Level 2 fair value measurement estimated using a standard industry income approach
model which utilizes a discount rate based on market rates for debt with similar remaining time to maturity and credit risk. See Note 9. The fair value of the
Preferred Interest is a Level 3 fair value measurement which is estimated using an income approach model utilizing a market-based discount rate. As of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 , the estimated fair value of the Preferred Interest was approximately $133 million and $132 million , respectively, and the carrying
value of the Preferred Interest was approximately $119 million and $123 million , respectively, inclusive of approximately $4 million , for each period, in other
current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.
Property, Plant and Equipment: EQM's property, plant and equipment are stated at depreciated cost. Maintenance projects that do not increase the overall
life of the related assets are expensed as incurred. Expenditures that extend the useful life of the underlying asset are capitalized. EQM capitalized internal costs of
$46.5 million , $53.2 million and $78.9 million in 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively. EQM capitalized interest of $4.1 million , $9.4 million and $5.6 million on
assets under construction in 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively, including the debt component of allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC).
As of December 31,
2017

2016
(Thousands)

Gathering assets

$

Accumulated depreciation

1,526,028

$

(147,575)

1,330,998
(110,473)

Net gathering assets

1,378,453

1,220,525

Transmission and storage assets

1,674,080

1,563,860

Accumulated depreciation

(248,474)

Net transmission and storage assets

(205,551)

1,425,606

Net property, plant and equipment

$

2,804,059

1,358,309
$

2,578,834

Depreciation is recorded using composite rates on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets. The overall rates of depreciation for the
years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 were approximately 2.7% , 2.2% and 2.1% , respectively. EQM estimates pipelines have useful lives ranging from
20 years to 65 years and compression equipment has useful lives ranging from 20 years to 50 years . As circumstances warrant, depreciation estimates are reviewed
to determine if any changes in the underlying assumptions are necessary. For EQM's regulated fixed assets, depreciation rates are re-evaluated each time it files
with the FERC for a change in its transmission and storage rates.
Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, EQM reviews its long-lived
assets for impairment by first comparing the carrying value of the assets to the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the assets. If the carrying value exceeds
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the sum of the assets' undiscounted cash flows, EQM estimates an impairment loss equal to the difference between the carrying value and fair value of the assets.
Investment in Unconsolidated Entity: EQM evaluates its investment in unconsolidated entity for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of the investment may have experienced a decline in value. When there is evidence of loss in value that is other than temporary,
EQM compares the estimated fair value of the investment to the carrying value of the investment to determine whether impairment has occurred. If the estimated
fair value is less than the carrying value, the excess of the carrying value over the estimated fair value is recognized as an impairment loss.
Unamortized Debt Discount and Issuance Expense: Discounts and expenses incurred with the issuance of EQM's senior notes are amortized over the term
of the debt. These amounts are presented as a reduction of the debt on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Expenses incurred with the issuance and
extension of EQM's $1 billion credit facility are presented in other assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Natural Gas Imbalances: EQM experiences natural gas imbalances when the actual amount of natural gas delivered from a pipeline system or storage
facility differs from the amount of natural gas scheduled to be delivered. EQM values these imbalances due to or from shippers and operators at current index
prices. Imbalances are settled in-kind, subject to the terms of the FERC tariffs. Imbalances as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were receivables of $5.2 million and
$2.8 million , respectively, included in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets with offsetting amounts recorded to system gas, a
component of property, plant and equipment. EQM classifies imbalances as current as it expects to settle them within a year.
Asset Retirement Obligations: EQM is under no legal or contractual obligation to restore or dismantle its gathering system and transmission and storage
system upon abandonment. Additionally, EQM operates and maintains its gathering system and transmission and storage system and it intends to do so as long as
supply and demand for natural gas exists, which EQM expects for the foreseeable future. Therefore, EQM does not have any asset retirement obligations as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 .
Contingencies: EQM is involved in various regulatory and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. A liability is recorded for
contingencies based upon EQM's assessment that a loss is probable and that the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. EQM considers many factors in
making these assessments, including history and specifics of each matter. Estimates are developed in consultation with legal counsel and are based upon the
analysis of potential results. See Note 13.
Regulatory Accounting: EQM's regulated operations consist of interstate pipeline, intrastate gathering and storage operations subject to regulation by the
FERC. Rate regulation provided by the FERC is designed to enable EQM to recover the costs of providing the regulated services plus an allowed return on invested
capital. The application of regulatory accounting allows EQM to defer expenses and income in its consolidated balance sheets as regulatory assets and liabilities
when it is probable that those expenses and income will be allowed in the rate setting process in a period different from the period in which they would have been
reflected in the statements of consolidated operations for a non-regulated entity. The deferred regulatory assets and liabilities are then recognized in the statements
of consolidated operations in the period in which the same amounts are reflected in rates. The amounts deferred in the consolidated balance sheets relate primarily
to the accounting for income taxes and post-retirement benefit costs. EQM believes that it will continue to be subject to rate regulation that will provide for the
recovery of deferred costs. See Note 10.
The following tables present the total regulated operating revenues and expenses, and the regulated property, plant and equipment of EQM.
Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

Operating revenues

$

390,883

$

347,320

$

309,984

Operating expenses

$

151,510

$

118,611

$

109,954
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As of December 31,
2017

2016
(Thousands)

Property, plant & equipment

$

Accumulated depreciation and amortization

1,787,656

$

1,675,433

$

1,441,097

(278,756)
$

Net property, plant & equipment

1,508,900

(234,336)

Revenue Recognition: Reservation revenues on firm contracted capacity are recognized ratably over the contract period based on the contracted volume
regardless of the amount of natural gas transported or gathered. Revenues associated with gathered or transported volumes under firm and interruptible contracts
are recognized as physical deliveries of natural gas are made.
AFUDC: The carrying costs for the construction of certain long-lived regulated assets are capitalized and amortized over the related assets' estimated
useful lives. The capitalized amount for construction of regulated assets includes interest cost (the debt component) and a designated cost of equity (the equity
component) for financing the construction of these regulated assets. The debt components of AFUDC for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 of
$0.8 million , $2.4 million and $1.6 million , respectively, were included as a reduction of net interest expense in the statements of consolidated operations. The
equity components of AFUDC for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 of $5.1 million , $19.4 million and $6.3 million , respectively, were
recorded in other income in the statements of consolidated operations.
Equity-Based Compensation: EQM has awarded equity-based compensation in connection with the EQT Midstream Services, LLC 2012 Long-Term
Incentive Plan. These awards will be paid in EQM common units; therefore, EQM treats these programs as equity awards. Awards are recorded at fair value which
utilizes the published market price on the grant date. See Note 8.
Net Income per Limited Partner Unit : Net income per limited partner unit is calculated utilizing the two-class method by dividing the limited partner
interest in net income by the weighted average number of limited partner units outstanding during the period. EQM's net income is allocated to the general partner
and limited partners in accordance with their respective ownership percentages, and when applicable, giving effect to incentive distributions allocable to the
general partner. The allocation of undistributed earnings, or net income in excess of distributions, to the incentive distribution rights (IDRs) is limited to available
cash (as defined by EQM's partnership agreement) for the period. Any common units issued during the period are included on a monthly weighted-average basis
for the periods in which they were outstanding. Diluted net income per limited partner unit reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or agreements
to issue common units, such as awards under the long-term incentive plan, were exercised, settled or converted into EQM common units. When it is determined
that potential common units resulting from an award subject to performance or market conditions should be included in the diluted net income per limited partner
unit calculation, the impact is reflected by applying the treasury stock method. Net income attributable to AVC, Rager and the Gathering Assets for the periods
prior to October 1, 2016 and to NWV Gathering for the periods prior to March 17, 2015 was not allocated to the limited partners for purposes of calculating net
income per limited partner unit as these pre-acquisition amounts were not available to the unitholders.
The phantom units granted to the independent directors of the EQM General Partner will be paid in common units upon a director's termination of service
on the EQM General Partner's Board of Directors. As there are no remaining service, performance or market conditions related to these awards, 20,959 , 17,196
and 14,017 phantom unit awards were included in the calculation of basic and diluted weighted average limited partner units outstanding for the years ended
December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively. Potentially dilutive securities included in the calculation of diluted weighted average limited partner units
outstanding totaled zero , 20,548 and 160,633 for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively.
Income Taxes: For federal and state income tax purposes, all income, expenses, gains, losses and tax credits generated flow through to EQM's
unitholders; accordingly, there is no provision for income taxes for EQM. Net income for financial statement purposes may differ significantly from taxable
income of unitholders because of differences between the tax basis and financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and the taxable income allocation
requirements under EQM's partnership agreement. The aggregate difference in the basis of EQM's net assets for financial and tax reporting purposes cannot be
readily determined because information regarding each partner's tax attributes is not available to EQM. See Note 11.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards:
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers . The standard requires an entity to recognize revenue in a manner that depicts the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers - Deferral of the Effective Date which approved a one year deferral of ASU 2014-09 to annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2017. During the third quarter of 2017, EQM substantially completed its detailed review of the impact of the standard on each of its contracts. EQM
adopted the ASUs using the modified retrospective method of adoption on January 1, 2018 and EQM did not require an adjustment to the opening balance of
equity. EQM does not expect the standard to have a significant impact on its results of operations, liquidity or financial position in 2018. Additional disclosures
will be required to describe the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows from contracts with customers including disaggregation of
revenue and remaining performance obligations. EQM implemented processes and controls to ensure new contracts are reviewed for the appropriate accounting
treatment and to generate the disclosures required under the new standard in the first quarter of 2018.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments-Overall: Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities . The changes primarily affect the accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option and the presentation and disclosure
requirements for financial instruments. This standard will eliminate the cost method of accounting for equity investments. The ASU will be effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period, with early adoption of certain provisions
permitted. EQM will adopt this standard in the first quarter of 2018 and does not expect that the adoption will have a material impact on its financial statements and
related disclosures.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases . The primary effect of adopting the new standard on leases will be to record assets and
obligations for contracts currently recognized as operating leases. Lessees and lessors must apply a modified retrospective transition approach. The ASU will be
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within that reporting period, with early adoption permitted.
EQM has completed a high level identification of agreements covered by this standard and will continue to evaluate the impact this standard will have on its
financial statements, internal controls and related disclosures.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This
ASU amends guidance on reporting credit losses for assets held at amortized cost basis and available for sale debt securities. For assets held at amortized cost basis,
this ASU eliminates the probable initial recognition threshold in current GAAP and, instead, requires an entity to reflect its current estimate of all expected credit
losses. The amendments affect loans, debt securities, trade receivables, net investments in leases, off balance sheet credit exposures, reinsurance receivables, and
any other financial assets not excluded from the scope that have the contractual right to receive cash. The ASU will be effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within that reporting period. EQM is currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on its
financial statements and related disclosures.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows: Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments . This ASU
addresses the presentation and classification of eight specific cash flow issues. The amendments in the ASU will be effective for public business entities for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting period, with early adoption permitted. EQM adopted this
standard in the second quarter of 2017 with no material impact on its financial statements and related disclosures.
Subsequent Events: EQM has evaluated subsequent events through the date of the financial statement issuance.
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2. Acquisitions
The following table presents EQM's acquisitions completed during the three years ended December 31, 2017 .
Acquisition Date

Total Consideration

Common Units
Issued to EQT

Cash

GP Units Issued to
EQT

(Thousands, except unit amounts)

NWV Gathering Acquisition (a)
MVP Interest Acquisition

(b)

Preferred Interest Acquisition (c)
October 2016 Acquisition (d)

3/17/15 $

925,683

$

873,183

511,973

178,816

3/30/15

54,229

54,229

—

—

4/15/15

124,317

124,317

—

—

275,000

—

—

10/13/16 $

275,000

$

(a) EQT contributed NWV Gathering to EQM Gathering Opco, LLC (EQM Gathering), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQM. The cash portion
of the purchase price was funded with net proceeds from an equity offering of EQM common units and borrowings under EQM's credit facility.
(b) EQM assumed 100% of the membership interests in MVP Holdco, LLC (MVP Holdco), the owner of the interest (the MVP Interest) in the MVP
Joint Venture, which at the time was an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQT. The cash payment made represented EQM's reimbursement to
EQT for 100% of the capital contributions made by EQT to the MVP Joint Venture as of March 30, 2015. The cash payment was funded by
borrowings under EQM's credit facility. See Note 6.
(c) Pursuant to the NWV Gathering Acquisition contribution and sale agreement, EQM acquired the Preferred Interest from EQT in EES, which at the
time was an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQT. EES generates revenue from services provided to a local distribution company. The cash
payment was funded by borrowings under EQM's credit facility.
In October 2016, the operating agreement of EES was amended to include mandatory redemption of the Preferred Interest at the end of the preference
period, which is expected to be December 31, 2034. As a result of this amendment, the accounting for EQM's investment in EES converted from a
cost method investment to a note receivable effective October 1, 2016. This conversion did not impact the carrying value of this instrument; however,
distributions from EES subsequent to the amendment were recorded partly as a reduction in the Preferred Interest and partly as interest income, which
is included in net interest expense in the accompanying statements of consolidated operations. Distributions received from EES prior to this
amendment were included in other income in the accompanying statements of consolidated operations.
(d) On October 13, 2016, EQM entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with EQT pursuant to which EQM acquired from EQT 100% of the
outstanding limited liability company interests of AVC and Rager as well as the Gathering Assets. The closing occurred on October 13, 2016 and was
effective as of October 1, 2016. The cash payment was funded by borrowings under EQM's credit facility.
AVC, Rager, the Gathering Assets and NWV Gathering were businesses and the related acquisitions were transactions between entities under common
control; therefore, EQM recorded the assets and liabilities of these entities at their carrying amounts to EQT on the date of the respective transactions. The
difference between EQT's net carrying amount and the total consideration paid to EQT was recorded as a capital transaction with EQT, which resulted in a
reduction in equity. This portion of the consideration was recorded in financing activities in the statements of consolidated cash flows. EQM recast its consolidated
financial statements to retrospectively reflect the October 2016 Acquisition and NWV Gathering Acquisition as if the entities were owned for all periods presented;
however, the consolidated financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that would have occurred if EQM had owned them during
the periods reported.
Prior to the October 2016 Acquisition, EQM operated the AVC facilities as part of its transmission and storage system under a lease agreement with EQT.
The lease was a capital lease under GAAP; therefore, revenues and expenses associated with the AVC facilities were included in EQM's historical consolidated
financial statements and the AVC facilities were depreciated over the lease term of 25 years. In conjunction with the October 2016 Acquisition, the lease agreement
was terminated. As a result, EQM's recast of the consolidated financial statements included recasting depreciation expense recognized for the periods prior to the
transaction to reflect the pipeline's useful life of 40 years . The $25.1 million of cumulative capital lease depreciation recorded for periods prior to the transaction
was eliminated through equity at the time of
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the acquisition and the financial statements now reflect the depreciation expense based on the 40 year useful life. This adjustment increased previously reported net
income by $5.2 million and $4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. In addition, because the effect of the recast of the financial
statements resulted in the elimination of the capital lease obligation from EQM to AVC, the lease obligation portion of the consideration paid was recorded in
financing activities in the statements of consolidated cash flows.
3. Equity
The following table summarizes EQM's public offerings of its common units during the three years ended December 31, 2017 .
Common Units
Issued

GP Units Issued

Price Per Unit

Net Proceeds

Underwriters'
Discount and Other
Offering Expenses

(Thousands, except unit and per unit amounts)

March 2015 equity offering (a)

9,487,500

25,255

$750 Million At the Market (ATM)
Program in 2015 (b)

1,162,475

—

74.92

85,483

November 2015 equity offering (c)

5,650,000

—

71.80

399,937

$750 Million ATM Program in 2016 (d)

2,949,309

—

$

$

76.00

74.42

$

$

696,582

217,102

$

24,468
1,610
5,733

$

2,381

(a) The underwriters exercised their option to purchase additional common units. The EQM General Partner purchased 25,255 EQM general partner
units for approximately $1.9 million to maintain its then 2.0% general partner ownership percentage. This amount was included in net proceeds from
this offering. The net proceeds were used to finance a portion of the cash consideration paid to EQT in connection with the NWV Gathering
Acquisition as described in Note 2.
(b) During the third quarter of 2015, EQM entered into an equity distribution agreement that established an ATM common unit offering program,
pursuant to which a group of managers, acting as EQM's sales agents, may sell EQM common units having an aggregate offering price of up to $750
million (the $750 Million ATM Program). The price per unit represents an average price for all issuances under the $750 Million ATM Program in
2015. The underwriters' discount and other offering expenses in the table above include commissions of approximately $0.9 million . EQM used the
net proceeds for general partnership purposes.
Prior to this $750 Million ATM Program, the EQM General Partner maintained its general partner ownership percentage at the previous level of 2.0%
. Starting with sales under the $750 Million ATM Program in 2015, the EQM General Partner elected not to maintain its general partner ownership
percentage.
(c) The net proceeds were used for general partnership purposes and to repay amounts outstanding under EQM's credit facility.
(d) The price per unit represents an average price for all issuances under the $750 Million ATM Program in 2016. The underwriters' discount and other
offering expenses in the table above include commissions of approximately $2.2 million . EQM used the net proceeds for general partnership
purposes.
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The following table summarizes EQM's common, subordinated and general partner units issued and outstanding during the three years ended
December 31, 2017 . There were no issuances in 2017.
Limited Partner Units
Common

General

Subordinated

Partner Units

Balance at January 1, 2015

43,347,452

17,339,718

Conversion of subordinated units to common units

17,339,718

(17,339,718)

Total

1,238,514

61,925,684

—

—

430

21,493

—

25,255

9,512,755

—

178,816

690,789

1,162,475

—

—

1,162,475

November 2015 equity offering

5,650,000

—

—

5,650,000

Balance at December 31, 2015

77,520,181

—

1,443,015

78,963,196

2014 EQM VDA issuance

19,796

—

—

19,796

EQM Total Return Program issuance

92,472

—

—

92,472

2,949,309

—

—

2,949,309

80,581,758

—

1,443,015

82,024,773

2014 EQM VDA issuance
March 2015 equity offering
NWV Gathering Acquisition consideration
$750 Million ATM Program

$750 Million ATM Program
Balance at December 31, 2016 and 2017

21,063

—

9,487,500
511,973

Upon payment of the cash distribution for the fourth quarter of 2014, the financial requirements for the conversion of all subordinated units were satisfied.
As a result, on February 17, 2015, the 17,339,718 subordinated units converted into common units on a one -for-one basis. For purposes of calculating net income
per common and subordinated unit, the conversion of the subordinated units was deemed to have occurred on January 1, 2015.
EQM issued 19,796 and 21,063 common units under the 2014 EQM Value Driver Award Program (2014 EQM VDA) in February 2016 and 2015,
respectively, as discussed in Note 8. In connection with the February 2015 issuance, the EQM General Partner purchased 430 EQM general partner units to
maintain its then 2.0% general partner ownership percentage. EQM issued 92,472 common units under the EQM Total Return Program in February 2016 as
discussed in Note 8.
As of December 31, 2017 , EQGP and its subsidiaries owned 21,811,643 EQM common units, representing a 26.6% limited partner interest, 1,443,015
EQM general partner units, representing a 1.8% general partner interest, and all of the IDRs in EQM. As of December 31, 2017 , EQT owned 100% of the noneconomic general partner interest and a 90.1% limited partner interest in EQGP.
4. Financial Information by Business Segment
Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

Revenues from external customers (including affiliates):
Gathering

$

Transmission

454,536

$

379,560

Total operating revenues

397,494

$

338,120

335,105
297,831

$

834,096

$

735,614

$

632,936

$

333,563

$

289,027

$

243,257

Operating income:
Gathering
Transmission

247,145

Total operating income

$

580,708

237,922
$

526,949

207,779
$

451,036

Reconciliation of operating income to net income:
Other income

27,377

37,918

8,694

Net interest expense

36,181

16,766

21,345

—

10,147

(16,741)

Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income

$
75

571,904

$

537,954

$

455,126
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As of December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

Segment assets:
Gathering

$

Transmission

1,463,247

$

1,292,713

$

1,079,644

1,487,501

1,413,631

1,183,641

Total operating segments

2,950,748

2,706,344

2,263,285

Headquarters, including cash

598,079

369,496

570,073

Total assets

$

3,548,827

$

3,075,840

$

2,833,358

Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

Depreciation and amortization:
Gathering

$

Transmission

38,796

$

58,689

Total

30,422

$

32,269

24,360
25,535

$

97,485

$

62,691

$

49,895

$

196,871

$

295,315

$

225,537

Expenditures for segment assets:
Gathering
Transmission

111,102

Total (a)

$

307,973

292,049
$

587,364

203,706
$

429,243

(a) EQM accrues capital expenditures when work has been completed but the associated bills have not yet been paid. These accrued amounts are
excluded from capital expenditures on the statements of consolidated cash flows until they are paid in a subsequent period. Accrued capital
expenditures were approximately $33.1 million , $26.7 million , $24.1 million and $53.0 million at December 31, 2017 , 2016 , 2015 and 2014 ,
respectively.
5.

Related Party Transactions

Affiliate Transactions . In the ordinary course of business, EQM engages in transactions with EQT and its affiliates including, but not limited to, gas
gathering agreements, transportation service and precedent agreements and storage agreements.
Omnibus Agreement . EQM entered into an omnibus agreement by and among EQM, the EQM General Partner and EQT. Pursuant to the omnibus
agreement, EQT agreed to provide EQM with a license to use the name "EQT" and related marks in connection with EQM's business. EQM is allocated the portion
of operating and maintenance expense and selling, general and administrative expense incurred by EQT for the benefit of EQM. The omnibus agreement also
provides for certain indemnification and reimbursement obligations between EQT and EQM.
Operation and Management Services Agreement . EQM had an operation and management services agreement with EQT Gathering, LLC (EQT
Gathering), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQT, pursuant to which EQT Gathering provided EQM's pipelines and storage facilities with certain
operational and management services. EQM reimbursed EQT Gathering for such services pursuant to the terms of its omnibus agreement with EQT. The operation
and management services agreement was replaced in its entirety by a secondment agreement with EQT (the Secondment Agreement).
Secondment Agreement . On December 7, 2017, EQT, EQT Gathering, Equitrans, L.P. (Equitrans), EQM and the EQM General Partner entered into the
Secondment Agreement, pursuant to which available employees of EQT and its affiliates may be seconded to EQM and its subsidiaries to provide operating and
other services with respect to EQM's business under the direction, supervision and control of EQM or its subsidiaries. EQM reimburses EQT and its affiliates for
the services provided by the seconded employees pursuant to the Secondment Agreement.
The following table summarizes the amounts and categories of expenses for which EQM was obligated to reimburse EQT pursuant to the omnibus
agreement and the Secondment Agreement, as applicable, and the amounts and categories of obligations for which EQT was obligated to indemnify and/or
reimburse EQM pursuant to the omnibus agreement for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 .
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Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

Reimbursements to EQT
Operating and maintenance expense (a)

$

39,957

$

33,526

$

31,310

Selling, general and administrative expense (a)

$

67,424

$

63,255

$

46,149

4

$

195

$

Reimbursements from EQT (b)
Plugging and abandonment

$

Bare steel replacement

15,704

Other capital reimbursements

$

—

26

—
$

162

6,268
$

1,198

(a) The expenses for which EQM reimburses EQT and its subsidiaries may not necessarily reflect the actual expenses that EQM would incur on a standalone basis, and EQM is unable to estimate what those expenses would be on a stand-alone basis. These amounts exclude the recast impact of the
October 2016 Acquisition and NWV Gathering Acquisition as these amounts do not represent reimbursements pursuant to the omnibus agreement.
(b) These reimbursements were recorded as capital contributions from EQT.
Summary of Related Party Transactions . The following table summarizes related party transactions for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and
2015 .
Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

Operating revenues

$

Operating and maintenance expense (a)
Selling, general and administrative expense

(a)

Other income (b)
Interest income on Preferred Interest (see Note 2)
Principal payments received on Preferred Interest (see Note 2)
Distributions to EQM General Partner (c)
Capital contributions from EQT

605,099

$

$

$

462,371

34,179

33,452

67,424

67,345

55,092

22,171

18,191

2,367

6,818

1,740

—

4,166

1,024

—

235,167

169,438

109,194

15,463

Net contributions from/(distributions to) EQT

551,353

39,957

—

602
$

20,234

7,492
$

(15,179)

(a) The expenses for which EQM reimburses EQT and its subsidiaries may not necessarily reflect the actual expenses that EQM would incur on a standalone basis, and EQM is unable to estimate what those expenses would be on a stand-alone basis. These amounts include the recast impact of the
October 2016 Acquisition and NWV Gathering Acquisition as they represent the total amounts allocated to EQM by EQT for the periods presented.
(b) For the year ended December 31, 2017 , other income included equity income from the MVP Joint Venture of $22.2 million . For the year ended
December 31, 2016 , other income included distributions received from EES of $8.3 million and equity income from the MVP Joint Venture of $9.9
million . For the year ended December 31, 2015 , other income included equity income from the MVP Joint Venture of $2.4 million . See Note 6.
(c) The distributions to the EQM General Partner are based on the period to which the distributions relate and not the period in which the distributions
were declared and paid. For example, for the year ended December 31, 2017 , total distributions to the EQM General Partner included the cash
distribution declared on January 18, 2018 related to the fourth quarter 2017 of $1.025 per common unit and the amounts related to its general partner
interest and IDRs.
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The following table summarizes related party balances as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 .
As of December 31,
2017

2016
(Thousands)

Accounts receivable – affiliate

$

Due to related party

103,304

$

31,673

Investment in unconsolidated entity

19,027

460,546

Preferred Interest in EES (see Note 1)

$

119,127

81,358
184,562

$

123,293

See also Note 2, Note 3, Note 6, Note 7, Note 8, Note 9, Note 12 and Note 14 for further discussion of related party transactions.
6.

Investment in Unconsolidated Entity

On March 30, 2015, EQM assumed EQT's interest in MVP Holdco, which owns the interest in the MVP Joint Venture, for $54.2 million . The MVP Joint
Venture plans to construct the Mountain Valley Pipeline (MVP), an estimated 300 -mile natural gas interstate pipeline spanning from northern West Virginia to
southern Virginia. EQM also assumed the role of operator of the MVP from EQT. In April 2015, October 2015 and January 2016, EQM sold 10% , 1% and 8.5%
ownership interests in the MVP Joint Venture, respectively. The purchase from EQT and subsequent sales of interests in the MVP Joint Venture were all for
consideration that represented the proportional amount of capital contributions made to the joint venture as of the date of the respective transactions. As of
December 31, 2017 , EQM owned a 45.5% interest in the MVP Joint Venture.
The MVP Joint Venture has been determined to be a variable interest entity because it has insufficient equity to finance its activities during the
construction stage of the project. EQM is not the primary beneficiary because it does not have the power to direct the activities of the MVP Joint Venture that most
significantly impact its economic performance. Certain business decisions, including, but not limited to, decisions about operating and construction budgets, project
construction schedule, material contracts or precedent agreements, indebtedness, significant acquisitions or dispositions, material regulatory filings and strategic
decisions require the approval of owners holding more than a 66 2/3% interest in the MVP Joint Venture and no one member owns more than a 66 2/3% interest.
Beginning on the date it was assumed from EQT, EQM accounted for the MVP Interest as an equity method investment as EQM has the ability to exercise
significant influence over operating and financial policies of the MVP Joint Venture. EQM records adjustments to the investment balance for contributions to or
distributions from the MVP Joint Venture and its pro-rata share of earnings of the MVP Joint Venture.
In December 2017 , the MVP Joint Venture issued a capital call notice to MVP Holdco for $105.7 million , of which $27.2 million was paid in January
2018 and the remaining $78.5 million is expected to be paid in February 2018 . The capital contribution payable has been reflected on the consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2017 with a corresponding increase to EQM's investment in the MVP Joint Venture.
Equity income related to EQM's portion of the MVP Joint Venture's AFUDC on construction of the MVP is reported in other income in the statements of
consolidated operations and was $22.2 million , $9.9 million and $2.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively.
As of December 31, 2017 , EQM had issued a $91 million performance guarantee in favor of the MVP Joint Venture to provide performance assurances
for MVP Holdco's obligations to fund its proportionate share of the construction budget for the MVP.
As of December 31, 2017 , EQM's maximum financial statement exposure related to the MVP Joint Venture was approximately $552 million , which
consists of the investment in unconsolidated entity balance on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017 and amounts which could have become due
under EQM's performance guarantee as of that date.
78

Table of Contents
The following tables summarize the audited financial statements for the investment in unconsolidated entity accounted for under the equity method of
accounting.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of December 31,
2017

2016
(Thousands)

Current assets

$

Noncurrent assets

330,271

$

747,728

Total assets

$

Current liabilities

$

Equity

1,077,999

$

65,811

$

1,012,188

Total liabilities and equity

$

1,077,999

53,959
361,820
415,779
10,149
405,630

$

415,779

Statements of Consolidated Operations
Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

AFUDC - equity

$

Net interest income

$

16,674
$

Net income
7.

32,054
48,728

16,315

$

5,206
$

21,521

3,576
1,143

$

4,719

Cash Distributions

The EQM partnership agreement requires EQM to distribute all of its available cash to EQM unitholders within 45 days after the end of each
quarter. Available cash generally means, for any quarter, all cash and cash equivalents on hand at the end of that quarter:
•

•

less , the amount of cash reserves established by the EQM General Partner to:
•
provide for the proper conduct of EQM's business (including reserves for future capital expenditures, anticipated future debt service
requirements and refunds of collected rates reasonably likely to be refunded as a result of a settlement or hearing related to FERC rate
proceedings or rate proceedings under applicable law subsequent to that quarter);
•
comply with applicable law, any of EQM's debt instruments or other agreements; or
•
provide funds for distributions to EQM's unitholders and to the EQM General Partner for any one or more of the next four quarters (provided
that the EQM General Partner may not establish cash reserves for distributions if the effect of the establishment of such reserves will prevent
EQM from distributing the minimum quarterly distribution on all common units);
plus , if the EQM General Partner so determines, all or any portion of the cash on hand on the date of determination of available cash for the quarter
resulting from working capital borrowings made subsequent to the end of such quarter.

All IDRs are held by the EQM General Partner. IDRs represent the right to receive an increasing percentage ( 13.0% , 23.0% and 48.0% ) of quarterly
distributions of available cash from operating surplus after the minimum quarterly distribution and the target distribution levels described below have been
achieved. The EQM General Partner may transfer the IDRs separately from its general partner interest, subject to restrictions in EQM's partnership agreement.
The following discussion assumes that the EQM General Partner continues to own both its 1.8% general partner interest and the IDRs.
If for any quarter EQM has distributed available cash from operating surplus to the common unitholders in an amount equal to EQM's minimum quarterly
distribution; then, EQM will distribute any additional available cash from operating surplus for that quarter among the unitholders and the EQM General Partner in
the following manner:
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Total Quarterly
Distribution per

Marginal Percentage Interest in
Distributions

Unit Target Amount

Unitholders

General Partner

$0.35

98.2%

1.8%

First Target Distribution

Above $0.3500 up to $0.4025

98.2%

1.8%

Second Target Distribution

Above $0.4025 up to $0.4375

85.2%

14.8%

Third Target Distribution

Above $0.4375 up to $0.5250

75.2%

24.8%

Above $0.5250

50.2%

49.8%

Minimum Quarterly Distribution

Thereafter

To the extent these incentive distributions are made to the EQM General Partner, more available cash proportionally is allocated to the EQM General
Partner than to holders of limited partner units.
On January 18, 2018 , the Board of Directors of the EQM General Partner declared a cash distribution to EQM's unitholders for the fourth quarter of 2017
of $1.025 per common unit. The cash distribution was paid on February 14, 2018 to unitholders of record at the close of business on February 2, 2018 . Cash
distributions to EQGP were approximately $22.4 million related to its limited partner interest, $2.2 million related to its general partner interest and $41.1 million
related to its IDRs.
8.

Equity-Based Compensation Plan

The EQM General Partner has granted equity-based phantom units that vested upon grant to the independent directors of the EQM General Partner. The
value of the phantom units will be paid in EQM common units upon the director's termination of service on the EQM General Partner's Board of Directors. EQM
accounted for these awards as equity awards and recorded compensation expense for the fair value of the awards at the grant date fair value. A total of 21,739
independent director unit-based awards, including accrued distributions, were outstanding as of December 31, 2017 . A total of 2,940 , 2,610 and 2,220 unit-based
awards were granted to the independent directors during the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively. The weighted average fair value of
these grants, based on EQM's common unit price on the grant date, was $76.68 , $75.46 and $88.00 for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 ,
respectively. EQM recognized equity-based compensation expense of $0.2 million each year during the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 related to
these grants.
In July 2012, the EQM General Partner granted awards representing common units (EQM Total Return Program). The confirmed awards were distributed
in EQM common units during the first quarter of 2016. During the year ended December 31, 2015, EQM recognized equity-based compensation expense of $0.7
million related to these awards.
In the first quarter of 2014, performance units under the 2014 EQM Value Driver Award Program (2014 EQM VDA) were granted to EQT employees
who provided services to EQM. The first tranche of the confirmed awards were distributed in EQM common units in February 2015 and the remainder of the
confirmed awards were distributed in EQM common units in February 2016. During the year ended December 31, 2015, EQM recognized equity-based
compensation expense of $0.6 million related to these awards.
EQM common units to be delivered pursuant to vesting of the equity-based awards may be common units acquired by the EQM General Partner in the
open market or from any other person, issued directly by EQM or any combination of the foregoing.
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9. Debt
The following table presents EQM's outstanding debt as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 .
December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

Carrying
Value (a)

Principal

Fair
Value (b)

Carrying
Value (a)

Principal

Fair
Value (b)

(Thousands)

$1 Billion Facility

$

180,000

364-Day Facility

$

180,000

$

180,000

$

—

$

—

$

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

4.00% Senior Notes due 2024

500,000

494,939

504,110

500,000

494,170

493,125

4.125% Senior Notes due 2026

500,000

492,413

501,990

500,000

491,562

488,460

Total debt

$

1,180,000

$

1,167,352

$

1,186,100

$

1,000,000

$

985,732

$

981,585

(a) Carrying value of the senior notes represents principal amount less unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discounts.
(b) See Note 1 for a discussion of fair value measurements.
$1 Billion Facility . In July 2017, EQM amended and restated its credit facility to increase the borrowing capacity under the facility from $750 million to
$1 billion and extend the term to July 2022. The $1 Billion Facility is available to fund working capital requirements and capital expenditures, to purchase assets,
to pay distributions and repurchase units and for general partnership purposes (including purchasing assets from EQT and its subsidiaries and other third parties).
Subject to certain terms and conditions, the $1 Billion Facility has an accordion feature that allows EQM to increase the available borrowings under the facility by
up to an additional $500 million . In addition, the $1 Billion Facility includes a sublimit up to $100 million for same-day swing line advances and a sublimit up to
$150 million for letters of credit. Further, EQM has the ability to request that one or more lenders make term loans to it under the $1 Billion Facility subject to the
satisfaction of certain conditions, which term loans will be secured by cash and qualifying investment grade securities. EQM's obligations under the revolving
portion of the $1 Billion Facility are unsecured.
EQM is not required to maintain compensating bank balances under the $1 Billion Facility. EQM's debt issuer credit ratings, as determined by Standard
and Poor's Ratings Services, Moody's Investors Service and Fitch Ratings Service on its non-credit-enhanced, senior unsecured long-term debt, determine the level
of fees associated with its $1 Billion Facility in addition to the interest rate charged by the counterparties on any amounts borrowed against the lines of credit; the
lower EQM's debt credit rating, the higher the level of fees and interest rate.
During 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , the maximum amounts of EQM's outstanding borrowings under the credit facility at any time were $260 million , $401
million and $404 million , respectively, the average daily balances were approximately $74 million , $77 million and $261 million , respectively, and interest was
incurred at weighted average annual interest rates of 2.8% , 2.0% and 1.7% , respectively. EQM had no letters of credit outstanding under its credit facility as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 . For the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , commitment fees of $1.8 million , $1.6 million and $1.2 million ,
respectively, were paid to maintain credit availability under the credit facility.
EQM's $1 Billion Facility contains various provisions that, if not complied with, could result in termination of the credit facility, require early payment of
amounts outstanding or similar actions. The most significant covenants and events of default relate to maintenance of a permitted leverage ratio, limitations on
transactions with affiliates, limitations on restricted payments, insolvency events, nonpayment of scheduled principal or interest payments, acceleration of and
certain other defaults under other financial obligations and change of control provisions. Under the $1 Billion Facility, EQM is required to maintain a consolidated
leverage ratio of not more than 5.00 to 1.00 (or not more than 5.50 to 1.00 for certain measurement periods following the consummation of certain acquisitions).
364 -Day Facility . EQM has a $500 million , 364 -day, uncommitted revolving loan agreement with EQT that matures on October 24, 2018 and will
automatically renew for successive 364 -day periods unless EQT delivers a non-renewal notice at least 60 days prior to the then current maturity date. EQM may
terminate the 364 -Day Facility at any time by repaying in full the unpaid principal amount of all loans together with interest thereon. The 364 -Day Facility is
available for general partnership purposes and does not contain any covenants other than the obligation to pay accrued interest on outstanding borrowings.
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Interest accrues on outstanding borrowings at an interest rate equal to the rate then applicable to similar loans under the $1 Billion Facility, or a successor revolving
credit facility, less the sum of (i) the then applicable commitment fee under the $1 Billion Facility and (ii) 10 basis points.
During the year ended December 31, 2017 , the maximum amount of EQM's outstanding borrowings under the 364 -Day Facility at any time was $100
million , the average daily balance was approximately $23 million and interest was incurred at a weighted average annual interest rate of 2.2% . There were no
amounts outstanding at any time under the 364 -Day Facility in 2016.
4.125% Senior Notes . During the fourth quarter of 2016, EQM issued 4.125% Senior Notes due December 1, 2026 in the aggregate principal amount of
$500 million . Net proceeds from the offering were used to repay the outstanding borrowings under the $1 Billion Facility at that time and for general partnership
purposes.
EQM's senior notes contain covenants that limit EQM's ability to, among other things, incur certain liens securing indebtedness, engage in certain sale and
leaseback transactions, and enter into certain consolidations, mergers, conveyances, transfers or leases of all or substantially all of EQM's assets.
As of December 31, 2017 , EQM was in compliance with all debt provisions and covenants.
10.

Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

Regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities are recoverable or reimbursable over various periods and do not earn a return on investment. EQM believes
that it will continue to be subject to rate regulation that will provide for the recovery or reimbursement of its regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities. Regulatory
assets and regulatory liabilities are included in other assets and other long-term liabilities, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
As of December 31,
2017

2016
(Thousands)

Regulatory assets:
Deferred taxes (a)

$

Other recoverable costs (b)

13,076

$

4,754

Total regulatory assets

13,901
5,013

$

17,830

$

$

10,488

$

18,914

Regulatory liabilities:
Deferred taxes (a)
On-going post-retirement benefits other than pensions (c)

7,724

Other reimbursable costs

—
6,744

860
$

Total regulatory liabilities

19,072

715
$

7,459

(a) The regulatory asset for deferred taxes primarily related to deferred income taxes recoverable through future rates on a historical deferred tax position
and the equity component of AFUDC. The regulatory liability for deferred taxes relates to a revaluation of the historical difference between the
regulatory and tax bases of regulated property, plant and equipment. EQM expects to recover the amortization of the deferred tax positions ratably
over the corresponding life of the underlying assets that created the differences. Taxes on the equity component of AFUDC and the offsetting
deferred income taxes will be collected through rates over the depreciable lives of the long-lived assets to which they relate.
(b) Regulatory assets associated with other recoverable costs primarily related to the costs associated with the pension termination discussed in Note 14.
(c) EQM defers expenses for on-going post-retirement benefits other than pensions which are subject to recovery in approved rates. The regulatory
liability reflects lower cumulative actuarial expenses than the amounts recovered through rates.
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11.

Income Taxes

As a result of its limited partnership structure, EQM is not subject to federal and state income taxes. For federal and state income tax purposes, all income,
expenses, gains, losses and tax credits generated by EQM flow through to EQM's unitholders; accordingly, EQM does not record a provision for income taxes.
As discussed in Note 2, the October 2016 Acquisition and NWV Gathering Acquisition were transactions between entities under common control for
which the consolidated financial statements of EQM have been retrospectively recast to reflect the combined entities. Accordingly, the income tax effects
associated with these operations prior to acquisition are reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they were previously part of EQT's consolidated
federal tax return. EQT's consolidated federal income tax was allocated among the group's members on a separate return basis with tax credits allocated to the
members generating the credits. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 , net current and deferred income tax liabilities of approximately $94.0
million and $84.4 million , respectively, were eliminated through equity related to AVC, Rager, the Gathering Assets and NWV Gathering.
The components of income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2016

2015
(Thousands)

Current:
Federal

$

886

State
Subtotal

$

12,960

487

985

1,373

13,945

8,302

(30,931)

Deferred:
Federal
State

472

Subtotal

245

8,774

Total

$

10,147

(30,686)
$

(16,741)

Income tax expense (benefit) differed from amounts computed at the federal statutory rate of 35% on pre-tax book income from continuing operations as
follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2016

2015
(Thousands)

Tax at statutory rate

$

191,835

Partnership income not subject to income taxes

$

(182,455)

State income taxes

623

Regulatory assets

132

Other

(135,324)
800
(35,685)

12

Income tax expense (benefit)

$

Effective tax rate

10,147
1.9%

153,435

33
$

(16,741)
(3.8)%

For the year ended December 31, 2015, a tax benefit was realized by EQT in connection with a partial like-kind exchange of assets that resulted in tax
deferral for EQT associated with AVC. The deferred taxes were eliminated through equity in 2016 along with the other current and deferred taxes associated with
the October 2016 Acquisition. The fluctuations in income tax expense resulted primarily from the tax benefit realized by EQT in 2015 and the change in the tax
status of AVC, Rager and the Gathering Assets in 2016 and NWV Gathering in 2015.
EQM's historical uncertain tax positions related to the October 2016 Acquisition and NWV Gathering Acquisition were immaterial. EQT has indemnified
EQM from and against any losses suffered or incurred by EQM and related to or arising out of or in connection with any federal, state or local income tax liabilities
attributable to the ownership or operation of EQM's
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assets prior to the acquisition of such assets from EQT. Therefore, EQM does not anticipate any future liabilities arising from the historical deferred tax liabilities.
12.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

For the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , EQT accounted for approximately 73% , 75% and 73% , respectively, of EQM's total revenues.
Additionally, for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , PNG Companies, LLC and its affiliates accounted for approximately 12% , 12% and 14%
of EQM's total revenues, respectively, all of which was included in the transmission segment.
Approximately 40% and 47% of third party accounts receivable balances of $28.8 million and $20.7 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 ,
respectively, represent amounts due from marketers. EQM manages the credit risk of sales to marketers by limiting EQM's dealings to those marketers meeting
specified criteria for credit and liquidity strength and by actively monitoring these accounts. EQM may request a letter of credit, guarantee, performance bond or
other credit enhancement from a marketer in order for that marketer to meet EQM's credit criteria. EQM did not experience any significant defaults on accounts
receivable during the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 .
13.

Commitments and Contingencies

EQM is subject to federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. These laws and regulations, which are constantly changing, can require
expenditures for remediation and in certain instances result in assessment of fines. EQM has established procedures for ongoing evaluation of its operations to
identify potential environmental exposures and assure compliance with regulatory requirements. The estimated costs associated with identified situations that
require remedial action are accrued. However, when recoverable through regulated rates, certain of these costs are deferred as regulatory assets. Ongoing
expenditures for compliance with environmental law and regulations, including investments in plant and facilities to meet environmental requirements, have not
been material. Management believes that any such required expenditures will not be significantly different in either nature or amount in the future and does not
know of any environmental liabilities that will have a material effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or ability to make
distributions.
In the ordinary course of business, various legal and regulatory claims and proceedings are pending or threatened against EQM. While the amounts
claimed may be substantial, EQM is unable to predict with certainty the ultimate outcome of such claims and proceedings. EQM accrues legal and other direct
costs related to loss contingencies when actually incurred. EQM has established reserves it believes to be appropriate for pending matters and, after consultation
with counsel and giving appropriate consideration to available insurance, EQM believes that the ultimate outcome of any matter currently pending against EQM
will not materially affect EQM's business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or ability to make distributions.
See Note 6 for discussion of the MVP Joint Venture guarantee.
14.

Postretirement Benefit Plans

Employees of EQT operate EQM's assets. EQT charges EQM for the payroll and benefit costs associated with these individuals and for retirees of
Equitrans, the owner of EQM's FERC-regulated transmission, storage and gathering systems. EQT carries any obligations for employee-related benefits in its
financial statements.
EQT terminated the EQT Corporation Retirement Plan for Employees (the Retirement Plan), a defined benefit pension plan, effective December 31, 2014.
On March 2, 2016, the IRS issued a favorable determination letter for the termination of the Retirement Plan. On June 28, 2016, EQT purchased annuities from and
transferred the Retirement Plan assets and liabilities to American General Life Insurance Company. In the third quarter of 2016, EQM reimbursed EQT
approximately $5.2 million for its proportionate share of such funding related to retirees of Equitrans. The settlement charge is expected to be recoverable in FERC
approved rates and thus was recorded as a regulatory asset that will be amortized for rate recovery purposes over a period of 16 years.
Equitrans' retirees participated in the Retirement Plan prior to its termination. Excluding the pension termination settlement payments described above, for
the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 , EQM reimbursed EQT approximately $1.9 million and $0.4 million , respectively, for the funding of the Retirement
Plan and was allocated expenses associated with the Retirement Plan of $0.1 million and $0.5 million , respectively.
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EQM contributes to a defined contribution plan sponsored by EQT. The contribution amount is a percentage of allocated base salary. In 2017 , 2016 and
2015 , EQM was charged its contribution percentage through the EQT payroll and benefit costs discussed in Note 5.
EQM recognizes expenses for ongoing post-retirement benefits other than pensions, which are subject to recovery in the approved rates. Expenses
recognized by EQM for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 for ongoing post-retirement benefits other than pensions were approximately $1.2
million each year.
15.

Interim Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following quarterly summary of operating results for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 reflects variations due to the seasonal nature of
the transmission and storage business.
Three Months Ended
March 31

June 30

September 30

December 31

(Thousands, except per unit amounts)

2017
Operating revenues

$

Operating income

203,426

$

145,113

Net income
Net income per limited partner unit:

198,966

$

141,092

207,193

$

145,506

224,511
148,997

$

143,196

$

139,139

$

142,938

$

146,631

$

1.36

$

1.27

$

1.28

$

1.28

$

185,786

$

178,042

$

176,772

$

195,014

(a)

Basic and diluted
2016
Operating revenues
Operating income
Net income

137,120

129,029

126,210

134,590

$

136,735

$

131,859

$

133,660

$

135,700

$

1.39

$

1.27

$

1.23

$

1.31

Net income per limited partner unit: (a)
Basic and diluted

(a) Quarterly net income per limited partner unit amounts are stand-alone calculations and may not be additive to full-year amounts due to rounding and
changes in outstanding units.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not Applicable.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of management of the EQM General Partner, including the EQM General Partner's Principal Executive
Officer and Principal Financial Officer, an evaluation of EQM's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act)), was conducted as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Principal Executive
Officer and Principal Financial Officer of the EQM General Partner concluded that EQM's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the
period covered by this report.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred
during the fourth quarter of 2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, EQM's internal control over financial reporting.
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The management of the EQM General Partner is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. EQM's
internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to the management and Board of Directors of the EQM General Partner regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. All internal
control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Accordingly, even effective controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation.
The management of the EQM General Partner assessed the effectiveness of EQM's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 . In
making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework (2013) . Based on this assessment, management concluded that EQM maintained effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2017 .
Ernst & Young LLP (Ernst & Young), the independent registered public accounting firm that audited EQM's consolidated financial statements, has issued
an attestation report on EQM's internal control over financial reporting. Ernst & Young's attestation report on EQM's internal control over financial reporting
appears in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference herein.
Item 9B. Other Information
Not Applicable.
86

Table of Contents

PART III
Unless the context otherwise requires, references to "EQT Midstream Partners" or "EQM" refer to EQT Midstream Partners, LP and its subsidiaries.
EQM's general partner, EQT Midstream Services, LLC (the EQM General Partner), is a direct wholly owned subsidiary of EQT GP Holdings, LP (EQGP), which
is a subsidiary of EQT Corporation (EQT). EQT GP Services, LLC, which is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQT, is the general partner of EQGP (the
EQGP General Partner). References to "EQT" refer to EQT Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, excluding EQM and the EQM General Partner.
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Directors and Executive Officers of EQM's General Partner
EQM is managed and operated by the directors and officers of the EQM General Partner. Through its ownership and control of the EQGP General
Partner, EQT appoints the directors of the EQM General Partner. Unitholders are not entitled to elect the directors of the EQM General Partner or directly or
indirectly participate in EQM's management or operations. The Board of Directors of the EQM General Partner (Board) has eight directors, of which three
members are independent as defined under the independence standards established by the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (Exchange Act). The NYSE does not require a publicly traded limited partnership like EQM to have a majority of independent directors on the
board of directors of its general partner or to establish a compensation or a nominating and corporate governance committee.
Executive officers of the EQM General Partner manage the day-to-day affairs of EQM's business and conduct EQM's operations. All of the executive
officers of the EQM General Partner are employees of EQT and devote such portion of their productive time to EQM's business and affairs as is required to
manage and conduct EQM's operations. Pursuant to the terms of the omnibus agreement among EQM, the EQM General Partner and EQT, EQM is required to
reimburse EQT for (i) allocated expenses of personnel who perform services for EQM's benefit, and (ii) allocated general and administrative expenses. Please read
Item 13, "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence - Agreements with EQT - Omnibus Agreement."
The executive officers and directors of the EQM General Partner as of February 15, 2018 are as follows:
Name

Age

Position with EQT Midstream Services, LLC

J.J. Ashcroft III

45

Director, Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

J.M. Bott

55

Director

M.A. Bryson

71

Director

L.B. Gardner

60

Director

R.J. McNally

47

Director, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

D.L. Porges

60

Chairman

S.T. Schlotterbeck

52

Director, President and Chief Executive Officer

J.S. Smith

45

Chief Accounting Officer

L.E. Washington

50

Director

Mr. Ashcroft was appointed as a director and as Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the EQM General Partner in August 2017. Mr.
Ashcroft has also served as Senior Vice President, EQT Corporation and President, Midstream since August 2017 and as Senior Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer of Rice Midstream Management LLC (the RMP General Partner), the general partner of Rice Midstream Partners LP (RMP), since November
2017. Prior to joining EQT, Mr. Ashcroft was most recently the Chief Executive Officer of Gulf Oil LP (a distributor of fuel products and lubricants) from
September 2015 to June 2017; the Chief Operating Officer of JP Energy Partners, LP (an operator of a diversified portfolio of midstream assets including crude oil
pipelines and storage, refined product terminals and storage, and natural gas liquids (NGLs) distribution and sales capabilities) from May 2014 to August 2015; and
President of Buckeye Partners, LP's (a provider of midstream logistics solutions, primarily consisting of the transport, storage, processing and marketing of liquid
petroleum products) Natural Gas Storage, Development & Logistics and Energy Services business units from January 2012 to May 2014. Mr. Ashcroft has also
served as a director of the RMP General Partner since November 2017.
87

Table of Contents
Mr. Ashcroft brings extensive midstream energy industry senior management and operational experience to the Board, having served as Chief Executive
Officer and in other senior management roles with each of Gulf Oil LP, JP Energy Partners, LP and Buckeye Partners, LP. Following a distinguished military
career with the United States Marine Corps, Mr. Ashcroft began his midstream energy industry career with Colonial Pipeline Company, L.P. Mr. Ashcroft's
experiences enable him to provide valuable insight to the Board with respect midstream company operations and strategy and business management issues.
Mr. Bott was appointed as a director of the EQM General Partner in May 2012. Mr. Bott is currently the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of SandRidge Energy, Inc., a publicly traded oil and natural gas exploration and production company, and has held such position since August 2015. From
December 2009 to August 2015, Mr. Bott served as the Chief Financial Officer of Texas American Resources Company, a privately held oil and gas acquisition,
exploration and production company. Prior to that, Mr. Bott held various senior energy industry focused positions within the investment banking and financial
advisory industries.
Mr. Bott has significant experience in energy company senior management, finance and corporate development. Mr. Bott is able to draw upon his diverse
senior management and investment banking experience to provide guidance with respect to accounting matters, financial markets, financing transactions and
energy company operations.
Mr. Bryson was appointed as a director of the EQM General Partner in May 2012. Mr. Bryson retired in June 2008 as Executive Vice President of The
Bank of New York Mellon Corporation, a financial services firm. He obtained such position in July 2007 following the merger of Mellon Financial Corporation
and The Bank of New York. Prior to the merger, Mr. Bryson served in various senior management positions over a 33-year career with Mellon Financial
Corporation, including his service as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from December 2001 to June 2007.
Mr. Bryson brings to the Board over three decades of management and financial experience, having served as Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer of a
large publicly traded financial institution. In these roles, Mr. Bryson obtained a wealth of experience related to financial statement preparation, auditing and
accounting matters, financial markets, financing transactions and investor relations.
Mr. Gardner was appointed as a director of the EQM General Partner in January 2012. Mr. Gardner has also served as a director of the EQGP General
Partner and the RMP General Partner since January 2015 and November 2017, respectively. Mr. Gardner is currently the General Counsel and Vice President,
External Affairs of EQT and has held such position since April 2008.
In his current role with EQT, Mr. Gardner oversees legal and external affairs, which includes the safety and environmental, governmental relations and
corporate communications functions. Prior to joining EQT in 2003, Mr. Gardner was a partner in the Houston and Austin, Texas offices of Brown, McCarroll &
Oaks Hartline, general counsel to General Glass International Corp., a privately held glass manufacturing and trading company, and senior counsel, employment
law with Northrop Grumman Corporation (formerly TRW, Inc.). Mr. Gardner's experiences enable him to provide insight to the Board with respect to legal and
external affairs issues, along with providing valuable perspectives with respect to business management and corporate governance issues.
Mr. McNally was appointed as a director and as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the EQM General Partner in March 2016. Mr.
McNally has served as a director and as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the EQGP General Partner and as Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of EQT since March 2016. Mr. McNally has also served as a director and as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the RMP
General Partner since November 2017. Mr. McNally served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Precision Drilling Corporation (a publicly
traded drilling services company) from July 2010 to March 2016.
Mr. McNally brings deep energy industry management, finance and operational experience to the Board, having served as Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of Precision Drilling Corporation from July 2010 to March 2016. Mr. McNally also brings strong capital markets and mergers and
acquisitions experience to the Board, having previously served as an investment banker with Simmons & Company International. Mr. McNally began his career
with Schlumberger Limited, working in operations and sales. Mr. McNally's experiences enable him to provide insight to the Board with respect to accounting
matters, financial markets, financing transactions, mergers and acquisitions and energy company operations.
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Mr. Porges has served as Chairman of the Board of the EQM General Partner since January 2012 and served as President and Chief Executive Officer of
the EQM General Partner from January 2012 through February 2017. Mr. Porges currently serves as the Executive Chairman of EQT and has held such position
since March 2017. Mr. Porges was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of EQT from December 2015 through February 2017, and was Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer of EQT from May 2011 to December 2015. Mr. Porges has also served as Chairman of the Boards of Directors of the EQGP General
Partner and the RMP General Partner since January 2015 and November 2017, respectively. Mr. Porges served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the
EQGP General Partner from January 2015 through February 2017. As previously disclosed in EQT’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 18, 2018, Mr. Porges
intends to retire from his position as Executive Chairman of EQT on February 28, 2018. Following that time, he will continue to serve as a non-executive
Chairman of EQT’s board of directors.
Mr. Porges brings extensive business, leadership, management and financial experience, as well as tremendous knowledge of EQM's operations, culture
and industry, to the Board. Mr. Porges has served in a number of senior management positions with EQT since joining EQT as Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer in 1998. He has also served as a member of EQT's board since May 2002. Prior to joining EQT, Mr. Porges held various senior positions within
the investment banking industry and also held several managerial positions with Exxon Corporation (now, Exxon Mobil Corporation, an international oil and gas
company). Mr. Porges served on the board of directors of Westport Resources Corp. (an oil and natural gas production company that is now part of Anadarko
Petroleum Corporation) from April 2000 through 2004. Mr. Porges' strong financial and industry experience, along with his understanding of EQM's business
operations and culture, enable Mr. Porges to provide unique and valuable perspectives on most issues facing EQM.
Mr. Schlotterbeck has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of EQT, the EQM General Partner and the EQGP General Partner since March
2017 and as President and Chief Executive Officer of the RMP General Partner since November 2017. Mr. Schlotterbeck was appointed as a director of the EQM
General Partner in January 2017. Prior to being elected as Chief Executive Officer of EQT, Mr. Schlotterbeck served as President, EQT Corporation and President,
Exploration and Production from December 2015 to February 2017; Executive Vice President, EQT Corporation and President, Exploration and Production from
December 2013 to December 2015; and Senior Vice President, EQT Corporation and President, Exploration and Production from April 2010 to December 2013.
Mr. Schlotterbeck has also served as a director of EQT since January 2017, a director of the EQGP General Partner since January 2015 and a director of the RMP
General Partner since November 2017.
Mr. Schlotterbeck brings extensive business, senior management and natural gas industry experience to the Board, having held various senior
management and petroleum engineering positions within the energy industry over the past 29 years. Mr. Schlotterbeck led EQT's production business from 2008
until his promotion to Chief Executive Officer. In his role, Mr. Schlotterbeck was responsible for, among other things, executing EQT's natural gas production
growth strategy. Mr. Schlotterbeck's extensive industry knowledge and senior management experience enables him to bring valuable perspectives regarding the
natural gas industry and business management issues.
Ms. Smith was appointed as Chief Accounting Officer of the EQM General Partner in September 2016. Ms. Smith has also served as the Chief Accounting
Officer of the EQGP General Partner and EQT since September 2016 and as the Chief Accounting Officer of the RMP General Partner since November 2017. Ms.
Smith served as Vice President and Controller of EQT's midstream and commercial businesses from March 2013 to September 2016; and as Vice President and
Controller of EQT's midstream business from January 2013 to March 2013.
Ms. Washington was appointed as a director of the EQM General Partner in February 2013. Ms. Washington is currently President of the Allegheny
County Rehabilitation Corporation (AHRCO), a privately held residential property management company serving Western Pennsylvania. She obtained such
position in May 2008. Ms. Washington joined AHRCO in 2001 as Vice President of Development. Prior to joining AHRCO, Ms. Washington was a senior
consultant with PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP.
Ms. Washington's service as President of a private company provides significant senior management, leadership and financial experience. Ms.
Washington utilizes her broad business experience to provide valuable insights with respect to general business and management issues facing EQM.
Meetings of Non-Management Directors and Communications with Directors
At least annually, the independent directors of the EQM General Partner meet in executive session without management participation or participation by
non-independent directors. Mr. Bryson, as the Chairman of the Audit Committee,
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serves as the presiding director for such executive sessions. The presiding director may be contacted by mail or courier service c/o EQT Midstream Services, LLC,
625 Liberty Avenue, Suite 1700, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222, Attn: Presiding Director or by email at presidingdirector@eqtmidstreampartners.com.
Committees of the Board of Directors
The Board has two standing committees: an Audit Committee and a Conflicts Committee. The NYSE does not require a publicly traded limited
partnership like EQM to have a majority of independent directors on the board of directors of its general partner or to establish a compensation or a nominating and
corporate governance committee.
Audit Committee
The EQM General Partner is required by the NYSE to have an Audit Committee of at least three members and all of the Audit Committee members must
meet the independence and experience requirements established by the NYSE and the Exchange Act.
The Audit Committee consists of Messrs. Bryson (Chair) and Bott and Ms. Washington. Each member of the Audit Committee satisfies the independence
requirements established by the NYSE and the Exchange Act and is financially literate. Additionally, the Board has determined that each member of the Audit
Committee qualifies as an "audit committee financial expert" as such term is defined under the SEC's regulations. This designation is a disclosure requirement of
the SEC related to each Audit Committee member's experience and understanding with respect to certain accounting and auditing matters. The designation does
not impose upon the Audit Committee members any duties, obligations or liabilities that are greater than those generally imposed on them as members of the Audit
Committee and the Board. As audit committee financial experts, each member of the Audit Committee also has the accounting or related financial management
expertise required by the NYSE rules.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in its oversight of the integrity of EQM's financial statements and compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and corporate controls. The Audit Committee has the sole authority to retain and terminate EQM's independent registered public accounting firm,
approve all auditing services and related fees and the terms thereof, and pre-approve any non-audit services to be rendered by EQM's independent registered public
accounting firm. The Audit Committee is also responsible for confirming the independence and qualifications of EQM's independent registered public accounting
firm.
Conflicts Committee
The Conflicts Committee consists of Messrs. Bott (Chair) and Bryson and Ms. Washington. The Conflicts Committee, upon request by the EQM General
Partner, determines whether certain transactions, which may be deemed conflicts of interest, are in the best interests of EQM. EQM's partnership agreement does
not require that the EQM General Partner seek the approval of the Conflicts Committee for the resolution of any conflict. The members of the Conflicts Committee
may not be officers or employees of the EQM General Partner or directors, officers or employees of its affiliates, may not hold an ownership interest in the EQM
General Partner or its affiliates other than EQM common units or awards under any long-term incentive plan, equity compensation plan or similar plan
implemented by the EQM General Partner or EQM, and must meet the independence standards established by the NYSE and the Exchange Act to serve on the
Audit Committee. Any matters approved by the Conflicts Committee in good faith will be deemed to be approved by all of EQM's partners and not a breach by the
EQM General Partner of any duties it may owe EQM or its unitholders. Any unitholder challenging any matter approved by the Conflicts Committee will have the
burden of proving that the members of the Conflicts Committee did not subjectively believe that the matter was in the best interests of EQM. Moreover, any acts
taken or omitted to be taken in reliance upon the advice or opinions of experts such as legal counsel, accountants, appraisers, management consultants and
investment bankers, where the EQM General Partner (or any members of the Board including any member of the Conflicts Committee) reasonably believes the
advice or opinion to be within such person's professional or expert competence, shall be conclusively presumed to have been done or omitted in good faith.
Governance Principles
EQM has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics applicable to all directors, officers, employees, and other personnel of EQM and its subsidiaries,
as well as EQM's suppliers, vendors, agents, contractors and consultants. The code of business conduct and ethics, along with EQM's corporate governance
guidelines and Audit Committee charter, are posted on EQM's website, www.eqtmidstreampartners.com (accessible under the "Governance" caption of the
"Investors" page), and a printed copy of any of these documents will be delivered free of charge on request by writing to the Corporate Secretary of the EQM
General Partner by mail or courier service c/o EQT Midstream Services, LLC, 625 Liberty Avenue, Suite 1700,
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Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222, Attn: Corporate Secretary. EQM intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement regarding certain amendments to, or waivers from,
provisions of its code of business conduct and ethics by posting such information on EQM's website.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires that the directors and executive officers of the EQM General Partner and all persons who beneficially own
more than 10% of EQM's common units file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of EQM's common units with the SEC. As a practical
matter, EQM assists the directors and executive officers of the EQM General Partner by monitoring transactions and completing and filing Section 16 reports on
their behalf.
Based solely upon EQM's review of copies of filings or written representations from the reporting persons, EQM believes that all reports for the
executive officers and directors of the EQM General Partner and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of EQM's common units that were required to be
filed under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act in 2017 were filed on a timely basis.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
Definitions of terms that are used, but not defined, in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A) below can be found in the "Narrative
Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table." The "Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and
2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table" and the CD&A below contain references to EQT’s adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization, or "EBITDA", a financial measure that has not been calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), which is also
referred to as a non-GAAP supplemental financial measure. Please see Exhibit 99.3 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a reconciliation of EQT's 2017
adjusted EBITDA to EQT’s net income, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, as well as other important disclosures regarding non-GAAP
financial measures.
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EQM does not directly employ any of the persons responsible for managing its business. EQM is managed and operated by the directors and officers of
the EQM General Partner. EQT employs and compensates all of the individuals who service EQM, including the executive officers of the EQM General Partner,
and these individuals devote such portion of their productive time to EQM’s business and affairs as is required to manage and conduct EQM’s operations. EQM
reimburses EQT for salaries, long- and short-term incentives and related benefits and expenses for the employees of EQT who provide services to EQM pursuant to
the terms of EQM’s omnibus agreement. Please read Item 13, "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence - Agreements with EQT
- Omnibus Agreement."
The officers of the EQM General Partner discussed below as our named executive officers for 2017 are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Steven T. Schlotterbeck, President and Chief Executive Officer;
Robert J. McNally, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer;
Jeremiah J. Ashcroft, III, Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer;
Jimmi Sue Smith, Chief Accounting Officer;
David L. Porges, Chairman and former President and Chief Executive Officer;
Randall L. Crawford, former Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer; and
M. Elise Hyland, former Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer.

These individuals constitute all individuals who were executive officers of the EQM General Partner during 2017.
Consistent with a transition plan relating to the retirement of Mr. Porges as Chief Executive Officer announced in October 2016 by EQT Corporation and
the EQM General Partner, Mr. Schlotterbeck became the Chief Executive Officer of the EQM General Partner in March 2017. Upon becoming Chief Executive
Officer, Mr. Schlotterbeck announced that Ms. Hyland (previously Executive Vice President, Midstream Operations and Engineering, EQT Gathering, LLC since
September 2013) would defer a planned retirement to serve as the President of EQT’s midstream business unit (which includes EQM) and as Senior Vice President
and Chief Operating Officer of the EQM General Partner pending the identification of a successor to Mr. Crawford. Mr. Crawford stepped down from his roles
with EQT and the EQM General Partner in early 2017, exercising the “good reason” termination provisions of his confidentiality, non-solicitation and noncompetition agreement with EQT. Mr. Ashcroft, the current President of EQT’s midstream business unit, was hired by EQT in August 2017. Ms. Hyland then
transitioned to the role of Senior Vice President, Special Projects of EQT and is expected to retire in March 2018.
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The executive officers of our general partner are (or were) also executive officers of EQT. Messrs. Schlotterbeck, McNally, and Porges and Ms. Smith are
(or were) also executive officers of the EQGP General Partner, and Messrs. Schlotterbeck and McNally and Ms. Smith are also executive officers of the RMP
General Partner.
Neither EQM nor the EQM General Partner has a compensation committee. All decisions as to the compensation of the executive officers of the EQM
General Partner are made by the Management Development and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of EQT (the EQT MDC Committee).
Therefore, neither EQM nor the EQM General Partner has any policies or programs relating to compensation, and neither EQM nor the EQM General Partner make
decisions relating to compensation, though from time to time the Board of Directors of the EQM General Partner may be asked to approve awards granted under
the EQT Midstream Services, LLC 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan. We expect any such future awards to be previously approved by the EQT MDC Committee as
part of the executive’s total EQT compensation. None of the executive officers of the EQM General Partner have employment agreements with the EQM General
Partner or EQM or are otherwise specifically compensated for their service as an executive officer of the EQM General Partner.
A discussion of EQT’s compensation policies and programs as they apply (or applied) to EQT’s named executive officers, including Messrs.
Schlotterbeck, McNally, Ashcroft, Porges, and Crawford and Ms. Hyland will be set forth in EQT’s proxy statement for its 2018 Annual Shareholder Meeting or in
an amendment to EQT’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 (in either case, EQT’s Disclosure Document). Except as described in
this CD&A, those same policies and programs also apply to Ms. Smith.
EQT’s Disclosure Document will also contain a discussion of the 2017 and 2018 compensation of Messrs. Schlotterbeck, McNally, Ashcroft, Porges, and
Crawford and Ms. Hyland. A discussion of the 2017 and 2018 compensation for Ms. Smith is set forth below and was provided by EQT.
EQT’s Disclosure Document will be available upon its filing (expected not later than April 30, 2018) on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov and on EQT’s
website at www.eqt.com by clicking on the “Investors” link on the main page followed by the “SEC Filings” link. EQT’s Disclosure Document will also be
available free of charge upon request by a unitholder to the Corporate Secretary of the EQM General Partner by mail or courier service c/o EQT Midstream
Services, LLC, 625 Liberty Avenue, Suite 1700, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222, Attn: Corporate Secretary.
Components Of The EQT Compensation Program
The following describes each element of EQT’s executive compensation arrangements with Ms. Smith. Such compensation arrangements include: base
salary, annual incentives, long-term incentives, health and welfare benefits, retirement programs, perquisites, and a non-compete agreement.
As will be described in more detail in EQT’s Disclosure Document, the EQT MDC Committee uses peer groups:
•
•
•

to help establish base salary and target annual and long-term incentives;
to ensure that the total direct compensation (base salary and target annual and long-term incentives) is competitive; and
in measuring relative company performance for some of EQT’s long-term incentive programs.

For establishing the compensation of Ms. Smith the EQT MDC Committee utilized a general industry peer group of companies, consisting of companies
with revenues of $1 billion to $3 billion for Ms. Smith’s 2017 compensation and revenues of $3 billion to $6 billion for Ms. Smith’s 2018 compensation. The
general industry peer companies for 2017 and 2018 are set forth on Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 to this Form 10-K. References in this CD&A to the "market" (as in
compensation was above, below or approximated the "market" median) refer to the general industry peer group for the applicable year. Separate energy industry
peer groups are used to measure relative company performance for some of EQT’s long-term incentive programs. The energy-industry peer companies for EQT’s
2017 and 2018 compensation programs will be set forth in EQT’s Disclosure Document.
Base Salary
Ms. Smith’s base salary was increased to $242,250 when she assumed her position in September 2016. Her base salary remained the same throughout
2017, slightly below the market median for her position in light of her relative level of experience. Consistent with the treatment of EQT’s other executive officers,
Ms. Smith’s base salary for 2018 was increased by 5% over her 2017 base salary.
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Annual Incentive
For the 2017 plan year, Ms. Smith participated in EQT’s Executive Short-Term Incentive Plan (the EQT Executive STIP), which will be described in
EQT’s Disclosure Document. Ms. Smith’s target award under the EQT Executive STIP was $102,360, reflecting the market median for her position. Based upon
EQT’s level of achievement with respect to the approved performance metric and Ms. Smith’s incentive target and performance on EQT, business unit and
individual value drivers, the EQT MDC Committee awarded Ms. Smith $250,000, which represented 244% of her target award. Ms. Smith’s role with EQT is
management of the accounting functions. Her bonus recognized her performance on EQT, business unit and individual value drivers in 2017, including:
•
•
•
•

providing strong oversight for accounting disclosure and control systems as evidenced by the lack of significant internal control or financial reporting
deficiencies;
effective implementation of new applicable accounting standards;
overseeing and coordinating public filings for four pubic registrants; and
strategic thinking and financial integration efforts concerning the acquisitions during the year.

For the 2018 plan year, Ms. Smith will again participate in the EQT Executive STIP, which will be described in EQT’s Disclosure Document. Ms.
Smith’s 2018 target award is $112,000, reflecting the market median.
Long-Term Incentives
2017 Long-Term Incentive Awards (EQT 2017 Restricted Share Units, EQT 2017 Incentive PSU Program, and EQT 2017 Value Driver PSU Program)
The EQT MDC Committee typically contemplates differing sets for awards for differing levels of employees, completing the long-term incentive program
design in late fall of the preceding year and approving awards in December with a January 1 grant date.
Following analysis of EQT’s long-term incentive programs, and with input from its independent compensation consultant, the 2017 long-term incentive
program designed by the EQT MDC Committee for Ms. Smith was as follows:
TYPE OF AWARD

PERCENT OF AWARDED
VALUE

RATIONALE

EQT 2017 Restricted Share Unit
Awards

25%

EQT 2017 restricted share unit awards are a strong retention tool for executives that also align
their interests with the long-term interests of shareholders, though such awards contain less
leverage than options and performance units.

EQT 2017 Incentive PSU
Program

25%

EQT 2017 Incentive PSU Program performance units drive long-term value directly related to
EQT share performance but allow for the delivery of some value to the holder, assuming
relative performance, even if EQT’s share price declines. The EQT MDC Committee believes
that performance units have stronger retention value than options but less leverage in a rising
share price environment. The performance metrics for this program are total shareholder return
relative to the 2017 industry peer group of companies and absolute natural gas sales volume
growth, in each case over the three year performance period.

EQT 2017 Value Driver PSU
Program

50%

EQT 2017 Value Driver PSU Program performance units drive the focus of the executive on
activities aligned with EQT’s business plan and on EQT, business unit, and individual value
drivers, which activities are critical to EQT’s long-term success. The performance metric for
this program is adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA compared to business plan.

The long-term incentive program identified above, as well as the allocation of value among the awards, will be described more fully in EQT’s Disclosure
Document.
The aggregate value of the long-term incentive awards to Ms. Smith approximated the 70th percentile of the market. In making this award, the EQT MDC
Committee considered the scope of Ms. Smith’s responsibilities and the recommendations of EQT’s then-Chief Executive Officer.
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Based upon EQT’s achievement of the approved performance metric under the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program and, consistent with program design,
consideration of Ms. Smith’s target award and her performance on EQT, business unit, and individual value drivers (see discussion above under “Components Of
The Compensation Program - Annual Incentive” for a discussion of such performance), the EQT MDC Committee confirmed awards equal to 1.68x Ms. Smith’s
target award. Adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA along with a reconciliation thereof to EQT’s net income, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, as
well as other important disclosures regarding non-GAAP financial measures, are set forth Exhibit 99.3 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Following confirmation of the awards by the EQT MDC Committee, the number of 2017 Value Driver PSU Program units became fixed, 50% of the
confirmed awards (including accrued dividends) are expected to vest and be settled in cash in the first quarter of 2018, and the balance (including accrued
dividends) is expected to vest and be settled in the same manner in the first quarter of 2019, contingent upon continued service with EQT.
2018 Long-Term Incentive Awards (EQT 2018 Stock Options, EQT 2018 Restricted Shares, and EQT 2018 Incentive PSU Program)
As mentioned above, the EQT MDC Committee typically completes the long-term incentive design in late fall of the preceding year and approves awards
in December with a January 1 grant date.
Following analysis of EQT’s long-term incentive programs, and with input from its independent compensation consultant, the 2018 long-term incentive
program designed by the EQT MDC Committee for Ms. Smith was as follows:
TYPE OF AWARD

PERCENT OF AWARDED
VALUE

RATIONALE

EQT 2018 Stock Options

25%

EQT 2018 stock options encourage executives to focus broadly on behaviors that the EQT
MDC Committee believes should lead to a sustained long-term increase in the price of EQT
shares, which benefits EQT shareholders.

EQT 2018 Restricted Share
Awards

25%

EQT 2018 restricted share awards are a strong retention tool for executives that also align their
interests with the long-term interests of shareholders, though such awards contain less leverage
than options and performance units. The EQT MDC Committee retained this element in the
long-term incentive program design for 2018 after considering market data showing continued
prevalence of restricted shares as a retention tool used by many members of the 2017 industry
peer group.

EQT 2018 Incentive PSU
Program

50%

EQT 2018 Incentive PSU Program performance units drive long-term value directly related to
EQT production efficiency by using operating efficiency, development efficiency, and return
on capital employed, as well as total shareholder return relative to the 2018 industry peer group
of companies, as performance metrics. This reflects a significant change from prior years
where the comparable performance program focused on relative total shareholder return
performance and absolute natural gas sales volume growth. The EQT MDC Committee
believes that performance units have stronger retention value than options but less leverage in
a rising stock price environment. If earned, the awards to EQT executive officers are expected
to vest and be settled in EQT common stock.

The 2018 long-term incentive program identified above, as well as the allocation of value among the awards, will be more fully described in EQT’s
Disclosure Document.
The EQT MDC Committee’s determination of the value of the 2018 long-term incentive awards for EQT’s executive officers generally involved
identifying the target total direct compensation (base salary plus target annual incentive plus target long-term incentive) value equal to 90% of the market median
value and reducing such amount by the executive’s 2018 base salary (a 5% increase from 2017 base salaries) and a 2018 market median target annual incentive
award. In making the award to Ms. Smith, however, the EQT MDC Committee also considered the scope of Ms. Smith’s responsibilities and the recommendations
of EQT’s Chief Executive Officer, resulting in Ms. Smith receiving a 2018 long-term incentive award that approximated the 75th percentile of the market. Ms.
Smith was awarded 6,800 EQT options, 2,030 EQT restricted shares and 4,060 target units under the 2018 Incentive PSU Program.
94

Table of Contents
Certification of Performance Under Previously Awarded Long-Term Incentive Programs
In early 2017, the EQT MDC Committee certified the relevant performance and authorized payout for the 2014 Incentive PSU Program and the 2016
Value Driver PSU Program. In early 2018, the Compensation Committee certified the relevant performance and authorized payout for the 2015 Incentive PSU
Program (after excluding production from Rice wells producing as of the transaction closing date) and the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program (which by its terms
excludes the impact of acquisitions of greater than $100 million).
Other Benefits
Ms. Smith participates in the same health and welfare benefit plans offered to other EQT employees, including medical, prescription drug, dental, vision,
short- and long-term disability, wellness and employee assistance programs. The same contribution amounts, deductibles and plan design provisions are generally
applicable to all employees.
Ms. Smith participates in the same defined contribution 401(k) plan as other EQT employees. EQT has historically contributed an amount equal to 6% of
each participant’s base salary to an individual investment account for the employee, subject to applicable tax regulations. In addition, EQT matches a participant’s
elective contribution by contributing to the participant’s individual investment account an amount equal to 50% of each dollar contributed by the employee, subject
to a maximum EQT contribution of 3% of the employee’s base salary and to applicable tax regulations.
Ms. Smith receives the following perquisites: executive physical (including preferred access to healthcare professionals and related services), financial
planning, life insurance and accidental death and disability insurance (both of which exceed the level of insurance provided to other employees), de minimis
personal usage of EQT purchased event tickets, and parking.
Agreements with Named Executive Officers
The EQT MDC Committee believes that severance protections can play a valuable role in attracting, motivating and retaining highly talented executives.
Accordingly, EQT provides such protections for its executive officers. The agreements with Messrs. Schlotterbeck, McNally, Ashcroft, Porges, and Crawford and
Ms. Hyland will be described in detail in EQT’s Disclosure Document. The agreements with Ms. Smith is described below under the caption “Potential Payments
Upon Termination or Change of Control.”
Importantly, the executive agreements include covenants not to compete with, or solicit employees, customers, potential customers, vendors or
independent contractors from, EQT (including EQM, EQGP and RMP) for a specified period of time and to maintain the confidentiality of EQT (including EQM,
EQGP and RMP) information. The EQT MDC Committee believes that these covenants are extremely valuable to EQT (including EQM, EQGP and RMP).
Other Information
Compensation packages for EQT executives are generally weighted in favor of performance-based, at-risk compensation through annual and long-term
performance-based incentive pay. The charts below reflect the fixed, at-risk and performance components of the 2017 compensation for the continuing named
executive officers (Messrs. Schlotterbeck, McNally and Ashcroft and Ms. Smith):
PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL DIRECT COMPENSATION FOR 2017
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

FIXED (1)

AT-RISK (2)

S.T. Schlotterbeck

23%

77%

R.J. McNally

27%

73%

J.J. Ashcroft (3)

99%

1%

J.S. Smith

38%

62%

(1) This column reflects each of the continuing named executive officer’s base salary earned during 2017 (as shown for 2017 in the "Salary" column of the
Summary Compensation Table), restricted share and restricted unit awards (a portion of the amount shown for 2017 in the "Stock Awards" column of the
Summary Compensation Table) and, in the case of Mr. Ashcroft, his guaranteed bonus (as shown for 2017 in the "Bonus" columns of the Summary
Compensation Table), as a percentage of the sum of the executive's total direct compensation for 2017 set forth in the Summary Compensation Table.
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(2) This column reflects each continuing named executive officer's non-equity incentive plan compensation and equity compensation for 2017 (as shown for
2017 in the "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation," "Stock Awards" (excluding the restricted share and restricted unit portion of the named executive
officer's compensation) and "Option Awards" columns of the Summary Compensation Table), as a percentage of the sum of the executive's total direct
compensation for 2017 set forth in the Summary Compensation Table.
(3) Mr. Ashcroft received a restricted stock award and a guaranteed bonus upon his hiring in 2017. Going forward Mr. Ashcroft is expected to participate in
the typical performance-based compensation program for executive officers.
Consistent with the goal of driving long-term value creation for shareholders, EQT’s equity ownership guidelines require significant equity ownership by
its named executive officers. The equity holdings of Messrs. Schlotterbeck, McNally, Ashcroft, and Porges and Ms. Hyland as of December 31, 2017 relative to
their equity ownership guidelines will be set forth in EQT’s Disclosure Document. Upon becoming an EQT executive officer in September 2016, Ms. Smith was
required maintain qualifying holdings equal to three times her base salary as adjusted from time to time. As of December 31, 2017, Ms. Smith held qualifying
holdings equal to 3.4 times her base salary.
Qualifying equity holdings include EQT stock and EQM, EQGP, and RMP units owned directly, EQT shares held in EQT’s 401(k) plan, time-based
restricted stock and units, and performance-based awards for which only a service condition remains but do not include other performance-based awards or options.
Although mandatory, there is no deadline for achieving the ownership guidelines and executives are not required to purchase EQT stock or EQGP, EQM, or RMP
units. The net shares or units acquired through incentive compensation plans (through the exercise of options, the vesting of restricted shares or similar) must be
retained if an executive has not satisfied the executive’s target. An executive’s failure to meet the equity ownership guidelines may influence an executive’s mix of
cash and non-cash compensation.
Compensation Committee Report
Neither we nor our general partner has a compensation committee. The board of directors of our general partner has reviewed and discussed the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis set forth above and based on this review and discussion has approved it for inclusion in this Form 10-K.
The board of directors of EQT Midstream Services, LLC includes:
David L. Porges
Jeremiah J. Ashcroft III
Julian M. Bott
Michael A. Bryson
Lewis B. Gardner
Robert J. McNally
Steven T. Schlotterbeck
Lara E. Washington
Compensation Tables
The Summary Compensation Table below reflects the total compensation of the principal executive officer (including David L. Porges who was the
principal executive officer through February 28, 2017 and Steven T. Schlotterbeck who was the principal executive officer for the balance of the year), the
principal financial officer, the two other executive officers of the EQM General Partner who were serving as executive officers at the end of 2017, Randall L.
Crawford who was Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer until February 28, 2017, and M. Elise Hyland who was Senior Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer from February 28, 2017 through August 7, 2017 (the named executive officers) for services rendered to all EQT-related entities, including EQM,
the EQM General Partner, EQGP, the EQGP General Partner, RMP, the RMP General Partner and EQT, as applicable. The compensation information set forth in
this Item 11, "Executive Compensation," was provided by EQT.
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Summary Compensation Table

NAME AND PRINCIPAL
POSITION

YEAR

SALARY
($) (1)

BONUS
($) (2)

STOCK
AWARDS
($) (3)

OPTION
AWARDS
($) (4)

NON-EQUITY
INCENTIVE PLAN
COMPENSATION
($) (5)

ALL OTHER
COMPENSATION
($) (6)

TOTAL
($)

S.T. Schlotterbeck
President and Chief
Executive Officer

2017

703,945

—

4,208,670

1,042,944

2,000,000

250,926

8,206,485

R.J. McNally Senior Vice
President and Chief
Financial Officer

2017

466,238

—

2,072,314

511,108

725,000

223,157

3,997,817

2016

323,550

500,000

3,008,725

692,265

660,000

53,837

5,238,377

J.J. Ashcroft III
Senior Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer

2017

194,202

500,000

2,150,498

—

—

49,222

2,893,922

J.S. Smith
Chief Accounting Officer

2017

242,249

—

403,698

—

250,000

28,594

924,541

2016

214,298

—

299,280

—

230,000

29,969

773,547

D.L. Porges
Former President and Chief
Executive Officer

2017

850,000

500,000

—

—

—

402,083

1,752,083

2016

850,000

—

4,926,468

1,133,118

2,500,000

369,062

9,778,648

2015

850,000

1,000,000

6,690,025

1,072,610

2,100,000

393,613

12,106,248

R.L. Crawford Former
Executive Vice President
and Chief Operating Officer

2017

93,146

—

—

—

—

3,615,280

3,708,426

2016

463,501

—

1,524,254

350,658

940,000

217,021

3,495,434

2015

460,905

500,000

2,936,499

471,630

900,000

200,457

5,469,491

M.E. Hyland
Former Senior Vice
President and Chief
Operating Officer

2017

430,908

—

1,833,664

319,140

545,700

132,291

3,261,703

(1) Each named executive officer's annual base salary is paid over 26 equal pay periods each year.
(2) The amounts for 2017 in this column reflect Messrs. Ashcroft and Porges’ bonuses for 2017. See "Ashcroft and Porges Bonuses" under the caption "Narrative Disclosure to
Summary Compensation Table and 2017 Grants of Plan Based Awards Table" below for further discussion Messrs. Ashcroft and Porges’ bonuses.
(3) This column reflects the aggregate grant date fair values determined in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 using the assumptions described in Note 18 to EQT's
Consolidated Financial Statements, which is included in EQT's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on February 15,
2018. Pursuant to SEC rules, the amounts shown in the Summary Compensation Table for awards subject to performance conditions are based on the probable outcome as
of the date of grant and exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures. Assuming, instead, that the highest level of performance conditions would be achieved, the grant date
fair values of the awards granted in 2017 would have been $5,268,171 for Mr. Schlotterbeck; $2,598,107 for Mr. McNally; $753,174 for Ms. Smith; and $2,601,221 for Ms.
Hyland.
See "Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table" below for further discussion of the 2017 Incentive PSU
Program, the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program, and the 2017 EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards.
(4) This column reflects the grant date fair values of EQT stock option awards granted on January 1, 2015, January 1, 2016, January 1, 2017, and March 1, 2017 calculated
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model using the assumptions described in Note 18 to EQT's Consolidated Financial Statements, which is included in EQT's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on February 15, 2018.
See "Option Awards -EQT 2017 Options" under the caption "Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table" below
for further discussion of the EQT 2017 options.
(5) This column reflects the dollar value of annual incentive compensation earned under the EQT Executive STIP (as defined and described under the caption "Narrative
Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table" below) for
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Messrs. Schlotterbeck and McNally and Mses. Smith and Hyland, for the applicable plan year. See "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation - EQT Executive Short Term
Incentive Plan (EQT Executive STIP)" under the caption "Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table" below for
further discussion of the EQT Executive STIP for the 2017 plan year.
(6) This column includes the dollar value of premiums paid by EQT for group life, accidental death and dismemberment insurance, EQT's contributions to the 401(k) plan and
the 2006 Payroll Deduction and Contribution Program, perquisites, and in the case of Mr. Crawford, payments required under his transition agreement in connection with
his termination of employment for good reason. For 2017, these amounts were as follows:

NAME

INSURANCE

401(K)
CONTRIBUTIONS

2006
PAYROLL
DEDUCTION AND
CONTRIBUTION
PROGRAM

($)

($)

($)

OTHER

PERQUISITES
(SEE BELOW)

TOTAL

($)

($)

($)

S.T. Schlotterbeck

1,710

24,000

182,055

—

43,161

250,926

R.J. McNally

1,083

18,000

90,261

—

113,813

223,157

505

18,000

—

—

30,717

49,222

J.J. Ashcroft III
J.S. Smith

554

18,000

—

—

10,040

28,594

D.L. Porges

1,938

16,200

327,200

—

56,745

402,083

R.L. Crawford

1,058

18,000

103,400

3,465,108

27,714

3,615,280

M.E. Hyland

1,026

24,000

60,682

—

46,583

132,291

Once 401(k) contributions for each executive (except Ms. Smith) reach the maximum level permitted under the 401(k) plan, EQT contributions are continued on an after-tax
basis under the 2006 Payroll Deduction and Contribution Program through an annuity program offered by Fidelity Investments Life Insurance Co. Each year, EQT also
contributes an amount equal to 11% of the annual incentive awards for each executive (except Ms. Smith) to such program (because Mr. Ashcroft did not receive an annual
incentive award for 2016, he did not receive the 11% contribution in 2017).
Amounts in the perquisite column include the following:
•
For each executive (except Ms. Smith) an amount intended to cover the annual cost of acquiring, maintaining and insuring a car.
•
For each executive (except Ms. Smith) the entire cost of country and dining club dues, although EQT believes that only a portion of the cost represents a perquisite.
For Mr. McNally this amount includes $69,859 for country club initiation fees and dues.
•
The actual cost to EQT of providing to each executive financial planning and tax preparation services.
•
The actual cost to EQT for providing an executive physical benefit, which includes preferred access to healthcare professionals and related services for each named
executive officer and, in the case of each executive (except Ms. Smith), their spouses.
•
For Messers. Schlotterbeck, Ashcroft, Porges, and Crawford, this amount also includes the actual cost to EQT in connection with travel assistance services procured
by EQT for the benefit of the executives and their families.
•
For Mr. McNally this amount includes the cost of his family accompanying him on a business flight chartered by EQT.
•
For Mr. Ashcroft this amount includes expenses related to his relocation to Pittsburgh in excess of the amount generally available to employees.
The named executive officers may use two tickets purchased by EQT to attend up to four sporting or other events when such tickets are not otherwise being used for
business purposes. The costs of such tickets used for personal purposes are considered de minimis by EQT and are not included as perquisites in the Summary
Compensation Table because there are no incremental costs to EQT associated with such use.
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2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table
ESTIMATED FUTURE PAYOUTS UNDER NONEQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS

NAME

TYPE OF
AWARD

GRANT
DATE

APPROVAL
DATE

(1)

S.T.
Schlotterbeck

R. J. McNally

ESTIP

ESTIMATED FUTURE PAYOUTS UNDER
EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS

THRESHOLD

TARGET

MAXIMUM

THRESHOLD

TARGET

MAXIMUM

($)

($) (2)

($) (2)

(#)

(#) (3)

(#) (3)

ALL OTHER
STOCK
ALL OTHER
AWARDS;
OPTION AWARDS;
GRANT DATE
NUMBER OF
NUMBER OF
EXERCISE OR FAIR VALUE
SHARES OF
SECURITIES
BASE PRICE
OF STOCK
STOCK OR
UNDERLYING
OF OPTION AND OPTION
UNITS
OPTIONS
AWARDS
AWARDS
(#) (4)

(#)

($/SH)

($)

—

—

—

850,000

5,000,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

PSU

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

34,410

103,230

—

—

—

3,083,136

SO

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

58,200

65.40

1,042,944

RS

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

—

—

17,210

—

—

1,125,534

—

—

—

356,250

5,000,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

PSU

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

15,300

45,900

—

—

—

1,370,880

PSU

3/1/2017

2/7/2017

—

—

—

—

1,670

5,010

—

—

—

149,632

SO

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

25,900

65.40

464,128

SO

3/1/2017

2/7/2017

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

2,900

59.89

46,980

RS

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

—

—

7,650

—

—

500,310

RS

3/1/2017

2/7/2017

—

—

—

—

—

—

840

—

—

51,492

J.J. Ashcroft, III

RS

8/7/2017

7/28/2017

—

—

—

—

—

—

34,430

—

—

2,150,498

J.S. Smith

ESTIP

M.E. Hyland

ESTIP

—

—

—

102,360

5,000,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

PSU

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

1,440

4,320

—

—

—

121,824

RS

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,440

—

—

94,176

VDA

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

2,870

8,610

—

—

—

187,698

ESTIP

—

—

—

337,500

5,000,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

PSU

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

1,600

4,800

—

—

—

135,360

PSU

3/1/2017

2/7/2017

—

—

—

—

11,510

34,530

—

—

—

1,031,296

SO

3/1/2017

2/7/2017

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

19,700

59.89

319,140

RS

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,600

—

—

104,640

RS

3/1/2017

2/7/2017

—

—

—

—

—

—

5,760

—

—

353,088

VDA

1/1/2017

12/6/2016

—

—

—

—

3,200

9,600

—

—

—

209,280

(1) Type of Award:
PSU = 2017 Incentive PSU Program Awards
ESTIP = EQT Executive STIP for the 2017 Plan Year
SO = EQT Stock Options
RS = EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards
VDA = 2017 Value Driver PSU Program
(2) These columns reflect the annual incentive award target and maximum amounts payable under the EQT Executive STIP for the 2017 plan year. Under the EQT Executive
STIP, a formula based on adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA compared to EQT's business plan establishes the maximum payment from which the EQT MDC Committee typically
exercises its discretion downward in determining the actual payment. The payout amounts could range from no payment, to the percentage of base salary identified as the
target annual incentive award (target), to $5 million (maximum). See "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation - EQT Executive Short-Term Incentive Plan (EQT
Executive STIP)" under the caption "Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table" below for further discussion of
the EQT Executive STIP for the 2017 plan year.
(3) These columns reflect the target and maximum number of units payable under the 2017 Incentive PSU Program and the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program. Under the 2017
Incentive PSU Program, the performance measures are EQT's total shareholder return (TSR) over the period January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2019, as ranked among
the comparably measured TSR of an industry peer group, and EQT's compound annual production sales volume growth. The payout amounts for the 2017 Incentive PSU
Program could range from 0% of units granted, to 100% of units granted (target), to 300% of units granted (maximum), dependent upon the satisfaction of the performance
measures over the performance period. Under the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program, the performance metric is adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA compared to EQT's business
plan. The 2017 Value Driver PSU Program payout amounts could range from 0% of awards granted, to 100% of awards granted (target), to 300% of awards granted
(maximum), dependent upon adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA compared to EQT's 2017 business plan. See "Stock Awards - EQT 2017 Incentive Performance Share Unit
Program (2017 Incentive PSU
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Program)" and "Stock Awards - EQT 2017 Value Driver Performance Share Unit Award Program (2017 Value Driver PSU Program)" under the caption "Narrative
Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table" below for further discussion of the 2017 Incentive PSU Program and the 2017
Value Driver PSU Program.
(4) This column reflects the number of time-based restricted EQT shares and/or EQT share units granted to the named executive officers. See "Stock Awards - 2017 EQT
Restricted Share and Unit Awards" under the caption "Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table" below for
further discussion of the 2017 EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards.

NARRATIVE DISCLOSURE TO SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE AND 2017 GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS TABLE
Set forth below is a discussion of the material elements of compensation paid to our named executive officers as reflected in the Summary Compensation
Table and the 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table. Such discussion contains statements regarding future EQT performance targets and goals. These targets
and goals are disclosed in the limited context of EQT’s compensation programs, may have been established one or more years ago, and should not be understood to
be statements of EQT’s expectations or estimates of future company results or other guidance. EQM specifically cautions investors not to apply these statements in
other contexts. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the Summary Compensation Table and the 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table above.
Base Salary
The base salary for each named executive officer reflected in the Summary Compensation Table above is the base salary actually earned and reflects a
proportionate amount of any increase made during the applicable year.
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation - EQT Executive Short-Term Incentive Plan (EQT Executive STIP)
Messrs. Schlotterbeck and McNally and Mses. Smith and Hyland participated in the EQT Executive STIP. Before or at the start of each year, the EQT
MDC Committee establishes the performance measure for determining awards under the EQT Executive STIP. This performance measure establishes the
maximum annual incentive award that the EQT MDC Committee may approve as "performance-based compensation" subject to the shareholder approved
individual limit set forth in the EQT Executive STIP, but does not set an expectation for the amount of annual incentive that will actually be paid. The EQT MDC
Committee is permitted to exercise, and has generally exercised, downward discretion in determining the actual payout under the annual incentive plan. The EQT
MDC Committee may not exercise upward discretion. The performance measure approved for the EQT Executive STIP for the 2017 plan year was adjusted 2017
EQT EBITDA (a non-GAAP financial measure calculated as set forth in Exhibit 99.3 to this Form 10-K), compared to EQT's 2017 business plan, as follows:
PERCENTAGE OF ADJUSTED 2017
EQT EBITDA AVAILABLE FOR
EQT EXECUTIVE OFFICER 2017
ANNUAL INCENTIVE AWARDS

ADJUSTED 2017 EQT EBITDA
COMPARED TO
BUSINESS PLAN
At or above plan

2%

5% below plan

1.5%

25% below plan

1%

Greater than 25% below plan

No bonus

The percentage of adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA available for eligible executive officer annual incentives was interpolated between levels and capped at
2%. Actual adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA of $1,537 million exceeded plan by approximately 0.1% , which allowed the EQT MDC Committee to award annual
incentives to EQT's eight eligible executive officers in an aggregate amount of $30.7 million , subject to a $5 million cap per executive officer. The EQT MDC
Committee exercised its discretion to pay each eligible named executive officer a lesser amount based on the individual's 2017 target award and 2017 performance
on EQT, business unit and individual value drivers.
The EQT Executive STIP provides that the annual awards will be paid in cash, subject to EQT MDC Committee discretion to pay in equity. The EQT
MDC Committee typically considers settling awards in equity rather than cash only when an executive has not satisfied the applicable equity ownership guidelines.
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Stock Awards - EQT 2017 Incentive Performance Share Unit Program (2017 Incentive PSU Program)
Awards under the 2017 Incentive PSU Program were granted on January 1 and March 1, 2017. The performance measures for the 2017 Incentive PSU
Program are:
•
•

EQT's TSR over the period January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2019, as ranked among the comparably measured TSR of an industry peer group;
and
EQT's compound annual production sales volume growth over the performance period.

The payout opportunity under the 2017 Incentive PSU Program ranges from no payout to three times the target award. The payout matrix and peer group
for the 2017 Incentive PSU Program will be set forth in EQT's Disclosure Document. If earned, and contingent upon continued service with EQT through the
payment date, the share units granted on January 1 to Mses. Smith and Hyland are expected to be distributed in cash in an amount equal to the target award
(including accrued dividends) multiplied by the applicable payout multiple and by the closing price of EQT's common stock on December 31, 2019 and the other
share units are expected to be distributed in shares of EQT common stock equal to the target award (including accrued dividends) multiplied by the applicable
payout multiple.
Stock Awards - EQT 2017 Value Driver Performance Share Unit Award Program (2017 Value Driver PSU Program)
Awards under the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program were granted on January 1, 2017. Mses. Smith and Hyland were the only named executive officers
awarded performance awards under the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program. The performance measure for the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program was adjusted 2017
EQT EBITDA compared to EQT's 2017 business plan. The payout opportunity under the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program was:
•
•

no payout if the adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA was less than EQT's business plan; or
three times the number of target awards granted if the adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA equaled or exceeded EQT's business plan, subject to the EQT
MDC Committee's discretion to determine that a lower performance multiple applied. In exercising its discretion the EQT MDC Committee was to
consider and be guided by performance on EQT, business unit, and individual value drivers.

Adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA was $1,537 million , which satisfied the threshold performance goal and allowed the EQT MDC Committee to confirm
performance awards equal to 3.0X each participating named executive officer's target award.
Fifty percent of the confirmed performance awards (including accrued dividends) are expected to vest and be distributed in cash in the first quarter of
2018, and the remainder is expected to vest and be distributed in cash in the first quarter of 2019, contingent upon continued service with EQT through the payment
date. A reconciliation of adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA to EQT’s net income, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, as well as other important
disclosures regarding non-GAAP financial measures are set forth in Exhibit 99.3 to this Form 10-K.
Stock Awards - 2017 EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards
EQT restricted shares were awarded on January 1, 2017 to Messrs. Schlotterbeck and McNally, on March 1, 2017 to Mr. McNally and Ms. Hyland, and
on August 7, 2017 to Mr. Ashcroft. EQT restricted share units were awarded on January 1, 2017 to Ms. Smith and Ms. Hyland. The EQT restricted share and unit
awards will vest on the third anniversary of the applicable grant date, contingent upon continued service with EQT through such date. If earned, the restricted
shares will be distributed in shares of EQT common stock (including accrued dividends), and the restricted units will be distributed in cash in an amount equal to
the awarded units (including accrued dividends) multiplied by the closing price of EQT's common stock on the business day preceding the vesting date for
restricted shares and December 31, 2019 for restricted units.
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Option Awards - EQT 2017 Options
Options for EQT common stock were awarded to Messrs. Schlotterbeck and McNally on January 1, 2017 with an exercise price of $65.40. Options for
EQT common stock were awarded to Mr. McNally and Ms. Hyland on March 1, 2017 with an exercise price of $59.89. The options granted on January 1, 2017
expire on January 1, 2027 and vest on January 1, 2020, while the options granted on March 1, 2017 expire on March 1, 2027 and vest on March 1, 2020. In all
cases, vesting is contingent upon continued service with EQT through the vesting date.
Ashcroft and Porges Bonuses
In connection with his agreement to become Senior Vice President, EQT and President, Midstream, and also Senior Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer of the EQM General Partner in August 2017, Mr. Ashcroft negotiated a guaranteed bonus for 2017 of $482,740. The EQT MDC Committee granted Mr.
Ashcroft an additional bonus of $17,260 and Mr. Porges a bonus of $500,000 for 2017.
Retirement Benefits
The named executive officers of the EQM General Partner participate in employee benefit plans and arrangements sponsored by EQT. EQT provides full
discussion of its plans and arrangements in its filings with the SEC, including its annual proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of the shareholders of EQT,
which filings are available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov and on EQT's website at www.EQT.com on the "SEC Filings" page under the "Investors
Relations" tab. The Corporate Secretary of the EQM General Partner will also provide a copy to you free of charge upon request.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table reflects all outstanding EQT equity awards as of December 31, 2017 . The named executive officers had no outstanding EQM, EQGP
or RMP equity awards as of December 31, 2017 .
OPTION AWARDS

S.T. Schlotterbeck

EQUITY AWARDS

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES
UNDERLYING
UNEXERCISED
OPTIONS
EXERCISABLE

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES
UNDERLYING
UNEXERCISED
OPTIONS
UNEXERCISABLE

OPTION
EXERCISE
PRICE

(#)

(#) (1)

($)

OPTION
EXPIRATION
DATE

NUMBER OF
SHARES OR
UNITS OF
STOCK
THAT HAVE
NOT
VESTED

MARKET
VALUE OF
SHARES OR
UNITS OF
STOCK THAT
HAVE NOT
VESTED

EQUITY
INCENTIVE
PLAN
AWARDS:
NUMBER OF
UNEARNED
SHARES,
UNITS OR
OTHER
RIGHTS THAT
HAVE NOT
VESTED

(#) (2)

($) (3)

(#) (4)

EQUITY
INCENTIVE
PLAN AWARDS:
MARKET OR
PAYOUT VALUE
OF UNEARNED
SHARES, UNITS
OR OTHER
RIGHTS THAT
HAVE NOT
VESTED
($) (5)

44,800
44,100
26,300
—
—
—

—
—
—
28,200
48,400
58,200

54.79
58.98
89.78
75.70
52.13
65.40

1/1/2022
1/1/2023
1/1/2024
1/1/2025
1/1/2026
1/1/2027

17,245
—
—
—
—
—

981,585
—
—
—
—
—

74,718
130,005
103,440
—
—
—

4,252,949
7,399,885
5,887,805
—
—
—

R.J. McNally

—
—
—

39,900
25,900
2,900

63.33
65.40
59.89

1/1/2026
1/1/2027
3/1/2027

7,665
841
—

436,292
47,870
—

106,941
45,993
5,019

6,087,082
2,617,922
285,681

J.J. Ashcroft, III

—

—

—

—

34,464

1,961,691

—

—

J.S. Smith

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

2,506
1,443
1,433
—

142,642
82,136
81,566
—

2,082
3,012
4,329
8,628

118,507
171,443
246,407
491,106

105,800
92,400
47,600
—
—

—
—
—
53,900
78,200

54.79
58.98
89.78
75.70
52.13

1/1/2022
1/1/2023
1/1/2024
1/1/2025
1/1/2026

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

143,010
210,141
—
—
—

8,140,129
11,961,226
—
—
—

44,800
44,100
24,600
23,700
24,200

—
—
—
—
—

54.79
58.98
89.78
75.70
52.13

1/1/2022
1/1/2023
1/1/2024
1/1/2025
1/1/2026

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

62,772
65,019
—
—
—

3,572,982
3,700,881
—
—
—

6,100
—
—
—
—

—
19,700
—
—
—

58.98
59.89
—
—
—

1/1/2023
3/1/2027
—
—
—

1,603
5,769
8,462
—
—

91,243
328,371
481,657
—
—

14,448
16,926
4,809
34,584
9,618

822,380
963,428
273,728
1,968,521
547,457

D.L. Porges

R.L. Crawford

M.E. Hyland

(1) The options reflected in this column are EQT options which vest according to the following schedule: the options expiring in 2025 vested on January 1, 2018, the
options expiring on January 1, 2026 will vest on January 1, 2019, the options expiring on January 1, 2027 will vest on January 1, 2020, and the options expiring on
March 1, 2027 will vest on March 1, 2020, except that Mr. Crawford's outstanding unvested options vested pursuant to his transition agreement. The vesting of option
awards may accelerate.
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See "Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control" below for a discussion of, among other things, a revised vesting schedule and circumstances under
which the vesting of an award will accelerate.
(2) This column reflects (i) Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit award (including accrued dividends); (ii) the 2017 EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards
(including accrued dividends) and (iii) with respect to Mses. Smith and Hyland, the second tranche of the EQT Corporation 2016 Value Driver Performance Share Unit
Award Program (2016 Value Driver PSU Program) (including accrued dividends). Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit award was granted on September 14,
2016 and is expected to vest on September 14, 2019, contingent upon continued service through such date. The 2017 EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards were
granted on January 1, March 1, and August 7, 2017 and are expected to vest on January 1, March 1, and August 7, 2020, respectively, contingent upon continued
service through such dates. Performance awards under the EQT Corporation 2016 Value Driver PSU Program were confirmed as of January 31, 2017, and the second
tranche of such awards converted to time-based restricted share units and vest upon payment which is expected to occur in the first quarter of 2018 contingent upon
continued service through the payment date. The vesting of Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit award, the 2017 EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards and
the second tranche of the EQT Corporation 2016 Value Driver PSU Program may accelerate. See "Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control" below
for a discussion of, among other things, circumstances under which the vesting of an award will accelerate.
(3) This column reflects the payout value at December 31, 2017 of Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit award; the 2017 EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards
and the second tranche of the 2016 Value Driver PSU Program (including in each case accrued dividends) determined by multiplying the number of shares or units, as
applicable, shown in the column to the left by $56.92, the closing price of EQT's common stock on December 29, 2017. The actual payout value depends upon EQT's
stock price: (i) on August 31, 2019 for Ms. Smith’s 2016 EQT restricted share unit award; (ii) December 31, 2019 for the 2017 EQT Restricted Unit Awards; and (iii)
the day prior to vesting for the 2017 EQT Restricted Share Awards.
(4) This column reflects performance units awarded but that had not yet vested at December 31, 2017 pursuant to the 2015 Executive Performance Incentive Program
(2015 Incentive PSU Program), the 2016 Incentive Performance Share Unit Program (2016 Incentive PSU Program), the 2017 Incentive PSU Program, and the 2017
Value Driver PSU Program (including in each case accrued dividends). The number of performance units under all programs reflect maximum award levels because,
through December 31, 2017, payout was projected above the target level for each program. Awards under the 2015 Incentive PSU Program and the first tranche of the
2017 Value Driver PSU Program will vest upon payment which is expected to occur in the first quarter of 2018, contingent upon continued service through such date.
Prior to such date, payment of such awards may accelerate. Awards under the 2016 Incentive PSU Program, the 2017 Incentive PSU Program and the second tranche
of the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program do not vest until payment following the end of the respective performance periods, contingent upon continued service through
such dates, and such vesting may accelerate. See "Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control" below for a discussion of, among other things,
circumstances under which the vesting of an award will accelerate.
(5) This column reflects the payout values at December 31, 2017 of unearned performance units granted under the 2015 Incentive PSU Program, the 2016 Incentive PSU
Program, the 2017 Incentive PSU Program, and the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program (including in each case accrued dividends). The payout values are determined by
multiplying the number of units as shown in the column to the left by $56.92, the closing price of EQT's common stock on December 29, 2017. The actual payout
values under the programs depends upon, among other things, EQT's actual performance through the end of the applicable performance periods and EQT's closing
stock price on: (i) the day prior to vesting for the 2015 Incentive PSU Program and the portions of the 2016 Incentive PSU Program and the 2017 Incentive PSU
Program that are distributed in EQT shares; (ii) December 29, 2017 with respect to the first tranche of the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program; (iii) December 31, 2018
with respect to the second tranche of the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program and the portion of the 2016 Incentive PSU Program that is distributed in cash; and (iv)
December 31, 2019 for the portion of the 2017 Incentive PSU Program that is distributed in cash.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested
The following table reflects the EQT stock options exercised by the named executive officers during 2017 and the named executive officers' performance
awards that vested during 2017 .
OPTION AWARDS

NAME

STOCK AWARDS

NUMBER OF EQT SHARES
ACQUIRED ON EXERCISE

VALUE REALIZED ON
EXERCISE

NUMBER OF EQT
SHARES/EQM UNITS
ACQUIRED ON VESTING

VALUE REALIZED ON
VESTING

(#)

($) (1)

(#) (2)

($) (3)

S.T. Schlotterbeck

38,500

391,160

30,618

1,905,947

R.J. McNally

—

—

7,914

457,093

J.J. Ashcroft, III

—

—

—

—

J.S. Smith

—

—

4,276

272,067

D.L. Porges

76,700

806,884

55,396

3,448,395

R.L. Crawford

38,500

475,860

28,575

1,778,792

—

—

23,397

1,492,809

M.E. Hyland

(1) The value realized on exercise is calculated as the difference between the market price of the shares of EQT common stock underlying the options at exercise and the
applicable exercise price of those options.
(2) This column reflects the aggregate number of performance awards (including accrued dividends) that vested in 2017 under (a) the 2014 Executive Performance
Incentive Program (2014 Incentive PSU Program) for Messrs. Schlotterbeck, Porges, and Crawford, and Mses. Smith and Hyland, (b) the first tranche of the 2016
Value Driver PSU Program for Mses. Smith and Hyland, and (c) the second tranche of the 2015 Value Driver Performance Share Unit Award Program (2015 Value
Driver PSU Program) for Mses. Smith and Hyland. The performance awards under the 2014 Incentive PSU Program and the second tranche of the 2015 Value Driver
PSU Program vested and were distributed in EQT common stock, while first tranche of the 2016 Value Driver PSU Program vested and was distributed in cash. This
column also reflects a 2016 restricted share award (including accrued dividends) to Mr. McNally.
(3) This column reflects the value realized upon the vesting of awards under the 2014 Incentive PSU Program, the first tranche of the 2016 Value Driver PSU Program, the
second tranche of the 2015 Value Driver PSU Program and Mr. McNally's 2016 EQT restricted share award (including in each case accrued dividends). In the case of
the 2014 Incentive PSU Program, the second tranche of the 2015 Value Driver PSU Program and Mr. McNally's 2016 EQT restricted share award, the value realized
on vesting was calculated based upon the number of awards that vested and the closing price of EQT's common stock on the date of vesting. In the case of the 2016
Value Driver PSU Program, the value realized on vesting was calculated based upon the number of awards that vested and the closing price of EQT's common stock on
December 30, 2016.

POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE OF CONTROL
EQT Agreements and Plans
EQT maintains and has entered into certain agreements and plans (including those described above in "Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation
Table and 2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table") that require EQT to provide compensation to the named executive officers, among others, in the event of a
termination of employment or a change of control of EQT.
Agreements with the Named Executive Officers
Descriptions of the circumstances which trigger payments and benefits, the benefits that would be provided, how payment and benefit levels are
determined and the material conditions and obligations applicable to the receipt of payments or benefits in the event of a termination of employment or a change of
control of EQT under EQT's agreements with Messrs. Schlotterbeck, McNally, Ashcroft, Porges, and Crawford and Ms. Hyland will be described in EQT's
Disclosure Document. EQT's SEC filings are available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov and on EQT's website at www.EQT.com on the "SEC Filings" page
under the "Investors Relations" tab. The Corporate Secretary of the EQM General Partner will also provide a copy to you free of charge upon request.
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Ms. Smith's Agreement
In connection with Ms. Smith's promotion to Chief Accounting Officer in 2016, EQT entered into an amended and restated confidentiality, nonsolicitation and non-competition agreement with Ms. Smith. In the agreement, Ms. Smith agreed, among other things, to the following restrictive covenants:
•
•
•

restrictions on competition (12 months);
restrictions on customer solicitation (12 months); and
restrictions on employee, consultant, vendor or independent contractor recruitment (36 months).

The agreement provides for severance payments and benefits to Ms. Smith in the event of a termination of employment by EQT without "cause" or by Ms.
Smith for "good reason" (each as defined below), regardless of whether that termination occurs before or after a change of control. In such an event, Ms. Smith will
be entitled to receive the following:
•

•
•
•

Severance payments :
▪
salary continuation for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of termination;
▪
a lump sum equal to the average annual incentive earned by Ms. Smith for the three (3) full years prior to Ms. Smith's termination date;
and
▪
$25,000.
Benefits payment. A lump sum cash payment equal to the monthly COBRA rate for family coverage, multiplied by 12.
Vesting of time-based equity awards. Stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other stock awards with time-based vesting
restrictions will become immediately vested and exercisable in full and any restrictions on such awards shall lapse.
Vesting of performance-based equity awards. Value driver based performance-based equity awards will become immediately vested at target
prior to the EQT MDC Committee's confirmation of the performance level and at actual following the EQT MDC Committee's confirmation. All
other performance-based equity awards will remain outstanding and will be earned, if at all, based on actual performance through the end of the
performance period as if the named executive officer's employment had not been terminated.

"Cause" is defined as Ms. Smith's (i) conviction of a felony, a crime of moral turpitude or fraud or Ms. Smith having committed fraud, misappropriation
or embezzlement in connection with the performance of her duties; (ii) willful and repeated failures to substantially perform assigned duties; or (iii) violation of
any provision of a written employment-related agreement or express significant policies of EQT.
"Good reason" is defined as Ms. Smith's resignation within 90 days after: (i) a reduction in Ms. Smith's base salary of 10% or more (unless the reduction
is applicable to all similarly situated employees); (ii) a reduction in Ms. Smith's annual short-term bonus target of 10% or more (unless the reduction is applicable
to all similarly situated employees); (iii) a significant diminution in Ms. Smith's job responsibilities, duties or authority; (iv) a change in the geographic location of
Ms. Smith's primary reporting location of more than 50 miles; and/or (v) any other action or inaction that constitutes a material breach by EQT of the agreement.
In the event that Ms. Smith's employment is terminated by EQT under qualifying circumstances, Ms. Smith is also entitled to the benefits provided to all
employees under EQT's severance plan. In order to receive severance benefits under the non-competition agreement, Ms. Smith must execute and deliver to EQT a
general release of claims.
The agreement does not provide for any tax gross-ups. In the event Ms. Smith would be subject to a 20% excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code (imposed on individuals who receive compensation in connection with a change of control that exceeds certain specified limits), the payments and
benefits to Ms. Smith would be reduced to the maximum amount that does not trigger the excise tax unless Ms. Smith would retain greater value (on an after-tax
basis) by receiving all payments and benefits and paying all excise and income taxes.
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Payments to be Made Pursuant to Company Plans
Stock Options, 2015 Incentive PSU Program, 2016 Incentive PSU Program, 2017 Incentive PSU Program, 2016 Value Driver PSU Program, 2017 Value
Driver PSU Program, 2017 EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards and the EQT Executive STIP
Descriptions of the circumstances which trigger payments and benefits, the benefits that would be provided, how payment and benefit levels are
determined and the material conditions and obligations applicable to the receipt of payments or benefits in the event of a termination of employment or a change of
control of EQT under the EQT stock options, the 2015 Incentive PSU Program, the 2016 Incentive PSU Program, the 2017 Incentive PSU Program, the 2016 Value
Driver PSU Program, the 2017 Value Driver PSU Program, the 2017 EQT Restricted Share and Unit Awards and the EQT Executive STIP will be described in
EQT's Disclosure Document.
Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT Restricted Share Unit Award
Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit award provides that Ms. Smith would be entitled to the benefits described in the termination scenarios
described below.
Termination for Good Reason or without Cause
Upon Ms. Smith's termination for good reason or without cause, all unvested restricted share units under Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit
award will vest as required by Ms. Smith's confidentiality, non-solicitation and non-competition agreement, which is described above.
Termination for Cause or Voluntary Termination for any Reason other than Good Reason
Upon Ms. Smith's termination for cause or voluntary termination of employment for any reason other than good reason, Ms. Smith's unvested 2016 EQT
restricted share unit award will be forfeited.
However, if Ms. Smith's employment is terminated voluntarily (including retirement) and Ms. Smith is serving and remains on the board of directors of
EQT, the EQM General Partner or the EQGP General Partner, then Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit award continues to vest for so long as she remains
on such board.
Termination Resulting from Death or Disability
Upon Ms. Smith's termination as a result of her death or disability, Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit award will vest as follows:
TERMINATION DATE

AWARDED UNITS

September 10, 2017 – September 9, 2018

25%

September 10, 2018 and thereafter

50%

Change of Control
For purposes of Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit award, a change of control of EQT is defined by reference to EQT's 2014 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (the 2014 LTIP) and will be described in EQT's Disclosure Document. Under the award, if a change of control of EQT occurs and:
•
•

the award is not assumed by the surviving entity of the change of control, all time-based vesting restrictions on the 2016 EQT restricted share units
lapse;
the award is assumed by the surviving entity of the change of control or EQT is the surviving entity and Ms. Smith's employment is involuntarily
terminated or she resigns for good reason within two years after the qualifying change of control, then Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted share unit
award will vest as required by Ms. Smith's confidentiality, non-solicitation and non-competition agreement with EQT, which is described above.
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Payments Triggered Upon Hypothetical Termination of Employment or Change of Control on December 31, 2017
The estimated payouts and benefits that would be payable upon a termination of employment or a change of control of EQT at December 31, 2017 for the
named executive officers other than Ms. Smith will be set forth in EQT's Disclosure Document. The estimated payouts and benefits that would be payable to Ms.
Smith upon a termination of employment or a change of control of EQT at December 31, 2017 are set forth below.
No payments would be due to the named executive officers upon a change of control of EQM on December 31, 2017 that was not also a change of control
of EQT.
Important assumptions made by EQT and the descriptions of payouts under all EQT plans and agreements other than Ms. Smith's 2016 EQT restricted
share unit award will be described in EQT's Disclosure Document. In addition, EQT has made the following assumptions:
Upon a change of control of EQT at December 31, 2017, EQT has assumed that the acquiring company causes awards granted under the 2014 LTIP to be
paid upon closing rather than assumed or equitably converted in the transaction. If such amounts are, in fact, paid upon the occurrence of a change of control, the
named executive officer would not be entitled to a duplicate payment upon a subsequent termination of employment for any reason.
For purposes of the analysis below, EQT has assumed that Ms. Smith is not then on and will not remain on the board of directors of EQT, the EQM
General Partner, the EQGP General Partner or the RMP General Partner following termination of employment.
J.S. Smith
Potential Payments Upon a Termination of Employment or Following a Change of Control
Upon a termination of employment on December 31, 2017 , Ms. Smith would be entitled to the following payments:

EXECUTIVE BENEFITS
AND PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION

TERMINATION BY
EQT WITHOUT
CAUSE
($)

TERMINATION BY
EQT FOR CAUSE
($)

TERMINATION BY
EXECUTIVE FOR
GOOD REASON
($)

TERMINATION BY
EXECUTIVE
WITHOUT GOOD
REASON
($)

DEATH
($)

DISABILITY
($)

Payments under Agreement
Short-Term Incentive
Severance Payments
Life Insurance

449,388
250,000
116,637
0

0
0
0
0

449,388
250,000
0
0

0
250,000
0
0

0
250,000
0
243,000

0
250,000
0
0

Total (excluding long-term incentive)

816,025

0

699,388

250,000

493,000

250,000

In addition, under outstanding long-term incentive programs, Ms. Smith would be entitled to cash and stock payments with an aggregate value of
$781,664 upon a termination of employment by EQT without cause or upon termination by her for good reason and $143,990 upon her death or disability,
assuming, in each case, actual performance through the end of the applicable performance period is consistent with performance through December 31, 2017.
Under those same programs, Ms. Smith would be entitled to $781,664 upon the occurrence of a change of control on December 31, 2017.
Pay Ratio
EQM does not have any employees. The daily business operations of EQM are conducted by employees of EQT and its subsidiaries. The estimate of the
relationship of the annual total compensation of Mr. Schlotterbeck, EQT's Chief Executive Officer to the median of the annual total compensation of EQT's
employees, calculated in accordance with applicable SEC rules will be set forth in EQT's Disclosure Document.
Compensation of Directors
Officers of EQT who also serve as directors of the EQM General Partner do not receive additional compensation for their service as directors. During
2017, directors of the EQM General Partner who are not also officers of EQT received cash compensation on a quarterly basis as a retainer and for attending Board
and committee meetings. As a result of its 2017 review of director compensation, the Board determined to revise the cash component of its compensation to a
retainer only structure
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(with the exception of the Conflicts Committee) for 2018. The structure of the 2017 and 2018 fees are set forth below, and all fees are paid on a quarterly basis.
Compensation Feature

2017

2018

Annual cash retainer - Board member

$50,000

$65,000

Annual cash retainer - Committee Chair

Audit: $15,000
Conflicts: $10,000

Audit: $20,000
Conflicts:$10,000

Annual cash retainer - Committee member (excluding Audit: None
the chair)
Conflicts: None

Audit: $5,000
Conflicts: None

Meeting fees

Conflicts Committee:
In person: $1,500
Telephonic: $750
All other meetings: None

In person: $1,500
Telephonic: $750

In addition, each non-employee director is reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses in connection with attending meetings. EQM also provides nonemployee directors with $20,000 of life insurance and $250,000 of travel accident insurance while traveling on business for EQM. To further EQM's support for
charitable giving, all directors are eligible to participate in the Matching Gifts Program of the EQT Foundation on the same terms as EQT employees and directors.
Under this program, the EQT Foundation will match gifts of at least $100 made by a director to eligible charities, up to an aggregate total of $50,000 in any
calendar year.
On an annual basis, the EQM General Partner grants to each non-employee director phantom units as a vehicle to deliver compensation for their service
on the Board. On January 1, 2017 , the EQM General Partner granted to each non-employee director phantom units with a value of $75,000 under the 2012 LongTerm Incentive Plan (with the number of phantom units (980) determined by dividing the award value by the closing price of EQM's common units on
December 30, 2016 ( $76.68 ) and rounding up to the next ten units). The phantom units were fully vested as of the grant date, with distribution equivalents
accruing on such units. The phantom units (and the accrued distribution equivalents) will be converted into common units on the date that the grantee ceases to be a
director. For 2018, the value of the annual phantom unit award increased to $85,000.
The table below shows the total 2017 compensation of EQM's non-employee directors:

NAME

FEES EARNED OR PAID
IN CASH
($) (1)

M.A. Bryson

STOCK
AWARDS
($) (2)

ALL OTHER
COMPENSATION
($) (3)

TOTAL
($)

105,500

75,146

32,569

213,215

J.M. Bott

99,750

75,146

6,065

180,961

L.E. Washington

88,000

75,146

9,544

172,690

(1) Includes annual cash retainer, meeting fees and committee chair fees.
(2) This column reflects the aggregate grant date fair values determined in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 for the phantom units awarded to each director during
2017 . On January 1, 2017 , the EQM General Partner granted 980 phantom units to each non-employee director. The grant date fair value is computed as the sum of
the number of phantom units awarded on the grant date multiplied by the closing price of EQM's common units on the business day prior to the grant date, which
closing price was $76.68 on December 30, 2016 .
(3) This column reflects (i) annual premiums of $43.88 per director paid for life insurance and travel accident insurance policies and (ii) the following matching gifts made
to qualifying organizations under the EQT Foundation's Matching Gifts Program: Mr. Bryson - $32,525; Mr. Bott - $6,021; and Ms. Washington - $9,500. The nonemployee directors may use a de minimis number of tickets purchased by EQT to attend sporting or other events when such tickets are not otherwise being used for
business purposes. The use of such tickets does not result in any incremental costs to EQM.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
As previously discussed, the Board is not required to maintain, and does not maintain, a compensation committee. Each of Messrs. Ashcroft, Gardner,
McNally, Porges and Schlotterbeck, who are directors of the EQM General Partner, are also executive officers of EQT. However, all compensation decisions with
respect to each of these executive officers are made by the EQT MDC Committee and none of these individuals receives any compensation directly from EQM or
the EQM General Partner for their service as a director.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
The following tables set forth the beneficial ownership of EQM's common units, EQGP's common units and EQT's common stock owned as of February
1, 2018 , by:
•
•
•

each of the directors of the EQM General Partner;
each of the named executive officers of the EQM General Partner; and
all directors and executive officers of the EQM General Partner as a group.

The amounts and percentages of units beneficially owned are reported on the basis of SEC regulations governing the determination of beneficial
ownership of securities. Under the rules of the SEC, a person is deemed to be a "beneficial owner" of a security if that person has or shares "voting power," which
includes the power to vote or to direct the voting of such security, or "investment power," which includes the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of such
security. Except as indicated by footnote, the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all units shown as
beneficially owned by them, subject to community property laws where applicable, and none of the units are subject to a pledge.
Percentage of total units beneficially owned is based on 80,581,758 EQM common units and 266,165,000 EQGP common units outstanding as of
February 1, 2018 .

NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER (1)

S.T. Schlotterbeck
R.J. McNally
J.J. Ashcroft III

EQM COMMON
UNITS
BENEFICIALLY
OWNED (2) (3)

PERCENTAGE
OF EQM
COMMON
UNITS
BENEFICIALLY
OWNED

EQGP COMMON UNITS
BENEFICIALLY OWNED (2)

PERCENTAGE
OF EQGP
COMMON
UNITS
BENEFICIALLY
OWNED

7,897

*

37,762

*

—

*

—

*

—

*

—

*

L.B. Gardner

9,359

*

28,503

*

J.S. Smith

2,146

*

7,538

*

D.L. Porges

42,148

*

56,263

*

J.M. Bott

10,224

*

—

*

M.A. Bryson (4)

11,467

*

—

*

L.E. Washington

5,156

*

—

*

M.E. Hyland

5,750

*

—

*

32,897

*

100,000

*

127,044

*

230,066

*

R.L. Crawford

(5)

All directors and executive officers as
a group (11 individuals)
* Less than 1%.

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address for all beneficial owners in this table is c/o EQT Midstream Partners, LP, 625 Liberty Avenue, Suite 1700, Pittsburgh, PA
15222, Attn: Corporate Secretary.
(2) This column reflects the number of common units held of record or owned through a bank, broker or other nominee.
(3) For Messrs. Bott and Bryson and Ms. Washington, this column includes phantom units, including accrued distributions, to be settled in EQM common units, in
the following amounts: Mr. Bott - 8,292 units; Mr. Bryson - 8,292 units; and Ms. Washington - 5,156 units.
(4) EQM common units beneficially owned include 2,000 common units that are held in Mrs. Bryson's revocable trust.
(5) Mr. Crawford stepped down from his roles with EQT and the EQM General Partner effective February 28, 2017. Information regarding EQM and EQGP
common units beneficially owned by Mr. Crawford was provided by Mr. Crawford as of March 1, 2017.
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Percentage of total shares of EQT Corporation beneficially owned is based on 265,016,480 shares outstanding as of February 1, 2018 .
Name

Exercisable
Stock Options (1)

Number of EQT Shares
Beneficially Owned (2)

Percent of
Class (3)

143,400

190,798

*

—

27,389

*

—

47,014

*

33,300

47,575

*
*

S.T. Schlotterbeck (4)
R.J. McNally
J.J. Ashcroft III
L.B. Gardner
J.S. Smith

—

4,729

299,700

502,108

*

J.M. Bott

—

—

—

M.A. Bryson

—

—

—

L.E. Washington

—

—

—

6,100

19,200

*

161,400

94,363

*

643,900

933,176

*

D.L. Porges (5)

M.E. Hyland
R.L. Crawford

(6)

All directors and executive officers as a group (11 individuals)
* Less than 1%.

(1) This column reflects the number of shares of EQT common stock that the executive officers and directors had a right to acquire within 60 days after February 1,
2018 through the exercise of stock options.
(2) This column reflects shares held of record and shares owned through a bank, broker or other nominee, including, for EQT employees, shares owned through
EQT's 401(k) plan.
(3) This column reflects (i) the sum of the shares beneficially owned and the stock options exercisable within 60 days of February 1, 2018 , as a percentage of (ii) the
sum of EQT's outstanding shares at February 1, 2018 , and all options exercisable within 60 days of February 1, 2018 .
(4) Shares beneficially owned include 28,012 shares owned by Mr. Schlotterbeck's wife.
(5) Shares beneficially owned include 50,000 shares that are held in a trust of which Mr. Porges is a co-trustee and in which he shares voting and investment power.
(6) Mr. Crawford stepped down from his roles with EQT and the EQM General Partner effective February 28, 2017. Information regarding EQT shares beneficially
owned by Mr. Crawford was provided by Mr. Crawford as of March 1, 2017.

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of each person known by EQM to be a beneficial owner of more than 5% of EQM's outstanding
common units:
NAME OF BENEFICIAL
OWNER

EQM COMMON UNITS
BENEFICIALLY OWNED

EQT Corporation (1)

PERCENTAGE OF EQM COMMON
UNITS BENEFICIALLY OWNED

21,811,643

27.1%

7,717,832

9.6%

4,871,408

6.0%

625 Liberty Avenue
Pittsburgh, PA 15222
Tortoise Capital Advisors, L.L.C. (2)
11550 Ash Street, Suite 300
Leawood, KS 66211
ALPS Advisors, Inc. (3)
1290 Broadway, Suite 1100
Denver, CO 80203
(1) EQGP held 21,811,643 EQM common units as of February 1, 2018 . EQT is the ultimate parent company of EQGP and, therefore, may be deemed to beneficially own
the units held by EQGP.
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(2) Information based on a SEC Schedule 13G filed on February 13, 2018 reporting that Tortoise Capital Advisors, L.L.C. has sole voting and dispositive power over
196,950 common units, shared voting power over 6,438,973 common units and shared dispositive power over 7,520,882 common units.
(3) Information based on a SEC Schedule 13G filed on February 6, 2018 reporting that ALPS Advisors, Inc. has shared voting and dispositive power over 4,871,408
common units, of which 4,848,639 common units are attributable to Alerian MLP ETF, an investment company to which ALPS Advisors, Inc. furnishes investment
advice. Alerian MLP ETF has shared voting and dispositive power with respect to the 4,848,639 common units.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2017 with respect to EQM's common units that may be issued under the 2012 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, which did not require approval by EQM's unitholders.

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES TO
BE
ISSUED UPON
EXERCISE OF
OUTSTANDING
OPTIONS,
WARRANTS
AND RIGHTS

PLAN CATEGORY

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EXERCISE PRICE OF
OUTSTANDING
OPTIONS,
WARRANTS AND
RIGHTS

(A)

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Unitholders
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Unitholders

(B)

—
(1)

Total

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES
REMAINING
AVAILABLE FOR
FUTURE ISSUANCE
UNDER
EQUITY
COMPENSATION
PLANS (EXCLUDING
SECURITIES
REFLECTED IN
COLUMN A)
(C)

—

—

235,733

N/A

1,528,534

235,733

N/A

1,528,534

(1) The Board adopted the 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan in connection with the IPO of EQM's common units.

EQT Midstream Services, LLC 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan
The EQM General Partner adopted the EQT Midstream Services, LLC 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan for employees and non-employee directors of the
EQM General Partner and any of its affiliates. The EQM General Partner may issue long-term equity based awards under the plan. EQM is responsible for the cost
of awards granted under the plan. Employees and non-employee directors of the EQM General Partner or any affiliate, including subsidiaries, are eligible to receive
awards under the plan.
The aggregate number of units that may be issued under the plan is 2,000,000 units, subject to proportionate adjustment in the event of unit splits and
similar events. Units underlying options and unit appreciation rights will count as one unit, and units underlying all other unit-based awards will count as two units,
against the number of units available for issuance under the plan. Units subject to awards that terminate or expire unexercised, or are canceled, forfeited or lapse for
any reason, and units underlying awards that are ultimately settled in cash, will again become available for future grants of awards under the plan. Units delivered
by the participant or withheld from an award to satisfy tax withholding requirements, and units delivered or withheld to pay the exercise price of an option, will not
be used to replenish the plan unit reserve.
The plan is administered by the Board or such other committee of the Board as may be designated by the Board to administer the plan.
The plan authorizes the granting of awards in any of the following forms: phantom units, performance awards, restricted units, distribution equivalent
rights, market-priced options to purchase units, unit appreciation rights, other unit-based awards that are denominated or payable in, valued in whole or in part by
reference to, or otherwise based on units, and cash-based awards.
The Board may amend, suspend or terminate the plan at any time, except that no amendment may be made without the approval of EQM's unitholders if
unitholder approval is required by any federal or state law or regulation or by the rules of any exchange on which the units may then be listed, or if the amendment,
alteration or other change materially increases the benefits accruing to participants, increases the number of units available under the plan or modifies the
requirements for
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participation under the plan, or if the Board in its discretion determines that obtaining such unitholder approval is for any reason advisable.
Common units to be delivered pursuant to awards under the plan may be common units acquired by the EQM General Partner in the open market, from
any other person, directly from EQM or any combination of the foregoing. When EQM issues new common units upon the grant, vesting or payment of awards
under the plan, the total number of common units outstanding increases.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
As of February 1, 2018 , EQGP owned 21,811,643 common units, representing a 26.6% limited partner interest in EQM, and, through its ownership of the
EQM General Partner, EQGP indirectly held 1,443,015 general partner units, representing a 1.8% general partner interest in EQM, and 100% of the incentive
distribution rights (IDRs). EQT is the ultimate parent company of EQGP and may, therefore, be deemed to beneficially own the units held by EQGP.
Distributions and Payments to the EQM General Partner and Its Affiliates
The following information summarizes the distributions and payments made or to be made by EQM to the EQM General Partner and its affiliates,
including EQGP, in connection with EQM's ongoing operation and any liquidation. These distributions and payments were determined before EQM's IPO by and
among affiliated entities and, consequently, are not the result of arm's-length negotiations.
Operational Stage
Distributions of available cash to the EQM General Partner and its affiliates . Unless distributions exceed the minimum quarterly distribution, EQM
makes distributions of available cash 98.2% to EQM's common unitholders pro rata, including EQGP as the holder of 21,811,643 common units, and 1.8% to the
EQM General Partner. In addition, if distributions exceed the minimum quarterly distribution and other higher target levels, the EQM General Partner, by virtue of
its IDRs, is entitled to increasing percentages of the distributions, up to 48.0% of the distributions above the highest target level.
Payments to the EQM General Partner and its affiliates . The EQM General Partner does not receive a management fee or other compensation for
managing EQM. The EQM General Partner and its affiliates are reimbursed, however, for all direct and indirect expenses incurred on EQM's behalf. The EQM
General Partner determines the amount of these expenses. In addition, EQM reimburses EQT and its affiliates for the payment of certain operating expenses and for
the provision of various general and administrative services for EQM's benefit.
Withdrawal or removal of the EQM General Partner . If the EQM General Partner withdraws or is removed, its general partner interest and its IDRs will
either be sold to the new general partner for cash or converted into common units, in each case for an amount equal to the fair market value of those interests.
Liquidation Stage
Upon EQM's liquidation, the partners, including the EQM General Partner, will be entitled to receive liquidating distributions according to their capital
account balances.
Agreements with EQT
EQM and its affiliates have entered into various agreements with EQT and its affiliates other than EQM, as described in detail below. These agreements
were negotiated in connection with, among other things, the formation of EQM, the IPO and EQM's acquisitions from EQT. These agreements address, among
other things, the acquisition of assets and the assumption of liabilities by EQM and its subsidiaries. These agreements were not the result of arm's length
negotiations and, as such, they or underlying transactions may not be based on terms as favorable as those that could have been obtained from unaffiliated third
parties.
113

Table of Contents
Omnibus Agreement
EQM and the EQM General Partner have entered into an omnibus agreement with EQT, which governs EQM's relationship with EQT regarding the
following matters:
•
•
•
•

•
•

EQM's obligation to reimburse EQT and its affiliates for certain direct operating expenses paid on EQM's behalf;
EQM's obligation to reimburse EQT and its affiliates for providing EQM corporate, general and administrative services (the "general and
administrative expenses");
EQM's obligation to reimburse EQT and its affiliates for operation and management services pursuant to the operation and management services
agreement with EQT, as described below under "Operation and Management Services Agreement" (the "operation and management expenses");
EQT's obligation to indemnify or reimburse EQM for losses or expenses relating to or arising from, among other things, (i) certain plugging and
abandonment obligations; (ii) certain bare steel replacement capital expenditures; (iii) certain pipeline safety costs; (iv) certain tax liabilities
attributable to periods prior to the IPO; (v) assets previously owned by Equitrans, L.P. (Equitrans) and retained by EQT and its affiliates, including
the Sunrise Pipeline; (vi) any claims related to Equitrans' previous ownership of the Big Sandy Pipeline; and (vii) any amounts owed to EQM by a
third party that has exercised a contractual right of offset against amounts owed by EQT to such third party;
EQM's obligation to indemnify EQT for losses attributable to (i) EQM's ownership or operation of assets acquired by EQM from EQT at the time of
the IPO, except to the extent EQT is obligated to indemnify EQM for such losses pursuant to the operation and management services agreement; and
(ii) any amounts owed to EQT by a third party that has exercised a contractual right of offset against amounts owed by EQM to such third party; and
EQM's use of the name "EQT" and related marks.

On March 17, 2015, EQT, EQM and the EQM General Partner amended the omnibus agreement, effective as of January 1, 2015, to remove any restriction
on reimbursement by EQM for any direct and indirect costs and expenses attributable to EQT's long-term incentive programs. Such amendment was approved by
the Conflicts Committee of the EQM General Partner.
Reimbursement of Expenses
Under the omnibus agreement, EQT performs, or causes its affiliates to perform, centralized corporate, general and administrative services for EQM, such
as: legal, corporate recordkeeping, planning, budgeting, regulatory, accounting, billing, business development, treasury, insurance administration and claims
processing, risk management, health, safety and environmental, information technology, human resources, investor relations, cash management and banking,
payroll, internal audit, taxes and engineering. In exchange, EQM reimburses EQT and its affiliates for the expenses incurred by them in providing these services.
The omnibus agreement further provides that EQM reimburse EQT and its affiliates for EQM's allocable portion of the premiums on any insurance policies
covering EQM's assets.
EQM is required to reimburse EQT for any additional state income, franchise or similar tax paid by EQT resulting from the inclusion of EQM (and its
subsidiaries) in a combined state income, franchise or similar tax report with EQT as required by applicable law. The amount of any such reimbursement is limited
to the tax that EQM (and its subsidiaries) would have paid had they not been included in a combined group with EQT.
Indemnification
EQT's indemnification obligations to EQM include the following:
•
•

Plugging and abandonment liabilities. For a period of ten years after the closing of the IPO, which occurred on July 2, 2012, EQT is required to
reimburse EQM for plugging and abandonment expenditures and other expenditures for certain identified wells of EQT and third parties. The
reimbursement obligation of EQT with respect to wells owned by third parties is capped at $1.2 million per year.
Bare steel replacement. EQT is required to reimburse EQM for bare steel replacement capital expenditures in the event that ongoing maintenance
capital expenditures (other than capital expenditures associated with plugging and abandonment liabilities to be reimbursed by EQT) exceed
$17.2 million (with respect to EQM's assets at the time of the IPO) in any year. If such ongoing maintenance capital expenditures and bare steel
replacement capital expenditures exceed $17.2 million during a year, EQT is required to reimburse EQM for the lesser of (i) the amount of bare steel
replacement capital expenditures during such year and (ii) the amount by which such ongoing capital expenditures and bare steel replacement capital
expenditures exceeds $17.2 million. This bare
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•
•
•
•
•

steel replacement reimbursement obligation is capped at an aggregate amount of $31.5 million over the ten years following the IPO.
Pipeline Safety Cost Tracker Reimbursement. For a period of five years after the closing of the IPO, EQT was required to reimburse EQM for the
amount by which the qualifying pipeline safety costs included in the annual pipeline safety cost tracker filings made by Equitrans with the FERC
exceeded the qualifying pipeline safety costs actually recovered each year. This reimbursement obligation expired on July 2, 2017.
Taxes. Until 60 days after the expiration of any applicable statute of limitations, EQT will indemnify EQM for any income taxes attributable to
operations or ownership of the assets prior to the closing of the IPO, including any such income tax liability of EQT and its affiliates that may result
from EQM's formation transactions.
Retained liabilities. EQT is required to indemnify EQM for any liabilities, claims or losses relating to or arising from assets owned or previously
owned by EQM and retained by EQT and its affiliates following the closing of the IPO.
Big Sandy Pipeline. EQT is required to indemnify EQM for any claims related to Equitrans' previous ownership of the Big Sandy Pipeline, which
was sold to a third party, including claims arising under the Big Sandy Purchase Agreement.
Contractual Offsets. EQT is required to indemnify EQM for any amounts owed to EQM by a third party that has exercised a contractual right of
offset against amounts owed by EQT to such third party.

See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," of this Form 10-K for the
amounts and categories of obligations described above for which EQT was obligated to indemnify and/or reimburse EQM pursuant to the omnibus agreement for
the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 .
Operation and Management Services Agreement
Upon the closing of the IPO, EQM entered into an operation and management services agreement with EQT Gathering, LLC (EQT Gathering), an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of EQT, under which EQT Gathering provided EQM's pipelines and storage facilities with certain operational and management services,
such as operation and maintenance of flow and pressure control, maintenance and repair of EQM's pipelines and storage facilities, conducting routine operational
activities, managing transportation and logistics, contract administration, gas control and measurement, engineering support and such other services as EQM and
EQT Gathering mutually agreed upon from time to time. EQM reimbursed EQT Gathering for such services pursuant to the terms of the omnibus agreement. In
December 2017, the operation and management services agreement was replaced in its entirety by the secondment agreement, as described under "Secondment
Agreement."
Secondment Agreement
On December 7, 2017, EQT, EQT Gathering, Equitrans, EQM and the EQM General Partner entered into a secondment agreement (Secondment
Agreement), pursuant to which available employees of EQT and its affiliates may be seconded to EQM and its subsidiaries to provide operating and other services
with respect to EQM's business under the direction, supervision and control of EQM or its subsidiaries. EQM will reimburse EQT for the services provided by the
seconded employees pursuant to the Secondment Agreement.
See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," of this Form 10-K for the
amounts and categories of expenses described above for which EQM was obligated to reimburse EQT pursuant to the omnibus agreement and the Secondment
Agreement, as applicable, for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 .
AVC Lease and October 2016 Acquisition
In connection with EQT's acquisition of an approximately 200-mile FERC-regulated natural gas transmission pipeline, referred to as the AVC facilities, in
December 2013, EQM entered into a lease agreement with EQT pursuant to which EQM marketed the capacity, entered into all agreements for transportation and
storage service with customers and operated the AVC facilities according to the terms of its tariff. The lease payment due each month was the lesser of the
following alternatives: (1) a revenue-based payment reflecting the revenues generated by the operation of the AVC facilities minus the actual costs of operating the
AVC facilities and (2) a payment based on depreciation expense and pre-tax return on invested capital for the AVC facilities. As a result, the payments made under
the AVC lease were variable and did not have a net positive or negative impact on EQM's distributable cash flow. As a result of EQM's acquisition of the AVC
facilities, which is discussed below, EQM terminated the lease in the fourth quarter of 2016. The lease payments due related to 2016 and 2015 totaled $17.2 million
and $22.1 million , respectively.
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On October 13, 2016, EQM, Equitrans Investments, LLC, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of EQM (Equitrans Investments), Equitrans and EQM
Gathering Opco, LLC, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of EQM (EQM Gathering), entered into a purchase and sale agreement with EQT, EQT Gathering
Holdings, LLC, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQT (EQT Gathering Holdings), and EQT Gathering, pursuant to which (i) Equitrans acquired 100% of the
outstanding limited liability company interests in Allegheny Valley Connector, LLC from EQT Gathering Holdings, (ii) Equitrans Investments acquired 100% of
the outstanding limited liability company interests in Rager Mountain Storage Company LLC (Rager) from EQT Gathering Holdings, and (iii) EQM Gathering
acquired certain gathering assets located in the Applegate/McIntosh, Terra, Three Rivers and D-497 development areas in southwestern Pennsylvania and the
Taurus development area in northern West Virginia from EQT Gathering (collectively, the October 2016 Acquisition). The closing of the October 2016 Acquisition
occurred on October 13, 2016 and was effective as of October 1, 2016. The aggregate consideration paid by EQM to EQT in connection with the October 2016
Acquisition was $275 million, which was funded with borrowings under EQM's credit facility. In connection with the October 2016 Acquisition, the AVC lease
agreement was terminated.
NWV Gathering Contribution Agreement and Preferred Interest
On March 10, 2015, EQM entered into a contribution and sale agreement pursuant to which, on March 17, 2015, EQT contributed the Northern West
Virginia Marcellus Gathering System (NWV Gathering) to EQM Gathering (NWV Gathering Acquisition). EQM paid total consideration of $925.7 million to
EQT, consisting of approximately $873.2 million in cash, 511,973 EQM common units and 178,816 EQM general partner units.
The contribution and sale agreement also contemplated the sale to EQM of a preferred interest in EQT Energy Supply, LLC, which at the time was an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQT. EQT Energy Supply, LLC generates revenue from services provided to an LDC. This sale was completed on April 15,
2015. The consideration paid by EQM to EQT in connection with the acquisition of the preferred interest in EQT Energy Supply, LLC was approximately
$124.3 million. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 , EQM received $11.0 million and $11.1 million , respectively, of distributions from EQT
Energy Supply, LLC in respect of its preferred interest. EQM did not receive any distributions from EES in respect of its preferred interest in 2015.
Mountain Valley Pipeline
On March 30, 2015, EQM assumed EQT's interest in the MVP Joint Venture (the MVP Interest Acquisition). The MVP Joint Venture is a joint venture
with affiliates of each of NextEra Energy, Inc., Consolidated Edison, Inc., WGL Holdings, Inc. and RGC Resources, Inc. EQM paid EQT approximately $54.2
million related to the MVP Interest Acquisition, which represented EQM's reimbursement to EQT for 100% of the capital contributions made by EQT to the MVP
Joint Venture as of March 30, 2015. As of February 15, 2018 , EQM owned a 45.5% interest in the MVP Joint Venture and serves as the operator of the Mountain
Valley Pipeline (MVP) to be constructed by the joint venture. The 42 inch diameter MVP has a targeted capacity of 2.0 Bcf per day and is estimated to span 300
miles extending from EQM's existing transmission and storage system in Wetzel County, West Virginia to Pittsylvania County, Virginia, providing access to the
growing Southeast demand markets. As currently designed, the MVP is estimated to cost a total of approximately $3.5 billion, excluding AFUDC, with EQM
funding its proportionate share through capital contributions made to the joint venture. The MVP Joint Venture has secured a total of 2.0 Bcf per day of firm
capacity commitments at 20-year terms, including a 1.29 Bcf per day firm capacity commitment by EQT, and is currently in negotiation with additional shippers
who have expressed interest in the MVP project. On October 13, 2017, the FERC issued the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity for the project. In
early 2018, the MVP Joint Venture received limited notice to proceed with certain construction activities from the FERC. The MVP Joint Venture plans to
commence construction in the first quarter of 2018. The pipeline is targeted to be placed in-service during the fourth quarter of 2018.
Gas Gathering Agreements
For the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , EQT accounted for approximately 89% , 96% and 96% , respectively, of EQM's gathering
revenues.
On April 30, 2014, EQT entered into a gas gathering agreement (the Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement) with EQT Gathering for gathering services on the
Jupiter gathering system (Jupiter). The Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement has a 10-year term (with year-to-year rollovers), which began on May 1, 2014. Under the
agreement, EQT subscribed for approximately 225 MMcf per day of firm compression capacity which was available on Jupiter at that time. In the fourth quarter of
2014, EQM placed one compressor station in service and added compression at the two existing compressor stations in Greene County, Pennsylvania. This
expansion added approximately 350 MMcf per day of compression capacity. EQT's firm capacity subscribed under the Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement increased
by 200 MMcf per day effective December 1, 2014 and by 150
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MMcf per day effective January 1, 2015. In the fourth quarter of 2015, EQM completed an additional expansion project which brought the total Jupiter
compression capacity to approximately 775 MMcf per day. EQT's firm capacity subscribed under the Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement increased by approximately
50 MMcf per day effective October 1, 2015 and approximately 150 MMcf per day effective November 1, 2015. The Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement provides for
separate 10-year terms (with year-to-year rollovers) for the compression capacity associated with each expansion project. EQT also agreed to pay a monthly usage
fee for volumes gathered in excess of firm compression capacity. In connection with the closing of EQT's contribution of Jupiter to EQM Gathering on May 7,
2014, the Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement was assigned to EQM Gathering.
On March 10, 2015, EQT entered into two gas gathering agreements with EQT Gathering for gathering services on the NWV Gathering system. The
gathering agreement for gathering services on the wet gas header pipeline (WG-100 Gas Gathering Agreement) has a 10-year term (with year-to-year rollovers),
beginning March 1, 2015. Under the agreement, EQT has subscribed for approximately 400 MMcf per day of firm capacity currently available on the wet gas
header pipeline. EQT also agreed to pay a usage fee for each dekatherm of natural gas gathered in excess of firm capacity. In connection with the closing of the
NWV Gathering Acquisition, the WG-100 Gas Gathering Agreement was assigned to EQM Gathering.
The gas gathering agreement for gathering services in the Mercury, Pandora, Pluto and Saturn development areas (MPPS Gas Gathering Agreement) has a
10-year term (with year-to-year rollovers), beginning March 1, 2015. Under the agreement, EQT initially subscribed for approximately 200 MMcf per day of firm
capacity then available in the Mercury development area, 40 MMcf per day of firm compression capacity in the Pluto development area and 220 MMcf per day of
firm compression capacity in the Saturn development area. EQT's firm capacity subscribed under the MPPS Gas Gathering Agreement increased by 100 MMcf per
day effective December 1, 2015 related to the completed expansion project in the Pandora development area. An additional expansion project brought the total
Saturn compression capacity to 300 MMcf per day effective November 1, 2016. EQT has agreed to separate 10-year terms (with year-to-year rollovers) for the
compression capacity associated with each expansion project. EQT also agreed to pay a usage fee for each dekatherm of natural gas gathered in excess of firm
capacity. In connection with the closing of the NWV Gathering Acquisition, the MPPS Gas Gathering Agreement was assigned to EQM Gathering.
Effective as of October 1, 2016, EQT entered into a 10-year (with year-to-year rollovers) gas gathering agreement for services in the Applegate/McIntosh
and Terra development areas in southwestern Pennsylvania and the Taurus development area in northern West Virginia (the AMTT Gathering Agreement). Under
the agreement, EQT initially subscribed for total firm capacity of approximately 235 MMcf per day. The contracted firm capacity under the agreement will
increase to an aggregate of 365 MMcf per day during the life of the contract in connection with, among other things, an expected expansion project in the
Applegate/McIntosh development area. EQT also agreed to pay a usage fee for each dekatherm of natural gas gathered in excess of firm capacity. In connection
with the closing of the October 2016 Acquisition, the AMTT Gathering Agreement was assigned to EQM Gathering.
On June 8, 2017, EQT and two third party producers entered into a 15-year (with year-to-year rollovers) gas gathering agreement with EQM Gathering for
gathering services on the Marianna Gathering System (the Marianna Gas Gathering Agreement), pursuant to which EQT will pay a fixed fee per dekatherm of
natural gas, subject to certain annual and other adjustments, gathered by EQM Gathering. Under the Marianna Gas Gathering Agreement, EQT also dedicated
approximately 10,100 acres and any future acreage EQT acquires within the dedicated area during the term to EQM Gathering.
On August 8, 2017, EQT entered into a 10-year (with year-to-year rollovers) gas gathering agreement with EQM Gathering for gathering services on the
River Pad Gathering System (the River Pad Gas Gathering Agreement). Under the agreement, EQT has subscribed for approximately 30 MMcf per day of firm
capacity which is expected to be available in the second quarter of 2018. Under the River Pad Gas Gathering Agreement, EQT also dedicated approximately 30,000
acres and any future acreage EQT acquires within the dedicated area during the term to EQM Gathering and agreed to pay a usage fee for each dekatherm of
natural gas gathered in excess of firm capacity.
Finally, EQT Energy, LLC (EQT Energy), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of EQT, is a party to a gas gathering agreement with EQM for
interruptible service on EQM's FERC-regulated low pressure gathering system. The agreement has a primary term of one year and renews automatically for one
month periods, subject to 30 days prior written notice by either party to terminate. Service under this gathering agreement is fee based at the rate specified in
EQM's tariff.
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Transportation Service and Precedent Agreements
For the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , EQM's transportation agreements with EQT accounted for approximately 64% , 73% and 61% ,
respectively, of the natural gas throughput on EQM's transmission and storage system and 59% , 56% and 53% , respectively, of EQM's transmission revenues.
EQT Energy has contracted for firm transmission capacity with a primary term through October of 2024. The reserved capacity under this contract was
1,076 BBtu per day through August 1, 2016, is 1,035 BBtu through July 1, 2023 and will decrease as follows thereafter: 630 BBtu on July 1, 2023, 325 BBtu on
September 1, 2023 and 30 BBtu on October 1, 2024. EQT Energy's firm transportation agreement will automatically renew for one year periods upon the expiration
of the primary term, subject to six months prior written notice by either party to terminate. In addition, during 2017, EQT Energy assumed a contract for 20 BBtu
per day of firm transmission capacity with a primary term through June 30, 2024 which will automatically renew for one year periods upon the expiration of the
primary term, subject to six months prior written notice by either party to terminate. On November 13, 2017, EQT acquired a contract for 105 BBtu per day of firm
transmission capacity with a primary term through October 31, 2018 which will automatically renew for one year periods upon the expiration of the primary term,
subject to six months prior written notice by either party to terminate. EQM has also entered into agreements with EQT Energy to provide (i) interruptible
transmission service, which is currently renewing automatically for one year periods, subject to six months prior written notice by either party to terminate; and (ii)
interruptible wheeling service, which is currently renewing automatically for one year periods, subject to one month prior written notice by either party to
terminate.
In January 2016, EQT Energy entered into a firm transportation agreement for 650 BBtu per day of firm transmission capacity on EQM's Ohio Valley
Connector pipeline. The firm transmission capacity became available when the pipeline began service on October 1, 2016. This agreement has a primary term
through September 30, 2036.
EQT Energy is also party to a precedent agreement with Equitrans for 300 BBtu per day of firm transmission capacity for a 20-year term utilizing
proposed capacity which will be created by EQM's proposed Equitrans Expansion project. The firm transmission capacity will become available upon completion
of the project, which EQM is targeting in the fourth quarter of 2018.
In connection with the Marianna Gas Gathering Agreement, on August 7, 2017, EQT Energy entered into a 2-year (with month-to-month rollovers)
transportation service agreement with Equitrans, under which EQT Energy pays a fixed fee per dekatherm of natural gas transported under the agreement. The
transmission agreement was effective on September 1, 2017.
In connection with the River Pad Gas Gathering Agreement, on July 25, 2017, EQT Energy entered into a 10-year (with year-to-year rollovers)
transportation service agreement with Equitrans for approximately 30 MMcf per day of firm transportation capacity. The firm transmission capacity will become
available upon completion of the River Pad project, which EQM expects to be completed in the second quarter of 2018.
Storage Agreements
EQT is not currently a party to any firm storage agreements with EQM. EQM does, however, provide interruptible storage and lending and parking
services to EQT pursuant to Rate Schedules INSS and LPS. For the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , EQT accounted for approximately 2% , 1%
and 1% , respectively, of EQM's storage revenues.
The table below sets forth the revenues recognized by EQM with respect to the gathering, transmission and storage agreements described above with EQT
for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 .
Years Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(Thousands)

DESCRIPTION OF REVENUE
Gathering

$

403,082

$

380,164

$

321,173

Transmission and storage

$

202,016

$

171,189

$

141,198
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EQT Corporation Guaranty
EQT has guaranteed all payment obligations, plus interest and any other charges, due and payable by EQT Energy to Equitrans pursuant to the agreements
discussed above, up to $50 million. This guaranty will terminate on November 30, 2023 unless terminated earlier by EQT by providing 10 days written notice.
364-day Uncommitted Revolving Loan Agreement
On October 26, 2016, EQM entered into a $500 million, 364-day, uncommitted revolving loan agreement with EQT (the 364-Day Facility). The 364-Day
Facility will mature on October 24, 2018 and will automatically renew for successive 364-day periods unless EQT delivers a non-renewal notice at least 60 days
prior to the then current maturity date. EQM may terminate the 364-Day Facility at any time by repaying in full the unpaid principal amount of all loans together
with interest thereon. The 364-Day Facility is available for general partnership purposes and does not contain any covenants other than the obligation to pay
accrued interest on outstanding borrowings. Interest will accrue on any outstanding borrowings at an interest rate equal to the rate then applicable to similar loans
under the $1 Billion Facility, or a successor revolving credit facility, less the sum of (i) the then applicable commitment fee under the $1 Billion Facility and (ii) 10
basis points. During the year ended December 31, 2017, EQM borrowed and repaid $150 million under the 364-Day Facility. During the year ended December 31,
2017, EQM paid interest to EQT of $0.5 million under the 364-Day Facility. EQM had no borrowings outstanding under the 364-Day Facility during the year
ended December 31, 2016.
Acreage Dedication
Pursuant to an acreage dedication to EQM by EQT, EQM has the right to elect to transport, at a negotiated rate, which will be the higher of a market or
cost of service rate, all natural gas produced from wells drilled by EQT on the dedicated acreage, which is an area covering approximately 60,000 acres
surrounding EQM's storage assets in Allegheny, Washington and Greene counties in Pennsylvania and Wetzel, Marion, Taylor, Tyler, Doddridge, Harrison and
Lewis counties in West Virginia. The acreage dedication is contained in a sublease agreement in which EQM granted to EQT all of the oil and gas interests,
including the exclusive rights to drill, explore for, produce and market such oil and gas, EQM had received as part of certain of its oil and gas leasehold estates
EQM uses for gas storage and protection. Furthermore, if EQT acquires acreage with natural gas storage rights within the area of mutual interest established by the
acreage dedication, then EQT will enter into an agreement with EQM to permit it to store natural gas on such acreage. Likewise, if EQM acquires acreage within
the area of mutual interest with natural gas or oil production, development, marketing and exploration rights, such acreage will automatically become subject to
EQT's rights under the acreage dedication.
Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons
The Board has adopted a related person transaction approval policy that establishes procedures for the identification, review and approval of related
person transactions. Pursuant to the policy, the management of the EQM General Partner is charged with primary responsibility for determining whether, based on
the facts and circumstances, a proposed transaction is a related person transaction.
For purposes of the policy, a "Related Person" is any director or executive officer of the EQM General Partner, any nominee for director, any unitholder
known to EQM to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of EQM's voting securities, and any immediate family member of any such person. A
"Related Person Transaction" is generally a transaction in which EQM is, or the EQM General Partner or any of its subsidiaries is, a participant, where the amount
involved exceeds $120,000, and a Related Person has a direct or indirect material interest. Transactions resolved under the conflicts provision of EQM's partnership
agreement are not required to be reviewed or approved under the policy. Please read "Conflicts of Interest" below.
To assist management in making this determination, the policy sets forth certain categories of transactions that are deemed to be pre-approved by the
Board under the policy. The transactions which are automatically pre-approved include (i) transactions involving employment of the EQM General Partner's
executive officers, as long as the executive officer is not an immediate family member of another of the EQM General Partner's executive officers or directors and
the compensation paid to such executive officer was approved by the Board; (ii) transactions involving compensation and benefits paid to the EQM General
Partner's directors for service as a director; (iii) transactions on competitive business terms with another company in which a director or immediate family member
of the director's only relationship is as an employee or executive officer, a director, or a beneficial owner of less than 10% of that company's shares, provided that
the amount involved does not exceed the greater of $1,000,000 or 2% of the other company's consolidated gross revenues; (iv) transactions where the interest of the
Related Person arises solely from the ownership of a class of equity securities of EQM, and all holders of that class of
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equity securities receive the same benefit on a pro rata basis; (v) transactions where the rates or charges involved are determined by competitive bids;
(vi) transactions involving the rendering of services as a common or contract carrier or public utility at rates or charges fixed in conformity with law or
governmental regulation; (vii) transactions involving services as a bank depositary of funds, transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or similar
services; and (viii) any charitable contribution, grant or endowment by EQM or any affiliated charitable foundation to a charitable or non-profit organization,
foundation or university in which a Related Person's only relationship is as an employee or a director or trustee, provided the aggregate amount involved does not
exceed the greater of $1,000,000 or 2% of the recipient's consolidated gross revenues.
If, after applying these categorical standards and weighing all of the facts and circumstances, management determines that a proposed transaction is a
Related Person Transaction, management must present the proposed transaction to the Board for review or, if impracticable under the circumstances, to the
chairman of the Board. The Board must then either approve or reject the transaction in accordance with the terms of the policy taking into account all facts and
circumstances, including (i) the benefits to EQM of the transaction; (ii) the terms of the transaction; (iii) the terms available to unaffiliated third parties and
employees generally; (iv) the extent of the affected director or executive officer's interest in the transaction; and (v) the potential for the transaction to affect the
individual's independence or judgment. The Board of the EQM General Partner may, but is not required to, seek the approval of the Conflicts Committee for the
resolution of any related person transaction.
Conflicts of Interest
Conflicts of interest exist and may arise in the future as a result of the relationships between the EQM General Partner and its affiliates, including EQT,
EQGP and RMP, on the one hand, and EQM and its limited partners, on the other hand. The directors and officers of the EQM General Partner have duties to
manage the EQM General Partner in a manner beneficial to its owners. At the same time, the EQM General Partner has a duty to manage EQM in a manner
beneficial to EQM and its limited partners. The Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act provides that Delaware limited partnerships may, in their
partnership agreements, expand, restrict or eliminate the fiduciary duties otherwise owed by a general partner to limited partners and the partnership. Pursuant to
these provisions, EQM's partnership agreement contains various provisions replacing the fiduciary duties that would otherwise be owed by its general partner with
contractual standards governing the duties of the general partner and the methods of resolving conflicts of interest. EQM's partnership agreement also specifically
defines the remedies available to limited partners for actions taken that, without these defined liability standards, might constitute breaches of fiduciary duty under
applicable Delaware law.
All of the officers and five of the directors of the EQM General Partner are also officers and/or directors of EQT and owe fiduciary duties to EQT, and
three of the officers and four of the directors of the EQM General Partner are also officers and/or directors of the EQGP General Partner and owe fiduciary duties
to EQGP. Additionally, all of the officers and five of the directors of the EQM General Partner are also officers and/or directors of the RMP General Partner and
owe fiduciary duties to RMP. Consequently, these directors and officers may encounter situations in which their obligations to EQGP, EQT or RMP, as applicable,
on the one hand, and EQM, on the other hand, are in conflict.
Whenever a conflict arises between the EQM General Partner or its affiliates, on the one hand, and EQM or any other partner, on the other, the EQM
General Partner will resolve that conflict. The EQM General Partner may seek the approval of such resolution from the Conflicts Committee of the Board. There is
no requirement that the EQM General Partner seek the approval of the Conflicts Committee for the resolution of any conflict, and, under EQM's partnership
agreement, the EQM General Partner may decide to seek such approval or resolve a conflict of interest in any other way permitted by the partnership agreement, as
described below, in its sole discretion. The EQM General Partner will decide whether to refer the matter to the Conflicts Committee on a case-by-case basis. An
independent third party is not required to evaluate the fairness of the resolution.
The EQM General Partner will not be in breach of its obligations under the partnership agreement or its duties to EQM or its limited partners if the
resolution of the conflict is:
•
•
•
•

approved by the Conflicts Committee of the EQM General Partner, although the EQM General Partner is under no obligation to seek such approval;
approved by the vote of a majority of the outstanding common units, excluding any common units owned by the EQM General Partner or any of its
affiliates;
determined by the Board to be on terms no less favorable to EQM than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties; or
determined by the Board to be fair and reasonable to EQM, taking into account the totality of the relationships among the parties involved, including
other transactions that may be particularly favorable or advantageous to EQM.
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The EQM General Partner may, but is not required to, seek the approval of such resolution from the Conflicts Committee of its Board. If the EQM
General Partner does not seek approval from the Conflicts Committee and the Board determines that the resolution or course of action taken with respect to the
conflict of interest satisfies either of the standards set forth in the third and fourth bullet points above, then it will be presumed that, in making its decision, the
Board acted in good faith, and in any proceeding brought by or on behalf of any limited partner or EQM challenging such determination, the person bringing or
prosecuting such proceeding will have the burden of overcoming such presumption. In resolving conflicts of interest under the standard set forth in the fourth bullet
point above, the EQM partnership agreement permits the Board to take into account the totality of the relationships among the parties involved, including other
transactions that may be particularly favorable or advantageous to EQM, in determining what is fair and reasonable to EQM. Fair and reasonable is not defined in
the EQM partnership agreement and what constitutes fair and reasonable will depend on the circumstances. Furthermore, the EQM partnership agreement permits
the EQM General Partner Board to consult with legal counsel, investment bankers and other advisors in making decisions, though the extent to which the Board
will seek such advice will depend on the facts and circumstances of the transaction being considered. If the EQM General Partner Board reasonably believes that
advice or an opinion provided by such advisors is within such person's professional or expert competence, then any act taken in reliance upon such advice or
opinion will conclusively be deemed to be fair and reasonable. Unless the resolution of a conflict is specifically provided for in EQM's partnership agreement, the
EQM General Partner or the Conflicts Committee of its Board may consider any factors it determines in good faith to consider when resolving a conflict. When
EQM's partnership agreement requires someone to act in good faith, it requires that person to subjectively believe that he is acting in the best interests of EQM or
meets the specified standard, for example, a transaction on terms no less favorable to EQM than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third
parties.
Director Independence
The NYSE does not require a listed publicly traded limited partnership, such as EQM, to have a majority of independent directors on the board of
directors of its general partner. To assist it in determining the independence of the directors of the EQM General Partner, the Board established guidelines, which
are included in its corporate governance guidelines and conform to the independence requirements under the NYSE listing standards. For a discussion of the
independence of the Board, please see Item 10, "Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance-Committees of the Board of Directors."
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Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
Ernst & Young LLP served as EQM's independent auditor for the year ended December 31, 2017 . The following chart details the fees billed to EQM by
Ernst & Young LLP during 2017 and 2016 :
Years Ended December 31,
2017
Audit fees

(1)

$

Audit-related fees (2)

2016
705,000

$

843,092

4,500

15,000

Tax fees

—

—

All other fees

—

—

Total

$

709,500

$

858,092

(1) Includes fees for the audit of EQM's annual financial statements and internal control over financial reporting, reviews of financial statements included in
EQM's quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements,
including certain attest engagements, comfort letter procedures and consents and for 2016 fees for services associated with EQM acquisitions from EQT.
(2) Includes fees for services associated with attest engagements not required by statute or regulation.
The Audit Committee of the EQM General Partner has adopted a policy regarding the services of its independent auditors under which EQM's
independent accounting firm is not allowed to perform any service that may have the effect of jeopardizing the independent public accountant's independence.
Without limiting the foregoing, the independent accounting firm shall not be retained to perform the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bookkeeping or other services related to the accounting records or financial statements
Financial information systems design and implementation
Appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinions or contribution-in-kind reports
Actuarial services
Internal audit outsourcing services
Management functions
Human resources functions
Broker-dealer, investment adviser or investment banking services
Legal services
Expert services unrelated to the audit
Prohibited tax services

All audit and permitted non-audit services must be pre-approved by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has delegated specific pre-approval
authority with respect to audit and permitted non-audit services to the Chairman of the Audit Committee but only where pre-approval is required to be acted upon
prior to the next Audit Committee meeting and where the aggregate audit and permitted non-audit services fees are not more than $75,000. The Audit Committee
encourages management to seek pre-approval from the Audit Committee at its regularly scheduled meetings. In 2017 , 100% of the professional fees reported as
audit-related fees were pre-approved pursuant to the above policy.
The Audit Committee has approved the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as EQM's independent auditor to conduct the audit of EQM's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 .
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a)

Page
Reference

1 Financial Statements
Statements of Consolidated Operations for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017

64

Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017

65

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016

66

Statements of Consolidated Equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017

67

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

68

2 Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules are omitted since the subject matter thereof is either not present or is not present in amounts sufficient to require
submission of the schedules.
3 Exhibits
The exhibits referenced below are filed (or, as applicable, furnished) as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Exhibits

Description

Method of Filing

2.1(a)

Contribution and Sale Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2015, by and among EQT
Midstream Partners, LP, EQT Midstream Services, LLC, EQM Gathering Opco,
LLC, EQT Corporation, EQT Gathering, LLC, EQT Energy Supply Holdings, LP,
and EQT Energy, LLC. EQT Midstream Partners, LP will furnish supplementally a
copy of any omitted schedule and similar attachment to the SEC upon request.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8K (#001-35574) filed on March 10, 2015.

2.1(b)

Amendment No. 1 to Contribution and Sale Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2017, Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 10by and among EQT Midstream Partners, LP, EQT Midstream Services, LLC, EQM Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended March 31,
Gathering Opco, LLC, EQT Corporation, EQT Gathering, LLC, EQT Energy Supply 2017.
Holdings, LP, and EQT Energy, LLC.

2.2

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of October 13, 2016, by and among EQT
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8Corporation, EQT Gathering Holdings, LLC, EQT Gathering, LLC, EQT Midstream K (#001-35574) filed on October 13, 2016.
Partners, LP, Equitrans Investments, LLC, Equitrans, L.P. and EQM Gathering Opco,
LLC. EQT Midstream Partners, LP will furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted
schedule and similar attachment to the SEC upon request.

3.1

Certificate of Limited Partnership of EQT Midstream Partners, LP.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form S-1
Registration Statement (#333-179487) filed on
February 13, 2012.

3.2(a)

First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of EQT Midstream
Partners, LP, dated as of July 2, 2012.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8K (#001-35574) filed on July 2, 2012.

3.2(b)

Amendment No. 1 to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of EQT Midstream Partners, LP, dated as of July 24, 2014.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 10Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended June 30,
2014.
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3.2(c)

Amendment No. 2 to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of EQT Midstream Partners, LP, dated as of July 23, 2015.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form
10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended June 30,
2015.

3.2(d)

Amendment No. 3 to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of EQT Midstream Partners, LP, dated December 7, 2017.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8K (#001-35574) filed on December 8, 2017.

3.3

Certificate of Formation of EQT Midstream Services, LLC.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Form S1 Registration Statement (#333-179487) filed on
February 13, 2012.

3.4

Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of EQT
Midstream Services, LLC, dated as of May 15, 2015.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8K (#001-35574) filed on May 15, 2015.

4.1

Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2014, by and among EQT Midstream Partners, LP,
as issuer, the subsidiaries of EQT Midstream Partners, LP party thereto, and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8K (#001-35574) filed on August 1, 2014.

4.2

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2014, by and among EQT
Midstream Partners, LP, as issuer, the subsidiaries of EQT Midstream Partners, LP
party thereto, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8K (#001-35574) filed on August 1, 2014.

4.3

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 4, 2016, by and between
EQT Midstream Partners, LP, as issuer, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8K (#001-35574) filed on November 4, 2016.

10.1

Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2015, by and among Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form
10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended March
EQT Gathering, LLC, EQT Midstream Partners, LP and MVP Holdco, LLC.
31, 2015.

10.2(a)

Omnibus Agreement, dated as of July 2, 2012, by and among EQT Midstream
Partners, LP, EQT Midstream Services, LLC and EQT Corporation.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
Form 8-K (#001-35574) filed on July 2, 2012.

10.2(b)

Amendment No. 1 to Omnibus Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2015, by and
among EQT Midstream Partners, LP, EQT Midstream Services, LLC and EQT
Corporation.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form
8-K (#001-35574) filed on March 17, 2015.

10.3

Secondment Agreement, dated December 7, 2017, by and among EQT Corporation, Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form
EQT Gathering, LLC, Equitrans, L.P., EQT Midstream Partners, LP, and EQT
8-K (#001-35574) filed on December 8, 2017.
Midstream Services, LLC.

10.4

Equity Distribution Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2015, by and among EQT
Midstream Partners, LP and the Managers named therein.

10.5

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2017, by and Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form
among EQT Midstream Partners, LP, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
8-K (#001-35574) filed on August 3, 2017.
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and an L/C Issuer, and the other lenders
party thereto.

10.6

364-Day Uncommitted Revolving Loan Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2016, by Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form
and between EQT Corporation and EQT Midstream Partners, LP.
10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2016.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Form 8K (#001-35574) filed on August 27, 2015.

10.7(a)*

EQT Midstream Services, LLC 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan, dated as of July 2,
2012.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
Form 8-K (#001-35574) filed on July 2, 2012.

10.7(b)*

Form of Phantom Unit Award Agreement.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to
Amendment No. 2 to Form S-1 Registration Statement
(#333-179487) filed on May 10, 2012.
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Form of Director and/or Executive Officer Indemnification Agreement.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
Amendment No. 3 to Form S-1 Registration Statement
(#333-179487) filed on June 5, 2012.

10.9(a)

Sublease Agreement, effective as of March 1, 2011, by and between Equitrans, L.P.
and EQT Production Company.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to
Amendment No. 2 to Form S-1 Registration Statement
(#333-179487) filed on May 10, 2012.

10.9(b)

Amendment of Sublease Agreement, dated as of April 5, 2012, by and between
Equitrans, L.P. and EQT Production Company.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to
Amendment No. 2 to Form S-1 Registration Statement
(#333-179487) filed on May 10, 2012.

10.8*

10.10

EQT Guaranty dated as of April 25, 2012, executed by EQT Corporation in favor of Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
Equitrans, L.P.
Amendment No. 2 to Form S-1 Registration Statement
(#333-179487) filed on May 10, 2012.

10.11

Transportation Service Agreement Applicable to Firm Transportation Service Under Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Form
Rate Schedule FTS, Contract No. EQTR 18679-852, dated as of December 20, 2013, 10-K (#001-35574) for the year ended December 31, 2013.
by and between Equitrans, L.P. and EQT Energy, LLC.

10.12

Transportation Service Agreement Applicable to Firm Transportation Service Under Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form
Rate Schedule FTS, Contract No. EQTR 20242-852, dated as of September 24, 2014, 10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended
by and between Equitrans, L.P. and EQT Energy, LLC.
September 30, 2015.

10.13

Transportation Service Agreement Applicable to Firm Transportation Service Under Filed herewith as Exhibit 10.13.
Rate Schedule FTS, Contract No. CW2250463-1296, dated as of January 8, 2016 and
amended through December 20, 2017, by and between Equitrans, L.P. and EQT
Energy, LLC.

10.14(a)

Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, effective as of May 1, 2014, by and among EQT Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Production Company and EQT Energy, LLC, on the one hand, and EQM Gathering Form 10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended
Opco, LLC (as assignee of EQT Gathering, LLC), on the other hand. Specific items June 30, 2014.
in this exhibit have been redacted, as marked by three asterisks [***], because
confidential treatment for those items was granted by the SEC. The redacted material
has been separately filed with the SEC.

10.14(b)

Amendment No. 1 to Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, dated as of December 17,
2014, by and among EQT Production Company and EQT Energy, LLC, on the one
hand, and EQM Gathering Opco, LLC, on the other hand.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24(b) to
Form 10-K (#001-35574) for the year ended December 31,
2015.

10.14(c)

Amendment No. 2 to Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, dated as of October 26,
2015, by and among EQT Production Company and EQT Energy, LLC, on the one
hand, and EQM Gathering Opco, LLC, on the other hand. Specific items in this
exhibit have been redacted, as marked by three asterisks [***], because confidential
treatment for those items was granted by the SEC. The redacted material has been
separately filed with the SEC.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24(c) to
Form 10-K (#001-35574) for the year ended December 31,
2015.

10.14(d)

Amendment No. 3 to Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2016, Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form
by and among EQT Production Company and EQT Energy, LLC, on the one hand, 10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended
and EQM Gathering Opco, LLC, on the other hand. Specific items in this exhibit
September 30, 2016.
have been redacted, as marked by three asterisks [***], because confidential
treatment for those items was granted by the SEC. The redacted material has been
separately filed with the SEC.
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10.14(e)

Amendment No. 4 to Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2017, by
and among EQT Production Company and EQT Energy, LLC, on the one hand, and
EQM Gathering Opco, LLC, on the other hand.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form
10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended June 30,
2017.

10.14(f)

Amendment No. 5 to Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2017, Filed herewith as Exhibit 10.14(f).
by and among EQT Production Company and EQT Energy, LLC, on the one hand,
and EQM Gathering Opco, LLC, on the other hand. Specific items in this exhibit
have been redacted, as marked by three asterisks (***) because confidential treatment
for those terms has been requested from the SEC. The redacted material has been
separately filed with the SEC.

10.15(a)

Gas Gathering Agreement for the Mercury, Pandora, Pluto and Saturn Gas Gathering Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8Systems, effective as of March 1, 2015, by and among EQT Production Company and K (#001-35574) filed on March 31, 2015.
EQT Energy, LLC, on the one hand, and EQM Gathering Opco, LLC (as assignee of
EQT Gathering, LLC), on the other hand. Specific items in this exhibit have been
redacted, as marked by three asterisks [***], because confidential treatment for those
items was granted by the SEC. The redacted material has been separately filed with
the SEC.

10.15(b)

Amendment No. 1 to Gas Gathering Agreement for the Mercury, Pandora, Pluto and Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25(b) to
Saturn Gas Gathering Systems, dated as of September 18, 2015, by and among EQT Form 10-K (#001-35574) for the year ended December 31,
Production Company and EQT Energy, LLC, on the one hand, and EQM Gathering 2015.
Opco, LLC, on the other hand.

10.15(c)

Amendment No. 2 to Gas Gathering Agreement for the Mercury, Pandora, Pluto and Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form
Saturn Gas Gathering Systems, dated as of March 30, 2017, by and among EQT
10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended March
Production Company and EQT Energy, LLC, on the one hand, and EQM Gathering 31, 2017.
Opco, LLC, on the other hand. Specific items in this exhibit have been redacted, as
marked by three asterisks [***], because confidential treatment for those items was
granted by the SEC. The redacted material has been separately filed with the SEC.

10.16(a)

Gas Gathering Agreement for the WG-100 Gas Gathering System, effective as of
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8March 1, 2015, by and among EQT Production Company and EQT Energy, LLC, on K (#001-35574) filed on March 31, 2015.
the one hand, and EQM Gathering Opco, LLC (as assignee of EQT Gathering, LLC),
on the other hand. Specific items in this exhibit have been redacted, as marked by
three asterisks [***], because confidential treatment for those items was granted by
the SEC. The redacted material has been separately filed with the SEC.

10.16(b)

Amendment No. 1 to Gas Gathering Agreement for the WG-100 Gas Gathering
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form
System, dated as of April 1, 2017, by and among EQT Production Company and EQT 10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended June 30,
Energy, LLC, on the one hand, and EQM Gathering Opco, LLC, on the other hand.
2017.

10.17(a)

Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Mountain Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8Valley Pipeline, LLC, dated as of March 10, 2015, by and among MVP Holdco, LLC, K (#001-35574) filed on March 31, 2015.
US Marcellus Gas Infrastructure, LLC, WGL Midstream, Inc., Vega Midstream MVP
LLC, VED NPI IV, LLC and Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC. Specific items in this
exhibit have been redacted, as marked by three asterisks [***], because confidential
treatment for those items was granted by the SEC. The redacted material has been
separately filed with the SEC.
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10.17(b)

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company
Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form
Agreement of Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC, dated as of January 21, 2016, by and 10-Q (#001-35574) for the quarterly period ended March
among MVP Holdco, LLC, US Marcellus Gas Infrastructure, LLC and Mountain
31, 2016.
Valley Pipeline, LLC. Specific items in this exhibit have been redacted, as marked by
three asterisks [***], because confidential treatment for those items was granted by
the SEC. The redacted material has been separately filed with the SEC.

10.17(c)

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25(c) to
Agreement of Mountain Valley Pipeline, LLC, dated as of October 24, 2016, by and Form 10-K (#001-35574) for the year ended December 31,
among MVP Holdco, LLC, US Marcellus Gas Infrastructure, LLC, WGL Midstream, 2016.
Inc., Vega Midstream MVP LLC, VED NPI IV, LLC and Mountain Valley Pipeline,
LLC. Specific items in this exhibit have been redacted, as marked by three asterisks
[***], because confidential treatment for those items was granted by the SEC. The
redacted material has been separately filed with the SEC.

10.18*

Method of Filing

Amended and Restated Confidentiality, Non-Solicitation and Non-Competition
Agreement, dated as of September 10, 2016, by and between EQT Corporation and
Jimmi Sue Smith.

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Form
10-K (#001-35574) for the year ended December 31, 2016.

12.1

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Filed herewith as Exhibit 12.1.

21.1

List of Subsidiaries of EQT Midstream Partners, LP.

Filed herewith as Exhibit 21.1.

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Filed herewith as Exhibit 23.1.

31.1

Rule 13(a)-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

Filed herewith as Exhibit 31.1.

31.2

Rule 13(a)-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

Filed herewith as Exhibit 31.2.

Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer.

Furnished herewith as Exhibit 32.

99.1

Named Executive Officer Compensation 2017 Peer Companies (General Industry).

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Form
10-K (#001-35574) for the year ended December 31, 2016.

99.2

Named Executive Officer Compensation 2018 Peer Companies (General Industry).

Filed herewith as Exhibit 99.2.

99.3

Non-GAAP Financial Information.

Filed herewith as Exhibit 99.3.

101

Interactive Data File.

Filed herewith as Exhibit 101.

32
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EQT Midstream Partners, LP
By: EQT Midstream Services, LLC, its General Partner
By:

/s/ STEVEN T. SCHLOTTERBECK
Steven T. Schlotterbeck
President and Chief Executive Officer
February 15, 2018

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ STEVEN T. SCHLOTTERBECK
Steven T. Schlotterbeck

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director

February 15, 2018

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Director

February 15, 2018

Chief Accounting Officer

February 15, 2018

(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ ROBERT J. MCNALLY
Robert J. McNally
(Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ JIMMI SUE SMITH
Jimmi Sue Smith
(Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ JEREMIAH J. ASHCROFT III

Director

February 15, 2018

Director

February 15, 2018

Director

February 15, 2018

Director

February 15, 2018

Chairman

February 15, 2018

Director

February 15, 2018

Jeremiah J. Ashcroft III
/s/ JULIAN M. BOTT
Julian M. Bott
/s/ MICHAEL A. BRYSON
Michael A. Bryson
/s/ LEWIS B. GARDNER
Lewis B. Gardner
/s/ DAVID L. PORGES
David L. Porges
/s/ LARA E. WASHINGTON
Lara E. Washington
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Exhibit 10.13

EQUITRANS, L.P.
TRANSPORTATION SERVICE AGREEMENT
APPLICABLE TO FIRM TRANSPORTATION
SERVICE UNDER RATE SCHEDULE FTS
Contract No. EQTR19837-1296
Dated January 8, 2016
This Agreement is entered into by and between Equitrans, L.P. (“Equitrans”) and EQT Energy, LLC (“Customer”).
1.

Agreement (CHECK ONE)
_x__

This is a new Agreement.

___This Agreement supersedes, terminates, and cancels Contract No. _____, dated _____________. The superseded
contract is no longer in effect.
2. Service under this Agreement is provided pursuant to Subpart B or Subpart G of Part 284, Title 18, of the Code of
Federal Regulations. Service under this Agreement is in all respects subject to and governed by the applicable Rate Schedule
and the General Terms and Conditions of the Equitrans FERC Gas Tariff (“Tariff”) as they may be modified from time to
time, and such are incorporated by reference. In the event that language of this Agreement or any Exhibit conflicts with
Equitrans’ Tariff, the language of the Tariff will control.
3. Equitrans shall have the unilateral right to file with the Commission or other appropriate regulatory authority, in
accordance with Section 4 of the Natural Gas Act, changes in Equitrans’ Tariff, including both the level and design of rates,
charges, Retainage Factors and services, and the General Terms and Conditions.
4. Customer’s Maximum Daily Quantity (“MDQ”) of natural gas transported under this Agreement shall be the MDQ
stated in Exhibit A to this Agreement. If service under this Agreement is associated with a firm storage agreement,
Customer’s Base MDQ and Winter MDQ are stated in Alternative Exhibit A.
5. The effective date, term and associated notice and renewal provisions of this Agreement are stated in Exhibit A to this
Agreement.
6.The Receipt and Delivery Points are stated in Exhibit A to this Agreement.
7. Customer shall pay Equitrans the maximum applicable rate (including all other applicable charges and Retainage
Factors authorized pursuant to Rate Schedule FTS and the Tariff) for services rendered under this Agreement, unless
Customer and Equitrans execute Optional Exhibit B (Discounted Rate Agreement) or Optional Exhibit C (Negotiated Rate
Agreement).

EQTR19837-1296
Page 1 of 13

8. Exhibits are incorporated by reference into this Agreement upon their execution. Customer and Equitrans may amend
any attached Exhibit by mutual agreement, which amendments shall be reflected in a revised Exhibit, and shall be
incorporated by reference as part of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Customer and Equitrans have executed this Agreement by their duly authorized officers,
effective as of the date indicated above.

CUSTOMER:
By /s/Paul Kress 1/8/16 .

EQUITRANS, L.P.:
By /s/David Gray 1/8/16 .
(Date)

Title VP

.

(Date)
Title SVP

.
EQTR19837-1296
Page 2 of 13

EXHIBIT A
to the
TRANSPORTATION SERVICE AGREEMENT
between EQUITRANS, L.P.
and
EQT ENERGY LLC,
pursuant to Rate Schedule FTS
Contract No. CW2250460-1296 Dated 01/08/2016
This Exhibit A is dated 12/20/2017.
Any previously executed Exhibit A under this Agreement is terminated and is no longer in effect.

1. Notices and Correspondence shall be sent to:
Equitrans, L.P.
EQT Plaza
625 Liberty Avenue Ste 1700
Pittsburgh, PA 15222-3111
Attn: Gas Transportation Dept.
Phone: (412) 395-3230
Facsimile: (412) 395-3347
E-mail Address: T&ENotify@eqt.com
EQT ENERGY LLC
Address:
625 LIBERTY AVENUE SUITE 1700
PITTSBURGH, PA 15222-3111
Representative: Paul Kress
Phone: (412) 395-3232
Facsimile: (412) 395-2675
E-mail Address: pkress@eqt.com
DUNS: 03-585-8708
Federal Tax I.D. No.: 02-0750473
Other contact information if applicable:

2. Service Under this Agreement is provided on:
X

Mainline System (includes the Sunrise Transmission System and the Ohio
Valley Connector
Allegheny Valley Connector

3. Maximum Daily Quantity (MDQ):
Base MDQ (Dth)
650,000

Winter MDQ (Dth)
650,000

Effective Date
12/20/2017

4. Primary Receipt and Delivery Point(s)
Primary Receipt Point(s) **
Base
Winter
Effective
(Meter No. and/or Meter Name) MDQ Allocation MDQ Allocation
24605 - Mobley
310,000 Dth
310,000 Dth
12/20/2017
510080 - Applegate

200,000 Dth

200,000 Dth

TBD - East Side

100,000 Dth

100,000 Dth

24490 - Pluto

40,000 Dth

40,000 Dth

Date

12/20/2017
12/20/2017
12/20/2017

** Receipt point MDQs do not include quantities required for retainage.

Primary Delivery Point(s)
Base
Winter
(Meter No. and/or Meter Name) MDQ Allocation

Effective
MDQ Allocation

Date

60062 - REX Clarington
500,000 Dth
500,000 Dth
12/20/2017
70007D - Rover Clarington
150,000 Dth
150,000 Dth
12/20/2017
5. Effective Date and Term: This Exhibit A is effective 12/20/2017 and continues in full force and effect through 9/30/2036.* For
agreements twelve (12) months or longer, Customer and/or Equitrans may terminate the agreement at the end of the primary term by
providing at least six (6) months prior written notice of such intent to terminate.
At the expiration of the primary term, this Exhibit A has the following renewal term
(choose one):
__ x __ no renewal term
____ through _______________*
____ for a period of _______________*
____ year to year* (subject to termination on ____months prior written notice)
____ month to month (subject to termination by either party upon ___ days written notice prior to contract
expiration)
____ other (described in section 6 below)
Contract #CW2250460CW2250560-1296
Page 2 of 3

* In accordance with Section 6.28 of the General Terms and Conditions, a right of first refusal may apply; any contractual right of
first refusal will be set forth in Section 6 of this Exhibit A.
6. Other Special Provisions:
Any capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Precedent Agreement dated July
23, 2014 between the parties.
Customer shall have the right of first refusal with respect to the MDQ at the expiration of the Primary Term, for a renewal term of no
less than five years, in accordance with Equitrans’ FERC Gas Tariff.
This Agreement incorporates the Credit Agreement dated July 23, 2014 entered into by and between Equitrans and Customer and
any amendments or restatements thereto.
Should Equitrans elect in the future to expand the Ohio Valley Connector or a lateral directly connected to the Ohio Valley
Connector on a forward haul basis, Customer shall have a right to participate in that project (“OVC Expansion Project”). Equitrans
shall notify Customer prior to holding an Open Season for an OVC Expansion Project. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Customer’s
right under this section shall not apply to Equitrans’ separate project to modify, expand, and extend certain of its transmission
facilities in order to provide additional firm transportation service from Clarington, Ohio to Lebanon, Ohio and such other locations
as Equitrans may determine, which is a separate project and not an OVC Expansion Project, and for which an Open Season has
already been held. Equitrans and Customer agree that nothing in this section prohibits Customer from requesting firm capacity on
similar proposed projects.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Customer and Equitrans have executed this Exhibit A by their duly authorized officers, effective
as of the date indicated above.

CUSTOMER:
By /s/ Paul Kress 12/20/2017 .

EQUITRANS, L.P.:
By /s/ Andrew Murphy 12/20/2017 .
(Date)

Title VP

.

(Date)
Title Vice President

.

Contract #CW2250460CW2250560-1296
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OPTIONAL EXHIBIT C
to the
TRANSPORTATION SERVICE AGREEMENT
between EQUITRANS, L.P.
and
EQT ENERGY LLC,
pursuant to Rate Schedule FTS
Contract No. CW2250463-1296 Dated 01/08/2016
This Exhibit C is dated 12/20/2017.
Any previously executed Exhibit C under this Agreement is terminated and is no longer in effect.

Negotiated Rate Agreement
1. In accordance with Section 6.30 of the General Terms and Conditions of Equitrans’ Tariff, Equitrans and Customer agree that
the following negotiated rate provisions will apply under the Agreement:
Rates Effective from Mobley Receipt Point (Meter# 24505) to REX Clarington
Delivery Point (60062) or Rover Traveler Delivery Point (Meter# 70007D)
Monthly Reservation Rate $7.6042 per MDQ
Commodity Rate
$0.00 per Dth
Authorized Overrun Rate $0.25 per Dth
Rates Effective from Applegate Receipt Point (Meter# 5100080) to REX Clarington
Delivery Point (60062) or Rover Traveler Delivery Point (70007D)
Monthly Reservation Rate $10.6458 per MDQ
Commodity Rate
$0.00 per Dth
Authorized Overrun Rate $0.35 per Dth
Rates Effective from East Side Receipt Point (Meter# TBD) and Pluto Receipt Point
(Meter# 24490) to REX Clarington Delivery Point (60062) or Rover Traveler Delivery
Point (Meter# 70007D)
Monthly Reservation Rate $13.6875 per MDQ
Commodity Rate
$0.00 per Dth
Authorized Overrun Rate $0.45 per Dth

Contract # CW2250463-1296
Page 1 of 5

Customer’s base negotiated rates, as set forth above, shall be adjusted for any cost overruns as follows:
To the extent Actual Project Costs, as defined below, deviate (upwards or downwards) from the Estimated Project Costs, as
defined below, Customer’s base negotiated rate shall be multiplied by the Capital Cost Adjustment Factor (“CCA Factor”).
The CCA Factor shall be equal to 1 +/- ((CCA/EPC) x 50%), provided that the CCA Factor shall not exceed 1.15 upwards or
downward.
Any such adjustment shall be effective as of the Effective Date, as defined below, and shall be made as soon as practical, but
no later than thirty (30) days after the first anniversary of the Effective Date.
In addition, the base negotiated rate as calculated above will be subject to an annual adjustment (upwards or downwards), to
take effect on each anniversary of the Effective Date, calculated as follows:
OMSGA x (1+D) = ARR, where
OMSGA = The current portion of the Monthly Reservation Rate that accounts for O&M and SG&A
D = the percentage change in the Producer Price Index – Support activities for Oil and Gas Operations (“PPI-Oil and
Gas”), as published by the US Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics (“BLS”), from June 1 of the year that is
two (2) years immediately prior to the year for which the adjustment is to be effective (the “Adjustment Year”) to June 1
of the year immediately preceding the Adjustment Year, based upon the most recent publication of the PPI-Oil and Gas
prior to the end of the year immediately preceding the Adjustment Year for each such date. Any such adjustment (upward
or downward) shall be capped at two percent (2%).
ARR = the updated OMSGA to be used in annual adjustments
“Actual Project Costs” shall be an amount in U.S. dollars equal to the sum of all costs actually incurred to complete the Ohio
Valley Connector project and to achieve the Effective Date, including but not limited to (a) all costs and expenses actually
incurred for the engineering, design, permitting, construction, pipeline and equipment procurement, installation and start-up
of the Ohio Valley Connector project facilities, (b) all costs and expenses actually incurred for environmental, right-of-way,
legal, and regulatory activities, (c) all direct and allocated internal overhead and administrative costs (subject to a cap equal to
ten percent of estimated costs excluding an allowance for funds used during construction (“AFUDC”)), and (d) AFUDC
computed in accordance with the regulations of the FERC.
“Capital Cost Adjustment” or “CCA” shall be an amount in U.S. dollars equal to the difference (if any) between Actual
Project Costs and the Estimated Project Costs.
“Estimated Project Costs” or “EPC” shall mean all costs and expenses that are projected to be incurred by Equitrans to
complete the Ohio Valley Connector project and to achieve the Effective Date, including but not limited to (a) all costs and
expenses projected to be incurred for the engineering, design, permitting, construction, pipeline and equipment procurement,
installation and start-up of the Ohio Valley Connector project facilities, (b) all costs and expenses projected to be incurred for
environmental, right-of-way, legal, and regulatory activities, (c) all direct and allocated internal overhead and administrative
costs (subject to a cap equal to ten percent of
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estimated costs excluding AFUDC, and (d) AFUDC computed in accordance with the regulations of the FERC. For purposes
of determining the adjustment to Customer’s base negotiated rate pursuant to this Exhibit C, Equitrans and Customer agree
that the Estimated Project Costs shall be equal to three hundred and thirty-three million dollars ($333,000,000).
In addition to the fixed Monthly Reservation Rate, Shipper shall pay for all Ohio Valley Connector project service: (1) actual
fuel and lost and unaccounted-for gas to recover fuel usage, lost and unaccounted for gas on Equitrans’ Mainline, Sunrise
Transmission, and Ohio Valley Connector Systems (“Retainage Rate”), and (2) the applicable FERC ACA surcharge.
Equitrans will retain 1.26% of Customer’s nominated receipts volumes to recover fuel, lost and unaccounted for gas
(“Estimated Retainage Rate”).
Within 60 days after the end of each calendar quarter, Equitrans will calculate for each month of the quarter actual fuel and
lost and unaccounted for gas rate for each of Equitrans’ Mainline, Sunrise Transmission, and Ohio Valley Connector Systems
(“Actual Fuel and LUF Rate”) by taking the difference between monthly actual measured dekatherms received and monthly
actual measured dekatherms delivered (excluding gas used for company use and compressor fuel) and dividing the difference
by monthly actual measured dekatherms received. The Estimated Retainage Rate less Actual Fuel and LUF Rate will be
multiplied by Customer’s monthly nominated volumes during the preceding calendar quarter to determine the monthly
volumes owed to either Equitrans or Customer (“True-up Volumes”). If the True-up Volumes are negative, gas is due to
Equitrans and if the True-up Volumes are positive, gas is due to Customer.
Customer and Equitrans agree that payback of the True-up Volumes will take place over the 60 day period following notice
by Equitrans to Customer of the True-up Volumes as calculated by the above methodology.
Equitrans and Customer agree that the Estimated Retainage Rate can be adjusted 60 days after the end of the calendar year to
reflect actual fuel lost and unaccounted for gas for the most recent annual period.
The Retainage Rate will be considered a negotiated Rate, subject to FERC’s negotiated rate policies, and will only apply to
nominations on Equitrans’ System not involving storage injections and withdrawals or on-system non-interstate pipeline
delivery points (each, a “City-Gate Point”). Any storage injection and withdrawal or City-Gate Point nominations will be
subject to the posted Tariff Retainage Factors and other applicable surcharges (such as the Pipeline Safety Cost rate). In
addition, Customer shall not be entitled to reservation charge credits in the event of a service outage affecting the
transportation service to be provided under this Agreement.
Customer shall have most favored nation status with respect to this Agreement. If at any time during the first five years
following the Effective Date Equitrans is or become party to any discounted or negotiated rate precedent agreement or
service agreement with any third party for firm transportation service with respect to the Ohio Valley Connector from the
Receipt Point of Mobley to the Delivery Point of either REX Clarington or Rover Traveler for an MDQ that is less than or
equal to Customer’s MDQ under this Agreement for service from the receipt point of Mobley to the Delivery Point of either
REX Clarington or Rover Traveler, and pursuant to such third party precedent agreement for service between the specified
points (or service agreement) Equitrans is obligated to provide such third party firm service at rates that are lower than the
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rates for firm service under this Agreement for service from such Receipt Point to such Delivery Point, then within five (5)
business days of executing such third party discounted or negotiated rate precedent agreement or service agreement,
Equitrans will notify Customer of such lower rate (such notice, an “MFN Notice”.) Within thirty (30) business days of receipt
of an MFN Notice from Equitrans, Customer shall notify Equitrans whether Customer wishes to amend this Agreement to
provide for such lower rate for firm transportation service hereunder, only with respect to service between the Receipt Point
of Mobley to the Delivery Point of either REX Clarington or Rover Traveler.
Customer shall have the right to terminate this Agreement (such right to be exercised, if ever, no later than fifteen (15) days
following Equitrans’ receipt of a final, non-appealable order issuing a FERC certificate for the Project) if the applicable final,
non-appealable FERC certificate issued to Equitrans for the Project is issued with conditions or terms that are inconsistent
with the terms of this Agreement with respect to the rate to be paid by Customer or the term of this Agreement and not in
form and substance substantially as requested, such that the terms or conditions therein will have a material adverse effect on
Customer in Customer’s reasonable judgement.

Except as expressly stated herein, Equitrans’ applicable maximum rates and charges set forth in the Statement of Rates of its Tariff
continue to apply.

2. Customer acknowledges that it is electing Negotiated Rates as an alternative to the rates and charges set forth in the Statement of
Rates of Equitrans’ Tariff applicable to Rate Schedule FTS, as revised from time to time.

3. This Exhibit C is effective 12/20/2017 and continues in effect through 9/30/2036.

4. In the event any provision of this Exhibit C is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable by any court, regulatory agency, or
tribunal of competent jurisdiction, the validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions, terms or conditions shall
not in any way be affected or impaired thereby, and the term, condition, or provision which is held illegal or invalid shall be
deemed modified to conform to such rule of law, but only for the period of time such order, rule, regulation, or law is in effect.
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5. Other Special Provisions:
None.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Customer and Equitrans have executed this Exhibit C by their duly authorized officers, effective as of
the date indicated above.

CUSTOMER:
By /s/ Paul Kress 12/20/2017 .

EQUITRANS, L.P.:
By /s/ Andrew Murphy 12/20/2017 .
(Date)

Title VP

.

(Date)
Title Vice President

.
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Exhibit 10.14(f)
Portions of this Exhibit have been redacted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment under Rule 24b-2 of the General Rules and Regulations under the
Securities Exchange Act. Omitted information marked “[***]” in this Exhibit has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission together with such
request for confidential treatment.
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AMENDMENT NO. 5
TO
JUPITER GAS GATHERING AGREEMENT
This Amendment No. 5 to the Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement (this “ Amendment ”) is made and entered into as of October
1, 2017, by and between EQT Production Company (“ Producer ”) and EQT Energy, LLC (collectively with Producer, “ Shipper ”),
on the one hand, and EQM Gathering OPCO, LLC (“ Gatherer ”), on the other hand. Producer, Shipper and Gatherer are each
referred to herein as a “ Party ” and collectively as the “ Parties ”.
WHEREAS, the Parties made and entered into that certain Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, the “ Agreement ”, dated May
1, 2014 (as amended by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, dated December 17, 2014, that certain
Amendment No. 2 to Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, dated October 26, 2015, that certain Amendment No. 3 to Jupiter Gas
Gathering Agreement, dated August 1, 2016,and that certain Amendment No. 4 to Jupiter Gas Gathering Agreement, dated June 1,
2017), pursuant to which, among other provisions, Shipper requested that Gatherer provide gathering services to Shipper by
receiving quantities of Gas from Shipper at the Receipt Points and redelivering such Gas to or for Shipper’s account at the Delivery
Points; and
WHEREAS, the Parties intend to amend Exhibit A and Section II (Table of Incremental Capital Fees) of Exhibit B-2 of the
Agreement upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, and
intending to be legally bound, the Parties hereby agree as follows:
1.
Definitions . All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined or amended herein shall have the meanings
ascribed to them in the Agreement.
2.

Amendments .
a. Exhibit A attached to the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the revised Exhibit A attached
hereto as Attachment 1.
b. Section II (Table of Incremental Capital Fees) of Exhibit B-2 attached to the Agreement is hereby deleted in its
entirety and replaced with the revised Section II (Table of Incremental Capital Fees) attached hereto as Attachment 2.
In accordance with Section 4.2(b) of the Agreement, the Parties have agreed to an Incremental Capital Project in
respect of the new Receipt Point identified in Section II of Exhibit B-2 (the “ West Run – Hopewell Ridge Receipt
Point ”), which is separate from the
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West Run Receipt Point in Zone 1 identified on the revised Exhibit A attached hereto as Attachment 1. The
Parties further agree that:
i. this Incremental Capital Project shall not trigger an increase in the Compression MDQ or the Contract
MDQ or an extension of any Term under the Agreement;
ii. the Incremental Capital Fee shall be a negotiated volumetric rate of [***] (in lieu of a Monthly
reservation rate) for all Gas delivered by Shipper and received by Gatherer at West Run – Hopewell
Ridge Receipt Point, which Receipt Point will not be subject to the Target Receipt Point Pressure, and
any Gas delivered to such Receipt Point shall not be considered in calculating the Compression MDQ,
the Contract MDQ or the Overrun Fees under the Agreement;
iii. the Incremental Capital Fee shall apply to Gas delivered to the West Run – Hopewell Ridge Receipt
Point beginning [***] and until [***], and thereafter shall apply to such Gas until terminated by either
Party on the last Day of a Month by delivering written notice to the other Party at least thirty (30) Days
prior to the date of termination.
iv. Shipper shall not install wellhead or other compression upstream of the West Run – Hopewell Ridge
Receipt point without prior written consent from Gatherer.
c. In Section III (Site Specific Data and Facility Responsibility Matrix) of Exhibit F attached to the Agreement:
i. the pages including Section III.A.1 (Receipt Point Interconnect Data) is hereby deleted in their entirety
and replaced with the revised pages including Section III.A.1 (Receipt Point Interconnect Data)
attached hereto as Attachment 3; and
ii. Section III.A.2 (Responsibility for Interconnect Facility Equipment) is hereby amended to include the
additional Interconnect Facilities responsibilities tables for the meters identified as set forth below,
which tables (1) establish the design, construction, operation, maintenance and cost responsibility for
each such meter and (2) are attached hereto as Attachment 3.
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M5277181
M5274165
M5256116
M5272524

M5274373
M5274166
M5256117
M5291357

M5258883
M5274167
M5256118

3.
Effect of Amendment . The Agreement, as amended hereby, shall remain in full force and effect, and all terms
hereof are hereby ratified and confirmed by the Parties.
4.
Further Actions . The Parties agree to execute such other documents and take such further actions necessary to
effectuate this Amendment.
5.
Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. It is agreed by the Parties that facsimile signature
pages signed by the Parties shall be binding to the same extent as original signature pages.
6.
Entire Agreement . This Amendment is the entire agreement between the Parties concerning the subject matter
hereof and neither Party shall be bound by representations except as set forth in this Amendment.
Parties.

7.

Amendments . This Amendment may not be modified or amended except by a written agreement signed by the

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.

EQT PRODUCTION COMPANY

EQM GATHERING OPCO, LLC

By: /s/ David Schlosser __________

By: /s/ Jeremiah J. Ashcroft _______

Name: David Schlosser ____________

Name: Jeremiah J. Ashcroft __________

Title: President __________________

Title: President ___________________

EQT ENERGY, LLC
By: /s/ Donald M. Jenkins _________
Name: Donald M. Jenkins ____________
Title: President ____________________
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EXHIBIT A
RECEIPT POINTS, DELIVERY POINTS,
CONTRACT MDQ AND COMPRESSION MDQ
Receipt Point(s)

Receipt Point MDQ
MMcf/Day

Zone

Zone MDQ
MMcf/Day

West Run
Koloski
Green Hill
Pierce
Walker B
Moore
Phillips
Scotts Run
Patterson Creek
Carpenter

80
90
80
100
30
40
30
30
60
120

Zone 1
Zone 1
Zone 1
Zone 1
Zone 1
Zone 1
Zone 1
Zone 1
Zone 1
Zone 1

300
300
300
300
300
300
300
300
300
300

Moninger
Cooper
Big Sky
Harris
Amity
Harden Farm
Connors
Pettit
Hughes
Roberts
Harden
Shipman
J&J

200
140
75
45
15
110
65
65
55
9
25
37.5
37.5

Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2
Zone 2

370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370

Lacko
Hildebrand
Pyles
Beazer
Yabolnski
Minor
Nicoloff
McMillan
Robinson
Thompson
Thistlewaite
Alpha
Strope

150
35
40
50
70
60
30
20
20
25
2
80
100

Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3
Zone 3

370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370
370

West Run - Hopewell Ridge

N/A

N/A

N/A
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EXHIBIT A (Continued)
RECEIPT POINTS, DELIVERY POINTS,
CONTRACT MDQ AND COMPRESSION MDQ
Delivery Point(s)
Ingram
Amity
Jupiter
Callisto
Hopewell Ridge
Pipers Ridge
Europa
Io

Drip Liquids
Delivery Point(s)
Not applicable

Contract MDQ:
Compression MDQ:

Location
Equitrans H-109
Equitrans H-125
Equitrans H-148
Equitrans H-160
Equitrans H-160
Equitrans M-78
Equitrans H-165
Equitrans H-148 and M-78

Location

792,000 Dth / Day
792,000 Dth / Day
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ATTACHMENT 2
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II.

Table of Incremental Capital Fees

Incremental Capital Project Contract MDQ
West Run – Hopewell Ridge
Receipt Point (5100053)

[***]

Incremental Capital Fee
Volumetric fee of [***]

Exhibit B-2
Page 2

In-Service Date Applicable Expansion Term
[***]

Until [***], and thereafter
until terminated by either
Party on the last Day of a
Month by delivering written
notice to the other Party at
least thirty (30) Days prior to
the date of termination.
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ATTACHMENT 3
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III .

SITE SPECIFIC DATA AND FACILITY RESPONSIBILITY MATRIX

A. In addition to the minimum design specification and operating parameters set forth in the Engineering and Technical Design
Standards, the following specifications shall be followed:
1.

Receipt Point Interconnect Data : The table below provides for the list of meters covered under this Agreement
which may be updated from time to time in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Each
meter in the Receipt Point Interconnect table shall conform to the specifications listed in the table applicable to
such meter under Section III(A)(2).

Meter ID

Meter Name

GPS Coordinates

MAOP

MinDQ*
(Mcf / Day)

MaxDQ
(Mcf / Day)

17019

Cooper B

39.95597, -80.26908

720

1,220

78,500

11798

Roberts 1

39.94097, -80.326422

720

320

19,600

17018

Roberts 2

39.94097, -80.25422

720

320

19,600

11796

McMillen

39.9836, -80.1209

720

710

45,900

M5256116

McMillen 2 MM - 1

39.98455, -80.11803

1400

2,100

51,433

M5256117

McMillen 2 MM - 2

39.98455, -80.11803

1400

2,100

51,433

M5256118

McMillen 2 MM - 3

39.98455, -80.11803

1400

2,100

51,433

17042

Pyles 1

39.969918, -80.110996

1,440

1,670

78,500

M5224755

Pyles 2

39.96643, -80.1116

1440

1,227

64,353

17035

Hildebrand

39.974133, -80.096991

720

650

45,900

17022

Robison 1

39.979817, -80.072114

720

680

45,900

18156

Robison 2

39.97799, -80.07021

720

720

45,900

17043

Thompson 1

39.948602, -80.096748

720

680

45,900

17115

Thompson 2

39.948602, -80.096748

720

680

45,900

11797

Thistlewaite

39.96395, -80.100731

720

320

19,600

17044

Conner 1

39.946228, -80.240644

720

680

45,900

5100003

Conner 2

39.946228, -80.240644

720

680

45,900

17037

Phillips

39.933614, -80.293665

1,400

1,150

115,300

18155

Walker B

39.934471, -80.318565

1,400

1,600

67,500
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Meter ID

Meter Name

GPS Coordinates

MAOP

MinDQ*
(Mcf / Day)

MaxDQ
(Mcf / Day)

5100014

Scott’s Run 1

39.93239, -80.32793

1,400

2,700

115,300

5100015

Scott’s Run 2

39.93239, -80.32793

1,400

2,700

115,300

M5225755

Scott's Run 3

39.93237, -80.32812

1,400

1,227

64,353

5100065

Moore MM B Run

39.92772, -80.33715

1,400

2,700

115,300

M5277181

Moore MM Run 2

39.92763, -80.33740

1440

1,150

28,800

5100039

West Run (NIJUS25)

39.913752, -80.303533

1,400

2,700

115,300

5100053

West Run – Hopewell Ridge

39.91312, -80.30316

1,400

2,511

87,994

5100055

Patterson 1

39.936506 , -80.310759

1,400

2,700

115,300

5100063

Patterson 2

39.936506 , -80.310759

1,400

2,700

115,300

5100057

Nicoloff 1

39.954037, -80.065039

720

720

45,900

M5224083

Nicoloff 2

39.954037, -80.065039

720

1,227

44,838

5100018

Pierce 1

39.90734, -80.28209

720

2,630

78,500

5100019

Pierce 2

39.90734, -80.28209

720

2,630

78,500

5100064

Pierce 3

39.90734, -80.28209

720

2,630

45,900

M5213961

Big Sky 1

39.99805556,-80.20277

720

1,750

78,500

M5213962

Big Sky 2

39.99805556, -80.20277

720

1,750

78,500

M5213963

Big Sky 3

39.99805556, -80.20277

720

1,030

45,900

M5220213

Petit 1

39.94523, -80.23994

720

1,227

44,838

M5220220

Petit 2

39.94523, -80.23994

720

1,227

44,838

M5220221

Petit 3

39.94523, -80.23994

720

726

26,240

M5248813

Petit 4

39.94684, -80.24028

1,440

1,227

64,353

M5248814

Petit 5

39.94684, -80.24028

1,440

1,227

64,353

M5248816

Petit 6

39.94684, -80.24028

1,440

1,227

64,353

M5254623

Petit 7

39.94684, -80.24028

1,440

1,227

64,353

M5224627

Alpha 1

39.960097, -80.130604

720

1,227

44,838

M5224714

Alpha 2

39.960097, -80.130604

720

1,227

44,838

M5274373

Alpha 3

39.960097, -80.130604

720

1,950

35,500

M5234610

Moninger Run 1

39.99511, -80.20636

1,440

1,227

64,353
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Meter ID

Meter Name

GPS Coordinates

MAOP

MinDQ*
(Mcf / Day)

MaxDQ
(Mcf / Day)

M5234612

Moninger Run 2

39.99511, -80.20636

1,440

1,227

64,353

M5234613

Moninger Run 3

39.99511, -80.20636

1,440

1,227

64,353

M5235813

Moninger Run 4

39.99511, -80.20636

1,440

1,227

64,353

M5234486

Koloski Run 1

39.95875, -80.31068

1,440

1,227

64,353

M5234487

Koloski Run 2

39.95875, -80.31068

1,440

1,227

64,353

M5234488

Koloski Run 3

39.95875, -80.31068

1,440

1,227

64,353

17020

Iames

40.0308, -80.15266

720

726

37,660

M5219031

Shipman 1

39.991551, -80.194235

720

726

37,660

M5219033

Shipman 2

39.991551, -80.194235

720

1,227

64,353

M5258883

Shipman Gathering MM - Run 3

39.991551, -80.194235

720

1,950

35,500

33297

Ingram 590004

39.93929, -80.26466

720

356

16,118

33341

ROG46H1

39.94097, -80.26422

720

356

16,118

M5210064

Lacko 1

39.968683, -80.150911

720

1,227

64,353

M5210065

Lacko 2

39.968683, -80.150911

720

1,227

64,353

M5210066

Lacko 3

39.968683, -80.150911

720

1,227

64,353

M5234259

Yablonski 1

39.99347, -80.06271

1440

1,227

64,353

M5234260

Yablonski 2

39.99347, -80.06271

1440

1,227

64,353

M5226733

Beazer 1

39.92417, -80.10866

1440

1,227

64,353

M5226735

Beazer 2

39.92417, -80.10866

1440

1,227

64,353

M5249530

Beazer 3

39.92417, -80.10866

1440

1,556

57,163

M5238116

J&J

39.99807, -80.20293

1440

1,556

57,163

M5238117

J&J

39.99807, -80.20293

1440

1,556

57,163

M5248049

J&J

39.99807, -80.20293

1440

1,556

57,163

M5241305

Harden Farm 1

39.939969, -80.264877

1440

1,556

57,163

M5241307

Harden Farm 2

39.939969, -80.264877

1440

1,556

57,163

M5241308

Harden Farm 3

39.939969, -80.264877

1440

1,556

57,163
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Meter ID

Meter Name

GPS Coordinates

MAOP

MinDQ*
(Mcf / Day)

MaxDQ
(Mcf / Day)

M5274165

Green Hill - Meter 1

39.89708, -80.31778

1400

2,100

31,750

M5274166

Green Hill - Meter 2

39.89708, -80.31778

1400

2,100

31,750

M5274167

Green Hill - Meter 3

39.89708, -80.31778

1400

2,100

31,750

M5272524

Harris

39.95349, -80.19008

720

1,800

49,000

M5291357

Harris Run B

39.95349, -80.19008

720

1,800

49,000

* Calculated @ minimum NOP with minimum Beta plate when applicable
Responsibility for Interconnect Facility Equipment . Each of the following tables establish, for the meter specified in the cell located
in the first row of the first column of such table (or, if no meter is specified in such cell, then for each meter not specified in any of
the other tables included below) the design, construction, operation, maintenance and cost responsibility for certain aspects of the
Interconnect Facilities. All of the following design responsibilities designated as Producer’s responsibility shall be incorporated into
the design and construction of the Interconnect Facilities

Exhibit F
Page 7

Amendment No. 5

EXHIBIT F (Section III.A.2.)
Responsibility for Interconnect Facility Equipment
McMillen 2 MM – 1, M5256116
McMillen 2 MM – 2, M5256117
McMillen 2 MM – 3, M5256118

REQUIRED

DESIGN
SPECIFICATIONS

INSTALL

OWNERSHIP

OPERATE

MAINTAIN

EQT Pipeline-Tap & Valve

Yes

Company

Company

Company

Company

Company

Inlet Piping

Yes

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Station & Outlet Piping

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

STATION EQUIPMENT
PIPING

Test Station - inlet piping

No

Test Station - outlet piping

Yes

Company

Company

Company

Company

Company

Corrosion coupon

Yes

Company

Company

Company

Company

Company

Filter Separator

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Liquid Level Shutoff

No

GAS CONDITIONING

MEASUREMENT
Meter & Meter Runs

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Meter & Flow Control Risers, Valves, etc…

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Electronic Measurement & Telecomm Hardware

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

GAS QUALITY
Chromatograph

No

Continuous Sampler

No

H2O Dew Point Analyzer

No

Oxygen Analyzer

No

H2S Monitor

No

PRESSURE / FLOW CONTROL
Primary Pressure Control

No

Overpressure Device

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Station Isolation Valve

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Flow Control Valve

No

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Heat

No

Check Valve

Yes

ODORIZATION
Odorizer & Controls

No

MISCELLANEOUS
Communication Service(s)

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Electrical Service

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Building - Gas Chromatograph

No

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Building - Odorizer

No

Fence/Vehicle Barrier/Signage

Yes

Air Permit

No

Amendment No. 5

Moore MM B Run, 5100065
Moore MM Run 2, M5277181

REQUIRED

DESIGN

INSTALL

OWNERSHIP

OPERATE

MAINTAIN

SPECIAL PROVISIONS/
EQUIPMENT SPECS.

12” Tee

STATION EQUIPMENT
PIPING
Pipeline-Tap & Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Inlet & Station Piping

Yes

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Outlet & Station Piping

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Test Station - inlet piping

Yes

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Test Station - outlet piping

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Corrosion coupon

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Filter Separator

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

LLSO - 16" Barrel & Shawndra
Filter

Liquid Level Shutoff

No

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

(2) 8” Orifice

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

12”

GAS CONDITIONING

MEASUREMENT
Meter & Meter Runs

Yes

Meter & Flow Control Risers, Valves,
etc…

Yes

Electronic Measurement & Telecom
Hardware

Yes

Gatherer
Gatherer

Producer
Producer

Eagle/1 RTU (ea meter)

GAS QUALITY
Chromatograph

No

Continuous Sampler

No

H2O Dew Point Analyzer

No

Oxygen Analyzer

No

H2S Monitor

No

PRESSURE / FLOW CONTROL
Primary Pressure Control

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

2X 6” CV/OPP

Overpressure Device

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

2X 6” OPP

Station Isolation Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

8”

Flow Control Valve

Yes

Heat

No

Check Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

2X 6” CV (same devices as Primary
Pressure. Control.)

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

2 X 8”

ODORIZATION
Odorizer & Controls

No

MISCELLANEOUS
Communication service

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Radio or Cell

Electrical Service

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Solar

Building - Gas Chromatograph

No

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Building - Odorizer

No

Fence/Vehicle Barrier/Signage

Yes

Air Permit

No

Amendment No. 5

Alpha 1, M5224627
Alpha 2, M5224714
Alpha 3, M5274373

REQUIRED

DESIGN

INSTALL

OWNERSHIP

OPERATE

MAINTAIN

SPECIAL PROVISIONS/ EQUIPMENT
SPECS.

STATION EQUIPMENT
PIPING
Pipeline-Tap & Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

10” hot tap

Inlet & Station Piping

Yes

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

10” minimum

Outlet & Station Piping

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

10” minimum

Test Station - inlet piping

Yes

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Test Station - outlet piping

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Corrosion coupon

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Filter Separator

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Liquid Level Shutoff

No

GAS CONDITIONING
EQT Approved Peco Cyclotube

MEASUREMENT
Meter & Meter Runs

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Two 8” orifice

Meter & Flow Control Risers, Valves, etc…

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Valves for 8” meter skid

Electronic Measurement & Telecom Hardware

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Eagle/1 RTU (for each meter)

GAS QUALITY
Chromatograph

No

Continuous Sampler

No

H2O Dew Point Analyzer

No

Oxygen Analyzer

No

H2S Monitor

No

PRESSURE / FLOW CONTROL
Primary Pressure Control

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Primary and Monitor control valves are req'd
UNLESS a Rupture Pin Valve is installed

Overpressure Device

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Rupture Pin Valve or Primary and Monitor
Control Valve

Station Isolation Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Manual valve at header

Flow Control Valve

Yes

Heat

No

Check Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

In lieu of flow control valve, OPP is
acceptable

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

For each 8” meter skid

ODORIZATION
Odorizer & Controls

No

MISCELLANEOUS
Communication service

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Cell Modem

Electrical Service

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Solar & Battery

Building - Gas Chromatograph

No

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Building - Odorizer

No

Fence/Vehicle Barrier/Signage

Yes

Air Permit

No

Amendment No. 5

Shipman Gathering MM – Run 1, M5219031
Shipman Gathering MM – Run 2, M5219033
Shipman Gathering MM – Run 3, M5258883

REQUIRED

DESIGN

INSTALL

OWNERSHIP

OPERATE

MAINTAIN

STATION EQUIPMENT
PIPING
Pipeline-Tap & Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Inlet & Station Piping

Yes

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Outlet & Station Piping

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Test Station - inlet piping

Yes

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Test Station - outlet piping

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Corrosion coupon

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Filter Separator

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Liquid Level Shutoff

No

GAS CONDITIONING

MEASUREMENT
Meter & Meter Runs

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Meter & Flow Control Risers, Valves, etc…

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Electronic Measurement & Telecom Hardware

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

GAS QUALITY
Chromatograph

No

Continuous Sampler

No

H2O Dew Point Analyzer

No

Oxygen Analyzer

No

H2S Monitor

No

PRESSURE / FLOW CONTROL
Primary Pressure Control

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Overpressure Device

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Station Isolation Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Flow Control Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Heat

No

Check Valve

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Producer

Producer

ODORIZATION
Odorizer & Controls

No

MISCELLANEOUS
Communication service

Yes

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Gatherer

Electrical Service

Yes

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Building - Gas Chromatograph

No

Gatherer

Producer

Producer

Gatherer

Producer

Building - Odorizer

No

Fence/Vehicle Barrier/Signage

Yes

Air Permit

No

Amendment No. 5

Green Hill- Meter 1, M5274165
Green Hill- Meter 2, M5274166
Green Hill- Meter 3, M5274167

REQUIRED

DESIGN
SPECIFICATIONS

INSTALL

OWNERSHIP

OPERATE

MAINTAIN

EQT Pipeline-Tap & Valve

Yes

Company

Company

Company

Company

Company

Inlet Piping

Yes

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Station & Outlet Piping

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Test Station - inlet piping

Yes

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Test Station - outlet piping

Yes

Company

Company

Company

Company

Company

Corrosion coupon

Yes

Company

Company

Company

Company

Company

Filter Separator

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Liquid Level Shutoff

No

STATION EQUIPMENT
PIPING

GAS CONDITIONING

MEASUREMENT
Meter & Meter Runs

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Meter & Flow Control Risers, Valves, etc…

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Electronic Measurement & Telecomm Hardware

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

GAS QUALITY
Chromatograph

No

Continuous Sampler

No

H2O Dew Point Analyzer

No

Oxygen Analyzer

No

H2S Monitor

No

PRESSURE / FLOW CONTROL
Primary Pressure Control

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Overpressure Device

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Station Isolation Valve

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Flow Control Valve

No

Heat

No

Check Valve

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

ODORIZATION
Odorizer & Controls

No

MISCELLANEOUS
Communication Service(s)

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Electrical Service

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Building - Gas Chromatograph

No

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Building - Odorizer

No

Fence/Vehicle Barrier/Signage

Yes

Air Permit

No

Amendment No. 5

Harris, M5272524
Harris Run B, M5291357

REQUIRED

DESIGN
SPECIFICATIONS

INSTALL

OWNERSHIP

OPERATE

MAINTAIN

EQT Pipeline-Tap & Valve

Yes

Company

Company

Company

Company

Company

Inlet Piping

Yes

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Station & Outlet Piping

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

STATION EQUIPMENT

PIPING

Test Station - inlet piping

No

Test Station - outlet piping

Yes

Company

Company

Company

Company

Company

Corrosion coupon

Yes

Company

Company

Company

Company

Company

Filter Separator

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Liquid Level Shutoff

No

GAS CONDITIONING

MEASUREMENT
Meter & Meter Runs

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Meter & Flow Control Risers, Valves, etc…

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Electronic Measurement & Telecomm Hardware

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

GAS QUALITY
Chromatograph

No

Continuous Sampler

No

H2O Dew Point Analyzer

No

Oxygen Analyzer

No

H2S Monitor

No

PRESSURE / FLOW CONTROL
Primary Pressure Control

No

Overpressure Device

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Station Isolation Valve

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Flow Control Valve

No
Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Heat

No

Check Valve

Yes

ODORIZATION
Odorizer & Controls

No

MISCELLANEOUS
Communication Service(s)

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Electrical Service

Yes

Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Building - Gas Chromatograph

No
Company

Customer

Customer

Company

Customer

Building - Odorizer

No

Fence/Vehicle Barrier/Signage

Yes

Air Permit

No

Exhibit 12.1
EQT MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES (1)
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

(Thousands)
Earnings :
Income before income taxes

$

Minus: equity income of unconsolidated entities

571,904

$

548,101

$

438,385

(22,171)

(9,898)

(2,367)

Plus: Fixed charges

42,190

27,181

Minus: Capitalized interest

(4,120)

(9,403)

Total earnings

$

325,037

$

249,041

—

—

27,821

13,629

1,687

(5,642)

(2,258)

(442)

$

587,803

$

555,981

$

458,197

$

336,408

$

250,286

$

36,181

$

16,766

$

21,345

$

10,871

$

829

Fixed charges:
Net interest expense
Plus: Capitalized interest

4,120

9,403

5,642

2,258

442

Plus: Estimated interest component of rental expense

1,889

1,012

834

500

416

Total fixed charges
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

$

42,190
13.9x

$

27,181
20.5x

$

27,821
16.5x

$

13,629
24.7x

$

1,687
148.4x

(1) Earnings included in the calculation of this ratio consist of (i) income before income taxes, minus (ii) equity income of unconsolidated entities, plus (iii) fixed charges
and minus (iv) capitalized interest (including allowance for borrowed funds used during construction). Fixed charges included in the calculation of this ratio consist of
(i) net interest expense, plus (ii) capitalized interest (including allowance for borrowed funds used during construction) and (iii) the estimated interest portion of rental
expense.

Exhibit 21.1
EQT Midstream Partners, LP
Subsidiaries
Company

Jurisdiction of Organization

Equitrans Investments, LLC

Delaware

Equitrans Services, LLC

Delaware

Equitrans, L.P.

Pennsylvania

EQT Midstream Finance Corporation

Delaware

EQM Gathering Holdings, LLC

Delaware

EQM Gathering Opco, LLC

Delaware

MVP Holdco, LLC

Delaware

Rager Mountain Storage Company LLC

Delaware

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
•
•
•

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-212362) of EQT Midstream Partners, LP pertaining to the registration of Common Units Representing Limited
Partner Interests and Debt Securities,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-182460) pertaining to the EQT Midstream Services, LLC 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan, and
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-205812) of EQT Midstream Partners, LP pertaining to the registration of Common Units Representing Limited
Partner Interests;

of our reports dated February 15, 2018 , with respect to the consolidated financial statements of EQT Midstream Partners, LP and Subsidiaries and the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting of EQT Midstream Partners, LP and Subsidiaries included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of EQT Midstream
Partners, LP and Subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2017 .

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
February 15, 2018

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Steven T. Schlotterbeck, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of EQT Midstream Partners, LP;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

Date:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

February 15, 2018
EQT Midstream Partners, LP
/s/ Steven T. Schlotterbeck
Steven T. Schlotterbeck
President and Chief Executive Officer, EQT Midstream Services, LLC, the
registrant’s General Partner

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Robert J. McNally, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of EQT Midstream Partners, LP;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

Date:

a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

February 15, 2018
EQT Midstream Partners, LP
/s/ Robert J. McNally
Robert J. McNally
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, EQT Midstream
Services, LLC, the registrant’s General Partner

Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION
In connection with the Annual Report of EQT Midstream Partners, LP ("EQM") on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017 , as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned certify pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of EQM.

/s/ Steven T. Schlotterbeck

February 15, 2018

Steven T. Schlotterbeck
President and Chief Executive Officer, EQT Midstream Services, LLC, EQM’s
General Partner

/s/ Robert J. McNally
Robert J. McNally
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, EQT Midstream Services,
LLC, EQM’s General Partner

February 15, 2018

Exhibit 99.2

Named Executive Officer Compensation 2018 Peer Companies
(GENERAL INDUSTRY)
Agilent Technologies

Flowers Foods

Peabody Energy

Alexion Pharmaceuticals

Flowserve

Pitney Bowes

AMETEK

Fortune Brands Home & Security

Polaris Industries

AMSTED Industries

GAF Materials

PolyOne

Amtrak

Gannett

Potash*

Andersons

Garmin

Quad /Graphics

Arby's Restaurant Group

Graphic Packaging

Quintiles

Ashland

Hallmark Cards

Regeneron Pharmaceuticals

Bemis

Hasbro

Rockwell Automation

Big Lots

Hexion

Rockwell Collins

Booz Allen

Hamilton Host Hotels & Resorts

RPM International

Brink's

IMS Health

Sabre Corporation

CA Technologies

International Flavors & Fragrances

SAIC

Canadian Pacific Railway

International Game Technology

SAS Institute

Carlson Rezidor*

Iron Mountain

Schreiber Foods

CF Industries

KBR

Scoular Company

CH2M HILL

Kelly Services

Scripps Networks Interactive

Chemours Company

Keurig Green Mountain

Serta Simmons Bedding

Clorox

Keystone Foods*

Snap-On

Commercial Metals

Kinross Gold

Sonoco Products

CommScope

Kohler

Steelcase

Cooper Standard Automotive

Kum & Go

Tempur Sealy

Crown Castle

Leggett and Platt

Terex

Cushman & Wakefield

LSC Communications

Tiffany & Co.

CVR Energy

Martin Marietta Materials

Total System Services (TSYS)

Dana

Mary Kay

Transocean

Dematic Group*

Mattel

Trinity Industries

Diebold Nixdorf

McCormick

United States Cellular*

E & J Gallo Winery

Meritor

Vulcan Materials

Encana Services

Millicom International Cellular

VWR International

Endo

NBTY

Westlake Chemical

Equifax

Orbital ATK

Wyndham Worldwide

Experian Americas*

Osram Sylvania*

Zebra Technologies

Fiserv

Owens Corning

*Subsidiary

Exhibit 99.3

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The EQT Executive STIP for the 2017 plan year and the 2017 Value Driver Performance Share Unit Program utilized EQT’s adjusted
EBITDA compared to the EQT’s business plan as a performance measure.
Adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA was defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (i) calculated using a constant
commodity price of $2.69 per Mcfe, adjusted for all cash settled derivatives and all basis and fixed price sales set forth in EQT’s 2017
business plan, (ii) excluding the effects of non-cash derivative gains (losses) not included in EQT’s 2017 business plan, (iii) excluding
gains/losses on derivatives not designated as hedges, (iv) excluding the effects of non-cash developed and undeveloped oil and gas property
and midstream asset impairments, (v) excluding the effects of acquisitions and dispositions of greater than $100 million, and (vi) excluding
any charge and benefit associated with the repurchase of debt by EQT (adjusted 2017 EQT EBITDA).
Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP supplemental financial measure that EQT’s management uses to assess: (i) EQT’s performance versus
prior periods; (ii) EQT’s operating performance as compared to other companies in its industry; (iii) the ability of EQT’s assets to generate
sufficient cash flow to make distributions to its investors; (iv) EQT’s ability to incur and service debt and fund capital expenditures; and (v)
the viability of acquisitions and other capital expenditure projects and the returns on investment of various investment opportunities. Adjusted
EBITDA contains certain adjustments that are not included in EQT’s calculation of EBITDA, a separate non-GAAP supplemental financial
measure used by external users of EQT’s financial statements, such as industry analysts, investors, lenders and ratings agencies.
Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net income, operating income, or any other measure of financial performance
or liquidity presented in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA has important limitations as an analytical tool because it excludes some,
but not all, items that affect net income. Additionally, because adjusted EBITDA may be defined differently by other companies in its
industry, EQT’s definition of adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, thereby diminishing
its utility.
Adjusted EBITDA was selected as a performance measure under the EQT Executive STIP for the 2017 plan year and the 2017 Value Driver
Performance Share Unit Program because adjusted EBITDA growth drives behavior consistent with the shareholders’ interests, and EQT’s
business plan embodies the goals and priorities of EQT. The table below reconciles the EQT’s adjusted EBITDA as shown in this Form 10-K
with EQT’s net income, the most comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP, as set forth in EQT’s annual report on
Form 10-K.
(in millions)
Net (loss) income

$

1,858,143

(Deduct)/add back:
Income taxes

(1,115,619)

Interest expense
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

202,772
(*)

1,088,499

EBITDA

2,033,795

Price adjustment

(230,196)

Non-cash derivatives

(347,161)

Impairments

68,183

Acquisitions/divestitures
Adjusted EBITDA

12,641
$

1,537,262

